EARLY INTERVENTION IN PSYCHOTIC DISORDERS

EDITED BY: Sung-Wan Kim, Young-Chul Chung, Yen Kuang Yang and Barnaby Nelson PUBLISHED IN: Frontiers in Psychiatry







Frontiers eBook Copyright Statement

The copyright in the text of individual articles in this eBook is the property of their respective authors or their respective institutions or funders. The copyright in graphics and images within each article may be subject to copyright of other parties. In both cases this is subject to a license granted to Frontiers.

The compilation of articles constituting this eBook is the property of Frontiers.

Each article within this eBook, and the eBook itself, are published under the most recent version of the Creative Commons CC-BY licence. The version current at the date of publication of this eBook is CC-BY 4.0. If the CC-BY licence is updated, the licence granted by Frontiers is automatically updated to the new version.

When exercising any right under the CC-BY licence, Frontiers must be attributed as the original publisher of the article or eBook, as applicable.

Authors have the responsibility of ensuring that any graphics or other materials which are the property of others may be included in the CC-BY licence, but this should be checked before relying on the CC-BY licence to reproduce those materials. Any copyright notices relating to those materials must be complied with.

Copyright and source acknowledgement notices may not be removed and must be displayed in any copy, derivative work or partial copy which includes the elements in question.

All copyright, and all rights therein, are protected by national and international copyright laws. The above represents a summary only. For further information please read Frontiers' Conditions for Website Use and Copyright Statement, and the applicable CC-BY licence.

ISSN 1664-8714 ISBN 978-2-88966-159-6 DOI 10.3389/978-2-88966-159-6

About Frontiers

Frontiers is more than just an open-access publisher of scholarly articles: it is a pioneering approach to the world of academia, radically improving the way scholarly research is managed. The grand vision of Frontiers is a world where all people have an equal opportunity to seek, share and generate knowledge. Frontiers provides immediate and permanent online open access to all its publications, but this alone is not enough to realize our grand goals.

Frontiers Journal Series

The Frontiers Journal Series is a multi-tier and interdisciplinary set of open-access, online journals, promising a paradigm shift from the current review, selection and dissemination processes in academic publishing. All Frontiers journals are driven by researchers for researchers; therefore, they constitute a service to the scholarly community. At the same time, the Frontiers Journal Series operates on a revolutionary invention, the tiered publishing system, initially addressing specific communities of scholars, and gradually climbing up to broader public understanding, thus serving the interests of the lay society, too.

Dedication to Quality

Each Frontiers article is a landmark of the highest quality, thanks to genuinely collaborative interactions between authors and review editors, who include some of the world's best academicians. Research must be certified by peers before entering a stream of knowledge that may eventually reach the public - and shape society; therefore, Frontiers only applies the most rigorous and unbiased reviews.

Frontiers revolutionizes research publishing by freely delivering the most outstanding research, evaluated with no bias from both the academic and social point of view. By applying the most advanced information technologies, Frontiers is catapulting scholarly publishing into a new generation.

What are Frontiers Research Topics?

Frontiers Research Topics are very popular trademarks of the Frontiers Journals Series: they are collections of at least ten articles, all centered on a particular subject. With their unique mix of varied contributions from Original Research to Review Articles, Frontiers Research Topics unify the most influential researchers, the latest key findings and historical advances in a hot research area! Find out more on how to host your own Frontiers Research Topic or contribute to one as an author by contacting the Frontiers Editorial Office: researchtopics@frontiersin.org

EARLY INTERVENTION IN PSYCHOTIC DISORDERS

Topic Editors:

Sung-Wan Kim, Chonnam National University Medical School, South Korea
Young-Chul Chung, Jeonbuk National University, South Korea
Yen Kuang Yang, National Cheng Kung University Hospital, Taiwan
Barnaby Nelson, The University of Melbourne, Australia

Citation: Kim, S.-W., Chung, Y.-C., Yang, Y. K., Nelson, B., eds. (2020). Early Intervention in Psychotic Disorders. Lausanne: Frontiers Media SA. doi: 10.3389/978-2-88966-159-6

Table of Contents

05 Editorial: Early Intervention in Psychotic Disorders Sung-Wan Kim, Barnaby Nelson, Yen Kuang Yang and Young-Chul Chung 08 Pituitary Volume and Socio-Cognitive Functions in Individuals at Risk of Psychosis and Patients With Schizophrenia Tsutomu Takahashi, Yuko Higuchi, Yuko Komori, Shimako Nishiyama, Yoichiro Takayanagi, Daiki Sasabayashi, Mikio Kido, Atsushi Furuichi, Yumiko Nishikawa, Mihoko Nakamura, Kyo Noguchi and Michio Suzuki 17 Two-Year Clinical and Functional Outcomes of an Asian Cohort at Ultra-High Risk of Psychosis Chun Ting Chan, Edimansyah Abdin, Mythily Subramaniam, Sarah Ann Tay, Lay Keow Lim and Swapna Verma Trends in Subjective Quality of Life Among Patients With First Episode 25 Psychosis—A 1 Year Longitudinal Study Xiao Wei Tan, Shazana Shahwan, Pratika Satghare, Boon Yiang Chua, Swapna Verma, Charmaine Tang, Siow Ann Chong and Mythily Subramaniam 35 Early Identification and Intervention of Schizophrenia: Insight From Hypotheses of Glutamate Dysfunction and Oxidative Stress Chieh-Hsin Lin and Hsien-Yuan Lane 44 Auditory Event-Related Potentials in Antipsychotic-Free Subjects With Ultra-High-Risk State and First-Episode Psychosis Ming H. Hsieh, Yi-Ting Lin, Yi-Ling Chien, Tzung-Jeng Hwang, Hai-Gwo Hwu, Chih-Min Liu and Chen-Chung Liu 55 Emerging Temporal Lobe Dysfunction in People at Clinical High Risk for **Psychosis**

Paul Allen, Holly Moore, Cheryl M. Corcoran, James Gilleen, Petya Kozhuharova, Avi Reichenberg and Dolores Malaspina

67 Social Cognition Deficits as a Target of Early Intervention for Psychoses: A Systematic Review

Yuji Yamada, Takuma Inagawa, Kazuki Sueyoshi, Norio Sugawara, Natsuki Ueda, Yoshie Omachi, Naotsugu Hirabayashi, Madoka Matsumoto and Tomiki Sumiyoshi

76 Negative Life Events and Problematic Internet Use as Factors Associated With Psychotic-Like Experiences in Adolescents

Ju-Yeon Lee, Dahye Ban, Seon-Young Kim, Jae-Min Kim, Il-Seon Shin, Jin-Sang Yoon and Sung-Wan Kim

84 City Avoidance in the Early Phase of Psychosis: A Neglected Domain of Assessment and a Potential Target for Recovery Strategies

Philippe Conus, Lilith Abrahamyan Empson, Zoé Codeluppi, Philipp Sebastien Baumann, Ola Söderström, Dag Söderström and Philippe Golay

90 Relationship Between Polyunsaturated Fatty Acids and Psychopathology in the NEURAPRO Clinical Trial

Maximus Berger, Barnaby Nelson, Connie Markulev, Hok Pan Yuen, Miriam R. Schäfer, Nilufar Mossaheb, Monika Schlögelhofer, Stefan Smesny, Ian B. Hickie, Gregor E. Berger, Eric Y. H. Chen, Lieuwe de Haan, Dorien H. Nieman, Merete Nordentoft, Anita Riecher-Rössler, Swapna Verma, Todd W. Mitchell, Barbara J. Meyer, Andrew Thompson, Alison Ruth Yung, Patrick D. McGorry and G. Paul Amminger

98 Factors Associated With Psychosocial Functioning and Outcome of Individuals With Recent-Onset Schizophrenia and at Ultra-High Risk for Psychosis

Hyun Kyu Kim, Hye Yoon Park, Eunchong Seo, Minji Bang, Yun Young Song, Su Young Lee, Kyung Ran Kim, Jin Young Park, Jee In Kang, Eun Lee and Suk Kyoon An

109 The Provision of Education and Employment Support At the Outreach and Support in South London (OASIS) Service for People at Clinical High Risk for Psychosis

Stefania Tognin, Lara Grady, Serena Ventura, Lucia Valmaggia, Victoria Sear, Philip McGuire, Paolo Fusar-Poli and Tom J. Spencer





Editorial: Early Intervention in Psychotic Disorders

Sung-Wan Kim^{1,2*}, Barnaby Nelson^{3,4}, Yen Kuang Yang^{5,6,7} and Young-Chul Chung^{8*}

¹ Department of Psychiatry, Chonnam National University Medical School, Gwangju, South Korea, ² Mindlink, Gwangju Bukgu Community Mental Health Center, Gwangju, South Korea, ³ Orygen, Parkville, VIC, Australia, ⁴ Centre for Youth Mental Health, The University of Melbourne, Parkville, VIC, Australia, ⁵ Department of Psychiatry, National Cheng Kung University Hospital, College of Medicine, National Cheng Kung University, Tainan, Taiwan, ⁶ College of Medicine, Institute of Behavioral Medicine, National Cheng Kung University, Tainan, Taiwan, ⁷ Department of Psychiatry, Tainan Hospital, Ministry of Health and Welfare, Tainan, Taiwan, ⁸ Department of Psychiatry, Chonbuk National University Medical School, Jeonju, South Korea

Keywords: Schizophrenia, psychosis, Ultra-high risk (UHR), clinical high risk (CHR), early intervenction

Editorial on the Research Topic

OPEN ACCESS Early Intervention in Psychotic Disorders

Edited by:

Ingrid Melle, University of Oslo, Norway

Reviewed by: Anna Comparelli, Sapienza University of Rome, Italy

> *Correspondence: Sung-Wan Kim swkim@chonnam.ac.kr Young-Chul Chung chungyc@jbnu.ac.kr

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Schizophrenia, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychiatry

Received: 20 June 2020 Accepted: 04 September 2020 Published: 18 September 2020

Citation:

Kim S-W, Nelson B, Yang YK and Chung Y-C (2020) Editorial: Early Intervention in Psychotic Disorders. Front. Psychiatry 11:574532. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2020.574532 Psychotic disorders such as schizophrenia are often chronic and disabling in a number of domains, including social and occupational functioning. They typically begin in adolescence or early adulthood, and major changes in the psychosocial functioning of patients with schizophrenia spectrum disorders are often evident within the first 3 years of onset, although the decline in functioning tends to plateau thereafter. Intervention during the early stages of these disorders can reduce their ultimate severity. Therefore, the first 3 years of these disorders have been described as a critical period (1), during which the patient's future disease course and prognosis are determined.

Over the last twenty years, the retrospective examination of the psychosis prodrome has been replaced by a prospective approach—referred to as the ultra-high risk (UHR) or clinical high risk (CHR) paradigm, with the aim of effectively identifying people who may be at risk of developing a psychotic disorder and, possibly, preventing its progression (2). Early intervention in psychotic disorders generally has two objectives: to prevent the onset of psychotic disorders in people with prodromal symptoms and to provide effective treatment to people in the early stages of psychotic disorder, with the goals of maximizing recovery and reducing the severity of illness (3).

Over the last three decades, numerous studies have investigated the early stages of psychotic disorders. These studies have provided an opportunity to identify factors associated with prevention and treatment outcomes and offer results suggesting how early intervention in psychosis might be the best way to reduce the social and medical burden of schizophrenia (4). However, scientifically derived data addressing many domains of early intervention in psychotic disorders are needed. For example, further research should be conducted to: identify markers for predicting psychotic conversion in UHR patients; investigate the effectiveness of psychosocial intervention and early intervention services; and understand the clinical course and pathogenesis of psychotic disorders beginning at a very early stage of the illness.

5

This Research Topic covers studies on biomarkers for early psychosis. Hsieh et al. identified a potential biomarker using auditory event-related potentials for individuals at UHR and in their first episode of psychosis. They observed significant sensory gating deficits and impaired deviance detection in this population. Importantly, antipsychotic medications did not seem to impact the sensory gating deficits, making it a convenient marker for the early stages of the psychotic process. Takahashi et al. examined possible relations between pituitary volume and sociocognitive impairments in patients at UHR and with schizophrenia. They found that these subjects had a significantly larger pituitary volume compared to healthy controls, and identified its negative association with working memory in patients with schizophrenia. Berger et al. reported a secondary analysis of the international NEURAPRO clinical trial of omega-3 fatty acids in UHR patients. Their findings indicated that the severity of attenuated psychotic symptoms, general psychopathology, depressive symptoms, and manic symptoms were associated with several classes of fatty acids, partially consistent with previous reports. These findings highlight the possible relevance of membrane fatty acid levels as biomarkers of psychosis risk and also suggest their possible transdiagnostic significance.

Epidemiological studies to investigate factors associated with UHR of psychosis have facilitated our understanding of the pathogenesis and course of UHR of psychosis. Lee et al. reported that problematic Internet use and negative life experiences were significantly associated with psychotic-like experiences in adolescents. Kim et al. evaluated factors associated with psychosocial function and prognostic factors in patients at UHR and with recent-onset schizophrenia. Factor analysis revealed an intrinsic four-factor structure of socialcognitive bias, reflective self, neurocognition, and pre-reflective self. These four factors were found to be associated with baseline social functioning and prodrome-to-psychosis conversion. Conus et al. conducted a questionnaire survey to explore patterns of urban experience, perception when exposed to stressors, and sensitivity to stimuli in early psychosis patients. Findings indicated that city avoidance and negative perceptions toward an urban environment increased in patients after onset of psychosis, suggesting a lower capacity to benefit from the positive aspects of urban spaces. As city avoidance is thought to influence social relations and the recovery process of early psychosis patients, these findings suggest the development of strategies to help patients in their recovery process. Chan et al. conducted a longitudinal study with a follow-up period of 2 years in adolescents and young adults at UHR of psychosis. Low education level, baseline unemployment, a history of violence, and brief limited intermittent psychotic symptoms predicted transition to psychosis, while male sex predicted persistence of the UHR state, or the development of non-psychotic disorders. The results indicated that use of the current UHR criteria can identify individuals who are at imminent risk of developing not just psychosis, but also those who may develop other mental

health disorders. Tan et al. examined the longitudinal trend of subjective quality of life among patients with first-episode psychosis to identify the potential influence of patients' sociodemographic and lifestyle factors. The results indicated that employment was associated with better social relationships and environment, while higher level of educational achievement was associated with improvement of physical health, social relationships, and environment. The results highlighted the need to address educational achievement and employment in the optimization of future early psychosis intervention programs.

Clinical services for the early detection of individuals at clinical high risk of psychosis have been successful in providing psychological interventions and psychosocial support, but the path to vocational recovery has received less attention. Tognin et al. evaluated the presence and quality of educational and employment-focused interventions in the Outreach And Support In South London (OASIS) service, and discussed the path to vocational recovery in these young individuals. They suggested that the focus of early interventions should go beyond alleviating symptoms and move on to the recovery of social and vocational function.

Three review articles discussed cognitive and neurobiological mechanisms in patients at UHR and those with schizophrenia. Yamada et al. performed a systematic review of social cognitive impairment in early psychosis to explore the benefits of early intervention for disturbances of social cognition in psychosis. Allen et al. summarized the significant neurobiological findings in CHR individuals with emergent psychotic symptoms and conversion to psychosis. Delusions were suggested to be related to dysfunction in the medial temporal lobe, particularly the hippocampal-striatal-midbrain network. In addition, disorganized speech and language impairments seemed to be related to lateral temporal dysfunction. Lin et al. reviewed the literature regarding glutamate signal dysfunction, oxidative stress dysregulation, and the links between both in prodromal schizophrenia. Their findings highlighted potential biomarkers related to the N-methyl-D-aspartate receptor and oxidative stress regulation.

This Research Topic provides a forum for translational and clinical research conducted in the early stages of psychotic disorders, from the high-risk period to the critical period after the onset of psychosis. Reports published to date have addressed current biological, psychological, and social issues in this field. In addition, they cover the pathogenesis, clinical course, and outcomes of early psychosis. Overall, scientific studies addressing this topic can facilitate our understanding of early psychosis and contribute to the development of effective early intervention strategies.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

REFERENCES

- 1. Birchwood M, Todd P, Jackson C. Early intervention in psychosis. The critical period hypothesis. Br J Psychiatry Suppl (1998) 172:53–9.
- Yung AR, McGorry PD, McFariane CA, Jackson HJ, Patton GC, Rakkar A. Monitoring and care of young people at incipient risk of psychosis. *Schizophr Bull* (1996) 22:283–303. doi: 10.1093/schbul/22.2.283
- Marshall M, Rathbone J. Early Intervention for Psychosis. Schizophr Bull (2011) 37:1111–4. doi: 10.1093/schbul/sbr110
- Fusar-Poli P, McGorry PD, Kane JM. Improving outcomes of first-episode psychosis: an overview. World Psychiatry (2017) 16:251–65. doi: 10.1002/wps.20446

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2020 Kim, Nelson, Yang and Chung. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Pituitary Volume and Socio-Cognitive Functions in Individuals at Risk of Psychosis and Patients With Schizophrenia

Tsutomu Takahashi^{1*}, Yuko Higuchi¹, Yuko Komori¹, Shimako Nishiyama¹, Yoichiro Takayanagi¹, Daiki Sasabayashi¹, Mikio Kido¹, Atsushi Furuichi¹, Yumiko Nishikawa¹, Mihoko Nakamura¹, Kyo Noguchi² and Michio Suzuki¹

¹ Department of Neuropsychiatry, University of Toyama Graduate School of Medicine and Pharmaceutical Sciences, Toyama, Japan, ² Department of Radiology, University of Toyama Graduate School of Medicine and Pharmaceutical Sciences, Toyama, Japan

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Sung-Wan Kim, Chonnam National University Medical School, South Korea

Reviewed by:

Tae Young Lee, Seoul National University Hospital, South Korea Bumseok Jeong, Korea Advanced Institute of Science & Technology (KAIST), South Korea

*Correspondence:

Tsutomu Takahashi tsutomu@med.u-toyama.ac.jp

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Schizophrenia, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychiatry

Received: 07 September 2018 Accepted: 19 October 2018 Published: 09 November 2018

Citation:

Takahashi T, Higuchi Y, Komori Y, Nishiyama S, Takayanagi Y, Sasabayashi D, Kido M, Furuichi A, Nishikawa Y, Nakamura M, Noguchi K and Suzuki M (2018) Pituitary Volume and Socio-Cognitive Functions in Individuals at Risk of Psychosis and Patients With Schizophrenia. Front. Psychiatry 9:574. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2018.00574 **Objectives:** Increased pituitary volume, which probably reflects hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal (HPA) hyperactivity, has been reported in patients with schizophrenia and individuals at risk of psychosis. On the basis of potential role of abnormal HPA axis function on cognitive impairments in psychosis, we aimed to examine possible relations between the pituitary volume and socio-cognitive impairments in these subjects.

Methods: This magnetic resonance imaging study examined the pituitary gland volume in 38 subjects with at-risk mental state (ARMS) [of whom 4 (10.5%) exhibited the transition to schizophrenia], 63 patients with schizophrenia, and 61 healthy controls. Social and cognitive functions of the ARMS and schizophrenia groups were assessed using the Brief Assessment of Cognition in Schizophrenia (BACS), the Schizophrenia Cognition Rating Scale (SCoRS), and the Social and Occupational Functioning Assessment Scale (SOFAS).

Results: Both the ARMS and schizophrenia groups had a significantly larger pituitary volume compared to controls. In the schizophrenia group, the pituitary volume was negatively associated with the BACS working memory score. No association was found between the pituitary volume and clinical variables (medication, symptom severity) in either clinical group.

Conclusion: Our findings support the notion of common HPA hyperactivity in the ARMS and schizophrenia groups, but abnormal HPA axis function may contribute differently to cognitive deficits according to the illness stages of schizophrenia.

Keywords: at-risk mental state, schizophrenia, pituitary gland, HPA axis, working memory

INTRODUCTION

Neuroendocrine studies in schizophrenia (1, 2) and clinical high-risk subjects for developing psychosis [i.e., at-risk mental state; ARMS (3, 4)] (5–7) have reported hyperactivity of the hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal (HPA) axis, which mediates the stress response by governing the release of steroids (e.g., cortisol) and also regulates a number of physiological and neurobehavioral

8

processes (e.g., immunity, fertility, anxiety, and cognitive functioning) (8, 9), implying the role of hormonal dysregulation during the course of psychosis. Previous magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) studies in schizophrenia and related psychoses have generally reported enlarged volume of the pituitary gland, an integral part of the HPA axis, prior to psychosis onset (10, 11), along with ongoing expansion early in the course of schizophrenia (12, 13), which was associated with the emergence of psychosis and the early course of clinical symptoms (14, 15). However, some discrepant findings, such as an even smaller pituitary volume in antipsychotic-naïve schizophrenia patients with recent onset (16) or normal pituitary volume both in patients with first-episode schizophrenia and individuals with ARMS (7), have also been reported. Thus, pituitary findings in schizophrenia and high-risk subjects remain elusive and further studies will be needed to clarify the role of HPA axis abnormality and its relation to clinical characteristics in these subjects.

Cognitive impairments, particularly in memory and executive function, are a core feature of psychosis that exist during firstepisode (17, 18) or even before psychosis onset (19, 20), and are also associated with poor functional outcome (21, 22). Previous neuroendocrine studies have demonstrated that these cognitive impairments (especially memory deficits) are at least partly due to abnormal HPA axis function, as indexed by an elevated diurnal cortisol level and/or blunted cortisol awaking response, in both schizophrenia (23, 24) and high-risk individuals (25). However, it is also noted that different mechanisms may contribute to distinct HPA axis abnormalities for vulnerability and onset of psychosis (25) and that the relationship between the HPA axis and memory functioning may differ at different illness stages (26). To our knowledge, it is unknown whether the pituitary volume in schizophrenia, which probably reflects HPA axis functioning, is associated with cognitive function and whether their relations differ during the course of the illness.

The present MRI study aimed to investigate the pituitary volume in individuals with ARMS and patients with schizophrenia in comparison with healthy subjects and to examine whether pituitary volume was related to neurocognitive measures and social functioning in these subjects. On the basis of our previous MRI study in an independent sample of early psychosis (11), as well as the potential role of HPA axis dysregulation in modulating cognitive function in patients with psychosis (24, 25), we predicted enlarged pituitary volume in both the ARMS and schizophrenia groups, which could be partly related to cognitive impairments in these subjects.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Participants

Thirty-eight individuals with ARMS, 63 schizophrenia patients, and 61 healthy subjects were included in this study. Recruitment strategies for the study participants in our department have been described in detail elsewhere (27, 28).

Briefly, the individuals with ARMS, who had no previous episode of overt psychosis, were recruited from the Consultation Support Service in Toyama (CAST), a specialized clinical setting

for young people (aged 15-30 years) at risk for psychosis (29). All subjects were categorized as the attenuated psychotic symptoms (APS) group (4) according to the Japanese version of the CAARMS (30). Comorbid DSM-IV-TR Axis I diagnoses (31) were anxiety disorders (N = 9), pervasive developmental disorders (N = 6), depressive disorders (N = 6), schizotypal personality disorders (N = 6), adjustment disorders (N = 1), or dissociative disorders (N = 1). Four subjects had no axis I diagnosis. They were prospectively followed up regularly at outpatient clinics of the Department of Neuropsychiatry of Toyama University Hospital; four (10.5%) of the ARMS group developed schizophrenia during clinical follow-up (mean followup period = 896.1 ± 841.6 days, median = 581.5). Medication status and other clinical data are summarized in Table 1. They were also receiving benzodiazepines (N = 6), antidepressants (N = 4), and/or tandospirone (N = 1) at the time of scanning.

The schizophrenia patients fulfilling the DSM-IV-TR criteria (31) were recruited from inpatient and outpatient clinics of Toyama University Hospital. They were diagnosed based on information obtained from a clinical assessment using the Structured Clinical Interview for DSM-IV Axis I Disorders Patient Edition (SCID-I/P) (32), a detailed chart review, as well as the clinical symptoms rated at the time of scanning. Medication and other clinical data are summarized in **Table 1**. At the time of scanning, experienced psychiatrists rated the clinical symptoms of the ARMS and schizophrenia subjects using the Positive and Negative Syndrome Scale (PANSS) (33).

The healthy controls, who were screened for psychiatric illness using the SCID-I Non-patient Edition (32), were recruited from hospital staff, members of the local community, and university students. They were also screened using a questionnaire consisting of 19 items concerning their personal (17 items; including a history of obstetric complications, serious head injury, seizures, neurological illness, impaired thyroid function, hypertension, diabetes, and substance abuse) and family (2 items) histories of illness. Subjects with family history of psychiatric illness among their first-degree relatives were excluded.

All participants in this study were physically healthy at the time of the study and none had a lifetime history of serious head trauma, neurological illness, serious medical or surgical illness, substance abuse, or steroid use. Handedness (34), personal and parental socioeconomic status (SES) (35), and IQ estimated using the Japanese version of the National Adult Reading Test (JART) (36) were also evaluated. None of the participants was pregnant or taking exogenous estrogens at the time of the study, but estrogen levels and menstrual cycle in female subjects were not assessed. Serum prolactin levels at the time of scanning were available for 27 ARMS and 45 schizophrenia subjects. While we previously reported the pituitary volume in early psychosis using 1.5T MRI data (11), this was our first study of the pituitary gland using independent 3T MRI data. This study received approval from the Committee on Medical Ethics of Toyama University (No. 25-7). Written informed consent was obtained from all subjects in accordance with the Declaration of Helsinki. When participants were under the age of 20, written consent was also obtained from the parent/guardian.

	Controls	ARMS	Sz	Group difference
	(N = 61)	(N = 38)	(N = 63)	
Age	25.6 ± 3.2	18.4 ± 3.9	28.0 ± 9.4	F _(2,159) = 27.01, p < 0.001; ARMS < Contols, Sz
Male/female	32/29	24/14	29/34	Chi-square = $2.79, p = 0.248$
Height (cm)	166.0 ± 8.3	165.3 ± 9.0	163.2 ± 8.4	$F_{(2,159)} = 1.80, p = 0.168$
JART-IQ	110.2 ± 5.9	98.0 ± 10.2	99.5 ± 9.7	F _(2,159) = 32.91, p < 0.001; ARMS, Sz < Controls
Handedness (right/mixed/left)	40/15/6	22/12/4	52/9/2	Fisher's exact test, $p = 0.064$
SES	6.3 ± 0.9	3.2 ± 1.4	4.2 ± 1.4	$F_{(2,159)} = 82.61, p < 0.001; ARMS < Sz < Controls$
Parental SES	5.9 ± 0.9	4.8 ± 0.9	4.8 ± 1.4	F _(2,158) = 17.86, p < 0.001; ARMS, Sz < Controls
Onset age (years)	-	-	22.4 ± 7.4	_
Illness duration (years)	-	-	5.5 ± 6.0	-
Medication dose (HPD equiv., mg/day)	-	$2.0 \pm 1.6 (N = 11)$	11.3 ± 7.8 (N = 51)	F _(1,59) = 15.15, p < 0.001; ARMS < Sz
Medication type (atypical/typical/mixed)	-	9/1/1	45/1/5	Fisher's exact test, $p = 0.372$
Duration of medication (years)	_	0.7 ± 1.3 (N = 14)	$5.2 \pm 6.2 (N = 53)$	$F_{(1,64)} = 0.05, p = 0.820$
Serum prolactin level (ng/mL)	-	14.5 ± 13.9 (N = 27)	47.6 ± 73.4 (N = 45)	$F_{(1,69)} = 5.37, p = 0.023; ARMS < Sz$
PANSS positive	-	11.4 ± 3.6	13.9 ± 5.6	$F_{(1,98)} = 5.20, p = 0.024; ARMS < Sz$
PANSS negative	-	15.4 ± 6.7	16.3 ± 5.6	$F_{(1,98)} = 3.97, p = 0.049;$ not significant (post-hoc test)
PANSS general	-	30.4 ± 8.1	31.0 ± 9.7	$F_{(1,98)} = 1.38, p = 0.243$
SOFAS ^a	-	52.2 ± 10.8	48.2 ± 13.9	$F_{(1,97)} = 4.52, p = 0.036$: not significant (post-hoc test)
SCoRS global rating score ^a	-	5.4 ± 2.4	5.2 ± 2.5	$F_{(1,97)} = 0.49, p = 0.487$
BACS subdomain z-scores				Group x domain interaction, $F_{(5,495)} = 5.64, p < 0.001$
Verbal memory	-	-0.9 ± 1.6	-1.3 ± 1.4	p = 0.933
Working memory	-	-0.8 ± 1.4	-1.0 ± 1.4	p = 1.000
Motor function	-	-0.8 ± 1.4	-1.9 ± 1.5	p = 0.009; Sz < ARMS
Verbal fluency	-	-1.0 ± 1.6	-0.8 ± 1.1	p = 1.000
Attention and processing speed	-	-0.3 ± 1.3	-1.4 ± 1.5	p = 0.013; Sz < ARMS
Executive function	_	-0.5 ± 1.3	-0.8 ± 1.6	p = 1.000
Pituitary volume (mm ³)	599 ± 112	687 ± 134	739 ± 150	F _(2,154) = 18.62, p < 0.001; Contols < ARMS, Sz
Intracranial volume (ml)	$1,459 \pm 126$	$1,408 \pm 127$	$1,441 \pm 149$	$F_{(2,158)} = 1.25, p = 0.288^{b}$
Total gray matter volume (ml)	754 ± 55	749 ± 66	704 ± 102	$F_{(2,154)} = 6.60, p = 0.002; Sz < ARMS, Controls$

TABLE 1 Demographic/clinical data, socio-cognitive functions, and brain measures in the ARMS, schizophrenia, and control subjects.
--

Values represent Means \pm SDs unless otherwise stated.

ARMS, at risk mental state; BACS, Brief Assessment of Cognition in Schizophrenia; JART, Japanese version of National Adult Reading Test; HPD, haloperidol; PANSS, Positive and Negative Syndrome Scale; SCoRS, Schizophrenia Cognition Rating Scale; SES, socioeconomic status; SOFAS, Social and Occupational Functioning Assessment Scale; Sz, schizophrenia.

^aData missing for one schizophrenia patient.

^bAge was used as a covariate.

MRI Acquisition and Data Processing

Magnetic resonance images were obtained by utilizing a 3-T Magnetom Verio (Siemens Medical System, Inc., Erlangen, Germany) with a 12-channel head coil. A three-dimensional magnetization-prepared rapid gradient echo (MPRAGE) sequence yielded 176 contiguous T1-weighted slices of 1.2-mm thickness in the sagittal plane. The imaging parameters were: repetition time = 2,300 ms; echo time = 2.9 ms; flip angle = 9°; field of view = 256 mm; and matrix size = 256×256 pixels. The voxel size was $1.0 \times 1.0 \times 1.2$ mm.

The image data were then processed on a Macintosh computer (Apple Inc., California, USA) using Dr. View software (Infocom, Tokyo, Japan) (11, 37, 38). Brain images were realigned in three dimensions to standardize for differences in head tilt

during image acquisition and were then reconstructed into entire contiguous coronal images, with a 1-mm thickness, perpendicular to the anterior commissure-posterior commissure line. The signal-intensity histogram distributions from the T1weighted images across the whole cerebrum were then used to semi-automatically segment the voxels into brain tissue components and cerebrospinal fluid. The intracranial volume (ICV) (i.e., the sum of gray matter, white matter, and CSF volumes) was estimated using SPM 12 (https://www.fil.ion.ucl. ac.uk/spm/software/spm12/) to correct for differences in head size (39); the groups did not significantly differ in their ICV volumes, but the schizophrenia group had a significantly smaller total gray matter volume as compared with other groups (**Table 1**).

Pituitary Measurements

As described in detail elsewhere (11, 37, 38), the volume of the pituitary gland was manually traced on 1.0-mm consecutive coronal slices based on a method used by Garner et al. (40). Briefly, we traced around the usually well-defined borders of the anterior and posterior pituitary: the diaphragma sellae, superiorly; the sphenoid sinus, inferiorly; and the cavernous sinuses, bilaterally (**Figure 1**).

All measurements were carried out by one rater (TT) without knowledge of the subject's identity, gender or diagnosis. Inter-(TT and DS) and intra-rater intraclass correlation coefficients in a subset of 10 randomly selected brains were 0.82 and 0.86, respectively.

Assessment of Socio-Cognitive Functions

Socio-cognitive functions were assessed using the same method as in our previous studies of olfactory functioning (27) and quality of life (28). All of these assessments were administered by an experienced psychologist (YK) at the time of scanning.

Briefly, the cognitive functioning was assessed using the Japanese version (41) of the Brief Assessment of Cognition in Schizophrenia (BACS) (42), which includes six cognitive domains (verbal memory, working memory, motor speed, verbal fluency, attention, and executive function). The primary measure from each test of the BACS was standardized by creating zscores, whereby the mean score of Japanese healthy controls was set to zero and the standard deviation set to one (43). The study participants were also administered the Schizophrenia Cognition Rating Scale (SCoRS), an interview-based measure of cognitive abilities related to daily-living functioning (44). Based on three different sources (i.e., an interview with the patient, an interview with the caregiver(s), and the interviewer's rating), the rater (interviewer) assigned the SCoRS global rating score (range 1-10, higher ratings indicate greater impairment in daily living skills). Social functioning was assessed using the Social and Occupational Functioning Assessment Scale (SOFAS) (45), which corresponds to the social functioning domains of the Global Assessment of Functioning Scale in the DSM-IV (46). The scores range from 0 to 100, with higher scores indicating better functioning.

Statistical Analysis

Group differences in the demographic data were assessed by using one-way analysis of variance (ANOVA) or chi-square test. Clinical variables and social/cognitive functions were compared using the analysis of covariance (ANCOVA) with age as a covariate, because a significant group difference in age could affect these variables.

Group difference in the absolute pituitary volume was analyzed using ANCOVA with ICV and age as covariates, with diagnosis and gender as between-subject factors. Then, the schizophrenia patients were divided into first-episode (illness duration ≤ 12 months, 8 males and 9 females) and chronic (illness duration ≥ 36 months, 17 males and 21 females) subgroups; the pituitary volume was compared with the same ANCOVA model but with the subgroups (firstepisode, chronic) and gender as between-subject factors. The absolute pituitary volume of neuroleptic-free patients (27 ARMS and 12 schizophrenia patients) and those who were receiving antipsychotic medication (11 ARMS and 51 schizophrenia patients) was also analyzed by ANCOVA. *Post-hoc* Scheffé's tests were carried out to follow up these analyses. The study findings remained essentially the same even when we included medication dose and duration as the covariates.

Spearman's rank correlations were calculated to examine relationships between relative pituitary volume [(absolute volume / ICV) \times 100] and the clinical/socio-cognitive variables. Statistical significance was defined as p < 0.05.

RESULTS

Demographic, Clinical and Socio-Cognitive Characteristics

Table 1 shows the sample characteristics of the study participants. The groups did not differ in gender and height, but there were group differences in age, IQ, and parental/personal SES.

The individuals with ARMS were characterized by lower amounts of antipsychotics, less severe positive symptoms, and higher BACS measures compared with the patients with schizophrenia. However, the first-episode and chronic schizophrenia subgroups did not differ in terms of the symptom severity or socio-cognitive measures.

Pituitary Gland Volume

ANCOVA of the pituitary volume demonstrated significant main effects for diagnosis (**Table 1**) and gender (F = 16.83; df = 1, 154; p < 0.001), but no diagnosis-by-gender interaction was found (F = 2.14; df = 2, 154; p = 0.122). *Post-hoc* analyses showed that the schizophrenia (p < 0.001) and ARMS (p = 0.003) groups had significantly larger pituitary volumes compared to controls (**Figure 2**) and there was a significant gender difference in pituitary size (female > male, p < 0.001). The pituitary volume did not differ between the ARMS and schizophrenia groups (p = 0.247).

The ARMS individuals who later developed schizophrenia had a comparable pituitary volume (N = 4; mean = 691 mm³, SD = 58) with those who did not (N = 34; mean = 687 mm³, SD = 141). The first episode (mean = 747 mm³, SD = 156) and chronic (mean = 740 mm³, SD = 150) schizophrenia groups did not significantly differ for pituitary volume (ANCOVA, F = 0.03; df = 1, 49; p = 0.863). The patients treated with antipsychotics (mean = 750 mm³, SD = 145) had a larger pituitary volume than antipsychotic-free patients (mean = 671 mm³, SD = 135) (ANCOVA, F = 4.56; df = 1, 95; p = 0.035), while the pituitary volume in these antipsychotic-free patients was significantly larger than controls (ANCOVA, F = 8.67; df = 1, 94; p = 0.004).

Correlational Analyses

The relative pituitary volume was negatively correlated with age only in healthy controls (rho = -0.403, p = 0.001). There was no significant relation between the pituitary volume and clinical variables, but the BACS working memory score in schizophrenia was negatively correlated with pituitary volume (**Table 2** and **Figure 3**). This correlation survived Bonferroni's correction for



FIGURE 1 | Sagittal (left) and coronal (right) views of the pituitary gland manually traced in this study. The pituitary stalk was excluded from the tracings, but we included a posterior bright spot, corresponding to the posterior pituitary (the intensity of which is thought to reflect vasopressin concentrations).



multiple comparisons [28 comparisons; p < 0.00179 (0.05/28)] (Table 2). The correlation between the pituitary volume and working memory, which did not change even when we used Pearson's partial correlation coefficients controlling for age (r = -0.39, p = 0.00177) or medication dose and duration (r = -0.39, p = 0.00171), was more evident in first-episode (*rho* = -0.56, *p* = 0.020) than in chronic (*rho* = -0.31, p = 0.057) patients. For the validation purpose, we then assessed the independent contribution of all demographic/clinical variables except for other BACS subdomain scores (Table 1) to predicting the BACS working memory score in schizophrenia by using stepwise regression analysis; the working memory score was significantly predicted only by the pituitary volume (Beta = -0.316, t = -2.64, p = 0.011) and PANSS negative score (Beta = -0.269, t = -2.24, p = 0.029) (Adjusted $R^2 = 0.185$).

We also examined the possible relation between the relative pituitary volume and serum prolactin levels in a subsample of 72 (27 ARMS and 45 schizophrenia) subjects, which showed a $\ensuremath{\mathsf{TABLE 2}}\xspace$] Correlations between the pituitary volume and clinical/socio-cognitive variables.

	AR	MS	Schiz	ophrenia
	rho	р	rho	р
Onset age (years)	_	_	-0.17	0.174
Illness duration	-	-	0.02	0.892
Medication dose	0.06	0.730	0.17	0.190
Duration of medication	-0.01	0.967	0.11	0.382
SOFAS	0.15	0.373	-0.16	0.205
PANSS positive	0.13	0.437	0.12	0.349
PANSS negative	0.08	0.627	-0.01	0.971
PANSS general	-0.01	0.952	-0.02	0.852
SCoRS global rating score	-0.07	0.672	0.14	0.276
BACS z-scores				
Verbal memory	0.29	0.081	-0.26	0.037
Working memory	-0.05	0.782	-0.39	0.00176 ^a
Motor function	-0.02	0.912	-0.11	0.412
Verbal fluency	0.07	0.660	0.12	0.362
Attention and processing speed	0.25	0.136	-0.10	0.440
Executive function	0.10	0.548	-0.27	0.034

ARMS, at risk mental state; BACS, Brief Assessment of Cognition in Schizophrenia; PANSS, Positive and Negative Syndrome Scale; SCoRS, Schizophrenia Cognition Rating Scale; SOFAS, Social and Occupational Functioning Assessment Scale.

 a Significant after Bonferroni's correction for multiple comparisons [28 comparisons; $\rho < 0.00179$ (0.05/28)].

significant positive correlation (*rho* = 0.293, p = 0.012). The correlation between the pituitary volume and working memory in schizophrenia was not significant when we used prolactin level as a controlling factor (*rho* = -0.23, p = 0.122).

DISCUSSION

To our knowledge, this is the first MRI study to demonstrate a significant correlation between the pituitary volume and cognitive impairments in schizophrenia. In the present study, we replicated our previous finding of enlarged pituitary volume in



both the ARMS and schizophrenia groups (11) in an independent cohort. The pituitary enlargement was significantly associated with working memory deficits, but not with clinical or other socio-cognitive measures, specifically in schizophrenia patients especially for the first-episode subgroup. These findings may reflect HPA hyperactivity as a possible indicator of vulnerability to psychosis, but also support the potential role of distinct HPA axis abnormalities in the cognitive impairments in different illness stages (25, 26).

Our pituitary findings are generally in line with previous MRI studies in clinical high-risk subjects; the individuals who later develop psychosis may exhibit pituitary expansion prior to psychosis onset (10, 40), but those without psychosis onset also have similar pituitary changes (10, 11). Although some high-risk studies did not replicate these findings (7, 47), probably due to small sample sizes and/or differences in various influencing factors as described below, pituitary expansion reported in psychosis is thought to reflect HPA hyperactivity and a subsequent increase in the size and number of corticotrophs, whereas chronic HPA activation could cause pituitary atrophy by reducing the function of the cells producing other pituitary hormones (15, 48). Thus, the pituitary volume in the course of psychosis likely reflects state-related HPA axis dysregulation, which is associated with illness stages and symptom severity (15), antipsychotic medication (2, 49), demographic characteristics [e.g., age, gender (50, 51)], and other mediating factors. Indeed, the present results supported that the pituitary gland is especially sensitive to prolactin-elevating antipsychotics (12, 52), while the effect of medication alone could not explain pituitary expansion in the antipsychotic-free subsample. On the other hand, despite a significant group difference in the medication status and symptom severity (especially for positive psychotic symptoms), we demonstrated that the pituitary gland was expanded to a similar degree in high-risk subjects as in schizophrenia patients, suggesting that distress related to prodromal symptomatology or impaired role functioning could activate the stress response even without florid psychosis.

One major finding of this study was that pituitary expansion in schizophrenia significantly correlated with working memory deficits, while such a correlation was not observed in the ARMS group. Consistent with previous studies (19, 20), the schizophrenia patients showed global cognitive deficits, with those for some domains (e.g., attention and processing speed) being more severe compared to high-risk subjects. Among these deficits, working memory impairment, which exists prior to the onset of psychosis (19, 20), is considered a central cognitive impairment in schizophrenia that is associated with a range of clinical characteristics [e.g., both positive (53) and negative (54) symptomatology and social deficits (55)]. While candidate neural circuits for working memory dysfunction in schizophrenia include the frontal-striatal-thalamic systems, particularly those involving the dorsolateral prefrontal cortex (54, 56), there is also neuroendocrine evidence that abnormal HPA axis function (i.e., flattened diurnal cortisol slope) is associated with working memory deficits in the early stages of psychosis (57) and that higher levels of dehydroepiandosterone (DHEA), an HPA-related hormone that counteracts the negative effects of cortisol in the brain (58), are associated with better working memory performance in schizophrenia (59). However, it is also suggested that each of the working memory components (e.g., the temporary systems and central executive system) may be differently impaired in psychosis (60) and that cortisol is linked with memory function in two different ways: (1) directly, by acutely disrupting working memory and short-term recall, and (2) indirectly, through the effects of persistent cortisol elevation on hippocampal integrity (23). Thus, the relation between the HPA axis dysregulation and memory deficits in psychosis is complex and may differ according to illness stages (26). Our findings of a significant relation between pituitary expansion and working memory impairment, especially in first-episode schizophrenia, but not in ARMS individuals, may reflect acute HPA hyperactivity that emerges only proximally to psychosis onset (25).

We note several limitations in this study. First, the sample size of our ARMS cohort (especially those who developed psychosis) was relatively small and their clinical follow-up periods were short (<12 months) for a substantial number of cases (N = 14). We therefore could not reliably examine the relationship between the pituitary volume or cognitive measures and later transition into psychosis. In addition, the ARMS group in this study was younger than the other groups. Although we statistically controlled for age differences, pituitary findings and their relation to clinical characteristics should be further tested in a larger, well-defined high-risk cohort in comparison with age-matched controls. Second, we did not assess pituitary function in this study. Although our findings regarding pituitary expansion are thought to reflect HPA axis dysregulation, a recent study of multiple measures of HPA axis function (7) did not find any association between the pituitary volume and cortical measures in high-risk and first-episode schizophrenia patients. The present

study replicated the gender difference in the pituitary volume (female > male), probably due to different endogenous estrogen levels (51), but we did not assess estrogen levels. Thus, further assessment of both pituitary volume and hormonal levels (e.g., cortisol, DHEA, and estrogen) will be needed. Third, we did not assess other brain regions closely associated with memory function (e.g., hippocampus), representing a major limitation of the study. In this study, the correlation between the pituitary volume and working memory remained essentially the same even when controlling for total gray matter volume (r = -0.38, p =0.002), suggesting no major contribution of gray matter changes to the pituitary-cognition relationship. However, future studies should conduct more comprehensive assessment to investigate potential neural underpinnings of working memory deficits in schizophrenia. Finally, most schizophrenia patients and 11 highrisk subjects were receiving antipsychotics at the time of the study, which could have affected both pituitary volume (2) and cognitive function (61). Although we did not find a direct relation between the medication (dose, duration) and pituitary volume, BACS subscale scores, or their relationships for either the ARMS or schizophrenia groups, our results suggested that serum prolactin level could be a confounding factor for our main findings. While schizophrenia patients frequently show hyperprolactinemia as a consequence of antipsychotic treatment, several studies have reported an elevated prolactin level and its relation to cognitive function independent of medication (62). Thus, possible role of prolactin on the relation between the pituitary volume and cognitive impairments should be further tested in an antipsychotic-naïve cohort.

In summary, the present study demonstrated that clinical high-risk subjects for psychosis exhibit enlargement of the pituitary gland similar to that observed in established schizophrenia, possibly reflecting a common vulnerability. On the other hand, our findings demonstrated that the pituitary volume may be specifically associated with working memory

REFERENCES

- Phillips LJ, McGorry PD, Garner B, Thompson KN, Pantelis C, Wood SJ, et al. Stress, the hippocampus and the hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal axis:implications for the development of psychotic disorders. *Aust N Z J Psychiatry* (2006) 40:725–41. doi: 10.1080/j.1440-1614.2006.01877.x
- Walker E, Mittal V, Tessner K. Stress and the hypothalamic pituitary adrenal axis in the developmental course of schizophrenia. *Ann Rev Clin Psychol.* (2008) 4:189–216. doi: 10.1146/annurev.clinpsy.4.022007.141248
- 3. Yung AR, Phillips LJ, McGorry PD. *Treating Schizophrenia in the Prodromal Phase*. London:Taylor & Francis (2004).
- Yung AR, Yuen HP, McGorry PD, Phillips LJ, Kelly D, Dell'Olio M, et al. Mapping the onset of psychosis:the comprehensive assessment of at-risk mental states. Aust N Z J Psychiatry (2005) 39:964–71. doi: 10.1080/j.1440-1614.2005.01714.x
- Walker EF, Brennan PA, Esterberg M, Brasfield J, Pearce B, Compton MT. Longitudinal changes in cortisol secretion and conversion to psychosis in at-risk youth. J Abnorm Psychol. (2010) 119:401–8. doi: 10.1037/a0018399
- Aiello G, Horowitz M, Hepgul N, Pariante CM, Mondelli V. Stress abnormalities in individuals at risk for psychosis:a review of studies in subjects with familial risk or with "at risk" mental state. *Psychoneuroendocrinology* (2012) 37:1600–13. doi: 10.1016/j.psyneuen.2012.05.003

deficits during the first-episode of schizophrenia. These findings may support the potential role of distinct HPA axis abnormalities that contribute to the cognitive impairments in different illness stages, but future studies should also examine hormone levels to understand the role of HPA functioning during the course of psychosis.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

MS, YH, and TT conceived the idea and methodology of the study. TT conducted the statistical analyses and wrote the manuscript. SN, DS, MN, and YN recruited subjects and were involved in clinical and diagnostic assessments. TT, DS, and MK analyzed the MRI data. YK assessed the socio-cognitive functions of the study participants. KN provided technical support for MRI scanning and data processing. AF, YN, and MN managed the MRI and clinical data. MS, YH, and YT contributed to the writing and editing of the manuscript. All authors contributed to and have approved the final manuscript.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

This work was supported in part by JSPS KAKENHI Grant Number No. JP18K07550 to TT, JP18K15509 to DS, and JP18K07549 to YT, and by the Health and Labour Sciences Research Grants for Comprehensive Research on Persons with Disabilities from the Japan Agency for Medical Research and Development (AMED) Grant Number 16dk0307029h0003 to MS. The authors are grateful to the staff of the Consultation and Support Service in Toyama (CAST) for their assistance in the recruitment of the study participants. We would also like to thank the radiological technologists, especially Mr. Koichi Mori and Mr. Kouei Nagahama, who assisted in the MRI data collection at Toyama University Hospital.

- Nordholm D, Rostrup E, Mondelli V, Randers L, Nielsen MØ, Wulff S, et al. Multiple measures of HPA axis function in ultra high risk and firstepisode schizophrenia patients. *Psychoneuroendocrinology* (2018) 92:72–80. doi: 10.1016/j.psyneuen.2018.03.015
- Franz CE, O'Brien RC, Hauger RL, Mendoza SP, Panizzon MS, Prom-Wormley E, et al. Cross-sectional and 35-year longitudinal assessment of salivary cortisol and cognitive functioning:the Vietnam Era twin study of aging. *Psychoneuroendocrinology* (2011) 36:1040–52. doi: 10.1016/j.psyneuen.2011.01.002
- 9. DeMorrow S. Role of the hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal axis in health and disease. *Int J Mol Sci.* (2018) 19:986. doi: 10.3390/ijms19040986
- Büschlen J, Berger GE, Borgwardt SJ, Aston J, Gschwandtner U, Pflueger MO, et al. Pituitary volume increase during emerging psychosis. *Schizophr Res.* (2011) 125:41–8. doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2010.09.022
- Takahashi T, Nakamura K, Nishiyama S, Furuichi A, Ikeda E, Kido M, et al. Increased pituitary volume in subjects at risk for psychosis and patients with first-episode schizophrenia. *Psychiatry Clin Neurosci.* (2013) 67:540–8. doi: 10.1111/pcn.12093
- MacMaster FP, El-Sheikh R, Upadhyaya AR, Nutche J, Rosenberg DR, Keshavan M. Effect of antipsychotics on pituitary gland volume in treatmentnaïve first-episode schizophrenia:a pilot study. *Schizophr Res.* (2007) 92:207– 10. doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2007.01.022

- Takahashi T, Zhou SY, Nakamura K, Tanino R, Furuichi A, Kido M, et al. Longitudinal volume changes of the pituitary gland in patients with schizotypal disorder and first-episode schizophrenia. *Prog Neuropsychopharmacol Biol Psychiatry* (2011) 35:177–83. doi: 10.1016/j.pnpbp.2010.10.023
- Nordholm D, Krogh J, Mondelli V, Dazzan P, Pariante C, Nordentoft M. Pituitary gland volume in patients with schizophrenia, subjects at ultra high-risk of developing psychosis and healthy controls:a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Psychoneuroendocrinology* (2013) 38:2394–404. doi: 10.1016/j.psyneuen.2013.06.030
- Takahashi T, Suzuki M. Brain morphologic changes in early stages of psychosis:implications for clinical application and early intervention. *Psychiatry Clin Neurosci.* (2018) 72:556–71. doi: 10.1111/pcn.12670
- Upadhyaya AR, El-Sheikh R, MacMaster FP, Diwadkar VA, Keshavan MS. Pituitary volume in neuroleptic-naïve schizophrenia:a structural MRI study. Schizophr Res. (2007) 90:266–73. doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2006.09.033
- Mesholam-Gately RI, Giuliano AJ, Goff KP, Faraone SV, Seidman LJ. Neurocognition in first-episode schizophrenia:a meta-analytic review. *Neuropsychology* (2009) 23:315–36. doi: 10.1037/a0014708
- Aas M, Dazzan P, Mondelli V, Melle I, Murray RM, Pariante CM. A systematic review of cognitive function in first-episode psychosis, including a discussion on childhood trauma, stress, and inflammation. *Front Psychiatry* (2014) 4:182. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2013.00182
- Fusar-Poli P, Deste G, Smieskova R, Barlati S, Yung AR, Howes O, et al. Cognitive functioning in prodromal psychosis:a meta-analysis. Arch Gen Psychiatry (2012) 69:562–71. doi: 10.1001/archgenpsychiatry.2011.1592
- De Herdt A, Wampers M, Vancampfort D, De Hert M, Vanhees L, Demunter H, et al. Neurocognition in clinical high risk young adults who did or did not convert to a first schizophrenic psychosis:a meta-analysis. *Schizophr Res.* (2013) 149:48–55. doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2013.06.017
- Lin A, Wood SJ, Nelson B, Brewer WJ, Spiliotacopoulos D, Bruxner A, et al. Neurocognitive predictors of functional outcome two to 13 years after identification as ultra-high risk for psychosis. *Schizophr Res.* (2011) 132:1–7. doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2011.06.014
- Chang WC, Hui CLM, Wong GHY, Chan SKW, Lee EHM, Chen EYH. Symptomatic remission and cognitive impairment in first-episode schizophrenia:a prospective 3-year follow-up study. J Clin Psychiatry (2013) 74:e1046–53. doi: 10.4088/JCP.13m08355
- Walder DJ, Walker EF, Lewine RJ. Cognitive functioning, cortisol release, and symptom severity in patients with schizophrenia. *Biol. Psychiatry* (2000) 48:1121–32. doi: 10.1016/S0006-3223(00)01052-0
- Aas M, Dazzan P, Mondelli V, Toulopoulou T, Reichenberg A, Di Forti M, et al. Abnormal cortisol awakening response predicts worse cognitive function in patients with first-episode psychosis. *Psychol Med.* (2011) 41:463–76. doi: 10.1017/S0033291710001170
- Cullen AE, Zunszain PA, Dickson H, Roberts RE, Fisher HL, Pariante CM, et al. Cortisol awakening response and diurnal cortisol among children at elevated risk for schizophrenia:relationship to psychosocial stress and cognition. *Psychoneuroendocrinology* (2014) 46:1–13. doi: 10.1016/j.psyneuen.2014.03.010
- Allott KA, Yuen HP, Bartholomeusz CF, Rapado-Castro M, Phassouliotis C, Butselaar F, et al. Stress hormones and verbal memory in young people over the first 12 weeks of treatment for psychosis. *Psychiatry Res.* (2018) 260:60–6. doi: 10.1016/j.psychres.2017.11.044
- Takahashi T, Nakamura M, Sasabayashi D, Komori Y, Higuchi Y, Nishikawa Y, et al. Olfactory deficits in individuals at risk for psychosis and patients with schizophrenia:relationship with socio-cognitive functions and symptom severity. *Eur Arch Psychiatry Clin Neurosci.* (2018) 268:689–98. doi: 10.1007/s00406-017-0845-3
- Takahashi T, Higuchi Y, Komori Y, Nishiyama S, Nakamura M, Sasabayashi D, et al. Quality of life in individuals with attenuated psychotic symptoms:possible role of anxiety, depressive symptoms, and socio-cognitive impairments. *Psychiatry Res.* (2017) 257:431–7. doi: 10.1016/j.psychres.2017.08.024
- Mizuno M, Suzuki M, Matsumoto K, Murakami M, Takeshi K, Miyakoshi T, et al. Clinical practice and research activities for early psychiatric intervention at Japanese leading centres. *Early Interv Psychiatry* (2009) 3:5–9. doi: 10.1111/j.1751-7893.2008.00104.x

- Miyakoshi T, Matsumoto K, Ito F, Ohmuro N, Matsuoka H. Application of the Comprehensive Assessment of At-Risk Mental States (CAARMS) to the Japanese population:reliability and validity of the Japanese version of the CAARMS. *Early Interv Psychiatry* (2009) 3:123–30. doi: 10.1111/j.1751-7893.2009.00118.x
- American Psychiatric Association. *Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders*. 4th ed. Text Revised. Washington DC:American Psychiatric Association (2000).
- First MB, Gibbon M, Spitzer RL, Williams JBW. Structured Clinical Interview for DSM-IV Axis I Disorders. Washington DC:American Psychiatric Press (1997).
- Kay SR, Fiszbein A, Opler LA. The positive and negative syndrome scale (PANSS) for schizophrenia. *Schizophr Bull.* (1987) 13:261–76. doi: 10.1093/schbul/13.2.261
- 34. Okada N, Kasai K, Takahashi T, Suzuki M, Hashimoto R, Kameyama T, et al. Rating scale of handedness for biological psychiatry research among Japanese people. *Japanese J Biol Psychiatry* (2014) 25:118–9. doi: 10.11249/jsbpjjpp.25.2_118
- 35. Okada N, Kasai K, Takahashi T, Suzuki M, Hashimoto R, Kawakami N. Brief rating scale of socioeconomic status for biological psychiatry research among Japanese people:a scaling based on an educational history. *Japanese J Biol Psychiatry* (2014) 25:115–7. doi: 10.11249/jsbpjjpp.25.2_115
- 36. Matsuoka K, Uno M, Kasai K, Koyama K, Kim Y. Estimation of premorbid IQ in individuals with Alzheimer's disease using Japanese ideographic script (Kanji) compound words:Japanese version of national adult reading test. *Psychiatry Clin Neurosci.* (2006) 60:332–9. doi: 10.1111/j.1440-1819.2006.01510.x
- Takahashi T, Malhi GS, Wood SJ, Walterfang M, Yücel M, Lorenzetti V, et al. Increased pituitary volume in patients with established bipolar affective disorder. *Prog Neuropsychopharmacol Biol Psychiatry* (2009) 33:1245–9. doi: 10.1016/j.pnpbp.2009.07.012
- Takahashi T, Suzuki M, Velakoulis D, Lorenzetti V, Soulsby B, Zhou SY, et al. Increased pituitary volume in schizophrenia spectrum disorders. *Schizophr Res.* (2009) 108:114–21. doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2008.12.016
- Malone IB, Leung KK, Clegg S, Barnes J, Whitwell JL, Ashburner J, et al. Accurate automatic estimation of total intracranial volume:a nuisance variable with less nuisance. *Neuroimage* (2015) 104:366–72. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroimage.2014.09.034
- Garner B, Pariante CM, Wood SJ, Velakoulis D, Phillips L, Soulsby B, et al. Pituitary volume predicts future transition to psychosis in individuals at ultra-high risk of developing psychosis. *Biol Psychiatry* (2005) 58:417–23. doi: 10.1016/j.biopsych.2005.04.018
- Kaneda Y, Sumiyoshi T, Keefe R, Ishimoto Y, Numata S, Ohmori T. Brief assessment of cognition in schizophrenia:validation of the Japanese version. *Psychiatry Clin Neurosci.* (2007) 61:602–9. doi: 10.1111/j.1440-1819.2007.01725.x
- Keefe RS, Goldberg TE, Harvey PD, Gold JM, Poe MP, Coughenour L. The brief assessment of cognition in schizophrenia:reliability, sensitivity, and comparison with a standard neurocognitive battery. *Schizophr Res.* (2004) 68:283–97. doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2003.09.011
- Kaneda Y, Ohmori T, Okahisa Y, Sumiyoshi T, Pu S, Ueoka Y, et al. Measurement and treatment research to improve cognition in schizophrenia consensus cognitive battery:validation of the Japanese version. *Psychiatry Clin Neurosci.* (2013) 67:182–8. doi: 10.1111/pcn.12029
- 44. Keefe RS, Poe M, Walker TM, Kang JW, Harvey PD. The schizophrenia cognition rating scale:an interview-based assessment and its relationship to cognition, real-world functioning, and functional capacity. *Am J Psychiatry* (2006) 163:426–32. doi: 10.1176/appi.ajp.163.3.426
- Goldman HH, Skodol AE, Lave TR. Revising axis V for DSM-IV:a review of measures of social functioning. Am. J. Psychiatry (1992) 149:1148–56.
- 46. American Psychiatric Association. *Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders*. 4th ed. Washington DC:American Psychiatric Association (1994).
- Walter A, Studerus E, Smieskova R, Tamagni C, Rapp C, Borgwardt SJ, et al. Pituitary gland volume in at-risk mental state for psychosis:a longitudinal MRI analysis. CNS Spectr. (2015) 20:122–9. doi: 10.1017/S109285291400011X
- Pariante CM. Pituitary volume in psychosis:the first review of the evidence. J Psychopharmacol. (2008) 22:76–81. doi: 10.1177/02698811070 84020

- Cohrs S, Röher C, Jordan W, Meier A, Huether G, Wuttke W, et al. The atypical antipsychotics olanzapine and quetiapine, but not haloperidol, reduce ACTH and cortisol secretion in healthy subjects. *Psychopharmacology* (2006) 185:11–8. doi: 10.1007/s00213-005-0279-x
- Lurie SN, Doraiswamy PM, Husain MM, Boyko OB, Ellinwood EH Jr, Figiel GS, et al. *In vivo* assessment of pituitary gland volume with magnetic resonance imaging:the effect of age. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab.* (1990) 71:505–8.
- MacMaster FP, Keshavan M, Mirza Y, Carrey N, Upadhyaya AR, El-Sheikh R, et al. Development and sexual dimorphism of the pituitary gland. *Life Sci.* (2007) 80:940–4. doi: 10.1016/j.lfs.2006.11.040
- Mondelli V, Dazzan P, Gabilondo A, Tournikioti K, Walshe M, Marshall N, et al. Pituitary volume in unaffected relatives of patients with schizophrenia and bipolar disorder. *Psychoneuroendocrinology* (2008) 33:1004–12. doi: 10.1016/j.psyneuen.2008.05.010
- Gisselgård J, Anda LG, Brønnick K, Langeveld J, Ten Velden Hegelstad W, Joa I, et al. Verbal working memory deficits predict levels of auditory hallucination in first-episode psychosis. *Schizophr Res.* (2014) 153:38–41. doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2013.12.018
- Pantelis C, Stuart GW, Nelson HE, Robbins TW, Barnes TR. Spatial working memory deficits in schizophrenia:relationship with tardive dyskinesia and negative symptoms. *Am J Psychiatry* (2001) 158:1276–85. doi: 10.1176/appi.ajp.158.8.1276
- Huang J, Tan SP, Walsh SC, Spriggens LK, Neumann DL, Shum DH, et al. Working memory dysfunctions predict social problem solving skills in schizophrenia. *Psychiatry Res.* (2014) 220:96–101. doi: 10.1016/j.psychres.2014.07.043
- Lett TA, Voineskos AN, Kennedy JL, Levine B, Daskalakis ZJ. Treating working memory deficits in schizophrenia:a review of the neurobiology. *Biol Psychiatry* (2014) 75:361–70. doi: 10.1016/j.biopsych.2013.07.026
- Labad J, Gutiérrez-Zotes A, Creus M, Montalvo I, Cabezas Á, Solé M, et al. Hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal axis measures and cognitive abilities in early psychosis:Are there sex differences? *Psychoneuroendocrinology* (2016) 72:54–62. doi: 10.1016/j.psyneuen.2016.06.006

- Kamin HS, Kertes DA. Cortisol and DHEA in development and psychopathology. *Horm. Behav.* (2017) 89:69–85. doi: 10.1016/j.yhbeh.2016.11.018
- Harris DS, Wolkowitz OM, Reus VI. Movement disorder, memory, psychiatric symptoms and serum DHEA levels in schizophrenic and schizoaffective patients. *World J Biol Psychiatry* (2001) 2:99–102. doi: 10.3109/15622970109027500
- Sánchez-Torres AM, Elosúa MR, Lorente-Omeñaca R, Moreno-Izco L, Cuesta MJ. A comparative study of the working memory multicomponent model in psychosis and healthy controls. *Compr Psychiatry* (2015) 61:97–105. doi: 10.1016/j.comppsych.2015. 05.008
- 61. Keefe RS. The longitudinal course of cognitive impairment in schizophrenia:an examination of data from premorbid through posttreatment phases of illness. *J Clin Psychiatry* (2014) 75(Suppl. 2):8–13. doi: 10.4088/JCP.13065su1.02
- Penadés R, García-Rizo C, Bioque M, González-Rodríguez A, Cabrera B, Mezquida G, et al. The search for new biomarkers for cognition in schizophrenia. *Schizophr Res Cogn.* (2015) 2:172–8. doi: 10.1016/j.scog.2015.10.004

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2018 Takahashi, Higuchi, Komori, Nishiyama, Takayanagi, Sasabayashi, Kido, Furuichi, Nishikawa, Nakamura, Noguchi and Suzuki. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Two-Year Clinical and Functional Outcomes of an Asian Cohort at Ultra-High Risk of Psychosis

Chun Ting Chan^{1,2*}, Edimansyah Abdin¹, Mythily Subramaniam¹, Sarah Ann Tay¹, Lay Keow Lim¹ and Swapna Verma^{1,2}

¹ Institute of Mental Health, Singapore, Singapore, ² Duke-NUS Medical School, Singapore, Singapore

Background: To determine the 2-year clinical and functional outcomes of an Asian cohort at ultra-high risk (UHR) of psychosis.

Method: This was a longitudinal study with a follow-up period of 2 years on 255 help-seeking adolescents and young adults at UHR of psychosis managed by a multi-disciplinary mental health team in Singapore. Clients received case management, psychosocial, and pharmacological treatment as appropriate. Data comprising symptom and functional outcomes were collected over the observation period by trained clinicians and psychiatrists.

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Young-Chul Chung, Chonbuk National University, South Korea

Reviewed by:

Tomiki Sumiyoshi, National Center of Neurology and Psychiatry, Japan Tianhong Zhang, Shanghai Mental Health Center (SMHC), China

*Correspondence:

Chun Ting Chan chun_ting_chan@imh.com.sg

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Schizophrenia, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychiatry

Received: 24 October 2018 Accepted: 20 December 2018 Published: 25 January 2019

Citation:

Chan CT, Abdin E, Subramaniam M, Tay SA, Lim LK and Verma S (2019) Two-Year Clinical and Functional Outcomes of an Asian Cohort at Ultra-High Risk of Psychosis. Front. Psychiatry 9:758. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2018.00758 **Results:** The 2-year psychosis transition rate was 16.9%, with a median time to transition of 168 days. After 2 years, 14.5% of the subjects had persistent at-risk symptoms while 7.5% developed other non-psychotic psychiatric disorders. 38.4% of the cohort had recovered and was discharged from mental health services. The entire cohort's functioning improved as reflected by an increase in the score of the Social and Occupational Functioning Assessment Scale during the follow-up period. Predictors to psychosis transition included low education level, baseline unemployment, a history of violence, and brief limited intermittent psychotic symptoms, while male gender predicted the persistence of UHR state, or the development of non-psychotic disorders.

Conclusion: Use of the current UHR criteria allows us to identify individuals who are at imminent risk of developing not just psychosis, but also those who may develop other mental health disorders. Future research should include identifying the needs of those who do not transition to psychosis, while continuing to refine on ways to improve the UHR prediction algorithm for psychosis.

Keywords: psychosis, ultra-high risk for psychosis, schizophrenia, outcome, treatment

INTRODUCTION

Schizophrenia and related psychotic disorders impose significant social and economic burden on the patients and the society, with the World Health Organization estimating that the direct costs associated with schizophrenia to be about 2% of total health care expenditure (1).

Detecting and managing persons at Ultra High-Risk (UHR) for psychosis was identified as a potential way to recognize persons at increased risk of developing a psychotic disorder. It is presumed that with early identification and management, mental healthcare providers will be able

17

to offer treatment to prevent the development of mental health disorders that may follow the prodromal phase.

However, there are significant variations in the psychosis transition rates reported across studies (2–8) which may be affected by factors such as study design, subject characteristics and follow-up duration. It also appears that the psychosis transition rate has been in the decline over the years (7, 9). Regardless, the common finding is that majority of UHR individuals do not develop a psychotic disorder (6, 10–14). This has important implications regarding patient education, treatment provision, and service planning.

Singapore is an island nation in South-East Asia with a population of 5.61 million persons (2017). This is a naturalistic study reporting on the 2-year symptom and functional outcomes of 255 help-seeking UHR individuals in Singapore. These individuals were managed by a multi-disciplinary team under the Support for Wellness Achievement Program (SWAP) which was established in 2008 and is based in the Institute of Mental Health, the only tertiary psychiatric hospital in Singapore. SWAP provides a comprehensive and integrated management program for UHR individuals aged between 16 and 30. Suitable patients are managed by the healthcare team for a maximum of 2 years. The period of care varies depending on the need and desire of the young persons and their families. Our multi-disciplinary team includes psychiatrists, case managers, psychologists, social workers, and occupational therapists. Details of the SWAP service have been described in an earlier article by Rao et al. (15)

METHODS

Sample

This study included individuals accepted into SWAP between January 2008 and June 2014. They were assessed by trained psychiatrists, with their UHR status determined using the Comprehensive Assessment of At-Risk Mental State (CAARMS) scale at baseline. The subjects were aged between 16 and 30 years at intake and assessed to be in a prodromal state. Exclusion criteria included a previous episode of DSM-IV psychotic disorder, the presence of organic brain disease, serious developmental disorder, and physical and neurological illnesses that could cause psychosis.

All data was collected at the Institute of Mental Health and its satellite clinics in Singapore. Data was captured in a clinical database and anonymized before the analysis. The study protocol was approved by the Domain Specific Review Board of the National Healthcare Group.

Assessment

Structured clinical and psychosocial assessments were conducted for patients at regular intervals. Diagnoses were confirmed by trained psychiatrists using the Structured Clinical Interviews for Diagnostic and Statistical Manual for Mental Disorders-4th Edition (SCID-I) (16). CAARMS was administered by trained case managers.

The level of functioning was measured using the Social and Occupational Functioning Assessment Scale (SOFAS) (17) and a survey of their vocational status.

SCID-I–The Structured Clinical Interview for DSM-IV Axis I Disorders (SCID-I) is a semi-structured interview for making the major DSM-IV Axis I diagnoses. The instrument is administered by a trained psychiatrist at baseline, 1 year, and 2 years.

SOFAS–The SOFAS is a scale that measures the individual's level of social and occupational functioning. It differs from the Global Assessment of Functioning in that it is not directly influenced by the overall severity of the individual's psychological symptoms. The SOFAS is used to rate current functioning and is rated on a scale of 0–100, which is done at baseline, 6 months, 1 year, and 2 years.

CAARMS-The Comprehensive Assessment of At-Risk Mental State (CAARMS) is a semi structured interview used to evaluate if an individual meets the UHR criteria. The positive symptom subscale was used, which assesses four symptom domains: unusual thought content, non-bizarre ideas, perceptual abnormalities, and disorganized speech. Each symptom was rated for the maximum intensity, frequency and duration, pattern, and related distress over the past 1 year. The 3 main criteria for UHR include the presence of (1) Brief Limited Intermittent Psychosis (BLIPS, with history of psychotic symptoms that resolved spontaneously within 1 week) (2) Attenuated Psychosis Syndrome (APS, having experienced subthreshold psychotic symptoms) or (3) Vulnerability group (Functional decline in a person with first degree family member suffering from psychosis). CAARMS is a widely used instrument in both Asian and Western centers (12, 18-20). CAARMS was done by trained case managers in person or by phone, and was administered at baseline, 1 year, and 2 years.

Violence was measured using self-reported information and family report. A positive answer from either the subject or their family was treated as positive for violence. These data were collected at baseline, 6 months, 1 year, and 2 years.

All measures were administered by trained clinicians. Clinical consensus was reached between psychiatrists in the study team if necessary.

Outcomes

The primary outcome of the study was the transition to a primary psychotic disorder over the 2-year follow-up period. Secondary outcomes include the persistence of UHR state, the development of a non-psychotic psychiatric disorder, and the level of functioning at 2 years.

Statistical Analysis

All statistical analyses were performed using STATA version 13. Descriptive statistics were computed for the basic demographic and clinical variables. Mean and standard deviations (SD) were calculated for continuous variables and frequencies and percentages for categorical variables. Differences between variables at baseline and last visits at 24 months were tested by paired *t*-test and Wilcoxon signed-rank test for normal and non-normal continuous variable whenever appropriate. Cox proportional hazards regression model was used to identify variables associated with conversion to psychosis.

Multinomial logistic regression analyses were also used to predict persistence of ARMS and the development of psychotic disorder at year 2 follow-up. Level of significance was set at p < 0.05.

RESULTS

Participants

A total of 343 patients were accepted into SWAP during the study period. Data from 255 patients was available for baseline analysis. The sample consisted of 173 males (67.8%) and 82 females (32.2%) with a mean age of 20.8 years (SD 3.3). There were 199 (78.0%) Chinese, 28 (11.0%) Malays, 23 (9.0%) Indians with the rest (2%) being Eurasians or others (**Table 1**). The study population was reflective of the racial distribution of the general population in Singapore (21).

 $\label{eq:table_table_table_table} \textbf{TABLE 1} \mid \textbf{Baseline sociodemographic and clinical characteristics of the sample.}$

	Mean	SD
Age, year	20.8	3.3
	n	%
GENDER		
Male	173	67.8
Female	82	32.2
RACE		
Chinese	199	78.0
Malay	28	11.0
Indian	23	9.0
Others	5	2
MARITAL STATUS		
Single/Never married	246	97.2
Married	6	2.4
Separated	1	0.4
EDUCATION		
Primary and below	27	10.6
Secondary	115	45.3
Tertiary	112	44.1
EMPLOYMENT STATUS		
Employed	113	44.3
Unemployed	25	10.1
Economically inactive	110	44.3
CAARMS GROUP		
CAARMS-APS ^a (%)	153	60.0
CAARMS-Vulnerable ^b (%)	54	21.2
CAARMS-BLIPS ^C (%)	7	2.7
Current smoker	47	18.7
Past suicide attempt at baseline	30	11.8
Past aggression or violence	71	28.0
1st degree family history of psychiatric illness	95	37.9
Past contact with the police	24	9.5

CAARMS, The Comprehensive Assessment of At-Risk Mental State; ^aCAARMS-Vulnerable, Vulnerable group; ^bCAARMS-APS, Attenuated psychotic symptom group; ^cCAARMS-BLIPS, Brief limited intermittent psychotic symptoms group.

Symptom Outcomes

At baseline, 153 (60.0%) fulfilled the criteria for APS, 54 (21.2%) for the vulnerable group and 7 (2.7%) for BLIPS. The remaining patients (16.1%) either did not fall into any specific subgroup but were determined to be in a prodromal state based on clinical decision or they fulfilled the criteria for more than 1 UHR group.

Over the 2-year follow-up period, 43 patients (16.9%) developed a psychotic disorder with a median time to transition of 168 days (**Figure 1**).

Thirty-seven patients (14.5%) continued to meet the criteria for UHR at 2 years. Nineteen (7.5%) required psychiatric care with other services but did not develop a psychotic disorder. Ninety-eight patients (38.4%) were discharged without the need for further psychiatric follow-up. One patient (0.4%) had defaulted during the follow-up period, and the 2-year data was not available for 56 (22.0%) of the patients.

Predictors of Transition to Psychosis, Persistence of UHR Characteristics and Other Psychiatric Symptoms

Using the Cox regression model, a primary or lower education level (<6 years of formal education) (p = 0.047), the presence of history of violence (p = 0.003), unemployment at baseline (vs. employed) (p = 0.004), and BLIPS (p = 0.018) predicted the development of a psychotic disorder (**Table 2**).

Further comparisons between subjects who had developed psychotic disorders, persistence of UHR or developed non-psychotic psychiatric disorders, and discharged without the need for further psychiatric follow-up using the multinomial logistic regression model, we found that male gender (vs. female) (p = 0.024) was significantly more likely to have persistent UHR or the development of a non-psychotic psychiatric disorder than discharged without the need for further psychiatric follow-up (**Table 3**).



	Hazard risk	95% confi	P-value	
Age	1.1	1.0	1.2	0.180
GENDER				
Male	Reference.			
Female	1.4	0.7	2.9	0.377
RACE				
Chinese	Reference			
Malay	0.8	0.3	2.2	0.643
Indian				
Others			•	
MARITAL STATU	JS			
Never married	Reference			
Single	3.2	0.5	20.0	0.213
Separated				
Education				
Primary or lower	2.6	1.0	6.6	0.047
Secondary	Reference			
Tertiary	1.0	0.4	2.3	1.000
EMPLOYMENT	STATUS			
Employed	Reference			
Unemployment	4.2	1.6	10.7	0.003
Student	1.2	0.5	2.8	0.683
FAMILY HISTOR	Y WITH MENTA	L ILLNESS		
No	Reference			
Yes	1.7	0.8	3.7	0.153
SUICIDE ATTEM	IPT			
No	Reference			
Yes	0.6	0.2	2.0	0.393
VIOLENCE				
No	Reference			
Yes	2.9	1.5	5.8	0.002
POLICE CONTA	СТ			
No	Reference			
Yes	1.6	0.5	5.0	0.420
CAARMS-VULN	ERABLE ^a			
No	Reference			
Yes	0.6	0.2	1.4	0.202
CAARMS-APS ^b				
No	Reference			
Yes	1.1	0.6	2.2	0.787
CAARMS-BLIPS	sc			
No	Reference			
INO	100000			

. = Not estimated due to small sample size.

CAARMS, The Comprehensive Assessment of At-Risk Mental State; ^aCAARMS-Vulnerable, Vulnerable group; ^bCAARMS-APS, Attenuated psychotic symptom group; ^cCAARMS-BLIPS, Brief limited intermittent psychotic symptoms group.

Functional Recovery

The mean SOFAS score at baseline was 53.4 (SD = 10.1), indicating a serious impairment of functioning on initial presentation. Over the 2-year follow-up period, the cohort showed a significant improvement in SOFAS score (p < 0.001) which improved to 69.8 (SD = 13.4) at 2 years.

Whitehorn et al. defined functional recovery in a cohort of patients suffering from psychosis as SOFAS score >60 (22). Using this criterion, 70.1% of our patients were able to attain functional recovery at 2 years. The rates of functional recovery were slightly higher in those with persistent UHR (74.1%) than those with a non-psychotic psychiatric disorder (50%) and those who experienced full symptom remission (69.4%). The difference was however non-statistically significant (p = 0.737).

DISCUSSION

UHR states are conceptualized as clinical syndromes where individuals are at elevated risk of developing psychotic disorders. But studies have shown that UHR states can take on several possible clinical trajectories (11, 23-25), ranging from complete remission of all psychiatric symptoms, to the persistence of UHR states, to the development of psychotic, and nonpsychotic psychiatric conditions. This highlights the importance of maintaining flexibility of mental health services in supporting young UHR individuals whose clinical symptoms may evolve over time.

Functional decline and the emergence of subthreshold psychiatric symptoms often precede the development of psychotic disorders such as schizophrenia (5, 26) (Addington and Heinssen, Prediction and prevention of psychosis in youth at clinical high risk., (27), and one of the functions of identifying UHR individuals in this "pre-illness" stage is so that evidencebased treatment can be instituted. This brings about the possibility of reducing the individual's risk of developing any psychiatric disorder, improving their mental well-being and functional outcomes.

Psychosis Transition

This study examines the symptom and functional outcomes of help-seeking UHR individuals in an Asian population. The primary finding was that based on the current UHR criteria, the cumulative conversion rate to a primary psychotic disorder after 2 years was 16.9%, with a median duration to transition of about 5 months. In a meta-analysis involving 2,500 UHR individuals, Fusar-Poli et al. found a 29% transition rate (95% CI, 27.3–31.1%) within 31 months following first clinical presentation (23), and specifically, the transition risk at 24 months was 29.1% (23). This shows that transition rate in our cohort was low compared to that reported in other studies examining the short to medium term development of psychotic disorder in UHR individuals.

Transition rates vary between studies and factors influencing the observed rates include differences in study methodology, risk criteria, sample characteristics, duration of follow-up, and treatment. In addition, it has been observed that the rate of psychosis transition has reduced over the recent years. Yung et al. reported a reduction in the 12-month transition rate from 50 to 12% between 1995 and 2000 (9), which was not accounted for by differences in levels of pre-morbid functioning or severity of psychiatric symptoms. A possible explanation was the decrease in the duration of symptoms experienced by the patients before they received medical attention. This early detection allowed for the

	Persistence of ARMS features vs. Recovered				Developed psychotic disorders vs. Recovered				
	Odds ratio		confidence nterval	P-value	Odds ratio		confidence nterval	P-value	
Age	1.02	0.9	1.2	0.806	1.1	0.9	1.3	0.156	
GENDER									
Vale	Reference.				Reference.				
Female	0.3	0.1	0.8	0.024	0.9	0.4	2.1	0.747	
RACE									
Chinese	Reference				Reference				
Vlalay	1.2	0.3	4.2	0.793	0.9	0.3	2.9	0.776	
ndian	1.4	0.3	6.3	0.643					
Others	1.4	0.2	15.5	0.78					
MARITAL STATUS									
Single/Never married	Reference				Reference				
Married	8.1	0.3	225.2	0.216	6.8	0.4	115.0	0.184	
EDUCATION									
Lower					2.8	0.9	9.3	0.087	
Secondary	Reference				Reference				
Tertiary	0.8	0.3	2.2	0.728	1.03	0.4	2.7	0.951	
EMPLOYMENT STAT	JS								
Employed	Reference				Reference				
Unemployment	3.1	0.7	13.1	0.133	7.5	2.1	27.2	0.002	
Student	1.1	0.4	3.1	0.853	1.6	0.6	4.3	0.354	
Smoking (Yes vs. No)	0.9	0.3	3.1	0.913	0.5	0.1	1.5	0.202	
FAMILY HISTORY WIT	TH MENTAL ILLI	NESS							
No	Reference				Reference				
Yes	1.4	0.5	3.8	0.453	1.7	0.7	4.3	0.238	
SUICIDE ATTEMPT						-	-		
No	Reference				Reference				
Yes	2.0	0.6	6.6	0.244	0.8	0.2	4.1	0.990	
VIOLENCE	-					-			
No	Reference				Reference				
Yes	1.1	0.4	3.0	0.843	2.9	1.2	6.9	0.014	
POLICE CONTACT									
No	Reference				Reference				
Yes	0.1	0.01	1.5	0.104	1.01	0.2	4.1	0.990	
CAARMS-VULNERAB		0101	110	01101		012		0.000	
No					Reference				
Yes	1.7	0.5	5.1	0.379	0.7	0.2	2.2	0.576	
CAARMS-APS ^b	1.7	0.0	0.1	0.070	0.7	0.2	<i>L.L</i>	0.010	
No					Reference				
Yes	1.6	0.7	3.8	0.254	1.5	0.7	3.4	0.312	
CAARMS-BLIPS ^C	1.0	0.7	0.0	0.204	1.0	0.7	0.4	0.012	
No					Reference				
						0.0	46.7	0.000	
Yes	•	•	•		6.0	0.8	46.7	0.088	

TABLE 3 | Difference in sociodemographic and clinical characteristics between the three groups (transitioned, persistent ARMS / other disorders and recovered).

. = Not estimated due to small sample size.

CAARMS, The Comprehensive Assessment of At-Risk Mental State; ^a CAARMS-Vulnerable, Vulnerable group; ^bCAARMS-APS, Attenuated psychotic symptom group; ^cCAARMS-BLIPS, Brief limited intermittent psychotic symptoms group.

early identification of UHR individuals so that effective treatment could be instituted, reducing the rate of transition to psychosis.

The age of onset of psychotic disorders such as schizophrenia varies between studies. This variation can be attributed to the

use of differing symptom criteria in determining the onset of the illness as well as the reliability of patient-reported or familyobserved onset of behavioral changes (28, 29). The consensus on the age of onset of schizophrenia is that the incidence peaks before the age of 25 in men and between 25 and 35 for women (30). The mean age of our study population was 20.8 years. This suggests that a proportion of persons under our care may not have lived past the peak age of psychosis onset, contributing to the low transition rate. From a population perspective, illicit drug use is less common in Singapore (31, 32) and those who have an active substance use disorder have been excluded from SWAP and could have contributed to the low observed transition rate.

In addition, case management offered by SWAP may have been responsible for the low transition rate. In a double-blind, placebo-controlled trial, cognitive-behavioral case management (33) was found to be effective in reducing the 6-month conversion rate to psychosis. Our case managers are trained in providing psychological support while the team psychologists manage individuals requiring more in-depth structured therapies. This ensures that treatments with lower risk of adverse effects are made available to the UHR population, while at the same time providing benefits to those in need.

Predictors of Transition

We found that significant predictors of transition were unemployment at baseline and having a history of violence. These factors are consistent with findings from previous research (5, 9, 23, 34, 35).

The relationship between violent behavior and psychotic disorders is complex and can be influenced by factors related to the illness as well as those associated with the person's socio-occupational state (36). Some examples of these factors are impulsivity, severity of the psychotic symptoms, unemployment, and housing status. We hypothesize that UHR individuals who are at the highest risk of transition exhibit elevated levels of impulsivity, a trait found in persons suffering from both early psychosis and those with longer duration of illness (37, 38). This impulsivity could have led to the increased rates of violence (37, 38) observed in the study.

It has been reported that those experiencing BLIPS are at increased risk of developing psychotic disorders (24, 39), which is consistent with findings from our study. This suggest that BLIPS may fall along the psychosis spectrum of disorders and that treatments, including the use of antipsychotics, should be considered in the earlier illness course for someone experiencing BLIPS. In our sample, we did not find those in the CAARMS—APS group were at elevated risk of transitioning to psychosis as compared to subjects in the CAARMS—Vulnerable group.

Secondary Outcomes

The secondary aim of this study was to examine the outcomes of UHR individuals who did not develop a psychotic disorder. A significant proportion of our study population (24.0%) continued to experience persistent prodromal psychotic symptoms while 13.4% developed a non-psychotic psychiatric disorder requiring further attention. This highlights the fact that a significant proportion of UHR individuals are at risk of developing other psychiatric disorders or may continue to experience ongoing subthreshold symptoms. Hence treatment in these individuals should not merely focus on prevention of psychotic disorders but also address the myriad of other psychiatric symptoms and maladaptive coping that these individuals often exhibit.

Unemployment at baseline again predicted either the persistence of prodromal symptoms or the development of other non-psychotic psychiatric condition (40). UHR individuals often experience difficulties in their academic and occupational performance. This is consistent with the findings from our cohort where the mean baseline SOFAS score was 50.3, which indicates that many of them experienced serious challenges socio-occupational functioning. However, it is of interest to note that the proportion of individuals actively engaged in education or work remained high. This may be explained by the economic situation in Singapore.

Since 2003, Singapore has mandated compulsory primary education between the age of 6 and 15 years (41). In addition, there is a wide-range of options in higher education offered by the Singaporean government and private institutions. These would have contributed to the high proportion of the study cohort being engaged in education at baseline and at 2 years.

Furthermore, the unemployment rate in Singapore stands at a low of 2.2% in 2017, and there continues to be a large demand for both skilled and unskilled workers in the country. This is likely to be at least partially responsible for the low employment rate as seen in the study cohort.

There was significant improvement in SOFAS score to 69.8 after 2 years, reflecting an improvement in psychiatric symptoms and better psychosocial well-being from the multi-disciplinary services offered by SWAP. We did not identify any factor at baseline that could predict the 2-year functional outcomes of the cohort.

Strengths and Weaknesses

The strengths of this study are the large sample size, a low dropout rate and the clearly defined criteria for UHR state from a single study site. The limitations include (1) A proportion of subjects who were accepted into SWAP during the recruitment time-frame did not have a baseline CAARMS assessment performed and were excluded from analysis. This may have included individuals with clinical characteristics not fitting the UHR state and which could have confounded the study's findings. (2) We did not capture the diagnosis individuals who developed a non-psychotic disorder. The information would have been useful in characterizing the clinical outcomes of UHR individuals. (3) Pharmacological and non-pharmacological treatment received by the subjects were not available in detail as the information was not universally collected and may have an influence on the subjects' symptom and functional outcomes.

CONCLUSION

Research and ideas involving UHR states have evolved over time. The use of clinical criteria allows us to prospectively identify individuals at increased imminent risk for psychosis relative to the general population. Moreover, we know that a significant proportion of these individuals will have a persistence of prodromal symptoms and may go on to develop other psychiatric disorders. Many of them will experience significant functional impairments. These individuals are likely adolescents and young adults and should be monitored regularly. Adequately addressing the needs for these individuals through a multidisciplinary management approach may allow us to delay or even prevent the onset of more serious mental health conditions. From the results of this study, we note that those with poorer baseline functioning are at increased risk of having persistent psychiatric symptoms, and mental health services should be tailored to the needs of these individuals.

The association between low education level and an increased rate of transition indicates that it is important for mental healthcare services to allocate increased resources and attention to young persons with lower academic achievements and/or are not employed on entry into mental health service, and to consider extending the duration of care for those who may not have transited by the end of the service period, which generally range between 1 and 3 years.

REFERENCES

- Global Burden of Disease Study 2013 Collaborators. Global, regional, and national incidence, prevalence, and years lived with disability for 301 acute and chronic diseases and injuries in 188 countries, 1990–2013: a systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2013. *Lancet*, (2015) 386:743– 800. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(17)32154-2
- Miller TJ, McGlashan TH, Rosen JL, Somjee L, Markovich PJ, Stein K, et al. Prospective diagnosis of the initial prodrome for schizophrenia based on the Structure Interview for Prodromal Syndromes: Preliminary evidence of interrater reliability and predictive validity. *Am J Psychiatry* (2002) 159:863–5. doi: 10.1176/appi.ajp.159.5.863
- Morrison A, French P, Walford L, Lewis SW, Kilcommons A, Green J, et al. Cognitive therapy for the prevention of psychosis in people at ultrahigh risk: randomised controlled trial. *Br J Psychiatry* (2004) 185:291–7. doi: 10.4324/9780203493465
- Haroun N, Dunn L, Harouna ASCK. Risk and protection in prodromal schizophrenia: ethical implications for clinical practice and future research. *Schizophr Bull.* (2006) 32:166–78. doi: 10.1093/schbul/ sbj007
- Cannon T, Cadenhead K, Cornblatt B, Woods S, Addington J, Walker E, et al. Prediction of psychosis in youth at high clinical risk: a multisite longitudinal study in North America. *Arch Gen Psychiatry* (2008) 65:28–37. doi: 10.1001/archgenpsychiatry.2007.3
- Simon A, Umbricht D. High remission rates from an initial ultrahigh risk state for psychosis. *Schizophr Res.* (2010) 116:168–72. doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2009.10.001
- Nelson B, Hok Pan Y, Wood S, Lin A, Spoliotacopoulos D, Bruxner A, et al. Long-term follow-up of a group at ultra high risk ("Prodomal") for psychosis - The PACE 400 study. *JAMA Psychiatry* (2013) 70:793–802. doi: 10.1001/jamapsychiatry.2013.1270
- Ruhrmann S, Schultze-Lutter F, Salokangas R, Heinimaa M, Linszen D, Dingemans P, et al. Prediction of psychosis in adolescents and young adults at high risk: results from the prospective European prediction of psychosis study. *Arch Gen Psychiatry* (2010) 67:241–51. doi: 10.1001/archgenpsychiatry.2009.206
- Yung A, Yuen H, Berger G, Francey S, Hung T, Nelson B, et al. Declining transition rate in ultra high risk (prodromal) services: dilution or reduction of risk? *Schizophr Bull.* (2007) 33:673–81. doi: 10.1093/schbul/ sbm015
- Addington J, Cornblatt B, Cadenhead K, Cannon T, McGlashan T, Perkins D, et al. At clinical high risk for psychosis: outcome for nonconverters. *Am J Psychiatry* (2011) 168:800–5. doi: 10.1176/appi.ajp.2011.100 81191

Future research should include the evaluation of other risk factors that can further refine the predictive accuracy of UHR states and may include the use of biological assays in risk calculations. We should also develop therapies that may prevent the onset of both psychotic and non-psychotic disorders and to improve the functional outcomes of these young persons.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

CC responsible for data collection, data analysis and writing up of the manuscript. SV, MS, and EA preparation of the study protocol, data analysis, and writing of the manuscript. ST and LL preparation of the study protocol, writing of the manuscript.

FUNDING

This research was supported by the Singapore Ministry of Health's National Medical Research Council under the Centre Grant Programme (Grant No.: NMRC/CG/004/2013).

- Simon AE, Velthorst E, Nieman DH, Linszen D, Umbricht D, de Haan L. Ultra high-risk state for psychosis and non-transition: a systematic review. *Schizophr Res.* (2011) 132:8–17. doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2011.07.002
- Lee J, Rekhi G, Mitter N, Bong YL, Kraus MS, Lam M, et al. The longitudinal youth at risk study (LYRIKS) - an asian UHR perspective. *Schizophr Res.* (2013) 151:279–83. doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2013.09.025
- de Wit S. Adolescents at ultrahigh risk for psychosis: long-term outcome of individuals who recover from their at-risk state. *Eur Neuropsychopharmacol.* (2014) 24:865–73. doi: 10.1016/j.euroneuro.2014.02.008
- Lim J, Rekhi G, Rapisarda A, Lam M, Kraus M, Keefe RS, et al. Impact of psychiatric comorbidity in individuals at Ultra High Risk of psychosis -Findings from the Longitudinal Youth at Risk Study (LYRIKS). *Schizophr Res.* (2015) 164:8–14. doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2015.03.007
- Rao S, Santhathevi P, Tay S, Yuen S, Poon L, Lee H, et al. Support for wellness achievement programme (SWAP): a service for individuals with at-risk mental state in singapore. *Ann Acad Med.* (2013) 42:552–5. doi: 10.1111/eip.12176
- 16. American Psychiatric Association. *Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders. 4th ed.* Washington, DC (1994).
- Goldman E, Skodol A, Lave T. Revising axis V for DSM-IV: a review of measures of social functioning. *Am J Psychiatry* (1992) 149:1148–56. doi: 10.1176/ajp.149.9.1148
- Yung A, Yuen H, McGorry P, Phillips L, Kelly D, Dell'olio M, et al. Mapping the onset of psychosis: the comprehensive assessment of at-risk mental states. *Aust N Z J Psychiatry* (2005) 39:964–71. doi: 10.1080/j.1440-1614.2005.01714.x
- Lam ML, Hung SF, Chen EY. Transition to Psychosis 6-Month follow-up of a Chinese High-Risk Group in Hong Kong . Austr N Z J Psychiatry (2006) 40:414–20. doi: 10.1080/j.1440-1614.2006. 01817.x
- Yung A, Stanford C, Cosgrave E, Killackey E, Phillips L, Nelson B, et al. Testing the Ultra High Risk (prodromal) criteria for the prediction of psychosis in a clinical sample of young people. *Schizophr Res.* (2006) 84:57–66. doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2006.03.014
- 21. National Population and Talent Division, P. M. Statistics, S. D., Affairs, M. O., Authority, I. A. (2014). 2014 Population in Brief. Singapore.
- 22. Whitehorn D, Brown J, Richard J, Rui Q, Kopala L. Multiple dimensions of recovery in early psychosis. *Int Rev Psychiatry* (2002) 14:273–83. doi: 10.1080/0954026021000016914
- Fusar-Poli P, Bonoldi I, Yung A, Borgwardt S, Kempton M, Valmaggia L, et al. Predicting psychosis: meta-analysis of transition outcomes in individuals at high clinical risk. Arch Gen Psychiatry (2012) 69:220–9. doi: 10.1001/archgenpsychiatry.2011.1472
- 24. Fusar-Poli P, Cappucciati M, Borgwardt S, Woods SW, Addington J, Nelson B, et al. Heterogeneity of psychosis risk within individuals at clinical high

risk: a meta-analytical stratification. JAMA Psychiatry (2016) 73:113-20. doi: 10.1001/jamapsychiatry.2015.2324

- Schlosser D, Jacobson S, Chen Q, Sugar C, Niendam T, Li G, et al. Recovery from an at-risk state: clinical and functional outcomes of putatively prodromal youth who do not develop psychosis. *Schizophr Bull.* (2012) 38:1225–33. doi: 10.1093/schbul/sbr098
- Johnstone E, Ebmeier K, Miller P, Owens D, Lawrie S. Predicting schizophrenia: findings from the Edinburgh High-Risk study. *Br J Psychiatry* (2005) 186:18–25. doi: 10.1192/bjp.186.1.18
- Addington J, Heinssen R. Prediction and prevention of psychosis in youth at clinical high risk. Ann Rev Clin Psychol. (2012) 8:269–89. doi: 10.1146/annurev-clinpsy-032511-143146
- DeLisi LE. The significance of age of onset for schizophrenia. Schizophr Bull (1992) 18:209–215.
- Rajji TK, Ismail Z, Mulsant BH. Age at onset and cognition in schizophrenia: meta-analysis. Br J Psychiatry (2009) 195:286–293. doi: 10.1192/bjp.bp.108.060723
- Sham PC, MacLean CJ, Kendler KS. A typological model of schizophrenia based on age at onset, sex and familial morbidity. *Acta Psychiatr Scand*. (1994) 89:135–41. doi: 10.1111/j.1600-0447.1994.tb01501.x
- Verma SK, Subramaniam M, Chong SA, Kua EH. Substance abuse in schizophrenia. A Singapore perspective. Soc Psychiatry Psychiatr Epidemiol. (2002) 37:326–8. doi: 10.1007/s00127-002-0553-8
- 32. Central Narcotics Bureau. Overview of Singapore's Drug Situation in 2017. Singapore (2018).
- 33. McGorry P, Nelson B, Markulev C, Yuen H, Schäfer M, Mossaheb N, et al. Effect of ω -3 polyunsaturated fatty acids in young people at ultrahigh risk for psychotic disorder. *JAMA Psychiatry* (2016) 74:19–27. doi: 10.1001/jamapsychiatry.2016.2902
- Mason O, Startup M, Halpin S, Schall U, Conrad A, Carr V. Risk factors for transition to first episode psychosis among individuals with "at risk mental states." *Schizophr Res.* (2004) 71:227–37. doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2004.04.006
- 35. Velhorst E, Nelson B, Wiltink S, de Haan L, Wood S, Lin A, et al. Transition to first episode psychosis in ultra high risk populations:

does baseline functioning hold the key? Schizophr Res. (2013) 143:132-7. doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2012.10.025

- Swanson J, Swartz M, Von Dorn R, Elbogen E, Wagner H, Rosenheck R, et al. A national study of violent behavior in persons with schizophrenia. *Arch Gen Psychiatry* (2006) 63:490–9. doi: 10.1001/archpsyc.63. 5.490
- Moulin V, Palix J, Golay P, Dumais A, Gholamrezaee M, Azzola A, et al. Violent behaviour in early psychosis patients: can we identify clinical risk profiles? *Early Interv Psychiatry* (2017). doi: 10.1111/eip.12512. [Epub ahead of print].
- Moulin V, Golay P, Palix J, Baumann PS, Gholamrezaee MM, Azzola A, et al. Impulsivity in early psychosis: A complex link with violent behaviour and a target for intervention. *Eur Psychiatry* (2018) 49:30–6. doi: 10.1016/j.eurpsy.2017. 12.003
- Nelson B, Yuen K, Yung A. Ultra high risk (UHR) for psychosis criteria: are there different levels of risk for transition to psychosis? *Schizophr Res.* (2011) 125:62–8. doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2010.10.017
- Brandizzi M, Valmaggia L, Byrne M, Jones C, Iewgbu N, Badger S, et al. Predictors of functional outcome in individuals at high clinical risk for psychosis at six years follow-up. J Psychiatric Res. (2015) 65:115–23. doi: 10.1016/j.jpsychires.2015.03.005
- 41. Government of Singapore (2001). Compulsory Education Act (Chapter 51).

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2019 Chan, Abdin, Subramaniam, Tay, Lim and Verma. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Trends in Subjective Quality of Life Among Patients With First Episode Psychosis—A 1 Year Longitudinal Study

Xiao Wei Tan^{1*}, Shazana Shahwan¹, Pratika Satghare¹, Boon Yiang Chua¹, Swapna Verma^{2,3}, Charmaine Tang², Siow Ann Chong^{1,2,4} and Mythily Subramaniam^{1,4}

¹ Research Division, Institute of Mental Health, Singapore, Singapore, ² Early Psychosis Intervention Program (EPIP), Institute of Mental Health, Singapore, Singapore, ³ Duke-NUS Medical School, Singapore, Singapore, ⁴ Lee Kong Chian School of Medicine, Nanyang Technological University, Singapore, Singapore

Quality of life (QoL) is often used as an outcome assessment in programs treating patients

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Young-Chul Chung, Chonbuk National University, South Korea

Reviewed by:

Bong Ju Lee, Inje University Haeundae Paik Hospital, South Korea Takahiro Nemoto, Toho University, Japan

> *Correspondence: Xiao Wei Tan xiaowei_tan@imh.com.sg

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Schizophrenia, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychiatry

Received: 11 December 2018 Accepted: 24 January 2019 Published: 13 February 2019

Citation:

Tan XW, Shahwan S, Satghare P, Chua BY, Verma S, Tang C, Chong SA and Subramaniam M (2019) Trends in Subjective Quality of Life Among Patients With First Episode Psychosis—A 1 Year Longitudinal Study. Front. Psychiatry 10:53. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2019.00053 with first-episode psychosis (FEP). The aim of this study was to examine the longitudinal trend of subjective QoL among patients with FEP and identify the potential influence of patients' social-demographic/lifestyle factors on the trend of QoL. Two hundred and eighty subjects participated in the study. Patient's demographics and subjective QoL were collected at baseline, 6 months and 1 year follow-up. Data were analyzed with a fixed-effect general linear regression model. Subjective QoL demonstrated significant trends of improvement in all four subdomains (physical health, psychological health, social relationships, and environment). Compared with unemployed participants, employed participants were significantly associated with better social relationships (p = 0.005) and environment (p = 0.029) after adjusting for age and gender. Moderation analysis demonstrated a significant improvement of physical health, social relationships, and environment for participants with a higher level of educational achievement, but not for participants with a lower level of educational achievement. Our results indicate that patients with FEP experienced significant improvement in subjective QoL over a 1 year period. Being employed was associated with overall better social relationships and environment among patients with FEP and higher educational achievement was associated with improvement of physical health, social relationship, and environment. Hence, educational achievement and employment could be considered for future optimization of early psychosis intervention programs.

Keywords: first episode psychosis, subjective Quality of Life, educational achievement, employment, longitudinal study

INTRODUCTION

The World Health Organization (WHO) has defined QoL as individuals' perception of their position in life in the context of the culture and value systems in which they live and in relation to their goals, expectations, standards, and concerns (1). In accordance with the definition of health by WHO, subjective Quality of Life (QoL) covers physical, emotional, mental, social, and behavioral components of well-being and function as perceived by each individual (2). Subjective

25

QoL was recommended as a valuable outcome assessment in programs treating patients with schizophrenia (3, 4), and patients with first episode psychosis (FEP) (5). Early treatment of patients with psychotic symptoms can result in a significant reduction of morbidity, suicide rate, improved subjective QoL, and functional recovery (5-9). Although studies have suggested a significant improvement in objective QoL over the 1st year in the treatment of patients with FEP (10), there is still a lack of conclusive evidence concerning the course of subjective QoL. Few existing studies suggest that subjective QoL does not appear to improve over time and that it remains stable both during short (11) and long periods of follow-up (12), while other studies demonstrated an improvement of subjective QoL over the years of follow-up (13, 14). Moreover, among patients with FEP, the associations between clinical characteristics, such as psychotic and cognitive symptoms, and subjective QoL have been inconsistently reported. Symptomatic remitters of positive and psychotic symptoms were reported to be associated with higher levels of subjective life satisfaction and functioning (15, 16). Severe positive and negative symptoms were strongly related to poor QoL among outpatients with schizophrenia (13, 17), while QoL was also reported to be correlated with both psychotic and negative symptoms to a minor extent (18). These inconclusive findings were most probably due to the heterogeneity of study design, patient setting, methods of recruitment, premorbid adjustment, varying instruments that were used for assessment of QoL and different approaches of statistical analysis.

The factors influencing QoL of patients with FEP remains unclear. Higher depressive symptoms and lower daily activities had a negative effect on subjective QoL and this independent effect diminished over time (13). Educational achievement in patients with chronic schizophrenia was reported to be either positively (19) or negatively (20) associated with subjective QoL, which was influenced by the individual's cognitive difficulties, personal adaptive skills, resilience as well as environmental-social factors and support. For patients with psychiatric disabilities, employment plays an essential role in providing financial gains, social contacts, and support, as well as a sense of personal achievement (21). Being employed was associated with better health related QoL for patients with chronic schizophrenia (22-24). Results from the NAVIGATE study indicated that, compared with usual community care, comprehensive care improved the subjective QoL, and psychopathology among patients with FEP (25). Secondary analysis of data from the NAVIGATE study showed that a program with supported employment and education (SSE) was associated with improvement in work or school participation among patients with FEP (26). However, the influence of SSE on participants' subjective QoL remains unclear.

PURPOSE OF STUDY

The primary goal of the current study was to examine the trend of subjective QoL among patients with FEP over 1 year of treatment in the early psychosis intervention program

(EPIP). We further aimed to identify the potential association of significant confounders including educational achievement and employment, with the trend of subjective QoL.

METHODS

Sample

This single center cohort study enrolled outpatients with FEP diagnosed at the Institute of Mental Health, Singapore, which is the de facto national mental health institute of the country and a tertiary treatment center that serves the entire population of Singapore. FEP was defined as the first episode of psychotic disorder with no prior or minimal treatment (<12 weeks of antipsychotic medication) (27). The recruitment for the current study started in Feburary 2014 and ended in October 2016, with the last follow-up conducted on October 2017. The inclusion criteria for the participants were: (i) aged between 16 and 40 years and (ii) no history of major medical or neurological illness. Ethical approval to conduct the study was obtained from the National Healthcare Group Domain Specific Review Board. All participants provided written informed consent. Parental consent was obtained for participants who were below the age of 21 years. The EPIP in Singapore was implemented to provide universal and indicated prevention for patients with FEP, with the primary goals of improving clinical outcomes and QoL, as well as reducing the cost and burden of care for their families and the general public. The program comprises several initiatives. (1). Education of the general public with the major goal of reducing the duration of untreated psychosis (DUP). (2). Networking with primary healthcare providers. (3). Providing decentralized and accessible services. (4). Tertiary prevention aimed at reducing mortality, morbidity and the progression of the illness, provided by a multidisciplinary team (psychiatrists, case managers, psychologists, social workers, occupational therapists, pharmacologists, and nurses). The details of the EPIP in Singapore have been described in previous articles (27, 28).

Measures

Baseline assessment included data on participants' social demographics and clinical history. Severity of symptoms was assessed using the Positive and Negative Syndrome Scale (PANSS) for schizophrenia (29) while functioning was assessed with the Global Assessment of Functioning (GAF) score (30). These ratings were performed by psychiatrists who were trained in the use of the rating instruments (9). The inter-rater reliability for PANSS in our sample was 0.94. PANSS, GAF score, prescription of antipsychotics, antidepressants, and mood stabilizers were collected from medical records.

Hazardous alcohol use was estimated using the Alcohol Use Disorders Identification Test (AUDIT, self report version), which is a brief, 10 item inventory developed by the World Health Organization (WHO). Responses to the ten AUDIT questions were assigned a score between 0 and 4, based on the frequency of the circumstance or activity described. Scores of 8 or higher suggest a possibility of hazardous alcohol use, and a need for further monitoring or assessment (31). AUDIT has been used among patients with FEP in Singapore to measure hazardous alcohol use (32).

The WHOQOL-BREF is a 26 item questionnaire that is designed to measure an individual's perception of QoL over the past 1 month (33). The WHOQOL-BREF consists of 4 domains: physical health, psychological health, social relationships, and environment. All items are constructed on variations of a 5point Likert scale, with scores from 1 to 5, enquiring on "how much," "how completely," "how often," "how good," or "how satisfied" the individual felt. Scores for the 4 domains were calculated by taking the mean of all items within the domain and multiplying by 4 and transforming it to a 0-20 scale. Domain scores were not scored when more than 20% of the items were missing. It was also not calculated when more than 2 items were missing from the domain. This is, with the exception of domain 3 (social relationship), where it is unacceptable if one item is missing (34). This instrument has been validated in patients with schizophrenia, reporting good internal consistency for total WHOQOL-BREF score and being adequate for the 4 domains (35). In our current study, QoL of participants was assessed at baseline, 6 months and 1 year follow-up.

For statistical analysis, patient characteristics were regrouped. Educational achievement, "Low" included those with General Certificate of Education (GCE) "O" level (or equivalent) and lower qualifications; "High" included those with higher than GCE "O" level qualifications. Participant's employment status was self-reported by answering the question "What was your main working status over the past 1 year." Participants with the answer "full-time/part-time employment," "on national service," and "student" were grouped as "Employed." Those who answered, "home maker/house wife" or "jobless" were grouped as "Unemployed." "Unmarried" referred to participants who were never married, separated, divorced or widowed. "Married" referred to participants who were currently married. "Housing type" was defined as the current housing condition regardless of whether it was self-owned or rented. "Economic house" referred to all government developed housing and "Private house" referred to all private housing developments including condominium, terrace houses and bungalows. Baseline data on smoking was collected by asking participants if they were smokers with the additional options of "ex-smoker," "never smoked," or "currently smoking." Participants who answered "exsmoker" and "never smoked" were grouped as "non-smokers." Participants who answered that they were "currently smoking" were grouped as "current smokers."

Two hundred and eighty patients were consecutively enrolled in this study and 81 of them completed the assessments at all three time points.

Data Analysis

All statistical analyses were performed with SPSS (*IBM*, *v.25*). We used descriptive statistics to establish the socio-demographic and clinical characteristics of the study cohort. Numerical variables were presented as mean \pm standard deviation (SD) for variables with normal distribution and median (interquartile range, IQR) for variables with skewed distribution. Categorical variables were presented as count (percentage, %). Comparison analysis

between the participants who presented and those who were lost to follow-up at either the 6 months or 1 year visit were performed with *t*-test, chi-square test, or Mann-Whitney *U*tests to determine the differences in socio-demographic and clinical characteristics. The actual mean scores of QoL collected at baseline, 6 months follow-up and 1 year follow-up were compared with Analysis of Variance (ANOVA) with a *post-hoc Bonferroni* test and the actual mean score of PANSS or GAF scale collected at baseline and 1 year follow-up were compared with a paired *t*-test.

The association of participant educational achievement and employment status with the course of QoL was analyzed by the fixed-effect linear mixed regression model (LMM). LMM with repeated measurement was used to estimate the within-subject trend of QoL, PANSS score, GAF score, and the moderation (interaction) between participant's social demographics and the course of QoL. In the mixed regression model, QoL score was treated as a dependent variable. Patients' characteristics and index for repeated measurement were treated as independent variables. Interaction terms which were built between socialdemographic/lifestyle factors and index of repeated measurement were included into the adjusted LMM model, providing the pvalue for the interaction terms were <0.05 before adjustment. The interaction term between educational achievement and the trend of QoL was included in the final model as the interaction was statistically significant. Mean values of subgroup QoL score at various time points were estimated by treating the index of repeated measurements as a categorical variable in the regression model and the estimated mean scores were exported into an Excel document for plotting. The repeated covariance type for LMM was set at AR(1) to achieve lowest value of Akaike information criterion (AIC) and Bayesian information criterion (BIC). Statistical significance was accepted at the ≤ 0.05 level for all tests.

RESULTS

Of the 280 patients who were included in the study, 136 completed the 6 months follow-up and 129 completed the 1 year follow-up. Participants' baseline demographics and clinical characteristics are shown in **Table 1**. 91.2% of the participants were patients diagnosed with schizophrenia and related psychosis and 8.2% were patients diagnosed with mood disorder with psychotic symptoms. At 6 months, Chinese patients (79.4%) were more likely to continue with the study follow-up compared with patients in other ethnic groups (p = 0.024, **Table 1**). Patients who were Singaporeans (97.8%) were more likely to continue with the study follow-up compared with foreigners (p = 0.015). At 1 year, unmarried patients (92.2%) were more likely to participants (p = 0.038).

Participants reported improved QoL in all four subdomains over the 1 year period (**Figure 1A**). In domain 1 (physical health), the estimated mean score of QoL improved from 14.31 \pm 0.28 to 14.96 \pm 0.28 (**Figure 1B**). Overall *p*-value for this trend of QoL was 0.036. In domain 2 (psychological health), TABLE 1 | Comparison of patient characteristics of those with and without 6 months and 1 year follow up.

Patient characteristics	Baseline $(n = 280)$	6M with follow up $(n = 136)$	6M without follow up $(n = 144)$	<i>p</i> -value	1 year with follow up $(n = 151)$	1 year without follow up ($n = 129$)	p-value
Age, years, mean \pm SD Sex, no. (%)	25.76 ± 6.23	25.24 ± 5.80	26.26 ± 6.61	0.174 0.234	25.03 ± 5.97	26.39 ± 6.41	0.067 0.561
Male	142 (50.7)	64 (47.1)	78 (54.2)	0.204	79 (52.3)	63 (48.8)	0.001
Female	138 (49.3)	72 (52.9)	66 (45.8)		79 (52.3) 72 (47.7)	66 (51.2)	
Ethnicity, no. (%)	130 (49.3)	12 (02.9)	00 (43.8)	0.024 ^a	12 (41.1)	00 (31.2)	0.227
Chinese	200 (71.4)	108 (79.4)	92 (63.9)	0.024	107 (70.9)	93 (72.1)	0.221
Malay	41 (14.6)	13 (9.6)	28 (19.4)		19 (12.6)	22 (17.1)	
Indian	25 (8.9)	11 (8.1)	14 (9.7)		18 (11.9)	7 (5.4)	
Others	14 (5.0)	4 (2.9)	10 (6.9)		7 (4.6)	7 (5.4)	
Nationality, no. (%)	14 (0.0)	4 (2.9)	10 (0.9)	0.015 ^a	7 (4.0)	7 (0.4)	0.123
Singaporean	262 (93.6)	133 (97.8)	129 (89.6)	0.015	138 (91.4)	124 (96.1)	0.125
Permanent resident	14 (5.0)	3 (2.2)	11 (7.6)		9 (6.0)	5 (3.9)	
Others	4 (1.4)					0 (0.0)	
Marital Status, no. (%)	4 (1.4)	0 (0.0)	4 (2.8)	0.851	4 (2.6)	0 (0.0)	0.038 ^a
No	246 (87.9)	120 (88.2)	106 (97 5)	0.001	127 (84.1)	110 (00 0)	0.050
Yes		16 (11.8)	126 (87.5)		. ,	119 (92.2)	
	34 (12.1)	10 (11.0)	18 (12.5)	0.000	24 (15.9)	10 (7.8)	0.162
Children, no. (%)	050 (00 4)		100 (00 0)	0.392	100 (00 1)	100 (00 0)	0.162
Without children	253 (90.4)	125 (91.9)	128 (88.9)		133 (88.1)	120 (93.0)	
With children	27 (9.6)	11 (8.1)	16 (11.1)	0.015	18 (11.9)	9 (7.0)	0.004
Educational achievement, no. (%)				0.915			0.224
Low	77 (27.5)	37 (27.2)	40 (27.8)		37 (24.5)	40 (31.0)	
High	203 (72.5)	99 (72.8)	104 (72.2)		114 (75.5)	89 (69.0)	
Father education, no. (%)				0.259			0.557
Low	197 (70.4)	97 (67.4)	100 (73.5)		47 (31.1)	36 (27.9)	
High	83 (29.6)	47 (32.6)	36 (26.5)		104 (68.9)	93 (72.1)	
Mother education, no. (%)				0.882			0.321
Low	207 (73.9)	100 (74.3)	107 (74.3)		108 (71.5)	99 (76.7)	
High	73 (26.1)	36 (26.5)	37 (25.7)		43 (28.5)	30 (23.3)	
House own ^b , no. (%)				0.756			0.395
Private	26 (10)	12 (9.4)	14 (10.5)		16 (11.4)	10 (8.3)	
Economic	235 (90)	116 (90.6)	119 (89.5)		124 (88.6)	111 (91.7)	
Employment status ^b , no. (%)				0.906			0.378
Unemployed	181 (66.1)	87 (66.4)	94 (65.7)		93 (63.7)	88 (68.8)	
Employed	93 (33.9)	44 (33.6)	49 (34.3)		53 (36.3)	40 (31.3)	
Smoking status, no. (%)	00 (0010)	11 (0010)	10 (0 110)	0.621	00 (0010)	10 (0 110)	0.114
Ex or never smoker	168 (60.0)	83 (61.0)	92 (63.9)	01021	88 (58.3)	87 (67.4)	01111
Current smoker	112 (40.0)	53 (39.0)	52 (36.1)		63 (41.7)	42 (32.6)	
Alcohol, no. (%)	112 (10.0)	00 (00.0)	02 (00.1)	0.369	00 (11.1)	12 (02.0)	0.570
No hazardous use	244 (87.1)	116 (85.3)	128 (88.9)	0.000	130 (86.1)	114 (88.4)	0.010
With hazardous use	36 (12.9)	20 (14.7)	16 (11.1)		21 (13.9)	15 (11.6)	
Diagnosis, ^b no. (%)	50 (12.5)	20 (14.7)	10 (11.1)		21 (10.0)	10 (11.0)	
Schizophrenia and related	212 (75.7)	113 (83.1)	99 (68.8)	0.489	116 (63.6)	96 (74.4)	0.078
Psychosis	00 (0 0)	14/10 0	0 /0 0		47/44 0	0 (4 7)	
Mood disorder with Psychotic symptoms	23 (8.2)	14 (10.3)	9 (6.2)		17 (11.3)	6 (4.7)	
PANSS_P ^b , mean \pm SD	21.89 ± 5.99	22.11 ± 6.12	21.71 ± 5.91	0.613	22.27 ± 6.19	21.60 ± 5.85	0.400
PANSS_N ^b , mean \pm SD	15.76 ± 8.73	15.72 ± 8.60	15.78 ± 8.88	0.957	16.32 ± 8.61	15.32 ± 8.84	0.382
PANSS_GPS ^b , mean \pm SD	38.16 ± 11.35	38.42 ± 10.48	37.94 ± 12.06	0.744	39.35 ± 10.74	37.24 ± 11.75	0.151
GAF_S^b , mean \pm SD	44.57 ± 12.21	43.50 ± 12.15	45.47 ± 12.23	0.218	43.56 ± 12.25	45.34 ± 12.17	0.267
GAF_D^b , mean \pm SD	46.57 ± 11.60	45.58 ± 11.39	47.39 ± 11.75	0.232	46.15 ± 11.82	46.89 ± 11.46	0.628
No. of antipsychotics, median (IQR)	1 (0)	1 (0)	1 (O)	0.777	1 (0)	1 (0)	0.880

(Continued)

TABLE 1 | Continued

Patient characteristics	Baseline (<i>n</i> = 280)	6M with follow up $(n = 136)$	6M without follow up $(n = 144)$	p-value	1 year with follow up $(n = 151)$	1 year without follow up ($n = 129$)	<i>p</i> -value
No. of antidepressants, median (IQR)	O (1)	O (1)	0 (1)	0.651	O (1)	O (1)	0.692
No. of mood stabilizers, median (IQR)	O (O)	O (O)	O (O)	0.097	0 (0)	0 (0)	0.175
DUP ^b , days, mean \pm SD	13.55 ± 21.69	13.28 ± 20.37	13.79 ± 22.85	0.856	12.41 ± 20.60	14.43 ± 22.53	0.475

ap < 0.05.

^bData may not sum to total due to missing values.

SD, Standard deviation; IQR, Interquartile range; PANSS_P, Positive and negative syndrome scale_positive; PANSS_N, Positive and negative syndrome scale _negative; PANSS_GPS, Positive and negative syndrome scale _general psychopathology scale; GAF_S, Global assessment of functioning_symptoms; GAF_D, Global assessment of functioning_disabilities; DUP, Duration of untreated psychosis.



FIGURE 1 | QoL of the participants. (A) Trends of subjective QoL over 1 year follow-up period; (B) Subdomain QoL score at baseline, 6 months and 1 year.

14.20±0.31

14.02±0.22

14.40±0.31

14.28±0.23

13.69±0.31

13.40±0.17

the estimated mean score of QoL significantly increased from 11.9 \pm 0.34 to 13.16 \pm 0.34 (p < 0.001). In domain 3 (social relationships), the estimated mean score of QoL improved from 12.85 \pm 0.33 to 13.63 \pm 0.33, with an overall *p*-value of 0.04. In domain 4 (environment), the estimated mean score of QoL improved from 13.69 \pm 0.31 to 14.4 \pm 0.31. *P*-value for the trend of QoL was 0.031. The actual mean score of QoL showed similar trends to the estimated mean score with p < 0.05 for subdomains of physical health, psychological health and environment.

Estimated

Actual

Clinical assessments demonstrated an overall reduction in psychotic symptoms and improvement in function as indexed by

PANSS and GAF scores, respectively (**Figure 2A**). PANSS score decreased by about 58.3% for positive symptoms (within-subject p < 0.001, **Figure 2B**); 35.1% for negative symptoms (p < 0.001) and 42.6% for general psychopathology (p < 0.001) over the 1 year follow up. GAF score increased by about 65.1% for the assessment of symptoms (p < 0.001) and increased by about 58.1% for the assessment of disabilities (p < 0.001). Actual mean score of PANSS and GAF showed similar trends to the estimated score with p < 0.001 for all subcategories.

0 031

0.004

Regression analysis showed no significant association between participant's educational achievement and overall QoL both before and after adjustment (**Table 2**). Compared with patients

Environment



FIGURE 2 | Clinical assessment of participant's psychotic symptoms and function. (A) Change of PANSS and GAF score over 1 year; (B) PANSS and GAF score at baseline and 1 year. PANSS_P. Positive and negative syndrome scale_ positive; PANSS_N, Positive and negative syndrome scale_negative; PANSS_R, Positive and negative syndrome scale_general psychopathology scale; GAF_S, Global assessment of functioning_symptoms; GAF_D, Global assessment of functioning_disabilities.

who were unemployed, patients who were employed were associated with better social relationships [adjusted B: 1.73, 95% CI: 0.55–2.93, p = 0.005] and environment [adjusted B: 1.29, 95% CI: 0.13–2.44, p = 0.029) (**Table 2**).

Moderation analysis identified a continuous and significant improvement of physical health (domain 1, **Figure 3A**), social relationships (domain 3, **Figure 3B**) and environment (domain 4, **Figure 3C**) over a 1 year period for participants with higher level of educational achievement, but not for participants with a lower level of educational achievement (p = 0.006, 0.037 and 0.015, respectively). The moderation relationship between educational achievement and psychological health was borderline (p = 0.09) and there was no significant moderation relationship between employment status and the four subdomains of QoL.

DISCUSSION

In the present study, patients with FEP demonstrated a significant improvement of psychotic symptoms, general functioning and subjective QoL during the 1 year follow-up period. To our best knowledge, this study is among the first few studies that have examined the temporal development of subjective QoL among patients with FEP using a model of repeated measurements with multiple time points of assessment. Although there have been many studies on the determinants of QoL among patients with mental disorders (36, 37), there is a lack of consensus as to how QoL should be defined and measured. For patients with schizophrenia, the validity of subjective QoL might be limited by a self-reporting scale (2) and could have been influenced by several factors including patients' persistent psychotic symptoms, self-esteem, adaptation to adverse circumstances (38), presence of cognitive deficits and lack of insight (20, 36). However, some studies have demonstrated the convergent validity of QoL assessed by a patient's self-report and that assessed objectively by clinicians (39). Patients with schizophrenia were able to report their feelings, experiences, and social functions accurately (37, 40, 41), showing that the QoL of patients with psychosis can be assessed subjectively.

Our study allows the testing of potential factors influencing the trend of QoL over time. The literature on the relationship between QoL and education in schizopherenia is inconclusive. In some studies, patients with a higher level of education reported worse QoL compared to patients with lower levels of education (20). While, others demonstrated that in patients with schizophrenia, higher educational achievement was correlated with better social functioning and greater satistifaction with life (42). In the current study, we found no evidence of TABLE 2 | Association of participant's educational achievement or employment status with overall subjective QoL during follow-up period.

Variable	Outcome		Before ac	djustment			After adj	ustment ^a	
		95% CI					95%		
		В	Lower bound	Upper bound	p-value	В	Lower bound	Upper bound	p-value
Education (high vs. low)	Physical health	0.13	-0.93	1.18	0.813	0.44	-0.65	1.52	0.427
	Psychological health	-0.68	-1.96	0.61	0.297	-0.50	-1.83	0.84	0.461
	Social relationships	0.04	-1.18	1.25	0.952	0.43	-0.81	1.68	0.491
	Environment	0.35	-0.82	1.53	0.552	0.89	-0.27	2.05	1.131
Employment (employed vs. unemployed)	Physical health	0.51	-0.47	1.48	0.305	0.32	-0.76	1.40	0.555
	Psychological health	0.52	-0.71	1.76	0.404	0.64	-0.70	1.99	0.344
	Social relationships	1.74	0.66	2.82	0.002	1.73	0.55	2.93	0.005
	Environment	1.41	0.33	2.49	0.011	1.29	0.13	2.44	0.029

^aAdjusted for age and gender.

Cl, Confidence interval; B, Beta coefficient.



environment.

significant association between participants' educational level and overall QoL. However, compared to participants with lower educational achievement, participants with higher educational achievement were more likely to report worse physical health and social relationships at baseline, which is possibly due to the higher social demands and expectations among this group of patients.

The results of the associations between employment and overall QoL in this study appear to be consistent with previous

studies in the literature. Patients who were employed were likely to be associated with better health-related QoL compared with patients who were unemployed (43). The association may be explained by the better self-esteem among patients with employment, which was described as a mediating factor between being employed and QoL (44), and having a larger social network due to being employed (45). The causal relationship between employment and QoL remains unclear and it is possible that the participants with higher QoL were more likely to be employed.

During the 1 year follow-up period, compared to patients with a relatively lower level of educational achievement, patients with a higher level of educational achievement demonstrated a continuous and significant improvement of QoL in almost all four subdomains (physical health, social relationships, environment support, and psychological health). This pattern was similarly reported in a previous study which showed that graduates were more resilient in the face of adversities, and stressful circumstances such as divorce and ill-health as compared to non-graduates (46). Across three measures of well-being-life satisfaction, happiness and worthwhilenessgraduates reported greater well-being even when confronting challenging life events, although graduates tended to be more anxious than non-graduates when in good health. Hence, it is reasonable for us to speculate that higher level of education may benefit patients with mental health disorders, especially when confronting episodes of psychosis. Indeed, students with successful post-secondary level of school education have been found to be able to continuously develop coping strategies to overcome cognitive difficulties while they are suffering from early episodes of psychosis (47).

We observed no moderation effect of employment status with the trend of QoL although being employed was associated with, overall, better social relationships and environment. Compared with patients who were unemployed, patients who were employed may have better financial resources to support the treatment, respond better to the treatment with regards to medication/therapy adherence, and enjoy better co-operation with their primary attendants and other care-givers. Participants being employed may have better social relationships or resources to start with, and these resources in turn may help them to have a better QoL at both baseline and during the follow-up period.

It has been reported that there is higher school dropout (15, 48) as well as unemployment (49-52) among young adults with schizophrenia after the first episode of their illness than in the general population. Young adults with FEP have been observed to frequently disregard the suggestions from service providers and fail to return to school (53). Many young patients develop psychosis which can interfere with their ability to fulfill their occupational goals. Findings from the Singapore Mental Health Study in 2010 revealed that the rate of unemployment among those with common mental illnesses was 11.1% which was significantly higher than the 6.7% rate of unemployment in those without mental illness. The data also showed that the rate of mental illness in people who were unemployed was twice as high as compared to those who were employed (5.3 vs. 2.3%) (54). Singapore has a multi-racial culture, influenced by South Asian, East Asian, and Eurasian cultures. Singapore has a high standard of living and low unemployment rates. Meritocracy is valued in Singapore and this results in promoting competitiveness for job and prestige in the society (55, 56). Employment and education are therefore highly valued in Singapore and being employed may thus contribute fundamentally to their QoL. Our study emphasizes the influential role of education and employment on the subjective QoL among patients with FEP.

We observed a significant amelioration of overall positive symptoms, negative symptoms and general pathological

symptoms as well as a significant improvement of general functioning among our participants over the follow-up period which was possibly caused by the early treatment of psychosis or reasons that we didn't explore in this study. We observed no association of participants' educational achievement and employment status with the overall change of psychiatric symptoms and clinical assessment of general functioning. Nor did we find any interaction relationship between participants' educational achievement and employment status and the change of psychiatric symptoms and general functioning. Hence for patients with FEP, the association and moderation role of patients' educational achievement and employment status on the severity of clinical symptoms and clinical assessment of general functioning was not identified in our model. We were not able to conduct a trend analysis of changes in PANSS and GAF scores in this study as data was available for only two time points (baseline and 1 year). We analyzed the association between the 1 year change of PANSS and GAF score with the change of QoL using generalized linear regression. No significant associations were observed which was in line with previous findings that after comprehensive treatment, subjective QoL among patients with FEP was correlated with both psychotic and negative symptoms, but only to a minor extent (16). Future studies should consider incorporating measures of both socio-demographic and clinical correlates (e.g., medications and psychotherapy) over time to conduct a more robust trend analysis of QoL both in patients with FEP as well as other illnesses to ensure a better understanding of modifiable factors.

In summary, the main strength of our study is the repeated measurements at multiple time points that were used to examine the trend of QoL among those with FEP. The local setting, selfreporting nature of study involving patients with psychosis, and potential bias due to the selective loss of follow-up may limit the generalization of current findings to a global population. We have identified the positive association of employment status with QoL and the moderation effects of educational achievement on the trend of QoL, which could also have been pre-conditioned by other confounders that we didn't explore in this study. Although this secondary analysis should be interpreted cautiously and considered exploratory, our study suggests that it is important for patients with FEP to have age appropriate roles i.e., they return to school or employment as early as possible.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

XT, SV, CT, SC, and MS contributed conception and design of the study. SS, PS, and BC contributed to data collection. XT and MS organized the database and wrote the first draft of the manuscript. All authors contributed manuscript revision, and approved the submitted version.

FUNDING

This research is supported by the Institute of Mental Health under the center grant programme (Grant no: IMH/WH 424-2013).

REFERENCES

- 1. WHO. Development of the WHOQOL: rational and current status. *Int J Ment Health* (1994) 23:24–56.
- Janse AJ, Gemke RJ, Uiterwaal CS, van der Tweel I, Kimpen JL, Sinnema G. Quality of life: patients and doctors don't always agree: a meta-analysis. J Clin Epidemiol. (2004) 57:653–61. doi: 10.1016/j.jclinepi.2003.11.013
- Awad AG, Voruganti LN. Measuring quality of life in patients with schizophrenia: an update. *Pharmacoeconomics* (2012) 30:183–95. doi: 10.2165/11594470-000000000-00000
- Boyer L, Baumstarck K, Boucekine M, Blanc J, Lancon C, Auquier P. Measuring quality of life in patients with schizophrenia:an overview. *Expert Rev Pharmacoecon Outcomes Res.* (2013) 13:343–9. doi: 10.1586/erp.13.15
- 5. Subramaniam M, Abdin E, Poon LY, Vaingankar JA, Lee H, Chong SA, et al. EQ-5D as a measure of programme outcome: results from the Singapore early psychosis intervention programme. *Psychiatry Res.* (2014) 215:46–51. doi: 10.1016/j.psychres.2013.10.002
- Larsen TK, Johannessen JO, Opjordsmoen S. First-episode schizophrenia with long duration of untreated psychosis. Pathways to care. Br J Psychiatry Suppl. (1998) 172:45–52. doi: 10.1192/S0007125000297651
- Loebel AD, Lieberman JA, Alvir JM, Mayerhoff DI, Geisler SH, Szymanski SR. Duration of psychosis and outcome in first-episode schizophrenia. *Am J Psychiatry* (1992) 149:1183–8.
- McGlashan TH. Early detection and intervention in schizophrenia: research. Schizophr Bull. (1996) 22:327–45. doi: 10.1093/schbul/22.2.327
- 9. Verma S, Subramaniam M, Abdin E, Poon LY, Chong SA. Symptomatic and functional remission in patients with first-episode psychosis. *Acta Psychiatr Scand.* (2012) 126:282–9. doi: 10.1111/j.1600-0447.2012.01883.x
- Malla A, Payne J. First-episode psychosis: psychopathology, quality of life, and functional outcome. *Schizophr Bull.* (2005) 31:650–71. doi: 10.1093/schbul/sbi031
- Priebe S, Roeder-Wanner UU, Kaiser W. Quality of life in first-admitted schizophrenia patients: a follow-up study. *Psychol Med.* (2000) 30:225–30. doi: 10.1017/S0033291798008253
- Gorna K, Jaracz K, Rybakowski F, Rybakowski J. Determinants of objective and subjective quality of life in first-time-admission schizophrenic patients in Poland: a longitudinal study. *Qual Life Res.* (2008) 17:237–47. doi: 10.1007/s11136-007-9296-z
- Gardsjord ES, Romm KL, Friis S, Barder HE, Evensen J, Haahr U, et al. Subjective quality of life in first-episode psychosis. A ten year follow-up study. *Schizophr Res.* (2016) 172:23–8. doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2016.02.034
- Melle I, Rossberg JI, Joa I, Friis S, Haahr U, Johannessen JO, et al. The development of subjective quality of life over the first 2 years in first-episode psychosis. J Nerv Ment Dis. (2010) 198:864–9. doi: 10.1097/NMD.0b013e3181fe7258
- Boden R, Sundstrom J, Lindstrom E, Lindstrom L. Association between symptomatic remission and functional outcome in first-episode schizophrenia. *Schizophr Res.* (2009) 107:232–7. doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2008.10.004
- Gardsjord ES, Romm KL, Rossberg JI, Friis S, Barder HE, Evensen J, et al. Is going into stable symptomatic remission associated with a more positive development of life satisfaction? A 10-year follow-up study of first episode psychosis. *Schizophr Res.* (2018) 193:364–9. doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2017.07.006
- Eack SM, Newhill CE. Psychiatric symptoms and quality of life in schizophrenia: a meta-analysis. *Schizophr Bull.* (2007) 33:1225–37. doi: 10.1093/schbul/sbl071
- Thorup A, Petersen L, Jeppesen P, Nordentoft M. The quality of life among first-episode psychotic patients in the OPUS trial. *Schizophr Res.* (2010) 116:27–34. doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2009.10.006
- Cardoso CS, Caiaffa WT, Bandeira M, Siqueira AL, Abreu MN, Fonseca JO. Factors associated with low quality of life in schizophrenia. *Cad Saude Publica* (2005) 21:1338–40. doi: 10.1590/S0102-311X2005000500005
- Bobes J, Garcia-Portilla MP, Bascaran MT, Saiz PA, Bousono M. Quality of life in schizophrenic patients. *Dialogues Clin Neurosci*. (2007) 9:215–26.
- Boardman J, Grove B, Perkins R, Shepherd G. Work and employment for people with psychiatric disabilities. Br J Psychiatry (2003) 182:467–8. doi: 10.1192/bjp.182.6.467

- 22. Alonso J, Croudace T, Brown J, Gasquet I, Knapp MR, Suarez D, et al. Healthrelated quality of life (HRQL) and continuous antipsychotic treatment: 3-year results from the Schizophrenia Health Outcomes (SOHO) study. *Value Health* (2009) 12:536–43. doi: 10.1111/j.1524-4733.2008.00495.x
- Thornicroft G, Tansella M, Becker T, Knapp M, Leese M, Schene A, et al. The personal impact of schizophrenia in Europe. *Schizophr Res.* (2004) 69:125–32. doi: 10.1016/S0920-9964(03)00191-9
- 24. Marwaha S, Johnson S, Bebbington P, Angermeyer MC, Brugha T, Azorin JM, et al. Correlates of subjective quality of life in people with schizophrenia: findings from the EuroSC study. *J Nerv Ment Dis.* (2008) 196:87–94. doi: 10.1097/NMD.0b013e318162aa9c
- Kane JM, Robinson DG, Schooler NR, Mueser KT, Penn DL, Rosenheck RA, et al. Comprehensive versus usual community care for first-episode psychosis: 2-year outcomes from the NIMH RAISE Early Treatment Program. (2016) *Am J Psychiatry* 173:362–72. doi: 10.1176/appi.ajp.2015.15050632
- Rosenheck R, Mueser KT, Sint K, Lin H, Lynde DW, Glynn SM, et al. Supported employment and education in comprehensive, integrated care for first episode psychosis: effects on work, school, and disability income. *Schizophr Res.* (2017) 182:120–8. doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2016.09.024
- Verma S, Poon LY, Subramaniam M, Abdin E, Chong SA. The Singapore Early Psychosis Intervention Programme (EPIP): a programme evaluation. *Asian J Psychiatr.* (2012) 5:63–7. doi: 10.1016/j.ajp.2012.02.001
- Chong SA, Lee C, Bird L, Verma S. A risk reduction approach for schizophrenia: the Early Psychosis Intervention Programme. *Ann Acad Med Singapore* (2004) 33:630–5.
- Kay SR, Fiszbein A, Opler LA. The positive and negative syndrome scale (PANSS) for schizophrenia. *Schizophr Bull.* (1987) 13:261–76. doi: 10.1093/schbul/13.2.261
- Hall RC. Global assessment of functioning. A modified scale. Psychosomatics (1995) 36:267–75. doi: 10.1016/S0033-3182(95)71666-8
- Reinert DF, Allen JP. The Alcohol Use Disorders Identification Test (AUDIT): a review of recent research. *Alcohol Clin Exp Res.* (2002) 26:272–9. doi: 10.1111/j.1530-0277.2002.tb02534.x
- 32. Subramaniam M, Abdin E, Shahwan S, Satghare P, Vaingankar JA, Rama Sendren J, et al. Prevalence, correlates and outcomes of insomnia in patients with first episode psychosis from a tertiary psychiatric institution in Singapore. *Gen Hosp Psychiatry* (2018) 51:15–21. doi: 10.1016/j.genhosppsych.2017.11.009
- WHO. The World Health Organization Quality of Life Assessment (WHOQOL): development and general psychometric properties. Soc Sci Med. (1982) 46:1569–85.
- 34. Skevington SM, Lotfy M, O'Connell KA, Group W. The World Health Organization's WHOQOL-BREF quality of life assessment: psychometric properties and results of the international field trial. A report from the WHOQOL group. *Qual Life Res.* (2004) 13:299–310. doi: 10.1023/B:QURE.0000018486.91360.00
- Mas-Exposito L, Amador-Campos JA, Gomez-Benito J, Lalucat-Jo L, Research Group on Severe Mental D. The World Health Organization Quality of Life Scale Brief Version: a validation study in patients with schizophrenia. *Qual Life Res.* (2011) 20:1079–89. doi: 10.1007/s11136-011-9847-1
- Bobes J, Garcia-Portilla MP. Quality of Life in Mental Disorders. Chichester: John Wiley & Sons Ltd (2005).
- Lehman AF. The well-being of chronic mental patients. Arch Gen Psychiatry (1983) 40:369–73. doi: 10.1001/archpsyc.1983.01790040023003
- Browne S, Roe M, Lane A, Gervin M, Morris M, Kinsella A, et al. Quality of life in schizophrenia: relationship to sociodemographic factors, symptomatology and tardive dyskinesia. *Acta Psychiatr Scand*. (1996) 94:118– 24. doi: 10.1111/j.1600-0447.1996.tb09835.x
- Lehman AF, Postrado LT, Rachuba LT. Convergent validation of quality of life assessments for persons with severe mental illnesses. *Qual Life Res.* (1993) 2:327–33. doi: 10.1007/BF00449427
- Lehman AF. The effects of psychiatric symptoms on quality of life assessments among the chronic mentally ill. *Eval Program Plan.* (1983) 6:143–51. doi: 10.1016/0149-7189(83)90028-9
- Skantze K, Malm U, Dencker SJ, May PR, Corrigan P. Comparison of quality of life with standard of living in schizophrenic out-patients. *Br J Psychiatry* (1992) 161:797–801. doi: 10.1192/bjp.161.6.797

- Koivumaa-Honkanen HT, Viinamaki H, Honkanen R, Tanskanen A, Antikainen R, Niskanen L, et al. Correlates of life satisfaction among psychiatric patients. *Acta Psychiatr Scand.* (1996) 94:372–8. doi: 10.1111/j.1600-0447.1996.tb09875.x
- Bouwmans C, de Sonneville C, Mulder CL, Hakkaart-van Roijen L. Employment and the associated impact on quality of life in people diagnosed with schizophrenia. *Neuropsychiatr Dis Treat*. (2015) 11:2125–42. doi: 10.2147/NDT.S83546
- Brekke JS, Levin S, Wolkon GH, Sobel E, Slade E. Psychosocial functioning and subjective experience in schizophrenia. *Schizophr Bull.* (1993) 19:599–608. doi: 10.1093/schbul/19.3.599
- Caron J, Mercier C, Diaz P, Martin A. Socio-demographic and clinical predictors of quality of life in patients with schizophrenia or schizo-affective disorder. *Psychiatry Res.* (2005) 137:203–13. doi: 10.1016/j.psychres.2005.07.002
- 46. Higher Education Funding Council for England. The wellbeing of graduates: assessing the contribution of higher education to graduates' wellbeing in UK. In: Data Analysis (2017). Available online at: https://dera.ioe.ac.uk//30632/
- Roy L, Rousseau J, Fortier P, Mottard JP. Postsecondary academic achievement and first-episode psychosis: a mixed-methods study. *Can J Occup Ther*. (2016) 83:42–52. doi: 10.1177/0008417415575143
- Goulding SM, Chien VH, Compton MT. Prevalence and correlates of school drop-out prior to initial treatment of nonaffective psychosis: further evidence suggesting a need for supported education. *Schizophr Res.* (2010) 116:228–33. doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2009.09.006
- Beiser M, Bean G, Erickson D, Zhang J, Iacono WG, Rector NA. Biological and psychosocial predictors of job performance following a first episode of psychosis. Am J Psychiatry (1994) 151:857–63. doi: 10.1176/ajp.151.6.857
- Gupta S, Andreasen NC, Arndt S, Flaum M, Hubbard WC, Ziebell S. The Iowa Longitudinal Study of Recent Onset Psychosis: oneyear follow-up of first episode patients. *Schizophr Res.* (1997) 23:1–13. doi: 10.1016/S0920-9964(96)00078-3

- Milev P, Ho BC, Arndt S, Andreasen NC. Predictive values of neurocognition and negative symptoms on functional outcome in schizophrenia: a longitudinal first-episode study with 7-year follow-up. *Am J Psychiatry* (2005) 162:495–506. doi: 10.1176/appi.ajp.162.3.495
- Ucok A, Polat A, Cakir S, Genc A. One year outcome in first episode schizophrenia. Predictors of relapse. *Eur Arch Psychiatry Clin Neurosci.* (2006) 256:37–43. doi: 10.1007/s00406-005-0598-2
- Mueser KT, Glynn SM, Meyer-Kalos PS. What are the key ingredients of optimal psychosocial treatment for persons recovering from a first episode of psychosis? World Psychiatry (2017) 16:266–7. doi: 10.1002/ wps.20447
- Chong SA, Vaingankar JA, Abdin E, Subramaniam M. Mental disorders: employment and work productivity in Singapore. Soc Psychiatry Psychiatr Epidemiol. (2013) 48:117–23. doi: 10.1007/s00127-012-0526-5
- 55. Tan KP. Meritocracy and elitism in a global city: ideological shifts in Singapore. Int Political Sci Rev. (2008) 29:7–27. doi: 10.1177/0192512107083445
- Lim L, Apple MW. Elite rationalities and curricular form: "Meritorious" class reproduction in the elite thinking curriculum in Singapore. *Curriculum Inquiry* (2015) 45:472–90. doi: 10.1080/03626784.2015.1095622

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2019 Tan, Shahwan, Satghare, Chua, Verma, Tang, Chong and Subramaniam. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Early Identification and Intervention of Schizophrenia: Insight From Hypotheses of Glutamate Dysfunction and Oxidative Stress

Chieh-Hsin Lin^{1,2,3} and Hsien-Yuan Lane^{3,4,5*}

¹ Department of Psychiatry, Kaohsiung Chang Gung Memorial Hospital, Chang Gung University College of Medicine, Kaohsiung, Taiwan, ² School of Medicine, Chang Gung University, Taoyuan, Taiwan, ³ Graduate Institute of Biomedical Sciences, China Medical University, Taichung, Taiwan, ⁴ Department of Psychiatry and Brain Disease Research Center, China Medical University Hospital, Taichung, Taiwan, ⁵ Department of Psychology, College of Medical and Health Sciences, Asia University, Taichung, Taiwan

Schizophrenia is a severe mental disorder which leads to functional deterioration. Early

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Young-Chul Chung, Chonbuk National University, South Korea

Reviewed by:

Kang Sim, Institute of Mental Health, Singapore Tae Young Lee, Seoul National University Hospital, South Korea

> *Correspondence: Hsien-Yuan Lane hylane@gmail.com

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Schizophrenia, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychiatry

Received: 09 December 2018 Accepted: 08 February 2019 Published: 27 February 2019

Citation:

Lin C-H and Lane H-Y (2019) Early Identification and Intervention of Schizophrenia: Insight From Hypotheses of Glutamate Dysfunction and Oxidative Stress. Front. Psychiatry 10:93. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2019.00093 detection and intervention are vital for better prognosis. However, the diagnosis of schizophrenia still depends on clinical observation to date. Without reliable biomarkers, schizophrenia is difficult to detect in its early phase. Further, there is no approved medication for prodromal schizophrenia because current antipsychotics fail to show satisfactory efficacy and safety. Therefore, to develop an effective early diagnostic and therapeutic approach for schizophrenia, especially in its prodromal phase, is crucial. Glutamate signaling dysfunction and dysregulation of oxidative stress have been considered to play important roles in schizophrenic prodrome. The N-methyl-D-aspartate receptor (NMDAR) is one of three types of ionotropic glutamate receptors. In this article, we reviewed literature regarding NMDAR hypofunction, oxidative stress, and the linkage between both in prodromal schizophrenia. The efficacy of NMDAR enhancers such as D-amino acid oxidase inhibitor was addressed. Finally, we highlighted potential biomarkers related to NMDAR and oxidative stress regulation, and therefore suggested the strategies of early detection and intervention of prodromal schizophrenia. Future larger-scale studies combining biomarkers and novel drug development for early psychosis are warranted.

Keywords: glutamate, N-methyl-D-aspartate receptor, oxidative stress, early psychosis, schizophrenia, prodrome, biomarker

INTRODUCTION

Schizophrenia is a high-morbidity and high-mortality brain disorder. Globally 1% population suffered from this disorder. The common symptoms of schizophrenic patients include hallucination, delusion, disorganized thought and behavior, and negative symptoms. Clinical manifestation of schizophrenia consists of three domains: positive symptoms (such as hallucinations or delusions), negative symptoms (such as flattening affect or social withdrawal), and cognitive deficits (such as impaired memory, attention, and executive functions) (1–4). Among them, cognitive function impairments are considered to be core symptoms of schizophrenia, starting from its prodromal phase, while psychotic symptoms have not yet been vivid

35
(5–9). Cognitive deterioration appears at an earlier age in schizophrenia patients (10, 11). The deterioration of cognitive function in patients with schizophrenia will lead to impairment of self-care, social, and occupational function (12). Therefore, the social impact of schizophrenia is very high. Current antipsychotics have limited, if any, efficacy for cognitive function.

The etiology of schizophrenia remains unclear. Oxidative stress and glutamate-related dysfunction, potentiating each other in a vicious circle, are interdependently involved in the pathogenesis of schizophrenia (13, 14). Adolescence or early adulthood is the critical period when schizophrenia typically arises, while glutamate is the main excitatory neurotransmitter that mediates puberty (15). Oxidative stress and genetic/environmental factors converge during neurodevelopment, leading to the impairment of neural connectivity and synchronization, as well as to cognitive deficits in early psychosis patients (16).

This review highlights a recent development surrounding N-methyl-D-aspartate receptor (NMDAR) modulators and antioxidants, paving the way for biomarker guided early detection and intervention of high-risk individuals (17).

IMPORTANCE OF EARLY DETECTION AND INTERVENTION OF SCHIZOPHRENIA

Most individuals experience a period of prodromal symptoms prior to the diagnosis of schizophrenia (18). Before full-blown psychotic symptoms appear, individuals may experience changes in cognition, behavior, and function (19). Therefore, it is crucial to identify populations at high risk of schizophrenia to initiate early intervention (20). Improved diagnostic tools, the advent of atypical antipsychotic and the development of phase-specific psychosocial treatments have made intervention research in people at prodrome or ultra-high risk or people with attenuated psychosis syndrome for developing schizophrenia possible (21).

Antipsychotic medications, however, have not yet been approved for such populations, mainly because prolonged exposure to antipsychotic medication has been associated with various side effects such as weight gain, metabolic syndrome and hyperlipidemia (22, 23). First-generation antipsychotics, which block the majority of D2 dopamine receptors in the putamen (24, 25), mainly exert effects on positive symptoms and generate numerous intolerable side effects such as parkinsonism (including tremor, rigidity, bradykinesia), akathisia, dystonia, and prolactinemia (26). Newer atypical antipsychotics targeting both dopamine D2 and serotonin 5HT2 receptors (24, 26, 27) have been suggested to be superior to conventional agents in terms of efficacy for positive symptoms and perhaps negative symptoms (28-30). Despite this, there were a considerable percentage of patients resistant or only partially responsive to available medications (31). Moreover, side-effect profiles of second-generation antipsychotics, including obesity, diabetes mellitus, hyperlipidemia, metabolic syndrome, and sudden cardiac death, limit their clinical use (32-34). A substantial portion of schizophrenia patients refuse or cannot tolerate antipsychotics due to poor response and/or side effects (24). Further, long-term antipsychotics use is associated with cognitive impairment (35).

Most prodromal patients receive no or very brief, if any, antipsychotic treatment, due to safety concerns (36). To date, there is neither approved medication for prodromal schizophrenia, nor reliable outcome predictor for its conversion to full-blown schizophrenia. Therefore, developing early diagnosis and intervention strategy is very important.

THE GLUTAMATE HYPOTHESIS OF SCHIZOPHRENIA

In addition to dopaminergic neurotransmission, glutamatergic neurotransmission has gained more attentions lately as the key deficit of schizophrenia (37–44). Glutamate has two major receptor families: (1) ionotropic receptors, consisting of N-methyl-D-aspartate (NMDA), α -amino-3-hydroxy-5-methyl-4-isoxazolepropionic acid (AMPA), and kainate receptor subtypes, and (2) metabotropic receptors (mGluRs), which are G-protein-coupled receptors.

While glutamatergic outputs appear widespread over the corticolimbic system, disinhibition of the glutamatergic output from the subiculum to the ventral tegmental area leads to the hyperdopaminergic state with treatment of NMDA receptor (NMDAR) antagonists (45).

HYPOFUNCTION OF NMDAR-MEDIATED NEUROTRANSMISSION IN SCHIZOPHRENIA

NMDAR, a heteromeric ion channel, formed from a number of subunits (NR1, NR2ANR2D, NR3A, and NR3B), plays an important role in neurocognition. NMDAR antagonists, such as phencyclidine (PCP) and ketamine, induce psychosis which resembles schizophrenia more closely than the amphetamine/dopamine agonist do (46). The former causes not only positive symptoms, but also negative symptoms and cognitive deficits associated with schizophrenia. Moreover, glycine transporter inhibitors could reverse ketamine-induced effects (37, 47–50). Decreases in NMDAR density were found in post-mortem tissue from schizophrenic patients (51). The above evidence suggests that NMDAR dysfunction may be a critical deficit in schizophrenia (40, 43, 44, 52). Modulation of NMDAR has been proposed as a possible therapy for schizophrenia, including its prodrome (26, 37, 48, 53–56).

ABNORMAL PLASTICITY OF AMPA AND KAINATE RECEPTORS IN SCHIZOPHRENIA

While some glutamatergic synapses have only AMPA receptors (AMPARs) or only NMDARs, most have both receptors. NMDAR modulators may regulate not only NMDARs but also AMPARs (57). Similar to NMDARs, AMPARs modulate fast glutamate transmission, neuronal circuit remodeling

and higher order cognitive functions such as learning and memory; and abnormalities of AMPAR trafficking contribute to dysfunction in brain diseases such as schizophrenia (58). AMPAR subunits (GluR1-4) assemble to form AMPAR complexes in the lumen of the endoplasmic reticulum. Recently, the possibility of AMPAR dysfunction has been proposed to explain abnormalities in glutamate neurotransmission associated with the pathophysiology of schizophrenia (59). Topiramate, an antiepileptic drug with AMPAR antagonist activity has been demonstrated to improve schizophrenia as an adjunctive therapy; however, its efficacy may occur via GABA neurotransmission, as AMPAR antagonism occurs only at high concentrations (60, 61). Beneficial effects of CX516 and minocycline on cognitive domains appeared insignificant with rigorous statistical analyses (62). Newer AMPAR modulators such as UoS12258 which may possess precognitive properties deserve further studies (63).

Studies of kainate receptors (KARs) met difficulties because of the lack of specific activators or blockers for the receptors. First, kainate can also activate AMPARs. Second, AMPA, activates many KARs too (64).

ROLE OF THE MGLUR ALLOSTERIC MODULATION IN SCHIZOPHRENIA

The mGluRs, consisting of eight subtypes, provide a wide range of targets to modulate NMDAR function as well as glutamate release. Preclinical studies demonstrated that activation of the mGluR2/3 down-regulated the excessive dopamine release caused by treatment with NMDAR antagonists (65). A clinical trial showed that an mGluR2/3 agonist, which down-regulates disinhibited glutamate release, exhibited antipsychotic properties (66). There have also been advances in the discovery of highly selective positive allosteric modulators (PAMs) of mGluR2 and mGluR5 for the treatment of schizophrenia (67). The mGluR5 PAMs counter aberrant neuronal activity generated by NMDAR antagonists in the prefrontal cortex (68). Recently, more subtype-selective allosteric modulators for various mGluRs instill hopes of better or alternative treatments for (subgroups of) schizophrenia (69).

OXIDATIVE STRESS IN SCHIZOPHRENIA

Current evidence supports that increased oxidative stressinduced cellular damage of macromolecules may play a role in schizophrenia, and schizophrenia patients have abnormal antioxidant defenses as observed in their peripheral blood (70– 72), CSF (73), and postmortem brain tissues (74, 75). Evidence from genetic studies also suggests that schizophrenia patients may have a reduced ability to mount an adequate antioxidant defense (76).

The failure of antioxidant defenses to protect against free-radical generation damages cell membranes, impacts on neurotransmission and, ultimately, leads to phenotypes of schizophrenia (75). Important free radicals include hydrogen peroxide, the hydroxyl radical, nitric oxide (NO), and the superoxide radical. In the rate-limiting step of purine catabolism, xanthine oxidase catalyzes the conversion of xanthine to uric acid, an important antioxidant, and generates superoxide radicals. Superoxide dismutase catalyzes the conversion of superoxide radicals to hydrogen peroxide. Both catalase and glutathione peroxidase converts hydrogen peroxide to water and oxygen. Reduced glutathione is oxidized by glutathione peroxidase to oxidized glutathione. Glutathione peroxidase also converts nitrate (a by-product of NO radicals) to nitrite. Nitrite is often used as a marker for NO activity. Hydroxyl radicals, produced from both hydrogen peroxide and NO, promote apoptosis, DNA damage, protein carbonylation, and lipid peroxidation. Vitamin E, also acting as an antioxidant, can inhibit lipid peroxidation. Thiobarbituric acid reactive substances (TBARS) and malondialdehyde (MDA) are important end products of lipid peroxidation (77).

MODULATION OF OXIDATIVE STRESS IN PATIENTS WITH SCHIZOPHRENIA

Clinical trials also support an association between oxidative stress and schizophrenia. Treatment with the antioxidant N-acetylcysteine significantly reduced psychopathology in schizophrenia (78). Nevertheless, N-acetylcysteine may not represent an optimal antioxidant therapy, as its principal modus operandi, the supply of increased cysteine for glutathione biosynthesis, is of limited help unless the brain can use it to produce, recycle and utilize glutathione (13). Another important study also found that supplementation with fish oil significantly reduced the progression to first-episode psychosis in subjects with prodromal symptoms (79). However, many subjects in the study also carried severe depressive symptoms, hampering the conclusion of the study. Anyhow, these findings suggest that oxidative stress levels may be a biomarker of schizophrenia risk and response to adjunctive antioxidant treatment.

LINKING OXIDATIVE STRESS AND NMDAR HYPOFUNCTION IN SCHIZOPHRENIA PATHOGENESIS

Molecular, genetic and pathological evidence suggests that not only oxidative stress but also NMDAR hypofunction contribute to schizophrenia pathophysiology. Evidence now suggests that these factors are mechanistically interdependent and contribute to a common schizophrenia-associated pathology (13, 14).

There are clear similarities between the impact of developmental NMDAR hypofunction and that of oxidative stress on the adult rodent: both cause similar behavioral and cognitive disturbances. Increasing evidence suggests that NMDAR hypofunction and oxidative stress may be reciprocally linked (13, 14, 80). The NMDAR is regulated by redox state: both GRIN1 and GRIN2A possess pairs of reduction-oxidation reaction (redox)-sensitive cysteine residues whose disulfide bond formation decreases NMDAR currents (80), while an overlapping group of cysteine residues are subject to inhibitory S-nitrosylation, which facilitates disulfide bond formation (80, 81).

Recently, it has been shown that changes in intracellular redox status can also modulate NMDAR activity in a manner that is relevant to age-dependent cognitive decline (82). Age-associated shifts in intracellular redox state to a pro-oxidizing environment have been linked to reduced NMDAR activity via the redox regulation of calcium/calmodulin-dependent protein kinase type II (CaMKII), and can be rescued by intracellular glutathione (83).

Whether NMDAR-related dysfunction may influence the modulation of oxidative stress and whether the modulation of oxidative stress can alter NMDAR-related neurotransmission both also deserve further studies.

SEARCHING FOR DIAGNOSTIC AND THERAPEUTIC BIOMARKERS OF SCHIZOPHRENIA

At present, the diagnosis and treatment response of schizophrenia rely on clinical manifestation. There have been lots of post-mortem brain studies (84). However, RNA expressions may be affected by many factors under post-mortem condition. Therefore, it's needed to establish peripheral, accessible biological markers for mental illness (85). Lymphocytes or white cells have been suggested to be a neural probe because numerous studies showed similarities between receptor expression and mechanisms of transduction processes of cells in the nervous system (e.g., neurons and glia) and lymphocytes (86). Blood-derived RNA has become a convenient alternative to traditional tissue biopsy-derived RNA (87).

Several potential markers have been reported. Hashimoto et al reported that serum levels of D-serine were lower in schizophrenic patients than in healthy subjects (88). Besides, the expression of apolipoprotein D was increased in the plasma and brains of individuals with schizophrenia (89). S100B is a calcium-binding protein produced by astroglial cells. It has also been reported that schizophrenic patients, compared with healthy subjects, have higher DRD3 mRNA levels (85) and lower AKT1 protein levels (90) in peripheral lymphocytes. Adrenomedullin mRNA levels in lymphoblastoid cell lines of male schizophrenia patients was higher than in controls (91). Via microarray technique, six genes were suggested to be biomarkers of schizophrenia (92). Another study demonstrated that mRNA expression of eight biomarkers could be discriminated between schizophrenia, bipolar disorder, and controls (87). However, developing more suitable biomarkers for schizophrenia in future studies is warranted because there exists a large overlap between patients and controls in present biomarker studies.

NMDAR- AND OXIDATIVE-RELATED BIOMARKERS OF SCHIZOPHRENIA

NMDAR-related markers are scanty. Lin et al found that the G72 (D-amino acid oxidase activator, DAOA) protein level in plasma was much higher in patients with schizophrenia than in healthy controls (93). G72, functioning as a D-amino acid oxidase (DAAO) activator (DAOA), exists exclusively in 4 primates including humans. The study suggests that peripheral

G72 concentration may be characteristic of schizophrenia. The finding has been replicated independently (94). G72 is a huge protein. Its longest protein is called LG72 and consists of 153 amino acids. Its complex interactions deserve intensive study to elucidate the pathogenesis and pathophysiology of schizophrenia (95). Liquid chromatography-mass spectrometry (LC-MS)-based proteomics and metabolomics that have been used to discover protein and metabolite markers in clinical diseases may be helpful to elucidate the function of G72 and its interaction with other proteins.

A previous study also found that mRNA expression levels of SLC7A11 and SLC3A2 were lower in patients with schizophrenia than healthy individuals (96). SLC3A2 and SLC7A11 are two subunits of the cystine/glutamate antiporter system x⁻ which plays a critical role in the regulation of glutamate release. DAAO is responsible for degrading D-serine and other D-amino acids (97). A recent study found that its level in peripheral blood was higher with cognitive aging (98). Serine hydroxylmethyltransferase 2 (SHMT2) is an isoenzyme that catalyzes the reversible conversion of serine and tetrahydrofolate (THF) to glycine and methylene THF. Phosphoserine aminotransferase 1 (PSAT1) is required for the phosphorylated pathway of L-serine biosynthesis. Uptake of D-serine and L-serine into neurons and astrocytes is predominantly mediated by the serine transporter (ASCT1) subtype. The aforementioned genes/proteins that can regulate glutamate release and NMDAR function may be implicated in the pathogenesis of schizophrenia. Further, a recent study suggests that altered NMDAR signaling and parameters may have the potential to be used to detect vulnerability toward schizophrenia in individuals early in the disease process and thereby enable early intervention in a subgroup of patients (17).

Patients with schizophrenia also exhibit abnormal blood oxidative stress parameters, including total antioxidant status, glutathione peroxidase, catalase, superoxide dismutase, and nitrite (71, 77). It has been suggested that oxidative stress may serve as a potential biomarker in the etiopathophysiology, clinical course (including predicting conversion of high-risk symptoms to psychosis), symptomatology, cognitive function, and treatment response by antioxidants in patients with schizophrenia (16, 77, 99-101).

MISMATCH NEGATIVITY AS AN OBJECTIVE MEASUREMENT FOR NMDA FUNCTION AND A BIOMARKER FOR SCHIZOPHRENIA

Mismatch negativity (MMN) has been proven to be related to NMDAR and has been shown to be reduced in schizophrenia. Previous studies have successfully established a method to generate reliable MMNs and have demonstrated the involvement of the NMDAR in the genesis of MMN (102, 103). Computational model was created to explain the observed functional MRI (fMRI) time-series data by using a state-space model (104), and has been used to model the evoked components as measured by electroencephalography (EEG) or magnetoencephalography (MEG), that has been used to study the production mechanisms of MMN and P300 (103).

Building a computational model for MMN may be helpful for exploring the network of MMN in schizophrenia and its treatment by the NMDAR enhancers such as D-serine (105). Longitudinal studies have also shown that MMN recordings can assist in predicting the conversion from the prodromal phase to psychosis (106).

DAAO INHIBITION FOR SCHIZOPHRENIA

D-serine is more potent than other NMDAR co-agonists as the neurotransmitter for the glycine-site of the NMDAR (107). DAAO, a flavoenzyme of peroxisomes existing in the brain, kidney and liver of mammals, is responsible for degrading Dserine, D-alanine, and other D-amino acids. Therefore, one of the avenues to enhance NMDAR function is via inhibiting DAAO activity.

Sodium benzoate, a DAAO inhibitor, can elevate synaptic concentrations of D-amino acids, like D-serine and D-alanine, and thereby enhance NMDA neurotransmission. Previous clinical trials have studied the potential of sodium benzoate as an adjuvant therapy for schizophrenia. The first clinical trial suggested that sodium benzoate is beneficial in improving the clinical symptoms including positive and negative symptoms, cognitive and global functioning and quality of life in patients with chronic schizophrenia (40). The effect size of sodium benzoate treatment for Positive and Negative Syndrome Scale (PANSS) total score from baseline to endpoint was 1.76, which was much higher than the effect size (0.51) of sarcosine adjuvant therapy for the PANSS total score in patients with chronic schizophrenia (108).

GLUTAMATERGIC MODULATORS IN PATIENTS WITH PERSISTENT PSYCHOTIC SYMPTOMS

Only a minority of patients with first-onset schizophrenia return to their original level of functioning. Among individuals who respond poorly to antipsychotics (which are principally dopamine antagonists), their glutamatergic/NMDAR dysfunction may lead to failures by the treatment. While secondand third-generation antipsychotics are increasingly used, therapy for refractory schizophrenia remains a great challenge. Even with the treatment of clozapine (the last-line therapy for schizophrenia), a substantial portion of patients still suffer from persistent psychotic symptoms. However, after many clinical trials with various agents, including diverse glutamatergic modulators, there is no convincing evidence to demonstrate the efficacy of adjuvant therapy for clozapine-resistant patients (109). In a recent study, sodium benzoate even showed a beneficial effect on positive and negative symptoms and quality of life with the dose of 2 g/day in patients with clozapine-resistant schizophrenia (43).

STRATEGIES OF EARLY DETECTION AND INTERVENTION OF PRODROMAL SCHIZOPHRENIA

The prodromal phase of schizophrenic disorders has been recognized since the Nineteenth century (110). Recently, the Criteria of Prodromal Syndromes (COPS) diagnostic criteria have been applied; there are three operationally defined prodromal syndromes: attenuated positive psychotic symptom syndrome, brief intermittent psychotic syndrome, and genetic risk and recent functional decline syndrome (18, 111, 112). The PRIME prodromal research team in Yale University has also developed a semi-structured interview called the Structured Interview for Prodromal syndromes (SIPS) (113). The SIPS is utilized to rate presenting symptomatology and to determine if COPS criteria are met. The Scale of Prodromal Symptoms (SOPS) (114), embedded in SIPS, is a 19-item scale designed to measure the severity of prodromal symptoms. The SOPS contains four subscales: five positive, six negative, four disorganization, and four general symptom items. The detection and intervention of young people in the prodromal phase is a newly developed area in psychiatry (115), and the ethical considerations about treatment options must be treated with sensitivity (116).

Standard guidelines have been used in our previous studies aiming to establish or examine prodromal or ultra-high-risk (UHR) (112), clinical high risk (117), and 5 at-risk mental state (118). Recently, objective strategies have been emphasized for screening prodromal illness in many studies. The fMRI with magnetic resonance spectroscopy (MRS) is one of those that identify early stage of mental illness. Individuals with prodromal symptoms demonstrated smaller differential activation in frontal regions in fMRI data (119).

The possibility of treatment intervention during the prodromal phase has a history almost as long as it was first identified (120). Both typical and atypical antipsychotics, including risperidone and olanzapine, have been utilized to reduce prodromal symptoms or the risk of progression to schizophrenia (121–123). However, safety and side effect concerns exist; and it remains unclear whether the benefits of antipsychotic treatments outweigh the risks (116).

Therefore, there is an urgent need to develop safer interventions for schizophrenic prodrome. D-serine (124) and fish oil (79) have been demonstrated to be beneficial as treatment of prodromal schizophrenia. Other antioxidants such as glucoraphanin have also shown potential in preventing the onset of psychosis in the adult offspring after maternal immune activation (125). Future trials with glutamate modulators or antioxidants in early psychosis and even prodromal schizophrenia should consider biomarker-guided treatment (16).

SUMMARY

It is generally recognized that intervention of early psychosis and prevention the progression of schizophrenic prodrome to fullblown schizophrenia is essential, in order to avoid subsequent functional deterioration. Current antipsychotic medications have not yet been approved for such populations mainly due to the lack of overt efficacy and various side effects including metabolic syndrome and hyperprolactinemia. Therefore, developing novel antipsychotic drugs with better efficacy and safety is critical. Compounds that can enhance the NMDAR have shown encouraging efficacies with favorable safety profiles in clinical trials for patients with schizophrenia. It will be valuable to test whether NMDAR enhancers are beneficial for patients with earlier phases of psychosis.

Identifying high risk populations who are prone to develop full-blown psychosis would be very helpful to apply early an intervention strategy to those people who are in need. It is important to search for biomarkers representing the pathophysiology of schizophrenia and more importantly, the biological changes in the process of early psychosis. In addition to dopamine hypothesis, dysfunction of glutamate signaling, and dysregulation of oxidative stress have been considered to play important roles in early psychosis and schizophrenic prodrome. It will be interesting to search for potential biomarkers that

REFERENCES

- Green MF. What are the functional consequences of neurocognitive deficits in schizophrenia? *Am J Psychiatry*. (1996) 153:321–30. doi: 10.1176/ajp.153.3.321
- Heaton RK, Gladsjo JA, Palmer BW, Kuck J, Marcotte TD, Jeste DV. Stability and course of neuropsychological deficits in schizophrenia. *Arch Gen Psychiatry*. (2001) 58:24–32. doi: 10.1001/archpsyc.58.1.24
- Lien YJ, Tsuang HC, Chiang A, Liu CM, Hsieh MH, Hwang TJ, et al. The multidimensionality of schizotypy in nonpsychotic relatives of patients with schizophrenia and its applications in ordered subsets linkage analysis of schizophrenia. Am J Med Genet B Neuropsychiatr Genet. (2010) 153B:1–9. doi: 10.1002/ajmg.b.30948
- Tsuang MT, Stone WS, Faraone SV. Understanding predisposition to schizophrenia: toward intervention and prevention. *Can J Psychiatry*. (2002) 47:518–26. doi: 10.1177/070674370204700603
- Chen WJ, Chang CH, Liu SK, Hwang TJ, Hwu HG. Sustained attention deficits in nonpsychotic relatives of schizophrenic patients: a recurrence risk ratio analysis. *Biol Psychiatry*. (2004) 55:995–1000. doi: 10.1016/j.biopsych.2004.01.010
- Chen WJ, Liu SK, Chang CJ, Lien YJ, Chang YH, Hwu HG. Sustained attention deficit and schizotypal personality features in nonpsychotic relatives of schizophrenic patients. *Am J Psychiatry*. (1998) 155:1214–20. doi: 10.1176/ajp.155.9.1214
- 7. Holden C. Neuroscience. *Deconstruct Schizophr Sci.* (2003) 299:333–5. doi: 10.1126/science.299.5605.333
- Liu SK, Chen WJ, Chang CJ, Lin HN. Effects of atypical neuroleptics on sustained attention deficits in schizophrenia: a trial of risperidone vs. haloperidol. *Neuropsychopharmacology*. (2000) 22:311–9. doi: 10.1016/S0893-133X(99)00137-2
- Tsuang HC, Lin SH, Liu SK, Hsieh MH, Hwang TJ, Liu CM, et al. More severe sustained attention deficits in nonpsychotic siblings of multiplex schizophrenia families than in those of simplex ones. *Schizophr Res.* (2006) 87:172–80. doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2006.03.045
- Pu S, Nakagome K, Itakura M, Iwata M, Nagata I, Kaneko K. The association between cognitive deficits and prefrontal hemodynamic responses during performance of working memory task in patients with schizophrenia. *Schizophr Res.* (2016) 172:114–22. doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2016.01.045
- 11. Wright S, Kochunov P, Chiappelli J, McMahon R, Muellerklein F, Wijtenburg SA, et al. Accelerated white matter aging in schizophrenia:

are related to glutamate and oxidative stress modulations via blood-based or brain imaging approaches.

Combining biomarkers and novel drug development for early psychosis is critical in future studies. Notably, the intervention that can both treat early psychosis and serve as the biomarker might have more potential to reach the goal.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

All authors listed have made a substantial, direct and intellectual contribution to the work, and approved it for publication.

FUNDING

This work was funded by Ministry of Science and Technology, Taiwan (MOST 107-2314-B-039-039), National Health Research Institutes (NHRI-EX107-10731NI), China Medical University Hospital, Taiwan (DMR-106-099) and Taiwan Ministry of Health and Welfare Clinical Trial and Research Center of Excellence (MOHW107-TDU-B-212-123004).

role of white matter blood perfusion. *Neurobiol Aging.* (2014) 35:2411–8. doi: 10.1016/j.neurobiolaging.2014.02.016

- Friedman JI, Harvey PD, Kemether E, Byne W, Davis KL. Cognitive and functional changes with aging in schizophrenia. *Biol Psychiatry*. (1999) 46:921–8. doi: 10.1016/S0006-3223(99)00080-3
- Hardingham GE, Do KQ. Linking early-life NMDAR hypofunction and oxidative stress in schizophrenia pathogenesis. *Nat Rev Neurosci.* (2016) 17:125–34. doi: 10.1038/nrn.2015.19
- Steullet P, Cabungcal JH, Monin A, Dwir D, O'Donnell P, Cuenod M, et al. Redox dysregulation, neuroinflammation, and NMDA receptor hypofunction: a "central hub" in schizophrenia pathophysiology? *Schizophr Res.* (2016) 176:41–51. doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2014.06.021
- Giuliani FA, Escudero C, Casas S, Bazzocchini V, Yunes R, Laconi MR, et al. Allopregnanolone and puberty: modulatory effect on glutamate and GABA release and expression of 3alpha-hydroxysteroid oxidoreductase in the hypothalamus of female rats. *Neuroscience*. (2013) 243:64–75 doi: 10.1016/j.neuroscience.2013.03.053
- Conus P, Seidman LJ, Fournier M, Xin L, Cleusix M, Baumann PS, et al. N-acetylcysteine in a double-blind randomized placebo-controlled trial: toward biomarker-guided treatment in early psychosis. *Schizophr Bull.* (2018) 44:317–27. doi: 10.1093/schbul/sbx093
- Gunduz-Bruce H, Kenney J, Changlani S, Peixoto A, Gueorguieva R, Leone C, et al. A translational approach for NMDA receptor profiling as a vulnerability biomarker for depression and schizophrenia. *Exp Physiol.* (2017) 102:587–97.doi: 10.1113/EP086212
- Yung AR, McGorry PD, McFarlane CA, Jackson HJ, Patton GC, Rakkar A. Monitoring and care of young people at incipient risk of psychosis. *Schizophr Bull.* (1996) 22:283–303. doi: 10.1093/schbul/22.2.283
- Yung AR, Stanford C, Cosgrave E, Killackey E, Phillips L, Nelson B, et al. Testing the ultra high risk (prodromal) criteria for the prediction of psychosis in a clinical sample of young people. *Schizophr Res.* (2006) 84:57–66. doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2006.03.014
- Brewer WJ, Wood SJ, Phillips LJ, Francey SM, Pantelis C, Yung AR, et al. Generalized and specific cognitive performance in clinical high-risk cohorts: a review highlighting potential vulnerability markers for psychosis. *Schizophr Bull.* (2006) 32:538–55. doi: 10.1093/schbul/sbj077
- Phillips LJ, Yung AR, Yuen HP, Pantelis C, McGorry PD. Prediction and prevention of transition to psychosis in young people at incipient risk for schizophrenia. *Am J Med Genet.* (2002) 114:929–37. doi: 10.1002/ajmg.b.10790

- Datta SS, Kumar A, Wright SD, Furtado VA, Russell PS. Evidence base for using atypical antipsychotics for psychosis in adolescents. *Schizophr Bull.* (2014) 40:252–4. doi: 10.1093/schbul/sbt196
- Kumar A, Datta SS, Wright SD, Furtado VA, Russell PS. Atypical antipsychotics for psychosis in adolescents. *Cochr Database Syst Rev.* (2013) 62:1196–204. doi: 10.1002/14651858.CD009582.pub2
- 24. Abbott A. Schizophrenia: the drug deadlock. *Nature*. (2010) 468:158–9. doi: 10.1038/468158a
- Farde L, Hall H, Ehrin E, Sedvall G. Quantitative analysis of D2 dopamine receptor binding in the living human brain by PET. *Science*. (1986) 231:258–61.
- Insel TR. Rethinking schizophrenia. Nature. (2010) 468:187–93. doi: 10.1038/nature09552
- Kapur S, Zipursky RB, Remington G. Clinical and theoretical implications of 5-HT2 and D2 receptor occupancy of clozapine, risperidone, and olanzapine in schizophrenia. *Am J Psychiatry*. (1999) 156:286–93.
- Green MF, Marshall BDJr, Wirshing WC, Ames D, Marder SR, McGurk S, et al. Does risperidone improve verbal working memory in treatment-resistant schizophrenia? *Am J Psychiatry*. (1997) 154:799–804. doi: 10.1176/ajp.154.6.799
- Lane HY, Liu CC, Chang WH. Risperidone for exclusively negative symptoms. Am J Psychiatry. (1999) 156:335.
- Leucht S, Wahlbeck K, Hamann J, Kissling W. New generation antipsychotics vs. low-potency conventional antipsychotics: a systematic review and metaanalysis. *Lancet*. (2003) 361:1581–9. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(03)13306-5
- Lieberman JA, Stroup TS, McEvoy JP, Swartz MS, Rosenheck RA, Perkins DO, et al. Effectiveness of antipsychotic drugs in patients with chronic schizophrenia. N Engl J Med. (2005) 353:1209–23. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa051688
- Gaulin BD, Markowitz JS, Caley CF, Nesbitt LA, Dufresne RL. Clozapine-associated elevation in serum triglycerides. *Am J Psychiatry*. (1999) 156:1270–2.
- Lu ML, Lane HY, Lin SK, Chen KP, Chang WH. Adjunctive fluvoxamine inhibits clozapine-related weight gain and metabolic disturbances. J Clin Psychiatry. (2004) 65:766–71. doi: 10.4088/JCP.v65n0607
- Ray WA, Chung CP, Murray KT, Hall K, Stein CM. Atypical antipsychotic drugs and the risk of sudden cardiac death. *N Engl J Med*. (2009) 360:225–35. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa0806994
- 35. Husa AP, Rannikko I, Moilanen J, Haapea M, Murray GK, Barnett J, et al. (2014). Lifetime use of antipsychotic medication and its relation to change of verbal learning and memory in midlife schizophrenia -An observation 9-year follow-up study. *Schizophr Res.* (2014) 158:134–41. doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2014.06.035
- Marshall M, Rathbone J. Early intervention for psychosis. Cochr Database Syst Rev. (2011) 8:2158. doi: 10.1002/14651858.CD004718
- Javitt DC, Balla A, Sershen H, Lajtha A. AE bennett research award reversal of phencyclidine-induced effects by glycine and glycine transport inhibitors. *Biol Psychiatry*. (1999) 45:668–79. doi: 10.1016/S0006-3223(98)00237-6
- Lane HY, Chang YC, Liu YC, Chiu CC, Tsai GE. Sarcosine or D-serine add-on treatment for acute exacerbation of schizophrenia: a randomized, doubleblind, placebo-controlled study. *Arch Gen Psychiatry*. (2005) 62:1196–204. doi: 10.1001/archpsyc.62.11.1196
- Lane HY, Huang CL, Wu PL, Liu YC, Chang YC, Lin PY, et al. Glycine transporter I inhibitor, N-methylglycine (sarcosine), added to clozapine for the treatment of schizophrenia. *Biol Psychiatry.* (2006) 60:645–9. doi: 10.1016/j.biopsych.2006.04.005
- Lane HY, Lin CH, Green MF, Hellemann G, Huang CC, Chen PW, et al. Addon treatment of benzoate for schizophrenia: a randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled trial of D-amino acid oxidase inhibitor. *JAMA Psychiatry*. (2013) 70:1267–75. doi: 10.1001/jamapsychiatry.2013.2159
- Lane HY, Lin CH, Huang YJ, Liao CH, Chang YC, Tsai GE. A randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled comparison study of sarcosine (Nmethylglycine) and D-serine add-on treatment for schizophrenia. *Int J Neuropsychopharmacol.* (2010) 13:451–60. doi: 10.1017/S1461145709990939
- Lane HY, Liu YC, Huang CL, Chang YC, Liau CH, Perng CH, et al. Sarcosine (N-methylglycine) treatment for acute schizophrenia: a randomized, double-blind study. *Biol Psychiatry*. (2008) 63:9–12. doi: 10.1016/j.biopsych.2007.04.038

- 43. Lin CH, Chang YC, Huang YJ, Chen PW, Yang HT, Lane HY. Sodium benzoate, a D-amino acid oxidase inhibitor, added to clozapine for the treatment of schizophrenia: a randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled trial. *Biol Psychiatry*. (2018) 84:422–32. doi: 10.1016/j.biopsych.2017.12.006
- Olney JW, Farber NB. Glutamate receptor dysfunction and schizophrenia. Arch Gen Psychiatry. (1995) 52:998–1007. doi: 10.1001/archpsyc.1995.03950240016004
- Lisman JE, Coyle JT, Green RW, Javitt DC, Benes FM, Heckers S, et al. Circuit-based framework for understanding neurotransmitter and risk gene interactions in schizophrenia. *Trends Neurosci.* (2008) 31:234–42. doi: 10.1016/j.tins.2008.02.005
- 46. Krystal JH, Karper LP, Seibyl JP, Freeman GK, Delaney R, Bremner JD, et al. Subanesthetic effects of the noncompetitive NMDA antagonist, ketamine, in humans. Psychotomimetic, perceptual, cognitive, and neuroendocrine responses. *Arch Gen Psychiatry*. (1994) 51:199–214. doi: 10.1001/archpsyc.1994.03950030035004
- 47. Buchanan RW, Javitt DC, Marder SR, Schooler NR, Gold JM, McMahon RP, et al. The cognitive and negative symptoms in schizophrenia trial (CONSIST): the efficacy of glutamatergic agents for negative symptoms and cognitive impairments. Am J Psychiatry. (2007) 164:1593–602. doi: 10.1176/appi.ajp.2007.06081358
- Chang HJ, Lane HY, Tsai GE. NMDA pathology and treatment of schizophrenia. *Curr Pharm Des.* (2014) 20:5118–26. doi: 10.2174/1381612819666140110121908
- Javitt DC, Balla A, Burch S, Suckow R, Xie S, Sershen H. Reversal of phencyclidine-induced dopaminergic dysregulation by N-methyl-Daspartate receptor/glycine-site agonists. *Neuropsychopharmacology* (2004) 29:300–7. doi: 10.1038/sj.npp.1300313
- Yang SY, Hong CJ, Huang YH, Tsai SJ. The effects of glycine transporter I inhibitor, N-methylglycine (sarcosine), on ketamine-induced alterations in sensorimotor gating and regional brain c-Fos expression in rats. *Neurosci Lett.* (2010) 469:127–30. doi: 10.1016/j.neulet.2009.11.058
- Sokolov BP. Expression of NMDAR1, GluR1, GluR7, and KA1 glutamate receptor mRNAs is decreased in frontal cortex of "neuroleptic-free" schizophrenics: evidence on reversible up-regulation by typical neuroleptics. *J Neurochem.* (1998) 71:2454–64. doi: 10.1046/j.1471-4159.1998.71062454.x
- Coyle JT. The glutamatergic dysfunction hypothesis for schizophrenia. *Harv Rev Psychiatry*. (1996) 3:241–53. doi: 10.3109/10673229609017192
- Hashimoto K, Fujita Y, Horio M, Kunitachi S, Iyo M, Ferraris D, et al. Co-administration of a D-amino acid oxidase inhibitor potentiates the efficacy of D-serine in attenuating prepulse inhibition deficits after administration of dizocilpine. *Biol Psychiatry*. (2009) 65:1103–6. doi: 10.1016/j.biopsych.2009.01.002
- Heresco-Levy U, Ermilov M, Shimoni J, Shapira B, Silipo G, Javitt DC. Placebo-controlled trial of D-cycloserine added to conventional neuroleptics, olanzapine, or risperidone in schizophrenia. *Am J Psychiatry*. (2002) 159:480–2. doi: 10.1176/appi.ajp.159.3.480
- Javitt DC. Glycine transport inhibitors and the treatment of schizophrenia. Biol Psychiatry. (2008) 63:6–8. doi: 10.1016/j.biopsych.2007.09.017
- Javitt DC, Zukin SR. Recent advances in the phencyclidine model of schizophrenia. *Am J Psychiatry*. (1991) 148:1301–8. doi: 10.1176/ajp.148.10.1301
- Wei IH, Chen KT, Tsai MH, Wu CH, Lane HY, Huang CC. Acute amino acid d-serine administration, similar to ketamine, produces antidepressant-like effects through identical mechanisms. *J Agric Food Chem.* (2017) 65:10792– 803. doi: 10.1021/acs.jafc.7b04217
- Kessels HW, Malinow R. Synaptic AMPA receptor plasticity and behavior. Neuron. (2009) 61:340–50. doi: 10.1016/j.neuron.2009.01.015
- Tucholski J, Simmons MS, Pinner AL, Haroutunian V, McCullumsmith RE, Meador-Woodruff JH. Abnormal N-linked glycosylation of cortical AMPA receptor subunits in schizophrenia. *Schizophr Res.* (2013) 146:177–83. doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2013.01.031
- Gibbs JW III, Sombati S, DeLorenzo RJ, Coulter DA. Cellular actions of topiramate: blockade of kainate-evoked inward currents in cultured hippocampal neurons. *Epilepsia*. (2000) 41(Suppl. 243):10–16. doi: 10.1111/j.1528-1157.2000.tb02164.x
- 61. Tiihonen J, Halonen P, Wahlbeck K, Repo-Tiihonen E, Hyvarinen S, Eronen M, et al. Topiramate add-on in treatment-resistant schizophrenia:

a randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled, crossover trial. J Clin Psychiatry. (2005) 66:1012–5. doi: 10.4088/JCP.v66n0808

- 62. Iwata Y, Nakajima S, Suzuki T, Keefe RS, Plitman E, Chung JK, et al. Effects of glutamate positive modulators on cognitive deficits in schizophrenia: a systematic review and meta-analysis of double-blind randomized controlled trials. *Mol Psychiatry*. (2015) 20:1151–60. doi: 10.1038/mp.2015.68
- Ward SE, Beswick P, Calcinaghi N, Dawson LA, Gartlon J, Graziani F, et al. Pharmacological characterization of N-[(2S)-5-(6-fluoro-3-pyridinyl)-2, 3-dihydro-1H-inden-2-yl]-2-propanesulfonamide: a novel, clinical AMPA receptor positive allosteric modulator. *Br J Pharmacol.* (2017) 174:370–85. doi: 10.1111/bph.13696
- Lerma J, Marques JM. Kainate receptors in health and disease. Neuron. (2013) 80:292–311. doi: 10.1016/j.neuron.2013.09.045
- 65. Fell MJ, Svensson KA, Johnson BG, Schoepp DD. Evidence for the role of metabotropic glutamate (mGlu)2 not mGlu3 receptors in the preclinical antipsychotic pharmacology of the mGlu2/3 receptor agonist (-)-(1R,4S,5S,6S)-4-amino-2-sulfonylbicyclo[3.1.0]hexane-4,6dicarboxylic acid (LY404039). J Pharmacol Exp Ther. (2008) 326:209–17. doi: 10.1124/jpet.108.136861
- 66. Patil ST, Zhang L, Martenyi F, Lowe SL, Jackson KA, Andreev BV, et al. Activation of mGlu2/3 receptors as a new approach to treat schizophrenia: a randomized Ph 2 clinical trial. *Nat Med.* (2007) 13:1102–7. doi: 10.1038/nm1632
- Conn PJ, Lindsley CW, Jones CK. Activation of metabotropic glutamate receptors as a novel approach for the treatment of schizophrenia. *Trends Pharmacol Sci.* (2009) 30:25–31. doi: 10.1016/j.tips.2008.10.006
- Lecourtier L, Homayoun H, Tamagnan G, Moghaddam B. Positive allosteric modulation of metabotropic glutam. *Biol Psychiatry*. (2007)62:739–46. doi: 10.1016/j.biopsych.2006.12.003
- Maksymetz J, Moran SP, Conn PJ. Targeting metabotropic glutamate receptors for novel treatments of schizophrenia. *Mol Brain*. (2017) 10:15. doi: 10.1186/s13041-017-0293-z
- Michelson AM. Biological role of the superoxide anion radical and of superoxyde-dismutase in cellular metabolism. C R Seances Soc Biol Fil. (1976) 170:1137–46.
- Okusaga OO. Accelerated aging in schizophrenia patients: the potential role of oxidative stress. *Aging Dis.* (2014) 5:256–62. doi: 10.14336/AD.2014.0500256
- 72. Sirota P, Gavrieli R, Wolach B. Overproduction of neutrophil radical oxygen species correlates with negative symptoms in schizophrenic patients: parallel studies on neutrophil chemotaxis, superoxide production and bactericidal activity. *Psychiatry Res.* (2003) 121:123–32. doi: 10.1016/S0165-1781(03)00222-1
- 73. Do KQ, Trabesinger AH, Kirsten-Kruger M, Lauer CJ, Dydak U, Hell D, et al. Schizophrenia: glutathione deficit in cerebrospinal fluid and prefrontal cortex *in vivo*. *Eur J Neurosci*. (2000) 12:3721–8. doi: 10.1046/j.1460-9568.2000.00229.x
- Do KQ, Cabungcal JH, Frank A, Steullet P, Cuenod M. Redox dysregulation, neurodevelopment, and schizophrenia. *Curr Opin Neurobiol.* (2009) 19:220–30. doi: 10.1016/j.conb.2009.05.001
- Yao JK, Leonard S, Reddy RD. Increased nitric oxide radicals in postmortem brain from patients with schizophrenia. *Schizophr Bull.* (2004) 30:923–34. doi: 10.1093/oxfordjournals.schbul.a007142
- Chowdari KV, Bamne MN, Nimgaonkar VL. Genetic association studies of antioxidant pathway genes and schizophrenia. *Antioxid Redox Signal*. (2011) 15:2037–45. doi: 10.1089/ars.2010.3508
- 77. Flatow J, Buckley P, Miller BJ. Meta-analysis of oxidative stress in schizophrenia. *Biol Psychiatry*. (2013) 74:400–9. doi: 10.1016/j.biopsych.2013.03.018
- Berk M, Copolov D, Dean O, Lu K, Jeavons S, Schapkaitz I, et al. Nacetyl cysteine as a glutathione precursor for schizophrenia-a doubleblind, randomized, placebo-controlled trial. *Biol Psychiatry*. (2008) 64:361–8. doi: 10.1016/j.biopsych.2008.03.004
- 79. Amminger GP, Schafer MR, Papageorgiou K, Klier CM, Cotton SM, Harrigan SM, et al. Long-chain omega-3 fatty acids for indicated prevention of psychotic disorders: a randomized, placebo-controlled trial. Arch Gen Psychiatry. (2010) 67:146–54. doi: 10.1001/archgenpsychiatry.2009.192

- Lipton SA, Choi YB, Takahashi H, Zhang D, Li W, Godzik A, et al. Cysteine regulation of protein function-as exemplified by NMDA-receptor modulation. *Trends Neurosci.* (2002) 25:474–80. doi: 10.1016/S0166-2236(02)02245-2
- Choi YB, Lipton SA. Identification and mechanism of action of two histidine residues underlying high-affinity Zn²⁺ inhibition of the NMDA receptor. *Neuron.* (1999) 23:171–80. doi: 10.1016/S0896-6273(00)80763-1
- Guidi M, Kumar A, Foster TC. Impaired attention and synaptic senescence of the prefrontal cortex involves redox regulation of NMDA receptors. J Neurosci. (2015) 35:3966–77. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.3523-14.2015
- Bodhinathan K, Kumar A, Foster TC. Intracellular redox state alters NMDA receptor response during aging through Ca²⁺/calmodulindependent protein kinase II. *J Neurosci.* (2010) 30:1914–24. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.5485-09.2010
- Stewart RJ, Chen B, Dowlatshahi D, MacQueen GM, Young LT. Abnormalities in the cAMP signaling pathway in post-mortem brain tissue from the stanley neuropathology consortium. *Brain Res Bull.* (2001) 55:625–9. doi: 10.1016/S0361-9230(01)00524-X
- Ilani T, Ben-Shachar D, Strous RD, Mazor M, Sheinkman A, Kotler M, et al. A peripheral marker for schizophrenia: increased levels of D3 dopamine receptor mRNA in blood lymphocytes. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (2001) 98:625–8. doi: 10.1073/pnas.98.2.625
- Gladkevich A, Kauffman HF, Korf J. Lymphocytes as a neural probe: potential for studying psychiatric disorders. *Prog Neuropsychopharmacol Biol Psychiatry*. (2004) 28:559–76. doi: 10.1016/j.pnpbp.2004.01.009
- 87. Tsuang MT, Nossova N, Yager T, Tsuang MM, Guo SC, Shyu KG, et al. Assessing the validity of blood-based gene expression profiles for the classification of schizophrenia and bipolar disorder: a preliminary report. Am J Med Genet B Neuropsychiatr Genet. (2005) 133B:1–5. doi: 10.1002/ajmg.b.30161
- Hashimoto K, Fukushima T, Shimizu E, Komatsu N, Watanabe H, Shinoda N, et al. Decreased serum levels of D-serine in patients with schizophrenia: evidence in support of the N-methyl-D-aspartate receptor hypofunction hypothesis of schizophrenia. *Arch Gen Psychiatry*. (2003) 60:572–6. doi: 10.1001/archpsyc.60.6.572
- Thomas EA, Copolov DL, Sutcliffe JG. From pharmacotherapy to pathophysiology: emerging mechanisms of apolipoprotein D in psychiatric disorders. *Curr Mol Med.* (2003) 3:408–18. doi: 10.2174/1566524033479681
- Emamian ES, Hall D, Birnbaum MJ, Karayiorgou M, Gogos JA. Convergent evidence for impaired AKT1-GSK3beta signaling in schizophrenia. *Nat Genet.* (2004) 36:131–7. doi: 10.1038/ng1296
- Huang CH, Chen ML, Tsai YL, Tsai MT, Chen CH. Elevated adrenomedullin mRNA in lymphoblastoid cells from schizophrenic patients. *Neuroreport*. (2004) 15:1443–6. doi: 10.1097/01.wnr.0000132202.69212.79
- 92. Glatt SJ, Everall IP, Kremen WS, Corbeil J, Sasik R, Khanlou N, et al. Comparative gene expression analysis of blood and brain provides concurrent validation of SELENBP1 up-regulation in schizophrenia. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (2005) 102:15533–8. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0507666102
- Lin CH, Chang HT, Chen YJ, Huang CH, Tun R, Tsai GE, et al. Distinctively higher plasma G72 protein levels in patients with schizophrenia than in healthy individuals. *Mol Psychiatry*. (2014) 19:636–7. doi: 10.1038/mp.2013.80
- 94. Akyol ES, Albayrak Y, Aksoy N, Sahin B, Beyazyuz M, Kuloglu M, et al. Increased serum G72 protein levels in patients with schizophrenia: a potential candidate biomarker. *Acta Neuropsychiatr.* (2017) 29:80–6. doi: 10.1017/neu.2016.34
- Chang SL, Hsieh CH, Chen YJ, Wang CM, Shih CS, Huang PW, et al. The C-terminal region of G72 increases D-amino acid oxidase activity. *Int J Mol Sci.* (2013) 15:29–43. doi: 10.3390/ijms15010029
- 96. Lin CH, Lin PP, Lin CY, Huang CH, Huang YJ, Lane HY. Decreased mRNA expression for the two subunits of system xc(-), SLC3A2 and SLC7A11, in WBC in patients with schizophrenia: evidence in support of the hypoglutamatergic hypothesis of schizophrenia. *J Psychiatr Res.* (2016) 72:58–63. doi: 10.1016/j.jpsychires.2015.10.007
- 97. Vanoni MA, Cosma A, Mazzeo D, Mattevi A, Todone F, Curti B. Limited proteolysis and X-ray crystallography reveal the origin of substrate specificity and of the rate-limiting product release during oxidation of D-amino

acids catalyzed by mammalian D-amino acid oxidase. *Biochemistry*. (1997) 36:5624–32. doi: 10.1021/bi963023s

- Lin CH, Yang HT, Chiu CC, Lane HY. Blood levels of D-amino acid oxidase vs. D-amino acids in reflecting cognitive aging. *Sci Reports*. (2017) 7:14849. doi: 10.1038/s41598-017-13951-7
- Matsuzawa D, Hashimoto K. Magnetic resonance spectroscopy study of the antioxidant defense system in schizophrenia. *Antioxid Redox Signal*. (2011) 15:2057–65. doi: 10.1089/ars.2010.3453
- 100. Perkins DO, Jeffries CD, Addington J, Bearden CE, Cadenhead KS, Cannon TD, et al. Toward a psychosis risk blood diagnostic for persons experiencing high-risk symptoms: preliminary results from the NAPLS project. *Schizophr Bull*. (2015) 41:419–28. doi: 10.1093/schbul/sbu099
- 101. Wu JQ, Chen DC, Tan YL, Tan S, Wang Z, Yang F, et al. Association of altered CuZn superoxide dismutase and cognitive impairment in schizophrenia patients with tardive dyskinesia. *J Psychiatr Res.* (2014) 58:167–74. doi: 10.1016/j.jpsychires.2014.07.028
- 102. Chen JC, Hammerer D, D'Ostilio K, Casula EP, Marshall L, Tsai CH, et al. Bi-directional modulation of somatosensory mismatch negativity with transcranial direct current stimulation: an event related potential study. J Physiol. (2014) 592:745–57. doi: 10.1113/jphysiol.2013.260331
- 103. Chen JC, Hammerer D, Strigaro G, Liou LM, Tsai CH, Rothwell JC, et al. Domain-specific suppression of auditory mismatch negativity with transcranial direct current stimulation. *Clin Neurophysiol.* (2014) 125:585–92. doi: 10.1016/j.clinph.2013.08.007
- Friston KJ, Harrison L, Penny W. Dynamic causal modelling. *Neuroimage*. (2003) 19:1273–302. doi: 10.1016/S1053-8119(03)00202-7
- 105. Kantrowitz JT, Epstein ML, Lee M, Lehrfeld N, Nolan KA, Shope C, et al. Improvement in mismatch negativity generation during d-serine treatment in schizophrenia: correlation with symptoms. *Schizophr Res.* (2018) 191:70–9. doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2017.02.027
- Light GA, Naatanen R. Mismatch negativity is a breakthrough biomarker for understanding and treating psychotic disorders. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (2013) 110:15175–6. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1313287110
- 107. Lin CH, Lane HY, Tsai GE. Glutamate signaling in the pathophysiology and therapy of schizophrenia. *Pharmacol Biochem Behav*. (2012) 100:665–77. doi: 10.1016/j.pbb.2011.03.023
- 108. Tsai G, Lane HY, Yang P, Chong MY, Lange N. Glycine transporter I inhibitor, N-methylglycine (sarcosine), added to antipsychotics for the treatment of schizophrenia. *Biol Psychiatry*. (2004) 55:452–6. doi: 10.1016/j.biopsych.2003.09.012
- Harrison PJ. D-amino acid oxidase inhibition: a new glutamate twist for clozapine augmentation in schizophrenia? *Biol Psychiatry*. (2018) 84:396–8. doi: 10.1016/j.biopsych.2018.06.001
- 110. Bleuler E. Dementia praecox or the group of schizophrenias. Vertex. (2010) 21:394–400.
- 111. Woods SW, Miller TJ, McGlashan TH. The "prodromal" patient: both symptomatic and at-risk. CNS Spectr. (2001) 6:223–32. doi: 10.1017/S1092852900008609
- 112. Yung AR, Phillips LJ, Yuen HP, Francey SM, McFarlane CA, Hallgren M, et al. Psychosis prediction: 12-month follow up of a high-risk ("prodromal") group. Schizophr Res. (2003) 60:21–32. doi: 10.1016/S0920-9964(02)00167-6
- 113. Miller TJ, McGlashan TH, Rosen JL, Somjee L, Markovich PJ, Stein K, et al. Prospective diagnosis of the initial prodrome for schizophrenia based on the Structured Interview for Prodromal Syndromes: preliminary evidence

of interrater reliability and predictive validity. Am J Psychiatry. (2002) 159:863–5. doi: 10.1176/appi.ajp.159.5.863

- 114. Miller TJ, McGlashan TH, Woods SW, Stein K, Driesen N, Corcoran CM, et al. Symptom assessment in schizophrenic prodromal states. The Psychiatric quarterly. Win. (1999) 70:273–87.
- 115. McGorry PD, Yung AR, Phillips LJ, Yuen HP, Francey S, Cosgrave EM, et al. Randomized controlled trial of interventions designed to reduce the risk of progression to first-episode psychosis in a clinical sample with subthreshold symptoms. *Arch Gen Psychiatry*. (2002) 59:921–8. doi: 10.1001/archpsyc.59.10.921
- 116. Phillips LJ, McGorry PD, Yung AR, McGlashan TH, Cornblatt B, Klosterkotter J. Prepsychotic phase of schizophrenia and related disorders: recent progress and future opportunities. *Br J Psychiatry Suppl.* (2005) 48:s33–44. doi: 10.1192/bjp.187.48.s33
- 117. Addington J, Heinssen R. Prediction and prevention of psychosis in youth at clinical high risk. Annu Rev Clin Psychol. (2012) 8:269–89. doi: 10.1146/annurev-clinpsy-032511-143146
- 118. Demjaha A, Valmaggia L, Stahl D, Byrne M, McGuire P. Disorganization/cognitive and negative symptom dimensions in the at-risk mental state predict subsequent transition to psychosis. *Schizophr Bull.* (2012) 38:351–9. doi: 10.1093/schbul/sbq088
- Gur RE, Gur RC. Functional magnetic resonance imaging in schizophrenia. Dialog Clin Neurosci. (2010) 12:333–43.
- 120. Sullivan HS. The onset of schizophrenia (1927). Am J Psychiatry (1994) 151:134–9. doi: 10.1176/ajp.151.6.134
- 121. Falloon IR. Early intervention for first episodes of schizophrenia: a preliminary exploration. *Psychiatry*. (1992) 55:4–15. doi: 10.1080/00332747.1992.11024572
- McGorry PD, Warner R. Consensus on early intervention in schizophrenia. Schizophr Bull. (2002) 28:543–4. doi: 10.1093/oxfordjournals.schbul.a006962
- 123. Woods SW, Breier A, Zipursky RB, Perkins DO, Addington J, Miller TJ, et al. Randomized trial of olanzapine vs. placebo in the symptomatic acute treatment of the schizophrenic prodrome. *Biol Psychiatry*. (2003) 54:453–64. doi: 10.1016/S0006-3223(03)00321-4
- 124. Kantrowitz JT, Woods SW, Petkova E, Cornblatt B, Corcoran CM, Chen H, et al. D-serine for the treatment of negative symptoms in individuals at clinical high risk of schizophrenia: a pilot, double-blind, placebocontrolled, randomised parallel group mechanistic proof-of-concept trial. *Lancet Psychiatry.* (2015) 2:403–12. doi: 10.1016/S2215-0366(15)00098-X
- 125. Matsuura A, Ishima T, Fujita Y, Iwayama Y, Hasegawa S, Kawahara-Miki R, et al. Dietary glucoraphanin prevents the onset of psychosis in the adult offspring after maternal immune activation. *Sci Rep.* (2018) 8:2158 doi: 10.1038/s41598-018-20538-3

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2019 Lin and Lane. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Auditory Event-Related Potentials in Antipsychotic-Free Subjects With Ultra-High-Risk State and First-Episode Psychosis

Ming H. Hsieh^{1,2,3}, Yi-Ting Lin^{1,2}, Yi-Ling Chien^{1,2}, Tzung-Jeng Hwang^{1,2,3}, Hai-Gwo Hwu^{1,2,3}, Chih-Min Liu^{1,2,3}* and Chen-Chung Liu^{1,2*}

¹ Department of Psychiatry, National Taiwan University Hospital and College of Medicine, Taipei, Taiwan, ² Department of Psychiatry, College of Medicine, National Taiwan University, Taipei, Taiwan, ³ Graduate Institute of Brain and Mind Sciences, College of Medicine, National Taiwan University, Taipei, Taiwan

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Yen Kuang Yang, National Cheng Kung University Hospital, Taiwan

Reviewed by:

Kao Chin Chen, National Cheng Kung University, Taiwan Michael Kiang, Centre for Addiction and Mental Health (CAMH), Canada

*Correspondence:

Chih-Min Liu cmliu1968@ntu.edu.tw Chen-Chung Liu chchliu@ntu.edu.tw

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Schizophrenia, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychiatry

Received: 14 December 2018 Accepted: 26 March 2019 Published: 15 April 2019

Citation:

Hsieh MH, Lin Y-T, Chien Y-L, Hwang T-J, Hwu H-G, Liu C-M and Liu C-C (2019) Auditory Event-Related Potentials in Antipsychotic-Free Subjects With Ultra-High Risk State and First-Episode Psychosis. Front. Psychiatry 10:223. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2019.00223 **Background:** Auditory event-related potentials (ERPs) have been utilized to study defective information processing of patients with schizophrenia. To delineate the pathophysiological processes from pre-psychotic state to first-episode psychosis, a study on subjects from ultra-high-risk (UHR) state to first-episode psychosis, ideally in an antipsychotic-free condition, can add important information to our understanding.

Methods: Patients with UHR state or at their first-episode psychosis (FEP) who were drug-naive or only have been temporarily treated with antipsychotics were assessed by auditory ERPs measurement, including P50/N100 (sensory gating) and duration mismatch negativity (MMN; deviance detection). A group of age-matched healthy subjects served as their controls.

Results: A total of 42 patients (23 UHR and 19 FEP) and 120 control subjects were recruited, including 21 pure drug-naive and 21 with very short exposure to antipsychotics. Collapsing FEP and UHR as a patient group, they exhibited significant sensory deficits manifested as larger P50 S2 amplitude, larger N100 ratio, and smaller N100 difference, and significantly less deviance detection response revealed by MMN. Such differences were less significant when treating FEP and UHR separately for comparisons. Comparisons of ERP results between drug-naive subjects and antipsychotic-short-exposure subjects revealed no significant difference in any P50/N100 and MMN parameter.

Conclusion: Our study is one of the few studies focused on drug-naive or minimally treated patients at pre- or early-psychotic states. Our results exhibited impaired performance in sensory gating and deviance detection shown by certain parameters. A longitudinal study with larger sample sizes will be helpful to provide more evidence to elucidate the role of antipsychotics on an individual's neurophysiological performance at different stages of psychosis.

Keywords: event-related potentials, first-episode psychosis, mismatch negativity, N100, P50, schizophrenia, ultra-high risk

INTRODUCTION

Neuroscience tools have been widely employed in schizophrenia research in recent decades (1-3). Neurobiological impairments precede the onset of a full clinical syndrome. Therefore, we can delineate psychopathological progresses by careful assessment throughout the pre-psychotic and early-psychotic states (4). Among the various neuroimaging methods, auditory eventrelated potentials (ERPs) have been utilized to study normal versus defective information processing of neuropsychiatric disorders, such as schizophrenia (1, 3, 5). Successful processing of sensory inputs requires two kinds of ability: sensory gating, the ability to inhibit intrinsic responses to redundant stimuli, and deviance detection, the ability to facilitate responses to less frequent salient stimuli (6). Using ERP components as measuring instruments, P50/N100 suppression represents the extent of inhibitory failure (impaired sensory gating), while MMN (mismatch negativity) indicates the magnitude of impaired deviance detection. Both processes are thought to be "pre-attentive" (passive, not demanding on subject's active attention) and have been found to be impaired in patients with schizophrenia (3, 5, 7). Evidence suggests that auditory P50, N100, and MMN could be candidate endophenotypes of schizophrenia with intermediate relationship to susceptible genes of schizophrenia (3, 6, 8), serve as potential biomarkers to specify the progress of illness (9-12), and even help to predict if a subject would convert to full-blown psychosis (13).

As most neurobiological studies of schizophrenia were conducted in chronic patients, the possible negative impact brought by long duration of illness and long-term use of antipsychotics on brain neurochemistry and possibly on brain morphology (14) could be confounders and make it difficult to interpret those neurobiological findings (15-17). Similarly, even though P50 suppression and MMN has been regarded as endophenotypes for schizophrenia (6, 18, 19), the findings of duration MMN deficits were absent in a few studies focused on subjects at their first-episode psychosis (FEP) (7, 20-23), as well as there are studies that failed to reveal P50/N100 sensory gating deficits in this population (24, 25). However, in the studies including first-episode psychosis, whether patients were drug-free, continuing antipsychotics, or temporarily holding off antipsychotics was not all well controlled during assessment of ERPs. Ignoring such a difference in medication status may lead to confusing results (26), while administration of antipsychotics have been shown to influence ERP results, although the direction and extent of impact were diverse in different antipsychotics (27-32).

To circumvent the impact of long duration of illness and use of antipsychotics, examining subjects with drug naivety is an ideal approach. In schizophrenia research, attention has been directed towards the early state or even "pre-psychotic" state of full-blown psychosis. A lot of studies have been focused on this critical period, not only for identifying factors predicting conversion to psychosis or how to modify the trajectories of psychosis (33), but also for disentangling the complex pathogenesis of schizophrenia-related psychosis (34). The ultra-high risk (UHR), also known as late prodrome, model depicting a group of subjects who had subthreshold psychotic symptoms yet not developed full-blown psychosis (35), has been transformed into an attenuated psychosis syndrome in the *Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders (DSM-5)*, Section III, as a category in need of more investigations (36). Furthermore, theoretically, Keshavan et al. pushed the model back to the beginning in the course of psychosis and named an early prodromal state with nonspecific symptoms and/or basic symptoms as the "early/broadly defined at-risk mental states" (E-BARS) (37) to capture all possible features that happened during the formation of psychosis.

Our research team has started a prospective study on the psychopathological progress of the pre-psychotic state (the SOPRES study) in 2006 (38). We have recruited subjects at a gradient of clinical severities spanning from the E-BARS to UHR and FEP, together with a group of normal controls. Our ERP results of this cohort revealed a gradient of P50/N100 sensory-gating deficits across different levels of clinical severity (likely a state marker), while impaired deviance detection exhibited by duration MMNs was already detectable in people at pre-psychotic states and not much different from that in FEP (likely a trait marker) (39). But like most previous studies, the SOPRES did not control a patient's medication status. In 2008, we initiated an open-label drug trial on UHR and first-episode psychosis, focused on those who were drug-naive or have only received a short period of antipsychotic treatment (40). The baseline assessment of this sample allows us to examine to what extent the auditory ERP components (P50/ MMN/N100) will be different between subjects with UHR state and patients at first-episode psychosis, spared from the influence of antipsychotics, and compared to a large group of healthy controls.

METHODS

Subjects

This study was approved by the Institutional Review Board of the National Taiwan University Hospital. Written informed consent was received from all participants, including written assent given by minors with informed consent from their parents. Subjects were those who participated in a 4-week open-label clinical trial using flexible dose of aripiprazole on patients with UHR state or at their first-episode psychosis between July 2008 and June 2016. Details of the clinical trial procedures have been addressed in our previous publication (40), and the definition of clinical cases is briefed below. The controls were recruited by responding to ads of various studies conducted by our schizophrenia research team with the prerequisite of having no lifetime or current psychiatric diagnosis or family history of psychotic disorders. Those who had a psychotic episode for more than 1 year, a mood episode, current use of psychoactive substance, a history of central nervous system illness or traumatic brain injury, an IQ below 70, and pregnancy were excluded from recruitment.

Definition of Clinical Cases

The FEP subjects were those who developed full-blown psychosis that met the *Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders, Fourth Edition (DSM-IV)* criteria for schizophrenia or schizophreniform disorder within the recent 1 year. The UHR subjects presented subthreshold psychotic symptoms meeting the

comprehensive assessment of at-risk mental status criteria (41) either with attenuated psychotic symptoms or with brief limited intermittent psychotic symptoms. Subjects have never received antipsychotic treatment before were designated as the "drug-naive" group. Subjects reported to have received a known antipsychotic or psychotropic agent that exerted an effect or adverse event very likely to be associated with antipsychotics for a total of less than 3 months were designated as the "antipsychotic-short-exposure" group.

The antipsychotic-short-exposure group was asked to remain antipsychotic-free for at least 1 week before baseline assessments. Patient's clinical severity was assessed by a Mandarin version of the Positive and Negative Syndrome Scale (PANSS) for schizophrenia and received ERP studies at baseline and 4 weeks after completing treatment with aripiprazole. In this paper, we focused on their baseline ERP results that were not affected by antipsychotic treatment.

Testing Environment

Before ERP recording, audiometry testing was used to exclude subjects who could not detect 40-dB sound pressure level tones at 500, 1,000, and 6,000 Hz presented to either ear. The standard procedures for auditory P50/N100 and MMN paradigm were based on established protocols (42-45). The participants had not smoked for at least 1 h before sessions (46) and were asked to lie down in supine position in a comfortable recliner in a soundattenuating, electrically shielded booth and instructed to relax with his/her eyes open and to focus on a fixation point (P50 and N100 session) or a cartoon running with no sound on the video monitor (MMN session). There were no tasks performed during the test. During the testing, electroencephalography and stimuli would be recorded continuously, and subjects were closely observed through a video monitor. They would be monitored visually and by electroencephalography (EEG) for signs of sleep or slow wave activity, which, if present, prompted the experimenter to speak briefly with the subject.

The EEG signals were recorded with a Quik-Cap (Compumedics Neuroscan, El Paso, TX, USA) from 32 scalp locations. According to the Quik-Cap website, all electrodes were placed according to the International 10–20 electrode placement standard. Electrodes placed at the tip of the nose and at Fpz served as the reference and ground, respectively. Four additional electrodes were located above and below the left eye and at the outer canthi of both eyes to monitor blinks and eye movements. All electrode impedances were kept below 5 k Ω prior to recording.

Stimuli Session and ERP Recording

The auditory stimuli were generated by a Neuroscan STIM system, and data were recorded on a Neuroscan ACQUIRE system (Compumedics Neuroscan, El Paso, TX, USA). Stimuli were digitized at a rate of 1 kHz, and an online band-pass filter at 0.5–100 Hz, without 60-Hz notch filter, was applied. Auditory stimuli were presented to the subjects binaurally *via* foam insert earphones in two consecutive sessions, i.e., the session of paired-click paradigm for P50/N100 followed by the duration MMN session.

Online averaging was used to monitor the number of trials free from gross artifacts (defined as activities exceeding $\pm 100 \ \mu V$ in the -100 to 500 ms time window following stimuli). Regarding the paired-click P50/N100 paradigm, paired auditory clicks (1 ms, 85 dB) were presented every 8-12 s through the whole test session (average: 10 s), with a 500-ms interstimulus interval (47, 48). The paired-click P50/N100 session was terminated when a minimum of 120 artifact-free trials had been obtained, which took about 30 min. For the duration MMN paradigm, pure tone stimuli (1 kHz, 85-dB SPL, 5-ms rise/fall) were generated by the Neuroscan STIM system. The auditory stimuli consisted of standard stimuli (90%, 50-ms duration) and deviant stimuli (10%, 100-ms duration) delivered in a pseudo-random order with the constraint that deviant stimuli could not be repeated back to back. The cartoon soundtrack was turned off and replaced by the experimental auditory stimuli that were presented at a fixed 500-ms onset-to-onset asynchrony. The MMN session was continued until a minimum of 225 artifact-free deviant trials had been collected online, which took approximately 30 min.

Offline Data Processing

Details regarding offline signal analysis, using Neuroscan Edit 4.5 software (Compumedics Neuroscan, El Paso, TX, USA), were followed as our previous publications (39, 44, 49). All data were processed by researchers who were blind to the subject's group (50). Semi-automated procedures using the Tool Command batch processing language (TCL) began with electrooculography (EOG) artifact reduction through a built-in pattern-recognition algorithm (51). For P50/N100, the data were epoched for the time window from -100 to 923 ms of the first click, covering both S1 and S2 in the same epoch. All epochs containing activities exceeding $\pm 50 \,\mu V$ were excluded. To prevent temporal aliasing, epochs were averaged and digitally band-pass-filtered (10 to 50 Hz for P50, 1 to 50 Hz for N100) in the frequency domain. Trials with artifacts were manually rejected. By using preset intervals, peaks and preceding troughs were then automatically detected at the Cz electrode. The P50 peak was defined as the largest positive deflection between 45- and 75-ms poststimulus, and its amplitude was assessed as the difference between this peak and the preceding negative trough (not earlier than 30-ms poststimulus). The N100 component was identified as the most negative deflection within 80- to 150-ms poststimulus, and N100 amplitude was defined as the absolute difference between the N100 peak and the preceding positive trough. P50 and N100 parameters included the S1 amplitude, S2 amplitude, amplitude difference (S1 - S2), and P50/N100 gating ratio (S2/S1). A maximum gating ratio of 2 was used to prevent outliers from disproportionately affecting the group means (39, 44, 52).

For duration MMN analysis, each subject's continuous data file to 500-ms poststimulus. EEG responses to standard and deviant stimuli were separately averaged to create a standard ERP and a deviant ERP, and both were low-pass filtered at 20 Hz (0-phase shift and 24-dB/octave roll-off) to remove any residual high-frequency artifacts. MMN waveforms were generated by subtracting the standard ERP from the deviant ERP. MMN indices were measured as the mean voltage from 135 to 205 ms of the Fz electrode (18, 39, 53–55).

Statistical Analysis

Statistical analyses were performed using SPSS v16.0 software (SPSS, Chicago, IL). For demographic characteristics and ERP parameters, the results are presented in means and standard deviations (\pm SD). Chi-square tests were used for categorical variables. Putting subjects with UHR state and first-episode psychosis together as a patient group, we compare control vs. patient group in demographics and ERP results. In addition, comparison between controls, UHR, and FEP groups with analysis of variance (ANOVA) was performed, and we also calculated comparison between control/drug-naive/ antipsychotic-short-exposure groups. All *post hoc* comparisons were made using the Scheffe test. Statistical significance was set at *p* < 0.05. Cohen's *d* effect size was calculated for all ERP parameters.

RESULTS

A total of 42 patients (19 FEP and 23 UHR) and 120 control subjects were recruited. Among them, 21 patients endorsed pure drug naivety (7 FEP and 14 UHR), and the other 21 patients (12 FEP and 9 UHR) have only been exposed to antipsychotics for no longer than 3 months. Indeed, the majority of these 21 short-exposure patients took antipsychotics at a low dose level no longer than 4 weeks and they could endure a washout period of 1 week prior to receiving ERP assessment with no apparent worsening of symptoms. Both paired-click P50/N100 paradigm and duration MMN paradigm took about 30 min in duration. Although all 42 patients had ERP recorded, 9 patients (3 UHR/6 FEP) could not

finish the P50/N100 paradigm, while 8 patients (5 UHR/3 FEP) could not tolerate duration MMN paradigm, yielding the numbers of subjects with data available for further analysis to be 33 and 34 for P50/N100 and MMN, respectively.

Demographic and Clinical Characteristics

In **Table 1**, UHR and FEP were treated collectively as a patient group to compare with the control group, while in **Table 2**, UHR and FEP were examined separately for any difference between these two groups. There were no statistical differences in age and gender when the patient group is compared to the control group, although the UHR group was significantly younger than the FEP group (23.64 ± 5.08 vs. 28.45 ± 8.33 , p = 0.022). The controls had 1.6 years more in education and reported much lower amount of smoking compared to the patient group, while there was no difference in these two variables between the UHR and FEP groups. In terms of clinical severity shown by PANSS scores, the UHR patients only exhibited lower scores in positive symptom subscales than the FEP patients (15.0 ± 2.9 vs. 19.4 ± 4.6 , p < 0.001), while their scores in negative symptoms and general symptoms subscales were comparable to each other.

Comparisons of Event-Related Potentials

Also presented in **Table 1**, the patient group had a smaller magnitude in MMN, a larger P50 S2 amplitude, a larger N100 amplitude ratio, and a smaller N100 difference compared to the control group. However, as detailed in **Table 2**, the patient

	Control	Patients	Statistics	Effect size (Cohen's d
	<i>n</i> = 120	n = 42		
Age	26.63 (5.09)	25.82 (7.08)	0.424	
Male gender (%) ^b	63 (52.5%)	21 (50%)	$\chi^2 = 0.08, p = 0.78$	
Education (years)	15.62 (1.88)	14.00 (2.51)	<0.001**	
Smoking PPD PANSS	0.03 (0.1)	0.15 (0.4)	0.035*	
Positive symptoms (P1 to P7)	_	17.0 (4.3)		
Negative symptoms (N1 to N7)	_	14.1 (5.9)		
General psychopathology (G1 to G16)	_	35.3 (8.6)		
MMN Fz	-1.36 (0.81)	-1.05 (0.78)	0.047*	0.39
² 50				
S1 amplitude	2.44 (1.06)	2.53 (1.4)	0.679	0.07
S2 amplitude	1.09 (0.64)	1.45 (0.84)	0.008**	0.48
P50 ratio	0.51 (0.34)	0.63 (0.38)	0.075	0.33
P50 difference	1.35 (1.07)	1.08 (1.39)	0.239	0.22
V100				
S1 amplitude	6.73 (3.27)	5.82 (2.95)	0.150	0.29
S2 amplitude	2 (1.31)	2.46 (1.3)	0.073	0.35
N100 ratio	0.36 (0.31)	0.51 (0.34)	0.017*	0.46
N100 difference	4.73 (3.35)	3.36 (2.62)	0.030*	0.46

UHR, ultra-high-risk group; FEP, first-episode psychosis group. ERP, event-related potential. MMN, mismatch negativity.

^aSome subjects failed to stay before the ERP session was terminated. The number of analyzable P50/N100 subjects was 20 UHR and 13 FEP. The number of analyzable MMN subjects was 18 UHR and 16 FEP.

^bChi-square tests.

*p < 0.05.

**p < 0.01.

group's smaller amplitude of MMN was not so evident when pairwise comparisons were made between UHR and controls as well as between FEP and controls. Similarly, when UHR and FEP were compared to the control group separately, no significant difference could be found in P50 parameters. The only significant differences remained in N100-related parameters: the FEP had a significant lower amplitude in N100 S1 amplitude compared to the controls, and the UHR had a higher N100 S2 amplitude than the controls, while the larger N100 amplitude ratio became insignificant in both groups, but the N100 difference remained significantly smaller in the FEP group but not in the UHR group. Comparisons between control subjects and patients in P50 ratios, N100 differences and MMN values are shown in **Figure 1**. The average MMN waveforms are demonstrated in **Figure 2**.

	Control	UHR	FEP	Statistics		
				Post hoc Scheffe p values	Effect size (Cohen's d	
	A (n = 120)	B (n = 23)	C (n = 19)			
Age	26.63 (5.09)	23.64 (5.08)	28.45 (8.33)	A vs. B: 0.064		
				A vs. C: 0.417		
				B vs. C: 0.022*		
Male gender (%) ^b	63 (52.5%)	14 (60.9%)	7 (36.8%)	$\chi^2 = 2.48, p = 0.29$		
Education (years)	15.62 (1.88)	13.74 (2.83)	14.32 (2.08)	A vs. B: 0.000**		
				A vs. C: 0.040*		
				B vs. C: 0.6655		
Smoking PPD	0.03 (0.1)	0.15 (0.4)	0.16 (0.4)	A vs. B: 0.044*		
				A vs. C: 0.057		
				B vs. C: 0.997		
PANSS						
Positive symptoms (P1 to P7)		15.0 (2.9)	19.4 (4.6)	B vs. C: 0.001**	1.14	
Negative symptoms (N1 to N7)		14.2 (5.5)	14.0 (6.5)	B vs. C: 0.923	0.03	
General symptoms (G1 to G16)		35.4 (8.4)	35.6 (9.1)	B vs. C: 0.923	0.02	
/MN Fz	-1.36 (0.81)	-0.99 (0.88)	-1.11 (0.68)	A vs. B: 0.195	0.44	
				A vs. C: 0.517	0.33	
				B vs. C: 0.905	0.15	
250	0.4444.00	0.00 (1.50)	0.07 (0.00)	A	0.07	
S1 amplitude	2.44 (1.06)	2.83 (1.59)	2.07 (0.89)	A vs. B: 0.366	0.07	
				A vs. C: 0.550	0.38	
	(B vs. C: 0.180	0.59	
S2 amplitude	1.09 (0.64)	1.48 (0.8)	1.41 (0.93)	A vs. B: 0.071	0.54	
				A vs. C: 0.280	0.4	
DEO II	0.51 (0.04)	0.50 (0.04)	0.71 (0.40)	B vs. C: 0.967	0.08	
P50 ratio	0.51 (0.34)	0.58 (0.34)	0.71 (0.42)	A vs. B: 0.706	0.21	
				A vs. C: 0.139	0.52	
			00 (1.05)	B vs. C: 0.563	0.34	
P50 difference	1.35 (1.07)	1.35 (1.53)	.66 (1.05)	A vs. B: 1	0	
				A vs. C: 0.125	0.65	
100				B vs. C: 0.242	0.52	
S1 amplitude	6.73 (3.27)	6.84 (2.92)	4.25 (2.3)	A vs. B: 0.991	0.04	
ST amplitude	0.73 (0.27)	0.04 (2.92)	4.20 (2.0)	A vs. D. 0.991 A vs. C: 0.030*	0.88	
				B vs. C: 0.030	0.88	
S2 amplitude	2 (1.31)	2.81 (1.1)	1.93 (1.43)	A vs. B: 0.037*	0.99	
Sz amplitude	2 (1.51)	2.01 (1.1)	1.95 (1.45)	A vs. C: 0.982	0.07	
				B vs. C: 0.164	0.69	
N100 ratio	0.36 (0.31)	0.48 (0.29)	0.55 (0.41)	A vs. B: 0.282	0.40	
Ni oo lallo	0.00 (0.01)	0.40 (0.28)	0.00 (0.41)	A vs. D. 0.202 A vs. C: 0.118	0.40	
				B vs. C: 0.824	0.32	
N100 difference	4.73 (3.35)	4.02 (2.48)	2.33 (2.58)	A vs. B: 0.657	0.20	
	4.70 (0.00)	7.02 (2.40)	2.00 (2.00)	A vs. D. 0.037 A vs. C: 0.038*	0.24	
				A va. 0. 0.000	0.00	

TABLE 2 | Demographics and ERP results of three groups (SD in parentheses).ª

UHR, ultra-high-risk group; FEP, first-episode psychosis group.

^aSome subjects failed to stay before the ERP session was terminated. The number of analyzable P50/N100 subjects was 20 UHR and 13 FEP. The number of analyzable MMN subjects was 18 UHR and 16 FEP.

^bChi-square tests.

*p < 0.05.

**p < 0.01.



FIGURE 1 P50 ratios (S2 amplitude/S1 amplitude) **(A)**, N100 differences (µV; S2 amplitude – S1 amplitude) **(B)**, and mismatch negativity (MMN) at electrode Fz **(C)** of individual participants between groups. The horizontal lines indicate the mean values within control vs. patient group, while the patient group consists of ultra-high-risk (UHR; oval) and first-episode psychosis (FEP; X) subjects. For P50 and N100, a larger ratio (S2/S1) and a smaller difference (S1 – S2) indicate poorer sensory gating. For MMN, a larger (less negative) value indicates poor deviance detection.

A head-to-head comparison of ERP results between the drugnaive subjects and the antipsychotic-short-exposure subjects is shown in **Table 3**. Apparently, there was no significant difference in any P50/N100 and MMN parameter between these two groups.

DISCUSSION

It is believed that clinical and cognitive deficits of psychosis may be due to dysfunction at the earlier stages of information processing (56). Bora and Murray's meta-analysis highlighted that cognitive deficits are already established before the prodromal phases of psychosis (57), compatible with our previous publication regarding neurocognitive performance in different stages of preand early-psychotic states (58). Such neurocognitive disturbance might represent different components of auditory modality in sensory processing dysfunctions in schizophrenia, and our neurophysiological paradigms measuring "pre-attentive, passive" auditory ERPs in UHR and first-episode psychosis subjects can add valuable information to this field (59).

Although many studies of MMN were conducted on subjects with UHR states, only few have also measured P50/N100 in the same study (60). Also, several studies have included patients with first-episode psychosis and examined them separately from chronic schizophrenia, and most publications reported



auditory pre-attentive (passive) ERPs after the patients had been treated with antipsychotics. For example, Koshiyama et al. investigated duration vs. frequency MMN in 14 FEP patients, 16 UHR individuals, and 16 healthy controls. They concluded that duration MMN is superior to frequency MMN as a trait marker in the early stages of psychosis, and a smaller duration MMN amplitude in early stages of psychosis may reflect altered developmental process rather than progressive brain pathology (61). However, most of their patients with either FEP or UHR have been treated with antipsychotic medication prior to the experiment, leaving a possible confounder in their interpretation of results.

As Haigh et al.'s meta-analysis of MMN in first-episode schizophrenia patients highlighted a need to conduct study on medication-naive individuals (26), our report is one of the few

studies focused on P50/N100/duration MMN in drug-naive or minimally treated FEP and UHR patients. Consistent with our previous report when drug naivety was not strictly defined in that study population, a linear trend of more deviance from controls across different levels of clinical severity was noticed in P50 ratios (S2/S1) and N100 differences, even though the differences in P50 and N100 between control and clinical groups were not statistically significant (39). Specific to study on sensory gating adopting P50/N100 paradigms, our findings are in line with Shaikh et al.'s 36 unmedicated patients who met attenuated psychosis syndrome (equivalent to our UHR) and have already exhibited P50 sensory gating deficits at this pre-psychotic state (62). Similarly, Brockhaus-Dumke et al. found impaired P50 suppression (S2/S1 ratio) in all clinical severities (at risk, true prodromal, first episode, and chronic

	Control (<i>n</i> = 120)	Drug-naive (n = 21)	Antipsychotic short	Statistics		
			exposure (<i>n</i> = 21)	Post hoc Scheffe p values	Effect size (Cohen's <i>d</i>)	
	А	В	С			
MMN Fz	-1.36 (0.81)	-1.08 (0.88)	-1.00 (0.67)	A vs. B: 0.396	0.34	
				A vs. C: 0.267	0.45	
				B vs. C: 0.967	0.10	
P50						
S1 amplitude	2.44 (1.06)	2.77 (1.77)	2.33 (1.00)	A vs. B: 0.572	0.29	
				A vs. C: 0.936	0.10	
				B vs. C: 0.551	0.31	
S2 amplitude ^b	1.09 (0.64)	1.32 (0.56)	1.56 (1.02)	A vs. B: 0.480	0.36	
				A vs. C: 0.027 ^b	0.67	
				B vs. C: 0.600	0.28	
P50 ratio	0.51 (0.34)	0.54 (0.24)	0.71 (0.45)	A vs. B: 0.942	0.09	
				A vs. C: 0.083	0.56	
				B vs. C: 0.402	0.46	
P50 difference	1.35 (1.07)	1.45 (1.51)	0.77 (1.23)	A vs. B: 0.947	0.09	
				A vs. C: 0.141	0.53	
				B vs. C: 0.239	0.50	
N100						
S1 amplitude	6.73 (3.27)	6.06 (3.01)	5.61 (2.96)	A vs. B: 0.751	0.21	
				A vs. C: 0.391	0.35	
				B vs. C: 0.923	0.15	
S2 amplitude	2 (1.31)	2.64 (0.92)	2.32 (1.56)	A vs. B: 0.209	0.50	
				A vs. C: 0.631	0.24	
				B vs. C: 0.783	0.24	
N100 ratio	0.36 (0.31)	0.50 (0.21)	0.52 (0.42)	A vs. B: 0.270	0.47	
				A vs. C: 0.149	0.49	
				B vs. C: 0.989	0.06	
N100 difference	4.73 (3.35)	3.43 (2.40)	3.30 (2.86)	A vs. B: 0.336	0.40	
				A vs. C: 0.214	0.43	
				B vs. C: 0.993	0.05	

TABLE 3 | ERP results of control/drug-naive/antipsychotic-short-exposure groups (SD in parentheses).ª

^aSome subjects failed to stay before the ERP session was terminated. The number of analyzable P50/N100 subjects was 15 for drug-naive and 18 for antipsychotic short exposure. The number of analyzable MMN subjects was 18 for drug-naive and 16 for antipsychotic short exposure.

Post hoc Scheffe test revealed significant differences between control and antipsychotic-short-exposure groups (p = 0.027).

schizophrenia), while impaired N100 suppression (S1 - S2 difference) was also seen in all clinical groups except in the at-risk subjects (63); the latter is exactly the same with our finding. Specific to studies on MMN, our results are similar to Mondragon-Maya et al.'s (23) and During et al.'s (64) MMN and P3a studies, which revealed no impaired deviance detection ability among antipsychotic naive first-episode psychosis patients and individuals at clinical high risk for psychosis and control subjects.

In addition to verifying previous studies, we took a closer look into our findings. When UHR and FEP were compared to normal controls separately, the directions of changes of ERP parameters are of great interest. Based on the sensory gating failure theory, the patients are expected to reveal smaller S1 and larger S2 in P50 signals. This pattern could only be seen in our FEP subjects but not the UHR patients, while the latter exhibited larger, but not smaller, S1, together with larger S2. Although none of these findings reached statistical significance, our findings derived from subjects not confounded by antipsychotic medication might give a hint to understand the dynamic changes of sensory gating in patients with schizophrenia during the progress of their illness. Also, even though no difference in MMN could be detected when UHR and FEP were compared to normal controls separately, collectively as a patient group, their MMN deviance detection ability is lower than that of normal controls, also a finding not confounded by antipsychotics.

Two major limitations of the current study are worth noting. The relatively small sample size of the UHR (n = 23) and FEP (n = 19) groups limits our statistical power to detect smaller differences between groups, such as dividing the pure drug-naive UHR and FEP from those who had short exposure to antipsychotics in either group, but we believe that the majority of our participants had limited impact by antipsychotic treatment, comprising a very valuable sample. Future studies recruiting a larger sample would be necessary to verify our findings. Second, none of our UHR patients converted to full-blown psychosis during a period of 4 weeks. We did not know how many of them would eventually develop psychosis after 1 or 2 years, while previous studies suggested that ERP performance of the converters were likely worse than that of the nonconverters (11, 13, 65).

In summary, our ERP results of antipsychotic-free subjects with UHR state and first-episode psychosis are

not much different from those studies that did not control antipsychotic medication status. Our drug-naive subjects showed no significant difference from their antipsychoticshort-exposure counterparts as well. If this is true, it will be convenient to use this modality to measure patient's sensory gating performance regardless of the impact of antipsychotics, at least at the pre- and early-psychotic states. Nonetheless, we will examine if there are differences in ERP performance between baseline and by the end of a 4-week exposure to antipsychotic treatment. A longer follow-up of prospective longitudinal study will be helpful to provide more evidence to elucidate the role of antipsychotic medication on an individual's neurophysiological performance at different stages of psychosis.

ETHICS STATEMENT

This study was carried out in accordance with the recommendations of the guidelines of National Taiwan University Hospital Research Ethics Committee with written informed consent from all subjects. All subjects gave written informed consent, including written assent given by minors with informed consent from their parents

REFERENCES

- Keshavan MS, Tandon R, Boutros NN, Nasrallah HA. Schizophrenia, "just the facts": what we know in 2008 Part 3: neurobiology. *Schizophr Res* (2008) 106(2–3):89–107. doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2008.07.020
- Blow N. Neuroscience tools: brain insights. Nat Methods (2008) 5(11):981–7. doi: 10.1038/nmeth1108-981
- Javitt DC, Spencer KM, Thaker GK, Winterer G, Hajos M. Neurophysiological biomarkers for drug development in schizophrenia. *Nat Rev Drug Discov* (2008) 7(1):68–83. doi: 10.1038/nrd2463
- Lieberman JA, Perkins D, Belger A, Chakos M, Jarskog F, Boteva K, et al. The early stages of schizophrenia: speculations on pathogenesis, pathophysiology, and therapeutic approaches. *Biol Psychiatry* (2001) 50(11):884–97. doi: 10.1016/S0006-3223(01)01303-8
- Rissling AJ, Light GA. Neurophysiological measures of sensory registration, stimulus discrimination, and selection in schizophrenia patients. *Curr Top Behav Neurosci* (2010) 4:283–309. doi: 10.1007/7854_2010_59
- Turetsky BI, Calkins ME, Light GA, Olincy A, Radant AD, Swerdlow NR. Neurophysiological endophenotypes of schizophrenia: the viability of selected candidate measures. *Schizophr Bull* (2007) 33(1):69–94. doi: 10.1093/schbul/ sbl060
- Umbricht DS, Bates JA, Lieberman JA, Kane JM, Javitt DC. Electrophysiological indices of automatic and controlled auditory information processing in first-episode, recent-onset and chronic schizophrenia. *Biol Psychiatry* (2006) 59(8):762–72. doi: 10.1016/j.biopsych. 2005.08.030
- Turetsky BI, Greenwood TA, Olincy A, Radant AD, Braff DL, Cadenhead KS, et al. Abnormal auditory N100 amplitude: a heritable endophenotype in first-degree relatives of schizophrenia probands. *Biol Psychiatry* (2008) 64(12):1051–9. doi: 10.1016/j.biopsych.2008.06.018
- Todd J, Michie PT, Schall U, Ward PB, Catts SV. Mismatch negativity (MMN) reduction in schizophrenia-impaired prediction—error generation, estimation or salience? *Int J Psychophysiol* (2012) 83(2):222–31. doi: 10.1016/j.ijpsycho.2011.10.003
- Perez VB, Woods SW, Roach BJ, Ford JM, McGlashan TH, Srihari VH, et al. Automatic auditory processing deficits in schizophrenia and clinical highrisk patients: forecasting psychosis risk with mismatch negativity. *Biol Psychiatry* (2014) 75(6):459–69. doi: 10.1016/j.biopsych.2013.07.038

in accordance with the Declaration of Helsinki. The protocol was approved by the Research Ethics Committee of National Taiwan University Hospital.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

MHH and C-ML reviewed literature and designed this study. MHH and Y-TL did the ERP study and data analysis. Y-LC performed the statistics. C-ML oversaw the clinical trial. C-CL, T-JH and H-GH handled the early psychosis studies. All authors have helped to recruit subjects and involved in clinical and diagnostic assessments. MHH wrote the first draft of the manuscript. C-CL finalized the writing and editing of the manuscript. All authors contributed to and have approved the final manuscript.

FUNDING

This work was supported by the Ministry of Science and Technology (Grant Number MOST 103-2314-B-002-020-MY2, 106-2314-B-002-236-, and 107-2314-B-002-012-) and the National Science Council, Taiwan (Grant Numbers NSC 95-2221-E-002-028 and NSC 98-2314-B- 002-047-MY3).

- Bodatsch M, Ruhrmann S, Wagner M, Muller R, Schultze-Lutter F, Frommann I, et al. Prediction of psychosis by mismatch negativity. *Biol Psychiatry* (2011) 69(10):959–66. doi: 10.1016/j.biopsych.2010.09.057
- Erickson MA, Ruffle A, Gold JM. A meta-analysis of mismatch negativity in schizophrenia: from clinical risk to disease specificity and progression. *Biol Psychiatry* (2016) 79(12):980–7. doi: 10.1016/j.biopsych.2015.08.025
- Bodatsch M, Brockhaus-Dumke A, Klosterkotter J, Ruhrmann S. Forecasting psychosis by event-related potentials-systematic review and specific meta-analysis. *Biol Psychiatry* (2015) 77(11):951–8. doi: 10.1016/j. biopsych.2014.09.025
- Breier A. Diagnostic classification of the psychoses: historical context and implications for neurobiology. In: Charney DS Nestler EJ, editors. *Neurobiology of mental illness*. New York: Oxford University Press (2004). p. 237–46.
- Mathalon DH, Ford JM, Rosenbloom M, Pfefferbaum A. P300 reduction and prolongation with illness duration in schizophrenia. *Biol Psychiatry* (2000) 47(5):413–27. doi: 10.1016/S0006-3223(99)00151-1
- Premkumar P, Fannon D, Kuipers E, Cooke MA, Simmons A, Kumari V. Association between a longer duration of illness, age and lower frontal lobe grey matter volume in schizophrenia. *Behav Brain Res* (2008) 193(1):132–9. doi: 10.1016/j.bbr.2008.05.012
- Tanskanen P, Ridler K, Murray GK, Haapea M, Veijola JM, Jaaskelainen E, et al. Morphometric brain abnormalities in schizophrenia in a populationbased sample: relationship to duration of illness. *Schizophr Bull* (2010) 36(4):766–77. doi: 10.1093/schbul/sbn141
- Earls HA, Curran T, Mittal V. A meta-analytic review of auditory eventrelated potential components as endophenotypes for schizophrenia: perspectives from first-degree relatives. *Schizophr Bull* (2016) 42(6):1504–16. doi: 10.1093/schbul/sbw047
- Hall MH, Rijsdijk F. Validating endophenotypes for schizophrenia using statistical modeling of twin data. *Clin EEG Neurosci* (2008) 39(2):78–81. doi: 10.1177/155005940803900211
- Magno E, Yeap S, Thakore JH, Garavan H, De Sanctis P, Foxe JJ. Are auditoryevoked frequency and duration mismatch negativity deficits endophenotypic for schizophrenia? High-density electrical mapping in clinically unaffected first-degree relatives and first-episode and chronic schizophrenia. *Biol Psychiatry* (2008) 64(5):385–91. doi: 10.1016/j.biopsych.2008.03.019

- Kaur M, Lagopoulos J, Lee RS, Ward PB, Naismith SL, Hickie IB, et al. Longitudinal associations between mismatch negativity and disability in early schizophrenia- and affective-spectrum disorders. *Prog Neuropsychopharmacol Biol Psychiatry* (2013) 46:161–9. doi: 10.1016/j. pnpbp.2013.07.002
- Salisbury DF, Polizzotto NR, Nestor PG, Haigh SM, Koehler J, McCarley RW. Pitch and duration mismatch negativity and premorbid intellect in the first hospitalized schizophrenia spectrum. *Schizophr Bull* (2017) 43(2):407–16. doi: 10.1093/schbul/sbw074
- Mondragon-Maya A, Solis-Vivanco R, Leon-Ortiz P, Rodriguez-Agudelo Y, Yanez-Tellez G, Bernal-Hernandez J, et al. Reduced P3a amplitudes in antipsychotic naive first-episode psychosis patients and individuals at clinical high-risk for psychosis. J Psychiatr Res (2013) 47(6):755–61. doi: 10.1016/j.jpsychires.2012.12.017
- 24. de Wilde OM, Bour LJ, Dingemans PM, Koelman JHTM, Linszen DH. Failure to find P50 suppression deficits in young first-episode patients with schizophrenia and clinically unaffected siblings. *Schizophr Bull* (2007) 33(6):1319–23. doi: 10.1093/schbul/sbm001
- Bachmann S, Weisbrod M, Röhrig M, Schröder J, Thomas C, Scherg M, et al. MEG does not reveal impaired sensory gating in first-episode schizophrenia. *Schizophr Res* (2010) 121(1):131–8. doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2010.03.007
- Haigh SM, Coffman BA, Salisbury DF. Mismatch negativity in first-episode schizophrenia: a meta-analysis. *Clin EEG Neurosci* (2017) 48(1):3–10. doi: 10.1177/1550059416645980
- Becker J, Gomes I, Ghisolfi ES, Schuch A, Ramos FL, Ehlers JA, et al. Clozapine, but not typical antipsychotics, correct P50 suppression deficit in patients with schizophrenia. *Clin Neurophysiol* (2004) 115(2):396–401. doi: 10.1016/j.clinph.2003.09.018
- Umbricht D, Javitt D, Novak G, Bates J, Pollack S, Lieberman J, et al. Effects of clozapine on auditory event-related potentials in schizophrenia. *Biol Psychiatry* (1998) 44(8):716–25. doi: 10.1016/S0006-3223(97)00524-6
- Korostenskaja M, Dapsys K, Siurkute A, Maciulis V, Ruksenas O, Kahkonen S. Effects of olanzapine on auditory P300 and mismatch negativity (MMN) in schizophrenia spectrum disorders. *Prog Neuropsychopharmacol Biol Psychiatry* (2005) 29(4):543–8. doi: 10.1016/j.pnpbp.2005.01.019
- Light GA, Geyer MA, Clementz BA, Cadenhead KS, Braff DL. Normal P50 suppression in schizophrenia patients treated with atypical antipsychotic medications. *Am J Psychiatry* (2000) 157(5):767–71. doi: 10.1176/appi.ajp.157.5.767
- Adler LE, Olincy A, Cawthra EM, McRae KA, Harris JG, Nagamoto HT, et al. Varied effects of atypical neuroleptics on P50 auditory gating in schizophrenia patients. *Am J Psychiatry* (2004) 161(10):1822–8. doi: 10.1176/ appi.ajp.161.10.1822
- Umbricht D, Javitt D, Novak G, Bates J, Pollack S, Lieberman J, et al. Effects of risperidone on auditory event-related potentials in schizophrenia. *Int J Neuropsychopharmacol* (1999) 2(4):299–304. doi: 10.1017/ S1461145799001595
- Fusar-Poli P, Bonoldi I, Yung AR, Borgwardt S, Kempton MJ, Valmaggia L, et al. Predicting psychosis: meta-analysis of transition outcomes in individuals at high clinical risk. Arch Gen Psychiatry (2012) 69(3):220–9. doi: 10.1001/ archgenpsychiatry.2011.1472
- Fusar-Poli P, Borgwardt S, Bechdolf A, Addington J, Riecher-Rossler A, Schultze-Lutter F, et al. The psychosis high-risk state: a comprehensive state-of-the-art review. *JAMA Psychiatry* (2013) 70(1):107–20. doi: 10.1001/ jamapsychiatry.2013.269
- McGorry PD, Yung AR, Phillips LJ. The "close-in" or ultra high-risk model: a safe and effective strategy for research and clinical intervention in prepsychotic mental disorder. *Schizophr Bull* (2003) 29(4):771–90. doi: 10.1093/oxfordjournals.schbul.a007046
- Tsuang MT, Van Os J, Tandon R, Barch DM, Bustillo J, Gaebel W, et al. Attenuated psychosis syndrome in DSM-5. *Schizophr Res* (2013) 150(1):31– 5. doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2013.05.004
- Keshavan MS, Delisi LE, Seidman LJ. Early and broadly defined psychosis risk mental states. *Schizophr Res* (2011) 126(1–3):1–10. doi: 10.1016/j. schres.2010.10.006
- Liu CC, Lai MC, Liu CM, Chiu YN, Hsieh MH, Hwang TJ, et al. Follow-up of subjects with suspected pre-psychotic state in Taiwan. *Schizophr Res* (2011) 126(1–3):65–70. doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2010.10.028

- Hsieh MH, Shan JC, Huang WL, Cheng WC, Chiu MJ, Jaw FS, et al. Auditory event-related potential of subjects with suspected pre-psychotic state and first-episode psychosis. *Schizophr Res* (2012) 140:243–49. doi: 10.1016/j. schres.2012.06.021
- 40. Liu CC, Chien YL, Hsieh MH, Hwang TJ, Hwu HG, Liu CM. Aripiprazole for drug-naive or antipsychotic-short-exposure subjects with ultra-high risk state and first-episode psychosis: an open-label study. J Clin Psychopharmacol (2013) 33(1):18–23. doi: 10.1097/JCP. 0b013e31827cb017
- McGorry PD, Yung AR, Phillips LJ. The "close-in" or ultra high-risk model: a safe and effective strategy for research and clinical intervention in prepsychotic mental disorder. *Schizophr Bull* (2003) 29(4):771–90. doi: 10.1093/oxfordjournals.schbul.a007046
- 42. Lijffijt M, Moeller FG, Boutros NN, Burroughs S, Lane SD, Steinberg JL, et al. The role of age, gender, education, and intelligence in P50, N100, and P200 auditory sensory gating. *J Psychophysiol* (2009) 23(2):52–62. doi: 10.1027/0269-8803.23.2.52
- 43. Duncan CC, Barry RJ, Connolly JF, Fischer C, Michie PT, Naatanen R, et al. Event-related potentials in clinical research: guidelines for eliciting, recording, and quantifying mismatch negativity, P300, and N400. *Clin Neurophysiol* (2009) 120(11):1883–908. doi: 10.1016/j. clinph.2009.07.045
- Shan JC, Hsieh MH, Liu CM, Chiu MJ, Jaw FS, Hwu HG. More evidence to support the role of S2 in P50 studies. *Schizophr Res* (2010) 122(1-3):270–2. doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2010.05.026
- 45. Light GA, Williams LE, Minow F, Sprock J, Rissling A, Sharp R, et al. Electroencephalography (EEG) and event-related potentials (ERPs) with human participants. *Curr Protoc Neurosci* (2010); 52(1):6.25.1-24. doi: 10.1002/0471142301.ns0625s52
- Olincy A, Martin L. Diminished suppression of the P50 auditory evoked potential in bipolar disorder subjects with a history of psychosis. *Am J Psychiatry* (2005) 162:43–9. doi: 10.1176/appi.ajp.162.1.43
- Clementz BA, Geyer MA, Braff DL. Multiple site evaluation of P50 suppression among schizophrenia and normal comparison subjects. *Schizophr Res* (1998) 30(1):71–80. doi: 10.1016/S0920-9964(97)00122-9
- de Wilde OM, Bour LJ, Dingemans PM, Koelman JHTM, Linszen DH. A meta-analysis of P50 studies in patients with schizophrenia and relatives: differences in methodology between research groups. *Schizophr Res* (2007) 97(1–3):137–51. doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2007.04.028
- Shan JC, Liu CM, Chiu MJ, Liu CC, Chien YL, Hwang TJ, et al. A diagnostic model incorporating p50 sensory gating and neuropsychological tests for schizophrenia. *PLoS One* (2013) 8(2):e57197. doi: 10.1371/journal. pone.0057197
- Boutros NN. Lack of blinding in gating studies. Schizophr Res (2008) 103(1– 3):336. doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2008.02.017
- 51. Semlitsch HV, Anderer P, Schuster P, Presslich O. A solution for reliable and valid reduction of ocular artifacts, applied to the P300 ERP. *Psychophysiology* (1986) 23(6):695–703. doi: 10.1111/j.1469-8986.1986. tb00696.x
- Nagamoto HT, Adler LE, Waldo MC, Freedman R. Sensory gating in schizophrenics and normal controls: effects of changing stimulation interval. *Biol Psychiatry* (1989) 25:549-61. doi: 10.1016/ 0006-3223(89)90215-1
- 53. Light GA, Swerdlow NR, Thomas ML, Calkins ME, Green MF, Greenwood TA, et al. Validation of mismatch negativity and P3a for use in multi-site studies of schizophrenia: characterization of demographic, clinical, cognitive, and functional correlates in COGS-2. *Schizophr Res* (2015) 163(1–3):63–72. doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2014.09.042
- Kiang M, Braff DL, Sprock J, Light GA. The relationship between preattentive sensory processing deficits and age in schizophrenia patients. *Clin Neurophysiol* (2009) 120(11):1949–57. doi: 10.1016/j.clinph.2009.08.019
- Lin YT, Liu CM, Chiu MJ, Liu CC, Chien YL, Hwang TJ, et al. Differentiation of schizophrenia patients from healthy subjects by mismatch negativity and neuropsychological tests. *PLoS One* (2012) 7(4):e34454. doi: 10.1317/ journal.pone.0034454
- Horvath S, Mirnics K. Breaking the gene barrier in schizophrenia. Nat Med (2009) 15(5):488–90. doi: 10.1038/nm0509-488

- Bora E, Murray RM. Meta-analysis of cognitive deficits in ultra-high risk to psychosis and first-episode psychosis: do the cognitive deficits progress over, or after, the onset of psychosis? *Schizophr Bull* (2014) 40(4):744–55. doi: 10.1093/schbul/sbt085
- Liu CC, Hua MS, Hwang TJ, Chiu CY, Liu CM, Hsieh MH, et al. Neurocognitive functioning of subjects with putative pre-psychotic states and early psychosis. *Schizophr Res* (2015) 164(1–3):40–6. doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2015.03.006
- Braff DL, Light GA. Preattentional and attentional cognitive deficits as targets for treating schizophrenia. *Psychopharmacology (Berl)* (2004) 174(1):75–85. doi: 10.1007/s00213-004-1848-0
- Lepock JR, Mizrahi R, Korostil M, Bagby RM, Pang EW, Kiang M. Eventrelated potentials in the clinical high-risk (CHR) state for psychosis: a systematic review. *Clin EEG Neurosci* (2018) 49(4):215–25. doi: 10.1177/1550059418755212
- Koshiyama D, Kirihara K, Tada M, Nagai T, Koike S, Suga M, et al. Duration and frequency mismatch negativity shows no progressive reduction in early stages of psychosis. *Schizophr Res* (2017) 190:32–8. doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2017.03.015
- Shaikh M, Dutt A, Broome MR, Vozmediano AG, Ranlund S, Diez A, et al. Sensory gating deficits in the attenuated psychosis syndrome. *Schizophr Res* (2015) 161(2–3):277–82. doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2014.12.021
- 63. Brockhaus-Dumke A, Schultze-Lutter F, Mueller R, Tendolkar I, Bechdolf A, Pukrop R, et al. Sensory gating in schizophrenia: P50 and N100 gating in

antipsychotic-free subjects at risk, first-episode, and chronic patients. *Biol Psychiatry* (2008) 64(5):376–84. doi: 10.1016/j.biopsych.2008.02.006

- During S, Glenthoj BY, Oranje B. Effects of blocking D2/D3 receptors on mismatch negativity and P3a amplitude of initially antipsychotic naive, first episode schizophrenia patients. *Int J Neuropsychopharmacol* (2015) 19(3):pyv109. doi: 10.1093/ijnp/pyv109
- Shaikh M, Valmaggia L, Broome MR, Dutt A, Lappin J, Day F, et al. Reduced mismatch negativity predates the onset of psychosis. *Schizophr Res* (2012) 134(1):42–8. doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2011.09.022

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2019 Hsieh, Lin, Chien, Hwang, Hwu, Liu and Liu. This is an openaccess article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Emerging Temporal Lobe Dysfunction in People at Clinical High Risk for Psychosis

Paul Allen^{1,2,3*}, Holly Moore^{4,5}, Cheryl M. Corcoran², James Gilleen¹, Petya Kozhuharova¹, Avi Reichenberg² and Dolores Malaspina²

¹ Department of Psychology, University of Roehampton, London, United Kingdom, ² Department of Psychiatry, Icahn School of Medicine at Mount Sinai, New York, NY, United States, ³ Department of Psychosis Studies, Institute of Psychiatry, Psychology and Neuroscience, King's College London, London, United Kingdom, ⁴ Department of Psychiatry, College of Physicians and Surgeons, Columbia University, New York, NY, United States, ⁵ New York State Psychiatric Institute, University of Columbia, New York, NY, United States

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Young-Chul Chung, Chonbuk National University, South Korea

Reviewed by:

Tae Young Lee, Seoul National University College of Medicine, South Korea Je-Yeon Yun, Seoul National University Hospital, South Korea

*Correspondence:

Paul Allen paul.allen@roehampton.ac.uk

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Schizophrenia, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychiatry

Received: 14 February 2019 Accepted: 16 April 2019 Published: 13 May 2019

Citation:

Allen P, Moore H, Corcoran CM, Gilleen J, Kozhuharova P, Reichenberg A and Malaspina D (2019) Emerging Temporal Lobe Dysfunction in People at Clinical High Risk for Psychosis. Front. Psychiatry 10:298. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2019.00298 Clinical high-risk (CHR) individuals have been increasingly utilized to investigate the prodromal phases of psychosis and progression to illness. Research has identified medial and lateral temporal lobe abnormalities in CHR individuals. Dysfunction in the medial temporal lobe, particularly the hippocampus, is linked to dysregulation of glutamate and dopamine *via* a hippocampal–striatal–midbrain network that may lead to aberrant signaling of salience underpinning the *formation of delusions*. Similarly, lateral temporal dysfunction may be linked to the *disorganized speech and language impairments* observed in the CHR stage. Here, we summarize the significance of these neurobiological findings in terms of emergent psychotic symptoms and conversion to psychosis in CHR populations. We propose key questions for future work with the aim to identify the neural mechanisms that underlie the development of psychosis.

Keywords: schizophrenia, temporal lobe, clinical high risk, hippocampus, dopamine, glutamate

INTRODUCTION

Over the last few decades, early clinical interventions for people with psychosis have become more widespread, with an increasing clinical and research interest in identifying people presenting with early signs and symptoms of psychosis (1). Globally, a number of clinical services have been established that are aimed at preventative interventions. Such services identify people, usually young help-seeking individuals, experiencing prodromal symptoms characterized by attenuated psychotic symptoms (APS), including perceptual disturbances (subthreshold hallucinations) and overvalued ideas (subthreshold delusions), a brief psychotic episode, or exhibit a decline in social and occupational function coupled with familial risk (2). Individuals meeting one or more of these criteria are considered to be at a clinical high risk (CHR) for psychosis (2, 3), and around 20% will develop an onset of first-episode psychosis (FEP) within 1 to 2 years (with transition rates varying from 18% at 6-month follow-up to 36% after 3 years) (1). In addition to putative clinical benefits associated with early identification and intervention, research into early and prodromal phases of the illness may provide important information about the pathology of psychosis that is not confounded by long-term medication and/or illness chronicity. One approach is to longitudinally track neural changes using neuroimaging techniques such as magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) and positron emission tomography (PET). In 2002, Philips and colleagues (4) published the first neuroimaging study in a CHR population, reporting changes in hippocampal

volume relative to age-matched healthy controls. This deficit neatly echoes the findings from meta-analyses in schizophrenia patients showing that the structure with greatest volume reduction compared to healthy individuals across the brain is the hippocampus (as well as amygdala and parahippocampus) (5, 6). Since then, several MRI studies [e.g., Refs. (7-10)] along with several PET studies [e.g., Refs. (11-14)] in CHR cohorts have been published, reporting a range of findings relating to brain function and connectivity, anatomy, and chemistry. While neuroimaging studies report neuroanatomical and neurofunctional changes across a range of cortical, subcortical, and cerebellar areas, neurobiological changes in two temporal lobe regions seem to feature prominently in the neurobiological basis of psychosis and the CHR state, namely, the medial temporal lobe (MTL) [e.g., Refs. (8, 15-20)] and the lateral temporal cortices [e.g., Refs. (21-24)]. Moreover, preclinical models [see Refs. (9, 25)] propose that neurobiological changes in temporal lobe regions may occur early in the developmental trajectory of psychosis and have a particular role in the development of attenuated psychotic symptoms (APS).

Furthermore, guided by work in animal models of schizophrenia (25–27) and findings from neuroimaging studies in patients with established schizophrenia, nascent neuroimaging research in CHR populations has identified the importance of an MTL and subcortical network involving the *hippocampus, midbrain, and striatum* (8, 9). Meanwhile, a separate body of neuroimaging work in CHR cohorts, again informed to a large extent by research in patients with established schizophrenia, has identified functional and anatomical alterations in the lateral temporal cortex and broader networks involving the frontal and parietal lobes (24, 28).

Given the role that progressive neurobiological changes in medial and lateral temporal lobe regions appear to play in the development of psychosis, we review evidence supporting dysfunction in temporal lobe-centered networks in people at CHR for psychosis and discuss how putative dysfunction in these regions and networks relates to the emergence of APS. We also consider how dysfunction and progressive changes in these regions track with conversion from the APS observed in CHR to first-episode psychosis (FEP).

CLINICAL HIGH-RISK SYMPTOMS AND THE ONSET OF PSYCHOSIS

Prodromal symptoms are operationalized into criteria for a CHR state and are assessed using instruments such as the Comprehensive Assessment of At Risk Mental State (CAARMS) (29, 30) and the Structured Interview for Prodromal Symptoms/ Scale of Prodromal Symptoms (SIPS/SOPS) (31). The criteria apply to young help-seeking individuals and require one of the following presentations: i) attenuated psychotic symptoms (APS), i.e., subthreshold delusions, hallucinations, and thought and language disturbances for which insight is preserved, ii) threshold psychotic symptoms that are brief and self-limiting, and iii) a significant decrease in functioning in the context of schizotypal personality disorder (SPD) or genetic risk for schizophrenia (32). Additional prodromal criteria may include subjective disturbances of cognitive processing and the perception of the self and the world (33, 34) and nonpsychotic symptoms such as anxiety and depression (35). More than 90% of CHR individuals present with APS, in particular attenuated delusions of unusual thought content and suspiciousness (36). While APS are almost always present in CHR individuals at clinical presentation, factor analytical studies of the CAARMS assessment instrument report a "disorganized symptoms" dimension that includes disorganized speech and thought, which is the best predictor of later conversion to FEP (37, 38), a finding also identified using the SIPS/SOPS (39–42).

Taken together, these symptom studies in CHR cohorts might suggest a pattern in which attenuated delusional ideation characterizes nearly almost all CHR cases, while disturbance in thought and language is more characteristic of those CHR cases that later develop psychosis. Is there any neuroimaging evidence to support this view, and what are the implications of these symptom patterns for emerging brain network dysfunction in CHR cohorts?

MEDIAL TEMPORAL LOBE NETWORK

While a range of neurobiological changes are identified in people with schizophrenia, including enlarged ventricles and volumetric reductions in the frontal lobes, thalamus, amygdala, hippocampus, and lateral temporal cortex (5, 43, 44), two neurobiological findings appear to be particularly robust. First, there are neuroanatomical and physiological alterations in the hippocampus and medial temporal lobe (MTL) (45–48) and second, elevated dopamine function in the midbrain and striatum [see Ref. (49) for review].

Based on decades of neuroimaging work describing anatomical, functional, and physiological changes in the hippocampus and MTL [e.g., Refs. (8, 10, 15, 17, 50)], in recent years, a number of researchers have developed a pathophysiological model that characterizes the progression of schizophrenia from the premorbid through the prodromal stages to syndromal psychosis. This model posits dysregulation of glutamate neurotransmission occurring in the CA1 region of the hippocampus that elevates neuronal activity, reflected in metabolism and blood flow, and in doing so elicits the APS emerging in the prodromal stage of schizophrenia (8, 19). As glutamate-driven dysregulation of the CA1 region of the hippocampus persists, dysfunction expands to projection fields within and external to the hippocampus and frontal cortex, leading to onset of threshold psychosis. According to this heuristic, as the illness progresses, an atrophic process ensues in which the neuropil of hippocampal cells is reduced, compromising numbers of interneurons, and leading to the volumetric reduction in the MTL and other regions observed in patients with schizophrenia (8, 19).

In line with this model, there is evidence from a number of neuroimaging studies of reduced hippocampal gray matter in CHR cohorts. Cross-sectional studies comparing CHR subjects to healthy controls have reported reduced gray matter volume in the hippocampal and surrounding MTL (4, 21, 51, 52), altered hippocampal function during word recognition (16), and elevated resting hippocampal perfusion (18, 53). Furthermore, prospective and longitudinal studies that include CHR subgroups who develop psychosis subsequent to scanning show that hippocampal volume, function, and perfusion changes can predict conversion to psychosis in CHR cohorts (8, 10, 15, 50, 54). However, it must be noted that there are negative studies too; see meta-analysis by Ref. (55). Within the MTL, reductions in volume and altered function have been localized to the anterior part of the hippocampus/parahippocampal gyrus (15, 50). A study by Schobel and colleagues (8) found that resting regional cerebral blood volume (CBV), a measure of metabolism and neuronal activity, was increased in the CA1 region of the hippocampus at baseline in CHR subjects who later developed psychosis. Moreover, longitudinal follow-up in this CHR cohort showed that the onset of psychosis was associated with a progressive increase in resting CBV in the anterior hippocampal subiculum that tracked with gray matter volume reduction in the same MTL region (8, 56).

That CA1 CBV is elevated in CHR prior to psychosis onset, and hippocampal subiculum CBV is elevated after onset, points to the progressive nature of hippocampal deficits in CHR that are associated with psychosis-and also offers a locus of enquiry as to how these two separate hippocampal regions may additively or differentially contribute to psychosis development in CHR. It is noteworthy that the subiculum is the primary output structure of the hippocampus (57), and also that the nucleus accumbens/ ventral striatum receives its strongest excitatory input from the ventral subiculum-consistent with the central role of the ventral hippocampus in driving dopaminergic changes in the rodent model discussed below (25). The model proposed in the study by Schobel and colleagues (8) also posits that changes in hippocampal CBV during this pathophysiological process are driven by glutamate dysregulation. There is substantial evidence that glutamate is altered in schizophrenia and psychosis risk states (58-61). More recently, a prospective study by Bossong and colleagues (20) reports increased hippocampal glutamate levels in CHR subjects who later developed psychosis relative to CHR subjects who did not become psychotic. Additionally, ketamine, an N-methyl-D-aspartate (NMDA) receptor antagonist used as a model of schizophrenia, specifically raises CBV and glutamate levels in both CA1 and subiculum subregions of mouse hippocampus (8). By contrast, glutamate levels are generally reduced in medicated schizophrenia patients (62), together, suggesting that increased glutamate levels in the hippocampus may be more closely tied to the development and/or presence of symptoms rather than of a diagnosis of schizophrenia per se.

Given these findings, how might glutamate-driven dysregulation of hippocampal or MTL physiology relate to elevated striatal and midbrain dopamine? Experimental work in rodents illustrates how changes in these two neurotransmitter systems might be linked and contribute to the development of psychosis. Studies in rats show that lesions or local glutamate receptor modulation activation of the ventral hippocampus leads to changes in the activity of midbrain Dopamine (DA) neurons and striatal DA release [e.g., Refs. (63, 64)]. Subsequently, several rodent disease models developed with the aim of recapitulating schizophrenia-relevant developmental neuropathology have supported strong links between hippocampal pathology, altered basal hippocampal activity, and dysregulation of midbrain dopamine neurons. One of the earliest of these models showed that bilateral excitotoxic lesions of the ventral hippocampus on postnatal day 7 in the rat altered excitatory activity in the hippocampus and produced changes to striatal dopamine markers (65, 66). In another well-characterized model, the MAM E17 rat, perturbation of neurodevelopment by administration of methylazoxymethanol acetate (MAM) to pregnant rats on embryonic day (E) 17 was associated with a number of histological, neurophysiological, and cognitive/ behavioral deficits in the offspring that are analogous to those observed in some schizophrenia patients (25, 26). The most prominent histological abnormalities in the MAM E17 model appear in the hippocampus, including a reduction in the thickness and deficit in parvalbumin-expressing (PV+) gamma-Aminobutyric acid (GABA) ergic inhibitory interneurons. The MAM E17 model has highlighted the potential role of a hippocampal-midbrain-striatal circuit in the development of striatal dopamine dysregulation that, in turn, could drive the emergence of APS and psychosis. In this model, midbrain dopamine neuron activity and striatal dopamine levels are elevated (25, 26, 67), possibly as a consequence of aberrant hippocampal drive of ventral striatal projections (25, 26, 67) (see Figure 1). Indeed, inactivation of ventral hippocampus in MAM mice completely reversed the elevated dopamine activity (68). Of note, the elevation of ventral hippocampal activity raises not only tonic dopamine, but further, aberrant responsivity of the dopamine system phasically (68).

Complementary work in a genetic mouse model of a selective PV+ interneuron deficit in the hippocampus further supports a role for hippocampal dysregulation of striatal DA inputs (69). Deletion of the cyclin D2 gene during embryonic development leads to a reduction in PV+ interneurons destined for the hippocampus. As adults, these mice show a selective, partial (40–50%) reduction in hippocampal PV+ interneuron density and decreased hippocampal thickness. Application of gadodiamide-enhanced contrast MRI to this model showed increased resting CBV in the hippocampus, similar to the imaging phenotype observed in CHR cases that convert to psychosis within 2 years (8). Neurophysiological studies show that, in adulthood, cyclin D2 null mice show a deficit in inhibitory synaptic inputs onto hippocampal projection neurons, which is concurrent with excessive activity in midbrain/ventral tegmental area (VTA) dopamine neurons. Moving beyond descriptive and correlational studies, a seminal stem-cell transplant study in the cyclin D2 null mouse and MAM E18 rat established a causal link between hippocampal disinhibition and excess activity of midbrain dopamine neurons. Specifically, restoring/supplementing GABAergic interneuron numbers in the hippocampus in adulthood through transplantation of PV+ interneuron precursor cells from the embryonic medial ganglionic eminence in these models, reduces metabolic activity in the hippocampus (69) and normalizes both the spike activity of the midbrain DA neurons and behaviors mediated by striatal DA transmission (70).



Consistent with the above animal models of schizophrenia highlighting abnormal hippocampal disinhibition, Allen and colleagues (18) reported increased resting cerebral blood flow (rCBF) across hippocampal, striatal, and midbrain regions in a CHR cohort relative to healthy controls [using an magnetic resonance (MR) perfusion measure known as arterial spin labeling] (71), a finding largely replicated in a second independent CHR cohort (53). Further, longitudinal analysis showed that normalization of hippocampal rCBF tracked with clinical improvement of symptoms in the CHR cohort, while elevated hippocampal rCBF persisted in those who remained symptomatic or developed psychosis (18).

To summarize, guided by work in experimental animals, the available evidence in humans, although limited, points toward emerging network dysfunction in a hippocampal-striatalmidbrain network that is driven by glutamate dysregulation resulting in disrupted hippocampal physiology, function, and eventually reduced volume. Furthermore, increased hippocampal neural activity leads to dysregulation of striatalmidbrain dopamine signaling. How dysfunction in this network relates to APS and conversion to FEP is discussed in more detail later (section Discussion: Emerging Temporal Lobe Dysfunction in Clinical High-Risk Populations, Attenuated Symptoms, and Transition to Psychosis). Currently however, most clinical studies investigate only one neurobiological component of the preclinical models discussed above. Clearly, to test preclinical models more rigorously, there is a need for more multimodal neuroimaging work that can better integrate information about neurochemical, physiological, functional, and anatomical factors.

LATERAL TEMPORAL LOBE NETWORK

Disordered brain connectivity is thought to be a central pathophysiological feature of schizophrenia (72–75). The disconnection hypothesis of schizophrenia was initially motivated by neuroimaging studies showing abnormal patterns of functional connectivity between lateral temporal and frontal lobe regions (76–80). Lateral temporal and frontal lobe networks are important for a range of cognitive functions, particularly speech, thought, and language [see Ref. (81)]. The language network usually refers to the superior temporal gyrus (STG), middle temporal gyrus (MTG), the superior temporal sulcus (STS), the inferior frontal gyrus (IFG), frontal operculum, and adjacent regions in the inferior parietal lobe of both hemispheres, but with lateralization to the left hemisphere (82, 83) (see Figure 2).

Dysfunction in lateral temporal-centered networks in patients with schizophrenia is thought to underlie positive symptoms relating to language, thought, and speech such as auditory verbal hallucinations (10, 84–86) and thought disorder (87). To date, there are a limited number of studies suggesting altered function and connectivity in this network during prodromal stages of illness (22–24, 28). In a crosssectional study, Crossley et al. (22) studied participants with CHR for psychosis, FEP patients, and healthy controls using a working memory task. Effective connectivity between frontal and temporal lobe regions was explicitly examined. There were differences in effective connectivity between the STG and prefrontal regions across the three groups, with a negative coupling between these areas in controls, a positive coupling



in the FEP group, and intermediate effective connectivity parameters seen in the CHR group. In both the FEP and CHR groups, altered effective connectivity was accompanied by increased task-related STG activity. The authors concluded that a failure to deactivate the STG during tasks that engage the prefrontal cortex is already evident at psychosis onset and may reflect a disruption of frontal and lateral temporal connectivity in psychosis. These connectivity changes, albeit to a lesser extent, were also seen in the CHR stage (22). Also using a cross-sectional study design, Allen and colleagues (75) used the Hayling Sentence Completion Task (HSCT) to examine frontal and lateral temporal lobe connectivity in a CHR group. During the HSCT, the CHR group did not differ from healthy controls in terms of frontal or temporal activation. However, there was greater anterior cingulate cortex (ACC) activity in the CHR participants during incongruent HSCT trials. Effective connectivity analysis revealed intact task-dependent modulation of frontal to temporal effective connectivity in the CHR group, although endogenous connection strength between the ACC and the MTG was increased relative to healthy controls. The authors concluded that frontal and temporal functional integration in CHR states is intact, but may depend on increased engagement of the ACC, an effect not observed in healthy controls.

Using a prospective design, Sabb and colleagues (23) investigated language processing and underlying neural networks associated with discourse processing in a CHR group. CHR participants and healthy controls underwent Functional magnetic Resonance Imaging (fMRI) while performing a naturalistic discourse-processing paradigm. CHR participants were followed for 24 months post fMRI scanning to assess

symptom severity and social outcome. Relative to controls, CHR participants showed increased neural activity in a network of language-associated brain regions, including the medial prefrontal cortex bilaterally, left IFG and MTG, as well as the anterior cingulate cortex (ACC). Further, increased activity in the left IFG, STG, and caudate predicted subsequent transition to psychosis in CHR subjects. Within the CHR sample, severity of thought disorder at follow-up was positively correlated with signal change in the left IFG, superior frontal gyrus, and left MTG.

Colibazzi and colleagues (24) also use a prospective design with data-driven approaches to resting-state fMRI data to examine resting functional connectivity in a CHR group. Multivariate analyses revealed between-group differences in whole-brain connectivity patterns in bilateral temporal areas, mostly affecting functional connections to the thalamus. The study shows that the established functional connectivity abnormalities in temporal lobe areas, observed in schizophrenia patients, are also present in the CHR period, with aberrant connectivity of the temporal cortex predictive of transition to psychosis in this CHR cohort.

A more recent prospective study investigating broader network organizations in a CHR cohort identified abnormal connectivity (88) in a cerebello-thalamo-cortical circuit and abnormal modular connectome organization (28) in CHR cases that later converted to psychosis. While these studies did not specifically set out to examine lateral temporal lobe connectivity, Collin et al. (28) reported that the brain regions implicated in early-course schizophrenia, including the STG, were most abnormal in terms of connectivity. Together, these functional imaging studies provide evidence of altered lateral temporal lobe activity and connectivity in the prodromal phase of psychosis and that altered connectivity in temporal lobe areas predicts the later onset of FEP.

In addition to the functional studies discussed above, volumetric and diffusion tensor imaging (DTI) studies in CHR cohorts also report changes in frontal and temporal regions. In their cross-sectional analysis, Borgwardt and colleagues (21) report significant volumetric differences between CHR and healthy control groups in the left STG, as well as in the insula and cingulate gyrus. A prospective comparison of CHR participants based on their clinical outcomes at follow-up (approximately 2 years) revealed that those who later developed psychosis had less gray matter in the STG and frontal regions in the right insula and IFG than those who did not develop psychosis. These findings are in line with an earlier prospective volumetric study (50) that also reported that conversion to FEP in a CHR cohort was associated with reduced gray matter volume in lateral temporal and inferior frontal regions.

However, a later longitudinal volumetric study in a larger CHR cohort (89) reported that CHR subjects who developed psychosis demonstrated a greater rate of gray matter loss only in prefrontal cortex regions relative to CHR nonconverters and healthy subjects with no volumetric differences in temporal lobe regions. Diffusion tensor imaging (DTI) studies in CHR cohorts have also produced mixed results. A systematic review by Vijayakumar and colleagues (90) included 12 studies examining white matter connectivity changes in the CHR stage. The review reports that although the exact location of white matter abnormalities remains uncertain, altered white matter connections in frontal–lateral temporal and frontolimbic pathways, including the superior longitudinal and uncinate fasciculus, cingulum and corpus callosum, appear to be implicated in the CHR stage.

In summary, there is evidence for altered lateral temporal activity and/or connectivity and reduced volume in people with a CHR for psychosis. Despite the mixed and negative findings regarding lateral temporal (STG) connectivity [i.e., Refs. (22, 75)], a recent large CHR study has implicated altered connectivity in lateral temporal region, particularly in the CHR cases that later convert to psychosis (28). Volumetric studies in CHR cohorts, while robustly reporting reduced gray matter volume in frontal regions, suggest that reduced volume in lateral temporal lobe may also predict those CHR cases that convert to psychosis. Studies of structural white matter connectivity using DTI do report altered white matter in pathways connecting lateral temporal and frontal regions in the CHR stage. Taken together, the limited evidence to date suggests that changes in lateral temporal volume, function, and connectivity are present in the CHR stage and may also predict conversion to psychosis (see section Discussion: Emerging Temporal Lobe Dysfunction in Clinical High-Risk Populations, Attenuated Symptoms, and Transition to Psychosis). However, much more work is needed to confirm these findings and to understand how changes in lateral temporal lobe-centered networks relate to APS in CHR cohorts, particularly disorganized speech and language symptoms.

DISCUSSION: EMERGING TEMPORAL LOBE DYSFUNCTION IN CHR POPULATIONS, ATTENUATED SYMPTOMS, AND TRANSITION TO PSYCHOSIS

Taken together, neuroimaging studies in CHR cohorts suggest that structural and functional changes are seen in both medial and lateral temporal lobe regions *and* related cortical and subcortical networks. We will now consider how these neurobiological changes relate to APS and how dysfunction in these networks is associated with conversion to psychosis.

Are Different Attenuated Psychotic Symptoms Related to Dysfunction in Different Temporal Lobe Networks?

The studies discussed above point to emerging structural and functional alterations in medial and lateral temporal lobe networks in people at CHR for psychosis. So, are different (attenuated) psychotic symptoms in the CHR stage associated with dysfunction in different brain networks? One of the most influential neurobiological models of psychosis proposes that the inappropriate attribution of salience, to what would normally be irrelevant or neutral stimuli or experiences, underlies the formation of delusions (91). In support of this model, increased hippocampal activity is reported in CHR groups in response to neutral relative to emotional stimuli, suggesting impaired salience processing (92). Further, dopamine has a central role in mediating salience, and hyperdopaminergic states can lead to the aberrant assessment of salience (91, 93). To better understand the bio-behavioral significance of altered hippocampal neuronal activity in CHR cohorts, Modinos and colleagues (Modinos et al., 2019) used a novelty salience task in CHR participants and healthy controls. In CHR individuals, the hippocampal response to novel stimuli was significantly attenuated compared to that in the control group, possibly due to increased hippocampal activity at rest or in the control condition, consistent with previous findings of increased hippocampal rCBF (18, 45, 46). Modinos and colleagues also performed an effective connectivity analysis on these functional data and revealed that stimulus novelty (salience) modulated connections from the hippocampus to the ventral striatum significantly more in CHR participants than in controls, a finding seemingly consistent with the notion of increased hippocampal signaling/output to the striatum in psychosis (25). Conversely, stimulus novelty modulated connectivity from the midbrain (VTA) to the ventral striatum was significantly less in CHR participants than in HC, particularly in those CHR participants who subsequently developed psychosis at clinical follow-up. This pattern of activity and disconnectivity would be in line with the maximal tonic activation of dopamine neuron firing that is hypothesized to occur in psychosis, thought to obscure salience-driven increases in population activity of meso-striatal dopamine neurons (94) (see Figure 3A). A consequence of this might be the aberrant assignment of stimulus salience.



Previous neuroimaging studies of motivational and reward salience processing also suggest salience dysregulation and altered activation within a hippocampal-striatal-midbrain network in people at CHR for psychosis (95-97). Using a salience attribution task, Roiser and colleagues (97) found that CHR individuals were more likely to attribute motivational salience to irrelevant stimulus features and this bias was related to the severity of their delusion-like symptoms. Moreover, ventral striatal responses to irrelevant stimulus features were also correlated with delusion-like symptoms in CHR participants. Winton-Brown and colleagues (95) report that reward-induced modulation of connectivity from the ventral striatum/pallidum to the midbrain was greater in CHR participants than controls, and that in CHR participants, the strength of connectivity in this pathway is correlated with the severity of their abnormal beliefs. Collectively, these studies suggest that the behavioral consequence of emerging hippocampal-striatal-midbrain network dysregulation is aberrant salience processing that underlies delusional formation in the psychosis prodrome. Furthermore, these functional and connectivity findings in human CHR cohorts provide support for preclinical work positing that hippocampal hyperactivity (19, 26) results in perturbed striatal function (9, 25). This is important because taken together, these preclinical and human studies identify mechanisms and processes that lead to the development of psychotic symptoms, potentially identifying targets for intervention. Indeed, understanding the sequence of these pathological events, i.e., glutamatergic/GABAergic dysregulation, hippocampal hyperactivity, striatal dopamine dysregulation, that lead to aberrant salience and delusional formation, is crucial in the development and refinement of new treatments.

Disorganization in thought and language (37-42) is also observed in CHR individuals, and form part of the APS operational criterion for the assignment of a CHR state. Decades of neuroimaging research in people with schizophrenia have largely linked these symptoms to dysfunction, not in a hippocampal-striatal-midbrain network, but instead to altered function in lateral temporal regions and connectivity in lateral temporal, frontal, and parietal networks (Figure 3B). While there has been less research in CHR cohorts aimed at studying lateral temporal networks (23-28), their dysfunction, and relationship to symptoms, there are a large number of neuroimaging studies in established schizophrenia patients reporting that lateral temporal dysfunction and disconnectivity are associated with disorganized speech and language [see Ref. (87) for review] and auditory verbal hallucinations (10, 84, 85). It is tempting to speculate that these symptoms, ostensibly based around language and sensory dysfunction, have a different neurobiological basis than those relating to aberrant salience. Given that disorganized symptoms appear to predict conversion to FEP in CHR cohorts [e.g., Ref. (37)], from a biomarker perspective, it could be argued that dysfunction in lateral temporal lobe regions (and their associated networks) is a better predictor of conversion to FEP than hippocampal dysfunction. We will examine the evidence of this in the next section.

Is Conversion to Psychosis Associated With Dysfunction in Just One or Both Temporal Networks?

At presentation, neuroimaging studies have identified a number of neurofunctional, neuroanatomical, and neurochemical changes in CHR cohorts relative to age-matched healthy controls. Furthermore, there is emerging evidence that neurobiological changes in temporal lobe regions at the CHR stage are directly related to APS. A small number of prospective and longitudinal neuroimaging studies have attempted to identify neural or biomarkers that predict conversion to psychosis in CHR cohorts. Multisite studies in CHR cohorts investigating volumetric changes associated with conversion to psychosis have reported different findings; one study reports that conversion to psychosis in CHR cohorts is associated with reduced left anterior hippocampal volume at presentation (15), while a second study reports that conversion is associated with reduced gray matter volume in prefrontal rather than temporal regions (89).

Functional MRI studies in CHR cohorts have reported that conversion to psychosis is associated with increased activation in the brainstem (midbrain/basilar pons) and the left hippocampus (10), the left STG, IFG, and caudate (23), and altered VTA-striatal effective connectivity (Modinos et al., 2019). PET studies using 18 Fluorodopa (18F-DOPA) also report increased striatal (12–14) and midbrain (10) presynaptic dopamine synthesis in CHR cases at presentation that later convert to psychosis. Two magnetic resonance spectroscopy (MRS) studies report increased striatal (98) and hippocampal (20) glutamate levels in CHR conversion cases, although another study reports that CHR individuals have significantly *lower* hippocampal Glx (combined glutamate and glutamine) levels relative to both healthy volunteers and FEP patients (99).

While these findings are broadly consistent with models that posit altered neurobiology in lateral/medial lobe regions and associated networks, not all prospective/longitudinal studies in CHR cohorts implicate the temporal lobes. For example, a recent study by Cao et al. (88) reports that CHR individuals show an intrinsic abnormality in *cerebellar-thalamic-frontal cortical* circuitry associated with disorganization symptoms that is significantly more pronounced among converters than nonconverters. Moreover, multivariate approaches to CHR outcome classification implicate a much wider range of cortical, cerebellar, and subcortical regions [e.g., Ref. (100)] making it difficult to attribute emergent APS to any specific network.

Together, these neuroimaging findings suggest that conversion to psychosis in CHR cohorts is associated with a wide range of structural, functional, and neurochemical alterations, i.e., altered structure and function in hippocampal, prefrontal, lateral temporal, midbrain, striatal, thalamic, and cerebellar regions as well as increased mesolimbic dopamine function and altered hippocampal and striatal glutamate/glutamine function. On the basis of these diverse neurobiological findings, it is difficult to attribute conversion to psychosis in CHR groups to a discrete region, network, or circuit. Moreover, there is some evidence from rodent models that disrupted hippocampal development can lead to neurophysiological abnormalities across several cortical regions, most prominently observed in prefrontal cortex circuits (66). We speculate, therefore, that hippocampal/MTL pathophysiology is seen early in development, but as the brain matures with this abnormality, other circuits, perhaps involving the lateral temporal and prefrontal cortex, become dysregulated. Currently, there are no studies that directly test this chronological prediction in humans although a cross-sectional study by Benetti and colleagues does link altered hippocampal and prefrontal function in CHR subject (101). Alternatively, in schizophrenia, there may be a pathological process playing out across multiple cortical and subcortical circuits, and the hippocampal-striatal-midbrain circuit may be where it is most evident (and possibly most severe) in the CHR/prodromal stage.

In summary, while there is evidence for emerging dysfunction in a range of cortical and subcortical regions in CHR cohorts, altered structure and function in medial and lateral temporal lobe regions, along with prefrontal regions, appear to be seen to a greater extent in CHR cases that convert to psychosis. While the evidence remains equivocal, several imaging studies adopting whole brain analytical approaches support this view [e.g., Refs. (10, 15, 21, 23, 24, 89)] and recent connectivity studies in large CHR data sets show that lateral temporal (28) and prefrontal cortex (88) disconnectivity are particularly associated with conversion to psychosis. Intriguingly, analysis of speech in CHR cohorts (a function strongly related to lateral temporal, frontal, and parietal lobe function) (81) shows that reduced semantic coherence and syntactic complexity predicted later psychosis development with 100% accuracy, outperforming classification from clinical interviews (102). These findings were cross-validated in a second larger cohort using a speech automated machine-learning speech classifier-comprising decreased semantic coherence, greater variance in that coherence, and reduced usage of possessive pronouns. This classifier had 83% accuracy in predicting psychosis onset (103). These findings are broadly in line with earlier factor analytical studies for CHR symptom dimensions that report disorganized thought and speech as predictor of subsequent conversion to psychosis (37). More generally, the neuropsychological data in CHR cohorts suggests that later conversion to psychosis is associated with marked deficits in verbal fluency, processing speed and memory domains (1), cognitive functions likely to rely on frontal, lateral temporal, and hippocampal activity and connectivity.

Based on the studies discussed here, several questions remain about emerging brain network dysfunction in CHR cohorts. Firstly, is dysfunction in both lateral and medial temporal networks necessary for the emergence of a CHR for psychosis or is dysfunction in one or the other network sufficient? Secondly, what is the pathological relationship between dysfunction in these temporal lobe networks? Third, do alterations in volume, function, and connectivity in these regions/networks occur at the same time, or is there a chronological progression related to illness stage, symptom severity, and risk (conversion) for psychosis? Fourth, is dysfunction in these networks related to different pathological or etiological processes?

Studies investigating schizotypal personality disorder (SPD) might provide preliminary insight regarding the first question, as SPD is conceded to represent an intermediate schizophreniaspectrum phenotype (104). Evidence for temporal and frontal lobe alterations appears to be fairly robust in SPD samples. Similar to findings in CHR samples [e.g., Ref. (90)], investigations utilizing DTI in SPD populations report reduced fractional anisotropy in the uncinated fasciculus (but not in the cingulum) (105), reduced frontal and temporal lobe gray matter (106–109), and reduced temporal lobe gray matter thickness (106). Probabilistic tractography approaches also indicate that healthy individuals higher on psychometric schizotypy traits present with lower fractional anisotropy in the inferior fronto-occipital fasciculus overall (106). A recent fMRI study in an SPD population, investigating symptom clusters, reported that higher resting-state functional connectivity between the frontal and lateral temporal cortex was linked to positive and disorganized dimensions, respectively (110).

However, in SPD populations, there appears to be less evidence in line with rodent models of psychosis and findings in CHR cohorts. One recent study has shown that participants that score highly on measures of schizotypal personality traits (healthy participants with psychotic-like experiences) show higher rCBF in the right hippocampus compared to low-scoring individuals (111), although no differences were observed in midbrain or striatum. However, results from one early single-photon emission computed tomography (SPECT) study suggested relatively greater presynaptic dopamine release in the striatum of SPD individuals relative to healthy controls, similar to levels observed in patients with remitted schizophrenia (112). Taken together, studies in SPD cohorts seem to provide more evidence for lateral temporal and frontal lobe dysfunction than they do for dysfunction in a hippocampal–striatal–midbrain circuit, although this may be because far less research has been conducted that explicitly examines the hippocampal–striatal–midbrain circuit in psychometric schizotypy/SPD populations (110–113).

Regarding the final question about etiology, there are some interesting clues from previous research. Although increased striatal dopamine function has been reported in CHR cohorts (12–14, 114), no increase in striatal dopamine synthesis was seen in a cohort of nonclinical voice hearers (114). However, increased lateral temporal activity while experiencing voices has been reported in nonclinical voice hearers (115). This finding suggests that dysfunction in the STG and wider frontal and temporal networks, which underlies the experience of auditory verbal hallucinations (10), is not necessarily related to elevated striatal dopamine function, suggesting the possibility of a different etiological pathway. However, it should be noted that a recent PET study by Cassidy et al. (116) reported a relationship between striatal dopamine release and auditory perceptual disturbances and outlined a novel dopamine-dependent mechanism for perceptual modulation that may confer vulnerability to hallucinations in hyperdopaminergic states underlying psychosis.

CONCLUSIONS AND FUTURE WORK

The literature discussed here strongly suggests that altered structure, function, and connectivity in both the medial and lateral temporal lobe play a key role in the development of CHR states and psychosis. Critically, increased rCBF and neural activity in the hippocampus seems to be a well-established factor in CHR populations, suggesting that abnormalities are present at the earliest stages of the condition. Further, studies have linked increased hippocampal glutamate and rCBF with conversion to psychosis, in line with rodent models suggesting that abnormalities in the hippocampus lead to dopamine dysfunctions and abnormal salience processing. While the etiology behind these hippocampal changes is not clear at this stage, immune/ inflammatory responses appear to be a factor (117, 118).

Studies also report functional and volumetric abnormalities in the lateral temporal lobe and associated frontal-temporal and parietal language networks, possibly linked to the disorganized

REFERENCES

- Fusar-Poli P, Bonoldi I, Yung A, Borgwardt S, Kempton M, Valmaggia L, et al. Predicting psychosis: meta-analysis of transition outcomes in individuals at high clinical risk. *Arch Gen Psychiatry* (2012) 69(3):220–9. doi: 10.1001/archgenpsychiatry.2011.1472
- Yung A, Phillips L, Mcgorry P, Mcfarlane C, Francey S, Harrigan S, et al. Prediction to psychosis: a step towards indicated prevention of schizophrenia. *Br J Psychiatry* (1998) 172(33):14–20. doi: 10.1192/S0007125000297602
- Riecher-Rössler A, Gschwandtner U, Borgwardt S, Aston J, Pflüger M, Rössler W. Early detection and treatment of schizophrenia:how early? *Acta Psychiatr Scand* (2006) 113(s429):73–80. doi: 10.1111/j.1600-0447.2005.00722.x
- 4. Phillips L, Velakoulis D, Pantelis C, Wood S, Yuen H, Yung A, et al. Non-reduction in hippocampal volume is associated with higher risk of

language and speech symptoms during the CHR stage. However, while disorganized speech and language symptoms appear to be a strong predictor of conversion to FEP in CHR cohorts, supported by recent findings using speech algorithms, findings from neuroimaging studies are far less equivocal, i.e., there is no clear evidence that lateral temporal lobe-centered networks are the best predictor of conversion to FEP.

While the findings discussed here strongly implicate hippocampal, lateral temporal lobe, and broader network dysfunction in CHR samples, the specific mechanisms or chronology of emerging brain network dysfunction in CHR cohorts remains unclear. Hippocampal abnormalities (leading to dopamine dysregulation) could lead to widespread abnormalities in other regions, particularly other (local) temporal lobe regions, which then lead to psychosis conversion. Alternatively, psychosis progression might be linked to widespread neural circuit abnormalities (with hippocampal dysfunction being most prominent). More sophisticated multimodal longitudinal studies are needed to test these alternative possibilities.

In addition to more sophisticated mechanistic studies, those utilizing novel pharmacological agents could provide valuable insights into whether potentially blocking increases in extracellular glutamate in MTL regions can ameliorate hypermetabolism and atrophy in CHR cohorts. A recent rodent study reported that glutamate dysregulation in the CA1 region of the hippocampus initiated the transition to syndromal psychosis (19). Investigating whether the administration of glutamate regulating drugs in CHR samples would normalize hippocampal hypermetabolism and prevent symptomatic and pathological progression may help to elucidate the mechanistic chronology during emerging psychosis.

Finally, it needs to be noted that schizophrenia is symptomatically heterogeneous and that symptoms and clinical outcomes in prodromal cases are even more heterogeneous. This may be because dysfunction in different neural circuits and neurotransmitter systems may predominate in different subtypes and stages of the disease, which, as defined, represents only a final common syndrome.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

All authors listed have made substantial, direct, and intellectual contribution to the work and approved it for publication.

psychosis. *Schizophr Res* (2002) 58(2–3):145–58. doi: 10.1016/S0920-9964 (01)00392-9

- Honea R, Crow T, Passingham D, Mackay C. Regional deficits in brain volume in schizophrenia: a meta-analysis of voxel-based morphometry studies. *Am J Psychiatry* (2005) 162(12):2233–45. doi: 10.1176/appi.ajp. 162.12.2233
- Wright I, Rabe-Hesketh S, Woodruff P, David A, Murray R, Bullmore E. Meta-analysis of regional brain volumes in schizophrenia. *Am J Psychiatry* (2000) 157(1):16–25. doi: 10.1176/ajp.157.1.16
- Gifford G, Crossley N, Fusar-Poli P, Schnack H, Kahn R, Koutsouleris N, et al. Using neuroimaging to help predict the onset of psychosis. *Neuroimage* (2017) 145(Pt B):209–17. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroimage.2016.03.075
- Schobel S, Chaudhury N, Khan U, Paniagua B, Styner M, Asllani I, et al. Imaging patients with psychosis and a mouse model establishes a spreading

pattern of hippocampal dysfunction and implicates glutamate as a driver. *Neuron* (2013) 78(1):81–93. doi: 10.1016/j.neuron.2013.02.011

- Modinos G, Allen P, Grace A, McGuire P. Translating the MAM model of psychosis to humans. *Trends Neurosci* (2015) 38(3):129–38. doi: 10.1016/j. tins.2014.12.005
- Allen P, Luidjes J, Howes O, Egerton A, Hirao K, Valli I, et al. Transition to psychosis associated with prefrontal and subcortical dysfunction in ultra high-risk individuals. *Schizophr Bull* (2012) 38(6):1268–76. doi: 10.1093/ schbul/sbr194
- Schifani C, Hafizi S, Da Silva T, Watts J, Khan M, Mizrahi R. Using molecular imaging to understand early schizophrenia-related psychosis neurochemistry: a review of human studies. *Int Rev Psychiatry* (2017) 29(6):555–66. doi: 10.1080/09540261.2017.1396205
- Howes O, Montgomery A, Asselin M, Murray R, Valli I, Tabraham P, et al. Elevated striatal dopamine function linked to prodromal signs of schizophrenia. Arch Gen Psychiatry (2009) 66(1):13–20. doi: 10.1001/ archgenpsychiatry.2008.514
- Howes O, Bose S, Turkheimer F, Valli I, Egerton A, Valmaggia L, et al. Dopamine synthesis capacity before onset of psychosis: a prospective [18F]-DOPA PET imaging study. *Am J Psychiatry* (2011) 168(12):1311–7. doi: 10.1176/appi.ajp.2011.11010160
- Egerton A, Chaddock C, Winton-Brown T, Bloomfield M, Bhattacharyya S, Allen P, et al. Presynaptic striatal dopamine dysfunction in people at ultrahigh risk for psychosis: findings in a second cohort. *Biol Psychiatry* (2013) 74(2):106–12. doi: 10.1016/j.biopsych.2012.11.017
- Mechelli A, Riecher-Rössler A, Meisenzahl E, Tognin S, Wood S, Borgwardt S, et al. Neuroanatomical abnormalities that predate the onset of psychosis: a multicenter study. *Arch Gen Psychiatry* (2011) 68(5):489–95. doi: 10.1001/ archgenpsychiatry.2011.42
- Allen P, Chaddock C, Howes O, Egerton A, Seal M, Fusar-Poli P, et al. Abnormal relationship between medial temporal lobe and subcortical dopamine function in people with an ultra high risk for psychosis. *Schizophr Bull* (2011) 38(5):1040–9. doi: 10.1093/schbul/ sbr017
- Valli I, Stone J, Mechelli A, Bhattacharyya S, Raffin M, Allen P, et al. Altered medial temporal activation related to local glutamate levels in subjects with prodromal signs of psychosis. *Biol Psychiatry* (2011) 69(1):97–9. doi: 10.1016/j.biopsych.2010.08.033
- Allen P, Chaddock C, Egerton A, Howes O, Bonoldi I, Zelaya F, et al. Resting hyperperfusion of the hippocampus, midbrain, and basal ganglia in people at high risk for psychosis. *Am J Psychiatry* (2016) 173(4):392–9. doi: 10.1176/ appi.ajp.2015.15040485
- Lieberman J, Girgis R, Brucato G, Moore H, Provenzano F, Kegeles L, et al. Hippocampal dysfunction in the pathophysiology of schizophrenia: a selective review and hypothesis for early detection and intervention. *Mol Psychiatry* (2018) 23(8):1764–72. doi: 10.1038/mp.2017.249
- Bossong M, Antoniades M, Azis M, Samson C, Quinn B, Bonoldi I, et al. Association of hippocampal glutamate levels with adverse outcomes in individuals at clinical high risk for psychosis. *JAMA Psychiatry* (2019) 76(2):199–207. doi: 10.1001/jamapsychiatry.2018.3252
- 21. Borgwardt S, McGuire P, Aston J, Berger G, Dazzan P, Gschwandtner U, et al. Structural brain abnormalities in individuals with an at-risk mental state who later develop psychosis. *Br J Psychiatry* (2007) 191(S51):s69–s75. doi: 10.1192/bjp.191.51.s69
- 22. Crossley N, Mechelli A, Fusar-Poli P, Broome M, Matthiasson P, Johns L, et al. Superior temporal lobe dysfunction and frontotemporal dysconnectivity in subjects at risk of psychosis and in first-episode psychosis. *Hum Brain Mapp* (2009) 30(12):4129–37. doi: 10.1002/hbm.20834
- Sabb F, van Erp T, Hardt M, Dapretto M, Caplan R, Cannon T, et al. Language network dysfunction as a predictor of outcome in youth at clinical high risk for psychosis. *Schizophr Res* (2010) 116(2–3):173–83. doi: 10.1016/j. schres.2009.09.042
- Colibazzi T, Yang Z, Horga G, Yan C, Corcoran C, Klahr K, et al. Aberrant temporal connectivity in persons at clinical high risk for psychosis. *Biol Psychiatry* (2017) 2(8):696–705. doi: 10.1016/j.bpsc.2016.12.008
- Lodge D, Grace A. Hippocampal dysregulation of dopamine system function and the pathophysiology of schizophrenia. *Trends Pharmacol Sci* (2011) 32(9):507–13. doi: 10.1016/j.tips.2011.05.001

- Moore H, Jentsch J, Ghajarnia M, Geyer M, Grace A. A neurobehavioral systems analysis of adult rats exposed to methylazoxymethanol acetate on E17: implications for the neuropathology of schizophrenia. *Biol Psychiatry* (2006) 60(3):253–64. doi: 10.1016/j.biopsych.2006.01.003
- Lisman J, Coyle J, Green R, Javitt D, Benes F, Heckers S, et al. Circuit-based framework for understanding neurotransmitter and risk gene interactions in schizophrenia. *Trends Neurosci* (2008) 31(5):234–42. doi: 10.1016/j. tins.2008.02.005
- Collin G, Seidman L, Keshavan M, Stone W, Qi Z, Zhang T, et al. Functional connectome organization predicts conversion to psychosis in clinical high risk youth from the SHARP program. *Mol Psychiatry* (2018) 1. doi: 10.1038/ s41380-018-0288-x
- Yung A, McGorry P. The prodromal phase of first-episode psychosis: past and current conceptualizations. *Schizophr Bull* (1996) 22(2):353–70. doi: 10.1093/schbul/22.2.353
- Yung A, Yung A, Pan Yuen H, Mcgorry P, Phillips L, Kelly D, et al. Mapping the onset of psychosis: the comprehensive assessment of at-risk mental states. *Aust N* Z J Psychiatry (2005) 39(11–12):964–71. doi: 10.1080/j.1440-1614.2005.01714.x
- Miller T, McGlashan T, Woods S, Stein K, Driesen N, Corcoran C, et al. Symptom assessment in schizophrenic prodromal states. *Psychiatric Quaterly* (1999) 70(4):273–87. doi: 10.1023/A:1022034115078
- 32. Yung A, Nelson B, Stanford C, Simmons M, Cosgrave E, Killackey E, et al. Validation of "prodromal" criteria to detect individuals at ultra high risk of psychosis: 2 year follow-up. *Schizophr Res* (2008) 105(1–3):10–17. doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2008.07.012
- Schultze-Lutter F. Subjective symptoms of schizophrenia in research and the clinic: the basic symptom concept. *Schizophr Bull* (2009) 35(1):5–8. doi: 10.1093/schbul/sbn139
- Klosterkötter J, Hellmich M, Steinmeyer E, Schultze-Lutter F. Diagnosing schizophrenia in the initial prodromal phase. Arch Gen Psychiatry (2001) 58(2):158–64. doi: 10.1001/archpsyc.58.2.158
- Fusar-Poli P, Nelson B, Valmaggia L, Yung A, McGuire P. Comorbid depressive and anxiety disorders in 509 individuals with an at-risk mental state: impact on psychopathology and transition to psychosis. *Schizophr Bull* (2012) 40(1):120–31. doi: 10.1093/schbul/sbs136
- Fusar-Poli P, Cappucciati M, Borgwardt S, Woods S, Addington J, Nelson B, et al. Heterogeneity of psychosis risk within individuals at clinical high risk: a meta-analytical stratification. *JAMA Psychiatry* (2016) 73(2):113–20. doi: 10.1001/jamapsychiatry.2015.2324
- Demjaha A, Valmaggia L, Stahl D, Byrne M, McGuire P. Disorganization/ cognitive and negative symptom dimensions in the at-risk mental state predict subsequent transition to psychosis. *Schizophr Bull* (2010) 38(2):351– 9. doi: 10.1093/schbul/sbq088
- Raballo A, Nelson B, Thompson A, Yung A. The comprehensive assessment of at-risk mental states: from mapping the onset to mapping the structure. *Schizophr Res* (2011) 127(1–3):107–14. doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2010.12.021
- DeVylder J, Muchomba F, Gill K, Ben-David S, Walder D, Malaspina D, et al. Symptom trajectories and psychosis onset in a clinical high-risk cohort: the relevance of subthreshold thought disorder. *Schizophr Res* (2014) 159(2–3):278– 83. doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2014.08.008
- Nelson B, Yuen H, Wood S, Lin A, Spiliotacopoulos D, Bruxner A, et al. Long-term follow-up of a group at ultra high risk ("prodromal") for psychosis: the PACE 400 study. *JAMA Psychiatry* (2013) 70(8):793-802. doi: 10.1001/jamapsychiatry.2013.1270
- Cornblatt B, Carrión R, Auther A, McLaughlin D, Olsen R, John M, et al. Psychosis prevention: a modified clinical high risk perspective from the Recognition and Prevention (RAP) program. *Am J Psychiatry* (2015) 172(10):986–94. doi: 10.1176/appi.ajp.2015.13121686
- Addington J, Liu L, Buchy L, Cadenhead K, Cannon T, Cornblatt B, et al. North Americal Prodrome Longitudinal Study(NAPLS 2): the prodromal symptoms. *J Nerv Ment Dis* (2015) 203(5):328–35. doi: 10.1097/NMD.00000000000290
- Breier A, Buchanan R, Elkashef A, Munson R, Kirkpatrick B, Gellad F. Brain morphology and schizophrenia: a magnetic resonance imaging study of limbic, prefrontal cortex, and caudate structures. *Arch Gen Psychiatry* (1992) 49(12):921–6. doi: 10.1001/archpsyc.1992.01820120009003
- Raz S, Raz N. Structural brain abnormalities in the major psychoses: a quantitative review of the evidence from computerized imaging. *Psychol Bull* (1990) 108(1):93–108. doi: 10.1037//0033-2909.108.1.93

- Heckers S, Konradi C. Hippocampal pathology in schizophrenia. In Behavioral neurobiology of schizophrenia and its treatment. *Behav Neurobiol Schizophr Treat* (2010) 4:529–53. doi: 10.1007/7854_2010_43
- Heckers S, Konradi C. GABAergic mechanisms of hippocampal hyperactivity in schizophrenia. *Schizophr Res* (2015) 167(1–3):4–11. doi: 10.1016/j.schres. 2014.09.041
- Karnik-Henry M, Wang L, Barch D, Harms M, Campanella C, Csernansky J. Medial temporal lobe structure and cognition in individuals with schizophrenia and in their non-psychotic siblings. *Schizophr Res* (2012) 138(2-3):128-35. doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2012.03.015
- Tamminga C, Stan A, Wagner A. The hippocampal formation in schizophrenia. *Am J Psychiatry* (2010) 167(10):1178–93. doi: 10.1176/appi.ajp.2010.09081187
- Howes O, Kambeitz J, Kim E, Stahl D, Slifstein M, Abi-Dargham A, et al. The nature of dopamine dysfunction in schizophrenia and what this means for treatment: meta-analysis of imaging studies. *Arch Gen Psychiatry* (2012) 69(8):776–86. doi: 10.1001/archgenpsychiatry.2012.169
- Pantelis C, Velakoulis D, McGorry P, Wood S, Suckling J, Phillips L, et al. Neuroanatomical abnormalities before and after onset of psychosis: a cross-sectional and longitudinal MRI comparison. *The Lancet* (2003) 361(9354):281–8. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(03)12323-9
- Wood S, Yücel M, Velakoulis D, Phillips L, Yung A, Brewer W, et al. Hippocampal and anterior cingulate morphology in subjects at ultra-highrisk for psychosis: the role of family history of psychotic illness. *Schizophr Res* (2005) 75(2–3):295–301. doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2004.10.008
- Hurlemann R, Jessen F, Wagner M, Frommann I, Fuhrmann S, Brockhaus A, et al. Interrelated neuropsychological and anatomical evidence of hippocampal pathology in the at-risk mental state. *Psychol Med* (2008) 38(6):843–51. doi: 10.1017/S0033291708003279
- 53. Allen P, Azis M, Modinos G, Bossong M, Bonoldi I, Samson C, et al. Increased resting hippocampal and basal ganglia perfusion in people at ultra high risk for psychosis: replication in a second cohort. *Schizophr Bull* (2018) 44(6):1323–31. doi: 10.1093/schbul/sbx169
- Fusar-Poli P, Borgwardt S, Crescini A, Deste G, Lawrie S, Sacchetti R. Neuroanatomy of vulnerability to psychosis: a voxel-based meta-analysis. *Neurosci Biobehav Rev* (2011) 35(5):1175–85. doi: 10.1016/j.neubiorev.2010.12.005
- Walter A, Suenderhauf C, Harrisberger F, Lenz C, Smieskova R, Chung Y, et al. Hippocampal volume in subjects at clinical high-risk for psychosis: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Neurosci Biobehav Rev* (2016) 71:680– 90. doi: 10.1016/j.neubiorev.2016.10.007
- Schobel S, Lewandowski N, Corcoran C, Moore H, Brown T, Malaspina D, et al. Differential targeting of the CA1 subfield of the hippocampal formation by schizophrenia and related psychotic disorders. *Arch Gen Psychiatry* (2009) 66(9):938–46. doi: 10.1001/archgenpsychiatry.2009.115
- Aggleton J, Christiansen K. The subiculum: the heart of the extended hippocampal system. *Prog Brain Res* (2015) 219:65–82. doi: 10.1016/ bs.pbr.2015.03.003
- Bustillo J, Chen H, Gasparovic C, Mullins P, Caprihan A, Qualls C, et al. Glutamate as a marker of cognitive function in schizophrenia: a proton spectroscopic imaging study at 4 tesla. *Biol Psychiatry* (2011) 69(1):19–27. doi: 10.1016/j.biopsych.2010.08.024
- Kraguljac N, White D, Reid M, Lahti A. Increased hippocampal glutamate and volumetric deficits in unmedicated patients with schizophrenia. *JAMA Psychiatry* (2013) 70(12):1294–302. doi: 10.1001/jamapsychiatry.2013.2437
- Merritt K, Egerton A, Kempton M, Taylor M, McGuire P. Nature of glutamate alterations in schizophrenia: a meta-analysis of proton magnetic resonance spectroscopy studies. *JAMA Psychiatry* (2016) 73(7):665–74. doi: 10.1001/ jamapsychiatry.2016.0442
- Théberge J, Williamson K, Aoyama N, Drost D, Manchanda R, Malla A, et al. Longitudinal grey-matter and glutamatergic losses in first-episode schizophrenia. *Br J psychiatry* (2007) 191:325–34. doi: 10.1192/bjp.bp. 106.033670
- Marsman A, Mandl R, Klomp D, Bohlken M, Boer V, Andreychenko A, et al. GABA and glutamate in schizophrenia: A 7 T 1H-MRS study. *NeuroImage: Clin* (2014) 6:398–407. doi: 10.1016/j.nicl.2014.10.005
- Peleg-Raibstein D, Feldon J. Effects of dorsal and ventral hippocampal NMDA stimulation on nucleus accumbens core and shell dopamine release. *Neuropharmacology* (2006) 51(5):946–57. doi: 10.1016/j.neuropharm.2006. 06.002

- White I, Whitaker C, White W. Amphetamine-induced hyperlocomotion in rats: hippocampal modulation of the nucleus accumbens. *Hippocampus* (2006) 16(7):596–603. doi: 10.1002/hipo.20189
- 65. Lipska BK. Using animal models to test a neurodevelopmental hypothesis of schizophrenia. *J Psychiatry Neurosci* (2004) 29(4):282–6.
- Tseng K, Chambers R, Lipska B. The neonatal ventral hippocampal lesion as a heuristic neurodevelopmental model of schizophrenia. *Behav Brain Res* (2009) 204(2):295–305. doi: 10.1016/j.bbr.2008.11.039
- 67. Flagstad P, Mørk A, Glenthøj B, Van Beek J, Michael-Titus A, Didriksen M. Disruption of neurogenesis on gestational day 17 in the rat causes behavioral changes relevant to positive and negative schizophrenia symptoms and alters amphetamine-induced dopamine release in nucleus accumbens. *Neuropsychopharmacology* (2004) 29(11):2052–64. doi: 10.1038/sj.npp.1300516
- Lodge D, Grace A. Aberrant hippocampal activity underlies the dopamine dysregulation in an animal model of schizophrenia. J Neurosci (2007) 27(42):11424–30. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.2847-07.2007
- Gilani A, Chohan M, Inan M, Schobel S, Chaudhury N, Paskewitz S, et al. Interneuron precursor transplants in adult hippocampus reverse psychosisrelevant features in a mouse model of hippocampal disinhibition. *Proc Natl Acad Sci* (2014) 111(20):7450–5. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1316488111
- Donegan J, Tyson J, Branch S, Beckstead M, Anderson S, Lodge D. Stem cellderived interneuron transplants as a treatment for schizophrenia: preclinical validation in a rodent model. *Mol Psychiatry* (2017) 22(10):1492–501. doi: 10.1038/mp.2016.121
- Alsop D, Dai W, Grossman M, Detre J. Arterial spin labeling blood flow MRI: its role in the early characterization of Alzheimer's disease. J Alzheimers Dis (2010) 20(3):187–880. doi: 10.3233/JAD-2010-091699
- Walterfang M, Wood S, Velakoulis D, Pantelis C. Neuropathological, neurogenetic and neuroimaging evidence for white matter pathology in schizophrenia. *Neurosci Biobehav Rev* (2006) 30(7):918–48. doi: 10.1016/j. neubiorev.2006.02.001
- Stephan KE. Dysconnection in schizophrenia: from abnormal synaptic plasticity to failures of self-monitoring. *Schizophr Bull* (2009) 35(3):509–27. doi: 10.1093/schbul/sbn176
- Pettersson-Yeo W, Allen P, Benetti S, McGuire P, Mechelli A. Dysconnectivity in schizophrenia: where are we now? *Neurosci Biobehav Rev* (2011) 35(5):1110–24. doi: 10.1016/j.neubiorev.2010.11.004
- Allen P, Stephan K, Mechelli A, Day F, Ward N, Dalton J, et al. Cingulate activity and fronto-temporal connectivity in people with prodromal signs of psychosis. *Neuroimage* (2010) 49(1):947–55. doi: 10.1016/j. neuroimage.2009.08.038
- Friston K. The disconnection hypothesis. Schizophr Res (1998) 30(2):115–25. doi: 10.1016/S0920-9964(97)00140-0
- Friston K, Frith C. Schizophrenia: a disconnection syndrome. *Clin Neurosci* (1995) 3(2):89–97.
- Fletcher PM. Abnormal cingulate modulation of fronto-temporal connectivity in schizophrenia. *Neuroimage* (1999) 9(3):337–42. doi: 10.1006/ nimg.1998.0411
- Lawrie S, Buechel C, Whalley H, Frith C, Friston K, Johnstone E. Reduced frontotemporal functional connectivity in schizophrenia associated with auditory hallucinations. *Biol Psychiatry* (2002) 51(12):1008–11. doi: 10.1016/ S0006-3223(02)01316-1
- Winder R, Cortes C, Reggia J, Tagamets M. Functional connectivity in fMRI: a modeling approach for estimation and for relating to local circuits. *Neuroimage* (2007) 34(3):1093–107. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroimage.2006.10.008
- Price CJ. The anatomy of language: a review of 100 fMRI studies published in 2009. Ann N Y Acad Sci (2010) 1191:62–88. doi: 10.1111/j.1749-6632.2010.05444.x
- Lerner Y, Honey C, Silbert L, Hasson U. Topographic mapping of a hierarchy of temporal receptive windows using a narrated story. J Neurosci (2011) 31(8):2906–15. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.3684-10.2011
- Silbert L, Honey C, Simony E, Poeppel D, Hasson U. Coupled neural systems underlie the production and comprehension of naturalistic narrative speech. *Proc Natl Acad Sci* (2014) 111(43):E4687–96. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1323812111
- Ćurčić-Blake B, Ford J, Hubl D, Orlov N, Sommer I, Waters F, et al. Interaction of language, auditory and memory brain networks in auditory verbal hallucinations. *Prog Neurobiol* (2017) 148:1–20. doi: 10.1016/j. pneurobio.2016.11.002

- Allen P, Larøi F, McGuire P, Aleman A. The hallucinating brain: a review of structural and functional neuroimaging studies of hallucinations. *Neurosci Biobehav Rev* (2008) 32(1):175–91. doi: 10.1016/j.neubiorev.2007.07.012
- Powers A, Mathys C, Corlett P. Pavlovian conditioning-induced hallucinations result from overweighting of perceptual priors. *Science* (2017) 357(6351):596–600. doi: 10.1126/science.aan3458
- Cavelti M, Kircher T, Nagels A, Strik W, Homan P. Is formal thought disorder in schizophrenia related to structural and functional aberrations in the language network? A systematic review of neuroimaging findings. *Schizophr Res* (2018) 199:2–16. doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2018.02.051
- Cao H, Chén O, Cannon T. Cerebello-thalamo-cortical hyperconnectivity as a state-independent functional neural signature for psychosis prediction and characterization. *Nat Commun* (2018) 9(1):3836. doi: 10.1038/ s41467-018-06350-7
- Cannon T, Chung Y, He G, Sun D, Jacobson A, Van Erp T, et al. Progressive reduction in cortical thickness as psychosis develops: a multisite longitudinal neuroimaging study of youth at elevated clinical risk. *Biol Psychiatry* (2015) 77(2):147–57. doi: 10.1016/j.biopsych.2014.05.023
- 90. Vijayakumar N, Bartholomeusz C, Whitford T, Hermens D, Nelson B, Rice S, et al. White matter integrity in individuals at ultra-high risk for psychosis: a systematic review and discussion of the role of polyunsaturated fatty acids. BMC Psychiatry (2016) 16(1):287. doi: 10.1186/s12888-016-0932-4
- Kapur S. Psychosis as a state of aberrant salience: a framework linking biology, phenomenology, and pharmacology in schizophrenia. *Am J Psychiatry* (2003) 160(1):13–23. doi: 10.1176/appi.ajp.160.1.13
- 92. Seiferth N, Pauly K, Habel U, Kellermann T, Shah N, Ruhrmann S, et al. Increased neural response related to neutral faces in individuals at risk for psychosis. *Neuroimage* (2008) 40(1):289–97. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroimage.2007.11.020
- Heinz A. Dopaminergic dysfunction in alcoholism and schizophrenia psychopathological and behavioral correlates. *Eur Psychiatry* (2002) 17(1):9– 16. doi: 10.1016/S0924-9338(02)00628-4
- 94. Grace AA. Dopamine system dysregulation by the hippocampus: implications for the pathophysiology and treatment of schizophrenia. *Neuropharmacology* (2012) 62(3):1342–8. doi: 10.1016/j.neuropharm.2011.05.011
- 95. Winton-Brown T, Schmidt A, Roiser J, Howes O, Egerton A, Fusar-Poli P, et al. Altered activation and connectivity in a hippocampal-basal ganglia-midbrain circuit during salience processing in subjects at ultra high risk for psychosis. *Transl Psychiatry* (2017) 7(10):e1245. doi: 10.1038/s41398-018-0189-4
- Roiser J, Stephan K, Den Ouden H, Barnes T, Friston K, Joyce E. Do patients with schizophrenia exhibit aberrant salience? *Psychol Med* (2009) 39(2):199– 209. doi: 10.1017/S0033291708003863
- Roiser J, Howes O, Chaddock C, Joyce E, McGuire P. Neural and behavioral correlates of aberrant salience in individuals at risk for psychosis. *Schizophr Bull* (2012) 39(6):1328–36. doi: 10.1093/schbul/sbs147
- de la Fuente-Sandoval C, León-Ortiz P, Azcárraga M, Favila R, Stephano S, Graff-Guerrero A. Striatal glutamate and the conversion to psychosis: a prospective 1H-MRS imaging study. *Int J Neuropsychopharmacol* (2012) 16(2):471–5. doi: 10.1017/S1461145712000314
- Shakory S, Watts J, Hafizi S, Da Silva T, Khan S, Kiang M, et al. Hippocampal glutamate metabolites and glial activation in clinical high risk and first episode psychosis. *Neuropsychopharmacology* (2018) 43(11):2249–55. doi: 10.1038/s41386-018-0163-0
- 100. Koutsouleris N, Meisenzahl E, Davatzikos C, Bottlender R, Frodl T, Scheuerecker J, et al. Use of neuroanatomical pattern classification to identify subjects in at-risk mental states of psychosis and predict disease transition. Arch Gen Psychiatry (2009) 66(7):700–12. doi: 10.1001/archgenpsychiatry.2009.62
- 101. Benetti S, Mechelli A, Picchioni M, Broome M, Williams S, McGuire P. Functional integration between the posterior hippocampus and prefrontal cortex is impaired in both first episode schizophrenia and the at risk mental state. *Brain* (2009) 132(9):2426–36. doi: 10.1093/brain/awp098
- 102. Bedi G, Carrillo F, Cecchi G, Slezak D, Sigman M, Mota N, et al. Automated analysis of free speech predicts psychosis onset in high-risk youths. NPJ Schizophr (2015) 1:15030. doi: 10.1038/npjschz.2015.30
- 103. Corcoran C, Carrillo F, Fernández-Slezak D, Bedi G, Klim C, Javitt D, et al. Prediction of psychosis across protocols and risk cohorts using automated language analysis. *World Psychiatry* (2018) 17(1):67–75. doi: 10.1002/wps.20491

- Rosell D, Futterman S, McMaster A, Siever L. Schizotypal personality disorder: a current review. *Curr Psychiatry Rep* (2014) 16(7):452. doi: 10.1007/ s11920-014-0452-1
- Nakamura M, McCarley R, Kubicki M, Dickey C, Niznikiewicz M, Voglmaier M, et al. Fronto-temporal disconnectivity in schizotypal personality disorder: a diffusion tensor imaging study. *Biol Psychiatry* (2005) 58(6):468–78. doi: 10.1016/j.biopsych.2005.04.016
- 106. DeRosse P, Nitzburg G, Ikuta T, Peters B, Malhotra A, Szeszko P. Evidence from structural and diffusion tensor imaging for frontotemporal deficits in psychometric schizotypy. *Schizophr Bull* (2014) 41(1):104–14. doi: 10.1093/ schbul/sbu150
- 107. Wang Y, Yan C, Yin D, Fan M, Cheung E, Pantelis C, et al. Neurobiological changes of schizotypy: evidence from both volume-based morphometric analysis and resting-state functional connectivity. *Schizophr Bull* (2014) 41(suppl_2):S444-S454. doi: 10.1093/schbul/sbu178
- Wiebels K, Waldie K, Roberts R, Park H. Identifying grey matter changes in schizotypy using partial least squares correlation. *Cortex* (2016) 81:137–50. doi: 10.1016/j.cortex.2016.04.011
- 109. Ettinger U, Williams S, Meisenzahl E, Möller H, Kumari V, Koutsouleris N. Association between brain structure and psychometric schizotypy in healthy individuals. *World J Biological Psychiatry* (2012) 13(7):544–9. doi: 10.3109/15622975.2011.559269
- 110. Wang Y, Ettinger U, Meindl T, Chan R. Association of schizotypy with striatocortical functional connectivity and its asymmetry in healthy adults. *Hum Brain Mapp* (2018) 39(1):288–99. doi: 10.1002/hbm.23842
- 111. Modinos G, Egerton A, McMullen K, McLaughlin A, Kumari V, Barker G, et al. Increased resting perfusion of the hippocampus in high positive schizotypy: a pseudocontinuous arterial spin labeling study. *Hum Brain Mapp* (2018) 39(10):4055–64. doi: 10.1002/hbm.24231
- 112. Abi-Dargham A, Kegeles L, Zea-Ponce Y, Mawlawi O, Martinez D, Mitropoulou V, et al. Striatal amphetamine-induced dopamine release in patients with schizotypal personality disorder studied with single photon emission computed tomography and [123I] iodobenzamide. *Biol Psychiatry* (2004) 55(10):1001–6. doi: 10.1016/j.biopsych.2004.01.018
- 113. Modinos G, McLaughlin A, Egerton A, McMullen K, Kumari V, Barker G, et al. Corticolimbic hyper-response to emotion and glutamatergic function in people with high schizotypy: a multimodal fMRI-MRS study. *Transl Psychiatry* (2017) 7(4):e1083. doi: 10.1038/tp.2017.53
- 114. Howes O, Shotbolt P, Bloomfield M, Daalman K, Demjaha A, Diederen K, et al. Dopaminergic function in the psychosis in the psychosis spectrum: an [18F]-DOPA imaging study in healthy individuals with auditory hallucinations. *Schizophr Bull* (2013) 39(4):807–14. doi: 10.1093/schbul/ sbr195
- Linden D, Thornton K, Kuswanto C, Johnston S, van de Ven V, Jackson M. The brain's voices: comparing nonclinical auditory hallucinations and imagery. *Cereb Cortex* (2010) 21(2):330–37. doi: 10.1093/cercor/bhq097
- 116. Cassidy C, Balsam P, Weinstein J, Rosengard R, Slifstein M, Daw N. A perceptual inference mechanism for hallucinations linked to striatal dopamine. *Curr Biol* (2018) 28(4):503–14. doi: 10.1016/j.cub.2017.12.059
- 117. Kim S, Hwang Y, Webster M, Lee D. Differential activation of immune/ inflammatory response-related co-expression modules in the hippocampus across the major psychiatric disorders. *Mol Psychiatry* (2016) 21(3):376–85. doi: 10.1038/mp.2015.79
- Najjar S, Pearlman D, Alper K, Najjar A, Devinsky O. Neuroinflammation and psychiatric illness. *J Neuroinflammation* (2013) 10(1):816. doi: 10.1186/1742-2094-10-43

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2019 Allen, Moore, Corcoran, Gilleen, Kozhuharova, Reichenberg and Malaspina. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Social Cognition Deficits as a Target of Early Intervention for Psychoses: A Systematic Review

Yuji Yamada¹, Takuma Inagawa¹, Kazuki Sueyoshi², Norio Sugawara³, Natsuki Ueda³, Yoshie Omachi¹, Naotsugu Hirabayashi¹, Madoka Matsumoto² and Tomiki Sumiyoshi^{2*}

¹ Department of Psychiatry, National Center Hospital, National Center of Neurology and Psychiatry, Tokyo, Japan, ² Department of Preventive Intervention for Psychiatric Disorders, National Institute of Mental Health, National Center of Neurology and Psychiatry, Tokyo, Japan, ³ Department of Clinical Epidemiology, Translational Medical Center, National Center of Neurology and Psychiatry, Tokyo, Japan

Backgrounds: Social cognition deficits are a core feature of schizophrenia and deteriorate functionality of patients. However, evidence is sparse for the treatment effect on social cognition impairments in the early stage of psychosis. Here, we provide a systematic review of the literature on social cognitive impairment in early psychosis in relation to its intervention.

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Young-Chul Chung, Chonbuk National University, South Korea

Reviewed by:

Suk Kyoon An, Yonsei University, South Korea Seunghee Won, Kyungpook National University, South Korea

> *Correspondence: Tomiki Sumiyoshi sumiyot@ncnp.go.jp

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Schizophrenia, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychiatry

Received: 18 January 2019 Accepted: 29 April 2019 Published: 15 May 2019

Citation:

Yamada Y, Inagawa T, Sueyoshi K, Sugawara N, Ueda N, Omachi Y, Hirabayashi N, Matsumoto M, and Sumiyoshi T (2019) Social Cognition Deficits as a Target of Early Intervention for Psychoses: A Systematic Review. Front. Psychiatry 10:333. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2019.00333 **Methods:** A literature search was conducted on English articles identified by Web of Science and PubMed databases, according to the guidelines of the Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Reviews and Meta-analyses (PRISMA) statement.

Results: Five papers met the inclusion criteria. Results from two studies of cognitive training and one study of modafinil indicate positive results regarding social cognition outcomes in patients with early psychosis. On the other hand, two studies with oxytocin and modafinil did not suggest such effects.

Conclusions: Further research is warranted to explore the benefit of early intervention into disturbances of social cognition in psychoses.

Keywords: first-episode psychosis, schizophrenia, ultra-high risk, at risk mental state, theory of mind, emotion recognition, randomized controlled trial

INTRODUCTION

Schizophrenia affects approximately 0.7% of the world's population (1) and is characterized by positive (hallucinations, delusions), negative (apathy, anhedonia, social withdrawal, etc.), and cognitive symptoms. The first signs and symptoms usually appear between the end of adolescence and beginning of early adulthood. The disease has a chronic course with continual psychotic episodes that generally lead to deterioration in cognitive and social functioning (2, 3), as well as unemployment in more than 70% of patients at the chronic stage (4, 5).

Cognitive impairment is a core feature of schizophrenia and is present over the course of the illness (6). Research has shown that neurocognitive domains, such as memory, attention, executive functions, language, and intelligence, are most severely affected (7). Similar impairments are also found in social cognition (8), i.e., mental operations underlying social behavior. Social cognition is understood as a multidimensional construct that comprises emotional processing, social perspective and knowledge, attributional bias, and theory of mind (ToM). Some studies report that social cognition explains the variance of functional outcome more effectively than does

neurocognition. Thus, social cognition has been considered an important treatment target for functional improvement in people with psychoses (9–12).

Impairment of social cognition, including emotional recognition (13, 14), ToM (15), and attributional biases (16), is evident before the onset of psychosis, continues throughout the early phase of illness, and may even worsen during the first episode (17–19). There have been attempts to determine the relationship between social cognition and social functioning in early psychosis (20). Available research suggests that deficits in social functioning due to social cognition deficits are present early in the course of psychotic disorders (21–23) and also in first-degree relatives of patients (24, 25).

Individuals in the early phase of psychosis exhibit a greater brain plasticity and milder structural and functional brain changes than those in patients with chronic illnesses, providing the rationale for early treatment (26, 27). So far, most published trials of cognitive remediation have used middle-aged, chronically ill patients (28), and its efficacy for those in the prodromal phase or first episode of psychotic illness is largely unknown. As data from current pharmacological interventions suggest limited effects on social cognition impairments of schizophrenia (29, 30), there is a clear need to develop effective therapeutics to target them.

Here, we provide a systematic review of the literature regarding intervention for social cognition deficits in individuals with early psychosis or high risk for developing psychosis.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Data Sources and Search Terms

This systematic review was performed based on the PRISMA guidelines (31). From inception to March 15, 2019, YY and TI independently examined the Web of Science and PubMed databases. The following search terms were used as keywords: ("early psychosis" OR "first-episode psychosis" OR "FEP" OR "first-episode schizophrenia" OR "ultra-high risk" OR "UHR" OR "psychosis prodrome" OR "at risk mental state" OR "ARMS" OR "clinical high risk") AND ("social cognition" OR "theory of mind" OR "emotion recognition" OR "attributional style" OR "social knowledge" OR "social perception") AND ("training" OR "rehabilitation" OR "remediation" OR "cognitive behavioral therapy" OR "CBT" OR "antidepressant") AND ("randomized

controlled trial" OR "RCT"). Only studies with human participants and written in English were included. The senior reviewer (TS) approved the final list of the studies included.

Eligibility Criteria

Prespecified inclusion criteria were as follows: 1) randomized controlled trials (RCTs) comparing a social cognition intervention with treatment as usual, a minimal educational intervention, sham training, or placebo therapy; 2) participants were adults or adolescents between 10 and 40 years old diagnosed with early psychosis (i.e., schizophreniform disorder, schizophrenia, or schizoaffective disorder) (<5 years illness duration) without a) current substance dependence on alcohol or drugs, b) intellectual disability (intelligence quotient <70), c) a history of a significant neurological disorder, and d) florid psychotic or related symptoms likely to require immediate intervention (e.g., suicidality); 3) interventions were training or pharmacotherapy targeted to one or more social cognition domains; 4) comparisons were treatment as usual, a minimal educational intervention, sham training, or placebo therapy; and 5) outcomes were objective scales defined as ToM, emotion recognition, attributional style, social perception, and social knowledge.

Outcome Measures

Outcome measures identified by this search were discussed in relation to three domains of social cognition, i.e., emotion recognition, theory of mind (ToM), and attributional bias (see **Table 1**).

Emotion Recognition

Mayer–Salovey–Caruso Emotional Intelligence Test (MSCEIT) (37) measures the participant's ability to perceive, use, understand, and regulate emotions, while Facial Expressions of Emotions Task (FEEST) (38) requires subjects to identify six basic emotions (happiness, sadness, anger, fear, surprise, and disgust) from facial expressions, although Cacciotti-Saija et al. (34) gave no information about whether they used morphing images of different emotional valences or varying degree of emotional intensities. Movie Stills Task (39) requires identification of emotions (happy, surprised, afraid, angry, disgusted, sad, or neutral) from a complex movie scene. On the other hand, Pictures of Facial Affect (POFA) (40) uses facial photos providing the morphing faces of different emotions, or emotional face of different emotional intensities (0% fearful,

TABLE 1 | Cognitive scales used.

Study (year)	Emotion recognition	Theory of mind	Attributional bias
Scoriels et al. (2011) (32) Lees et al. (2017) (33)	ERT MCCB-social cognition		-
Cacciotti-Saija et al. (2015) (34) Fernandez-Gonzalo et al. (2015) (35) Mendella et al. (2015) (36)	FEEST Movie Stills Task POFA MSCEIT	FBPST, Faux Pas Task, Empathy Quotient, RMET ToM 1st order, ToM 2nd order, Hinting Task, RMET -	Ambiguous Intentions Hostility Question IPSAQ –

ERT, Emotion Recognition Task; MCCB, Measurement and Treatment Research to Improve Cognition in Schizophrenia (MATRICS) Consensus Cognitive Battery; FEEST, Facial Expressions of Emotions Task; POFA, Pictures of Facial Affect; MSCEIT, Mayer–Salovey–Caruso Emotional Intelligence Test; FBPST, False Belief Picture Sequencing Task; RMET, Reading the Mind in the Eyes Test; IPSAQ, Internal, Personal and Situational Attributions Questionnaire. 10% fearful, 20% fearful, 30% fearful, ... and 100% fearful). In this task, subjects are instructed to recognize basic emotions (happiness, sadness, anger, disgust, and surprise) in 60 faces. Furthermore, Emotion Recognition Task (ERT) consists of a series of mixed ethnic background faces photographs depicting seven emotions: happiness, surprise, neutral, fear, disgust, anger, and sadness (41). Finally, a subdomain of social cognition of the MATRICS Consensus Cognitive Battery (MCCB) (42, 43) was developed for use in schizophrenia.

Theory of Mind

False Belief Picture Sequencing Task (44) consists of arrangement of picture-cards into a logical sequence of events to test the ability to go beyond objective information to reason that a story protagonist is acting on the basis of a false belief. Reading the Mind in the Eyes Test (RMET) (45) assesses the ability to infer mental states from images of eye regions, and provides a sensitive measure of social cognition impairments in early psychosis (46). The modified Faux Pas Task (47) requires participants to respond when faux pas are present. The Empathy Quotient (48) is a self-report measure of cognitive and affective aspects of empathy.

ToM task consists of four classic false belief/deception stories; the "Sally & Anne" (49) and "Box of Chocolate" stories (50) are used to assess first-order ToM abilities, while "Burglar" (50) and "Ice-Cream Van" (50) are used to assess second-order ToM skills. These stories are read aloud by the examiner, and subjects are asked to listen and subsequently answer a ToM question and a control question. In order to avoid a possible learning effect, two homologous false belief/deception first-order ToM stories ["Cigarettes" (51) and "Piggy bank" (51)] and second-order ToM stories ["Train station" (52) and "Coke" (52)] are administered at baseline and posttreatment. Hinting Task (53) is also used, in which patients have to understand indirect speech and infer the mental state of one of the characters.

Attributional Bias

Ambiguous Intentions Hostility Questionnaire (54) contains five short vignettes describing negative interpersonal events with ambiguous causality. Internal, Personal, and Situational Attributions Questionnaire (IPSAQ) (55) is designed to assess the extent to which individuals attribute negative and positive events to different attributional loci. The task consists of 32 social items describing 16 positive and 16 negative events. Patients are asked to generate the most likely cause of each event and state whether the cause is due to self, other people, or circumstances. Six subscale scores are generated (number of positive events attributed to self, other people, and circumstances, and corresponding scores for negative events), which are used to calculate two composite scores: externalizing bias (EB) and personalizing bias (PB).

Procedures and Data Extraction

Initially, titles and abstracts were screened to identify eligible studies. Full-text articles were obtained for all the studies considered compatible based on the abstract screening and were further reviewed for eligibility.

Risk of Bias in Individual Studies

We selected the Cochrane Collaboration's risk of bias tool to evaluate risk of bias in each trial. Two independent reviewers (YY and TI) determined 1) if patients were correctly randomized, 2) if the randomization method was properly concealed, and 3) if subjects and/or investigators and/or raters were blinded. We assessed whether the authors collected and reported all results for all pre-specified outcomes. A senior reviewer (TS) approved the final decision of the assessment of risk of bias.

RESULTS

The initial search provided a total of 39 records. After removing duplicates, 32 articles were screened, of which 11 English full texts were available. Five articles found eligible for the systematic review. Articles describing studies that involved only secondary analysis of baseline data from RCT (n = 3), and no social cognition outcome measures (n = 3) were excluded. The PRISMA study selection flowchart is shown in **Figure 1**. The summary of risk of bias is presented in **Figure 2**.

Characteristics of Studies

The five studies included in the current review encompassed 212 subjects (151 men and 61 women). Characteristics of the selected studies are shown in **Table 2**. There were considerable differences between the studies in terms of demographics, intervention type, and outcome measures. Two studies (32, 36) targeted first-episode psychosis (FEP) subjects, while three (33–35) included early psychosis patients with less than 5-year illness duration. Two studies used cognition training or rehabilitation as their intervention (35, 36), while one concerned intervention with oxytocin (34), and two with modafinil (32, 33). For these studies, treatment as usual (35, 36) or placebo therapy (32–34) was used as a comparison group.

Systematic Review

Social Cognitive Deficits at Baseline

Social cognitive impairment, including emotional recognition, ToM, and attributional biases, was evident during the early phase of psychosis, as shown in **Table 3**.

Effect Sizes of Interventions for Social Cognitive Deficits

Social Cognitive Training

Social cognitive training exhibited significant effects in limited domains. The three studies included in the systematic review used social cognitive training, two of which found significant effects, as shown in **Table 2**. Effect sizes by means of Cohen's d (56, 57) indicated large effects on emotional recognition domains in two studies (35, 36), while other domains were not affected (see **Table 3**).

Pharmacological Treatment

There were no significant effects of oxytocin on any outcomes of social cognition (34). One study found that modafinil significantly improved the recognition of sad facial expressions (32), although there was no significant effect on social cognition



performance, as measured by the MCCB, in another study of modafinil (33) (**Table 3**).

DISCUSSION

Five papers met the inclusion criteria for the current review. Two studies of cognitive training showed positive results in terms of social cognition. One study (32) of modafinil also reports improvement of recognition of sad facial expressions. On the other hand, two pharmacological studies (33, 34) on oxytocin or modafinil did not exhibit such effects.

Social cognition training was shown to improve emotional processing in early psychosis (35). Patients with first-episode schizophrenia present difficulties in identifying facial emotions, specifically negative ones (58), which have been related with functionality (9). Current reviews suggest that emotional processing may be improved by cognitive training even at early stages of the illness. On the other hand, efficacy of cognitive remediation was not evident in other domains of social cognition, which requires further investigations.

Social cognitive training programs aim to improve specific domains of social cognitive impairments that are related to social

functioning and readily transferable to real-world situations (59). These cognitive models of early psychosis rest on aberrant salience and biased appraisal processes (60). These biological processes consist of increased striatal dopamine release, which is associated with aberrant salience. Aberrant salience opens the gates to consciousness for trivial stimuli to enter the center of attention, and the salient stimulus cries out for an appraisal (60, 61). The appraisal process elicited by aberrant salience is a key mechanism of developing delusions. A characteristic of individuals with early psychosis is that they are still open for multiple explanations for extraordinary experiences. Cognitive therapy targets appraisal processes that accompany perceptual aberrations and suspiciousness to normalize extraordinary experiences with education (61).

Although Cacciotti-Saija et al. (34) and Fernandez-Gonzalo et al. (35) used the same Ekman's photos as dependent measure, their studies reported different intervention effects. This suggests that social cognitive training and oxytocin treatment may change different neurobiological substrates.

Although existing evidence indicates that oxytocin impacts favorably on domains of social cognition (62), its treatment effects, in comparison with placebo, were absent in young people with early psychosis. Oxytocin is a neuropeptide that interacts with a variety of neuromodulators, including serotonin and dopamine,



FIGURE 2 Assessment of risk of bias for included studies, based on the Cochrane Collaboration's risk of bias tool. We determined whether each trial had a low, high, or uncertain risk of bias in terms of random sequence generation, allocation concealment, blinding of participants and personnel, blinding of outcome assessment, incomplete outcome data, selective reporting, and other biases.

TABLE 2 Summary of studies comparing the performance on social cognition tasks in individuals with early psychosis.

Study (year)	Participants (number)	Age (years) Mean (SD)	Gender Male, %	Intervention (number)	Control (number)	Outcome domains	Results
Scoriels et al. (2011) (32)	FEP (40)	Crossover design 25 (2)	77.5	Modafinil (40)	Placebo (40)	Emotion recognition	Significant effects
Lees et al. (2017) (33)	Early psychosis (40)	Crossover design 25.7 (4.9)	73.8	Modafinil (40)	Placebo (40)	Emotion recognition	No significant effects
Cacciotti-Saija et al. (2015) (34)	Early psychosis (52)	Intervention 21.5 (4.2) Control 22.3 (4.4)	69.2	SCT + Oxytocin (27)	SCT + Placebo (25)	Emotion recognition Theory of mind Attributional bias	No significant effects in any domains
Fernandez- Gonzalo et al. (2015) (35)	Early psychosis (53)	Intervention 30.9 (5.9) Control 30.0 (7.4)	64.2	NPT-MH (28)	Nonspecific computer training (25)	Emotion recognition Theory of mind Attributional bias	Significant effects only in emotion recognition
Mendella et al. (2015) (36)	FEP (27)	Intervention 25.0 (3.9) Control 24.8 (2.6)	74.1	CCT (16)	TAU (11)	Emotion recognition	Significant effects

FEP, first-episode psychosis; SD, standard deviation; SCT, social cognition training. Participants underwent a 6-week group-based program. The program involved a combination of group learning activities (70% of total session time) and computer-based training tasks (30% of session time) completed in pairs. NPT-MH, Neuro Personal Trainer–Mental Health; a new cognitive exercise based on multimedia content; CCT, compensatory cognitive training; TAU, treatment as usual.

in the nucleus accumbens and amygdala (63). Results from a previous study (64) suggest that genetic variants of oxytocin receptors may be responsible for social cognitive impairments of schizophrenia. The reliability of benefits of oxytocin and other neuropeptides, e.g., vasopressin, across population and contexts remains an ongoing issue. Modafinil is a wake-promoting agent for the treatment of excessive daytime sleepiness. It activates monoamines and glutamate, and inhibits γ -aminobutyric acid neurotransmitters in several brain regions, including the prefrontal cortex, hippocampus, hypothalamus, thalamus, and basal ganglia. Modafinil also induces changes of neurotransmissions in the
TABLE 3 | Effect of intervention on social cognition performance.

Study	Scales	Inter	vention	Co	ntrol	p-value	Effect size
		Baseline mean (SD) score	Posttreatment mean (SD) score	Baseline mean (SD) score	Posttreatment mean (SD) score		Partial η ²
Scoriels et al. (32)	ERT-sadness	83.6 (3.18)	91.8 (2.09)	83.6 (3.18)	91.8 (2.09)	0.003	0.330
							(Hedges' g)
Lees et al. (33)	MCCB-social cognition	38.8 (9.4)	40.2 (11.5)	38.8 (9.4)	40.2 (11.5)	0.22	0.139
							(Hedges' g)
Cacciotti-Saija et al. (34)	FEEST	45.0 (7.3)	49.4 (6.5)	44.9 (7.5)	48.8 (8.3)	0.93	0.001
	Movie Stills-no face	9.8 (1.8)	10.3 (2.2)	9.7 (1.8)	10.3 (2.1)	0.88	0.002
	Movie Stills-face	11.9 (3.0)	11.7 (2.0)	11.3 (1.6)	11.7 (1.7)	0.44	0.015
	FBPST	18.7 (4.7)	21.1 (4.8)	20.1 (4.8)	20.7 (5.2)	0.12	0.042
	Faux Pas—Hit Rate	0.9 (0.1)	0.9 (0.2)	0.8 (0.2)	0.9 (0.2)	0.09	0.047
	Faux Pas—False Alarm	0.2 (0.3)	0.1 (0.2)	0.1 (0.3)	0.1 (0.2)	0.73	0.006
	Empathy Quotient	11.8 (6.2)	10.9 (4.8)	12.6 (4.7)	13.0 (4.8)	0.21	0.032
	RMET	66.1 (17.0)	66.6 (17.8)	69.7 (14.2)	71.7 (14.4)	0.53	0.013
	AIHQ—Hostility Bias	26.2 (10.3)	23.2 (8.4)	21.3 (3.6)	19.1 (3.3)	0.67	0.007
	AIHQ-Blame	42.4 (14.9)	41.8 (14.3)	41.1 (12.4)	38.8 (11.3)	0.36	0.020
	AIHQ—Aggression	22.8 (7.3)	22.6 (9.3)	22.3 (4.4)	21.0 (4.0)	0.79	0.004
Fernandez-Gonzalo et al. (35)	POFA	45.6 (6.0)	50.2 (5.0)	45.2 (5.0)	46.8 (4.2)	0.009	0.167
	ToM 1st order	3.9 (0.5)	3.9 (0.3)	3.8 (0.6)	3.9 (0.3)	0.76	0.003
	ToM 2nd order	3.1 (0.8)	3.1 (1.1)	3.1 (1.0)	2.6 (0.8)	0.25	0.035
	Hinting Task	4.6 (1.3)	5.6 (0.8)	4.2 (1.4)	5.5 (0.9)	0.53	0.011
	RMET	23.1 (4.5)	24.1 (5.2)	22.4 (4.7)	22.0 (4.9)	0.25	0.035
	IPSAQ-Externalizing	0.2 (3.0)	3.6 (14.5)	0.0 (3.4)	-0.1 (2.8)	0.32	0.027
	IPSAQ-Personalizing	1.1 (0.6)	1.0 (0.8)	1.2 (0.5)	1.1 (0.4)	0.98	< 0.001
Mendella et al. (36)	MSCEIT	42.8 (12.2)	47.3 (9.5)	46.3 (10.8)	42.3 (10.7)	0.04	0.17

SD, standard deviation, Effect sizes (partial η^2) indicate small > 0.01, medium > 0.06, and large > 0.14 effects. ERT, Emotion Recognition Task; MCCB, MATRICS Consensus Cognitive Battery; FEEST, Facial Expressions of Emotions Task; FBPST, False Belief Picture Sequencing Task; RMET, Reading the Mind in the Eyes Test; AlHQ, Ambiguous Intentions Hostility Question; POFA, Pictures of Facial Affect; IPSAQ, Internal, Personal and Situational Attributions Questionnaire; MSCEIT, Mayer–Salovey–Caruso Emotional Intelligence Test.

hippocampus and limbic regions, an action related to memoryand mood-enhancing properties (32).

Scoriels et al. (32) reported the efficacy of modafinil on emotional recognition using the Emotion Recognition Task (ERT). Critical nodes in the emotional face recognition circuitry include the amygdala, which is activated during performance on the ERT (65). Modafinil activates amygdala (66) and increases serotonin levels in it (67). These observations suggest that modafinil improves emotional face recognition in patients with FEP through serotonergic effects on the amygdala. On the other hand, Lees et al. (33) did not find the ability of modafinil to improve social cognition in early psychosis, as measured by the MCCB. These results indicate that the prosocial cognition effects of modafinil or other compounds depend on the type of cognitive tests used.

The neural network of social cognition consists of orbitofrontal cortex, medial prefrontal cortex, superior temporal sulcus, and amygdala, whose functional connectivity is decreased in psychotic patients (68, 69). Previous studies showed that the amygdala plays a key role in perception of facial emotional expression (39), while the prefrontal cortices are strongly associated with ToM (70). On the other hand, the superior temporal sulcus is related to both domains of social cognition (71). These lines of evidence may provide a clue to the development of novel therapeutics, including those of neuromodulation methods.

The differential effects of treatment on emotion recognition, ToM, and attribution styles deserve discussions. Emotion processing shows a consistent relationship with community functioning, which includes a wide range of activities and behaviors related to work functioning and independent living (72, 73). ToM relates to the capacity to interpret beliefs and feelings of others, i.e., predicting general psychotic symptoms, especially negative ones (74). Moreover, ToM is strongly associated with multiple dimensions of social functioning, including interpersonal communication, recreational activities, independence, and performance (73). On the other hand, attributional bias describes how individuals make sense the causes of the positive and negative social events and interactions encountered in life, providing a significant impact on behaviors (75). These findings support the roles for individual domains of social cognition in mediating neurocognition and functional outcomes, which may be relevant to early psychosis.

To conquer social cognition impairments in established schizophrenia, psychosocial approaches, e.g., social cognition and interaction training (SCIT), metacognitive training, training of affect recognition (TAR), emotion and ToM imitation training, emotion processing, and ToM video-based training, as well as pharmacological approaches, e.g., aripiprazole and risperidone, have been attempted. However, there is no such attempt targeting early psychosis, indicating a need for further efforts in this area.

Since no definite strategy has been established to treat social cognition deficits in early psychoses, some types of neuromodulation have been drawing attention. For example, repetitive transcranial magnetic stimulation (rTMS) has been shown to ameliorate facial affect recognition, assessed by "Picture of Facial Affect," in patients with chronic schizophrenia (76). This result may indicate that noninvasive brain stimulations may improve social cognition in patients with psychosis. Transcranial direct current stimulation (tDCS) is another type of transcranial electrical stimulation procedures. So far, tDCS has been shown to improve neurocognition, as well as daily-living skills and depressive symptoms, in patients with schizophrenia (77). Of note, the effect on psychotic symptoms was associated with oxyhemoglobin concentrations in cortical regions, as measured by near-infrared spectroscopy (78). Based on these considerations, efforts to evaluate the benefit of neuromodulation on social cognition in psychosis are warranted.

In the present review, we did not find any study exploring the influence of antipsychotic treatments on social cognitions, such as ToM, emotion recognition, and attributional style, in patients with early psychosis. This area also deserves further investigations.

LIMITATIONS

The limitations of the present review should be noted here. Although 2006 workshop sponsored by the National Institute of Mental Health (NIMH) (11) recommended five domains (attributional style, emotion recognition, social knowledge, social perception, and ToM) for the evaluation of social cognition in psychotic disorders, no study to date has comprehensively examined these domains in the same sample; heterogeneity in terms of social cognitive domains across studies may have obscured findings on the efficacy of treatments. Further investigations circumventing these methodological issues deserve considerations.

REFERENCES

- MacDonald AW, Schulz SC. What we know: findings that every theory of schizophrenia should explain. *Schizophr Bull* (2009) 35(3):493–508. doi: 10.1093/schbul/sbp017
- Andreasen NC. Schizophrenia: the fundamental questions. Brain Res Rev (2000) 31(2–3):106–12. doi: 10.1016/S0165-0173(99)00027-2
- Mueser KT, McGurk SR. Schizophrenia. Lancet (2004) 363(9426):2063–72. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(04)16458-1
- Lehman AF, Goldberg R, Dixon LB, McNary S, Postrado L, Hackman A, et al. Improving employment outcomes for persons with severe mental illnesses. *Arch Gen Psychiatry* (2002) 59(2):165–72. doi: 10.1001/archpsyc.59.2.165
- Marwaha S, Johnson S. Schizophrenia and employment—a review. Soc Psychiatry Psychiatr Epidemiol (2004) 39(5):337–49. doi: 10.1007/ s00127-004-0762-4
- Jahshan C, Heaton RK, Golshan S, Cadenhead KS. Course of neurocognitive deficits in the prodrome and first episode of schizophrenia. *Neuropsychology* (2010) 24(1):109–20. doi: 10.1037/a0016791
- Fioravanti M, Bianchi V, Cinti ME. Cognitive deficits in schizophrenia: an updated meta-analysis of the scientific evidence. *BMC Psychiatry* (2012) 12:64. doi: 10.1186/1471-244X-12-64
- Couture SM, Penn DL, Roberts DL. The functional significance of social cognition in schizophrenia: a review. *Schizophr Bull* (2006) 32(Suppl 1):S44– 63. doi: 10.1093/schbul/sbl029
- Fett AK, Viechtbauer W, Dominguez MD, Penn DL, van Os J, Krabbendam L. The relationship between neurocognition and social cognition with functional outcomes in schizophrenia: a meta-analysis. *Neurosci Biobehav Rev* (2011) 35(3):573–88. doi: 10.1016/j.neubiorev.2010.07.001

CONCLUSIONS

As interventions into disturbances of social cognition in early psychosis provide an important issue, further studies, including those with novel paradigms, are warranted.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

YY and TS planned the study. YY designed it and drafted the first manuscript. YY and TI independently searched and assessed the literature. TS approved the final list of included studies. TI, MM, KS, NS, NU, YO, NH, and TS critically reviewed the draft and revised it. All authors made substantial contributions and approved the final manuscript.

FUNDING

This study was supported by Japan Society for the Promotion of Science (JSPS) KAKENHI No. 17K10321, Intramural Research Grant (29-1, 30-1, 30-8) for Neurological and Psychiatric Disorders of National Center of Neurology and Psychiatry (NCNP), and AMED under Grant Numbers 18dk0307069 and 18dk0307081.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We would like to thank Drs. Kazuyuki Nakagome and Mitsutoshi Okazaki at the National Center of Neurology and Psychiatry for supporting our research activity.

- Green MF, Olivier B, Crawley JN, Penn DL, Silverstein S. Social cognition in schizophrenia: recommendations from the measurement and treatment research to improve cognition in schizophrenia new approaches conference. *Schizophr Bull* (2005) 31(4):882–7. doi: 10.1093/schbul/sbi049
- Green MF, Penn DL, Bentall R, Carpenter WT, Gaebel W, Gur RC, et al. Social cognition in schizophrenia: an NIMH workshop on definitions, assessment, and research opportunities. *Schizophr Bull* (2008) 34(6):1211– 20. doi: 10.1093/schbul/sbm145
- Penn DL, Sanna LJ, Roberts DL. Social cognition in schizophrenia: an overview. Schizophr Bull (2008) 34(3):408–11. doi: 10.1093/schbul/sbn014
- Amminger GP, Schäfer MR, Klier CM, Schlögelhofer M, Mossaheb N, Thompson A, et al. Facial and vocal affect perception in people at ultra-high risk of psychosis, first-episode schizophrenia and healthy controls. *Early Interv Psychiatry* (2012) 6(4):450–4. doi: 10.1111/j. 1751-7893.2012.00362.x
- Horan WP, Green MF, DeGroot M, Fiske A, Hellemann G, Kee K, et al. Social cognition in schizophrenia, Part 2: 12-month stability and prediction of functional outcome in first-episode patients. *Schizophr Bull* (2012) 38(4):865–72. doi: 10.1093/schbul/sbr001
- Bora E, Pantelis C. Theory of mind impairments in first-episode psychosis, individuals at ultra-high risk for psychosis and in first-degree relatives of schizophrenia: systematic review and meta-analysis. *Schizophr Res* (2013) 144(1–3):31–6. doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2012.12.013
- Thompson A, Papas A, Bartholomeusz C, Nelson B, Yung A. Externalized attributional bias in the Ultra High Risk (UHR) for psychosis population. *Psychiatry Res* (2013) 206(2–3):200–5. doi: 10.1016/j.psychres.2012.10.017
- Saykin AJ, Shtasel DL, Gur RE, Kester DB, Mozley LH, Stafiniak P, et al. Neuropsychological deficits in neuroleptic naive patients with first-episode

schizophrenia. Arch Gen Psychiatry (1994) 51(2):124-31. doi: 10.1001/ archpsyc.1994.03950020048005

- Bilder RM, Reiter G, Bates J, Lencz T, Szeszko P, Goldman RS, et al. Cognitive development in schizophrenia: follow-back from the first episode. J Clin Exp Neuropsychol (2006) 28(2):270–82. doi: 10.1080/ 13803390500360554
- Eastvold AD, Heaton RK, Cadenhead KS. Neurocognitive deficits in the (putative) prodrome and first episode of psychosis. *Schizophr Res* (2007) 93(1–3):266–77. doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2007.03.013
- Addington J, Saeedi H, Addington D. Influence of social perception and social knowledge on cognitive and social functioning in early psychosis. Br J Psychiatry (2006) 189:373–8. doi: 10.1192/bjp.bp.105.021022
- Achim AM, Ouellet R, Roy MA, Jackson PL. Mentalizing in first-episode psychosis. *Psychiatry Res* (2012) 196(2–3):207–13. doi: 10.1016/j. psychres.2011.10.011
- 22. Bourdeau G, Masse M, Lecomte T. Social functioning in early psychosis: are all the domains predicted by the same variables? *Early Interv Psychiatry* (2012) 6(3):317–21. doi: 10.1111/j.1751-7893.2011.00337.x
- Lecomte T, Corbière M, Ehmann T, Addington J, Abdel-Baki A, Macewan B. Development and preliminary validation of the First Episode Social Functioning Scale for early psychosis. *Psychiatry Res* (2014) 216(3):412–7. doi: 10.1016/j.psychres.2014.01.044
- Glatt SJ, Stone WS, Faraone SV, Seidman LJ, Tsuang MT. Psychopathology, personality traits and social development of young first-degree relatives of patients with schizophrenia. *Br J Psychiatry* (2006) 189:337–45. doi: 10.1192/ bjp.bp.105.016998
- Lavoie MA, Plana I, Bédard Lacroix J, Godmaire-Duhaime F, Jackson PL, Achim AM. Social cognition in first-degree relatives of people with schizophrenia: a meta-analysis. *Psychiatry Res* (2013) 209(2):129–35. doi: 10.1016/j.psychres.2012.11.037
- Keshavan MS, Hogarty GE. Brain maturational processes and delayed onset in schizophrenia. *Dev Psychopathol* (1999) 11(3):525–43. doi: 10.1017/ S0954579499002199
- Berger G, Dell'Olio M, Amminger P, Cornblatt B, Phillips L, Yung A, et al. Neuroprotection in emerging psychotic disorders. *Early Interv Psychiatry* (2007) 1:114–27. doi: 10.1111/j.1751-7893.2007.00021.x
- Kim EJ, Bahk YC, Oh H, Lee WH, Lee JS, Choi KH. Current status of cognitive remediation for psychiatric disorders: a review. *Front Psychiatry* (2018) 9:461. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2018.00461
- Hill SK, Bishop JR, Palumbo D, Sweeney JA. Effect of second-generation antipsychotics on cognition: current issues and future challenges. *Expert Rev Neurother* (2010) 10(1):43–57. doi: 10.1586/ern.09.143
- Kucharska-Pietura K, Mortimer A. Can antipsychotics improve social cognition in patients with schizophrenia? CNS Drugs (2013) 27(5):335–43. doi: 10.1007/s40263-013-0047-0
- Liberati A, Altman DG, Tetzlaff J, Mulrow C, Gøtzsche PC, Ioannidis JP, et al. The PRISMA statement for reporting systematic reviews and metaanalyses of studies that evaluate health care interventions: explanation and elaboration. J Clin Epidemiol (2009) 62(10):e1–34. doi: 10.1016/j. jclinepi.2009.06.006
- Scoriels L, Barnett JH, Murray GK, Cherukuru S, Fielding M, Cheng F, et al. Effects of modafinil on emotional processing in first episode psychosis. *Biol Psychiatry* (2011) 69(5):457–64. doi: 10.1016/j.biopsych.2010.09.043
- 33. Lees J, Michalopoulou PG, Lewis SW, Preston S, Bamford C, Collier T, et al. Modafinil and cognitive enhancement in schizophrenia and healthy volunteers: the effects of test battery in a randomized controlled trial. *Psychol Med* (2017) 47(13):2358–68. doi: 10.1017/S0033291717000885
- 34. Cacciotti-Saija C, Langdon R, Ward PB, Hickie IB, Scott EM, Naismith SL, et al. A double-blind randomized controlled trial of oxytocin nasal spray and social cognition training for young people with early psychosis. *Schizophr Bull* (2015) 41(2):483–93. doi: 10.1093/schbul/sbu094
- 35. Fernandez-Gonzalo S, Turon M, Jodar M, Pousa E, Hernandez Rambla C, García R, et al. A new computerized cognitive and social cognition training specifically designed for patients with schizophrenia/schizoaffective disorder in early stages of illness: a pilot study. *Psychiatry Res* (2015) 228(3):501–9. doi: 10.1016/j.psychres.2015.06.007
- Mendella PD, Burton CZ, Tasca GA, Roy P, St Louis L, Twamley EW. Compensatory cognitive training for people with first-episode schizophrenia:

results from a pilot randomized controlled trial. *Schizophr Res* (2015) 162(1-3):108-11. doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2015.01.016

- Caruso DR, Mayer JD, Salovey P. Relation of an ability measure of emotional intelligence to personality. J Pers Assess (2002) 79(2):306–20. doi: 10.1207/ S15327752JPA7902_12
- Young A, Perrett D, Calder A, Sprengelmeyer R, Ekman P. Facial expressions of emotion: stimuli and tests (FEEST). Edmunds, UK: Thames Valley Test Company (2002).
- Adolphs R, Tranel D. Amygdala damage impairs emotion recognition from scenes only when they contain facial expressions. *Neuropsychologia* (2003) 41:1281–9. doi: 10.1016/S0028-3932(03)00064-2
- 40. Ekman P, Friesen W. *Pictures of facial affect*. Palo Alto, CA: Consulting Psychologist Press (1976).
- Matsumoto D, Ekman P. Japanese and Caucasian facial expressions of emotion (JACFEE) and neutral Faces (JACNeuF) [slides and brochure]. San Francisco: San Francisco State University (1988).
- Nuechterlein KH, Green MF, Kern RS, Baade LE, Barch DM, Cohen JD, et al. The MATRICS consensus cognitive battery, part 1: test selection, reliability, and validity. *Am J Psychiatry* (2008) 165:203–13. doi: 10.1176/ appi.ajp.2007.07010042
- Kern RS, Nuechterlein KH, Green MF, Baade LE, Fenton WS, Gold JM, et al. The MATRICS Consensus Cognitive Battery, part 2: co-norming and standardization. *Am J Psychiatry* (2008) 165:214–20. doi: 10.1176/appi. ajp.2007.07010043
- Langdon R, Michie PT, Ward PB, McConaghy N, Catts SV, Coltheart M. Defective self and/or other mentalising in schizophrenia: a cognitive neuropsychological approach. *Cogn Neuropsychiatry* (1997) 2(3):167–93. doi: 10.1080/135468097396324
- 45. Baron-Cohen S, Wheelwright S, Hill J, Raste Y, Plumb I. The "Reading the Mind in the Eyes" test revised version: a study with normal adults, and adults with Asperger syndrome or high-functioning autism. J Child Psychol Psychiatry (2001) 42:241–51. doi: 10.1017/S0021963001006643
- 46. Guastella AJ, Hermens DF, Van Zwieten A, Naismith SL, Lee RS, Cacciotti-Saija C, et al. Social cognitive performance as a marker of positive psychotic symptoms in young people seeking help for mental health problems. *Schizophr Res* (2013) 149:77–82. doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2013.06.006
- Stone VE, Baron-Cohen S, Knight RT. Frontal lobe contributions to theory of mind. J Cogn Neurosci (1998) 10:640–56. doi: 10.1162/089892998562942
- Baron-Cohen S, Wheelwright S. The empathy quotient: an investigation of adults with Asperger syndrome or high functioning autism, and normal sex differences. J Autism Dev Disord (2004) 34:163–75. doi: 10.1023/B:J ADD.0000022607.19833.00
- Baron-Cohen S, Leslie AM, Frith U. Does the autistic child have a "theory of mind"? *Cognition* (1985) 21:37–46. doi: 10.1016/0010-0277(85)90022-8
- Happe FG. An advanced test of theory of mind: understanding of story characters; thoughts and feelings by able autistic, mentally handicapped, and normal children and adults. *J Autism Dev Disord* (1994) 24:129–54. doi: 10.1007/BF02172093
- Baron-Cohen S. The autistic child's theory of mind: a case of specific developmental delay. J Child Psychol Psychiatry (1989) 30:285–97. doi: 10.1111/j.1469-7610.1989.tb00241.x
- 52. Frith CD, Corcoran R. Exploring 'theory of mind' in people with schizophrenia. *Psychol Med* (1996) 26:521–30. doi: 10.1017/S0033291700035601
- Corcoran R, Mercer G, Frith CD. Schizophrenia, symptomatology and social inference: investigating "theory of mind" in people with schizophrenia. *Schizophr Res* (1995) 17(1):5–13. doi: 10.1016/0920-9964(95)00024-G
- Combs DR, Penn DL, Wicher M, Waldheter E. The Ambiguous Intentions Hostility Questionnaire (AIHQ): a new measure for evaluating hostile social-cognitive biases in paranoia. *Cogn Neuropsychiatry* (2007) 12:128–43. doi: 10.1080/13546800600787854
- 55. Kinderman P, Bentall RP. A new measure of causal locus: the internal, personal and situational attributions questionnaire. *Pers Individ Dif* (1995) 20:261–4. doi: 10.1016/0191-8869(95)00186-7
- 56. Cohen J. Statistical power analysis for the behavioral sciences (2nd ed). Hillsdale, NJ: Lawrence Earlbaum associates (1988).
- 57. Morris SB, DeShon RP. Combining effect size estimates in meta-analysis with repeated measures and independent-groups designs. *Psychol Methods* (2002) 7:105–25. doi: 10.1037//1082-989X.7.1.105

- Daros AR, Ruocco AC, Reilly JL, Harris MS, Sweeney JA. Facial emotion recognition in first-episode schizophrenia and bipolar disorder with psychosis. *Schizophr Res* (2014) 153(1–3):32–7. doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2014.01.009
- Brown EC, Tas C, Brüne M. Potential therapeutic avenues to tackle social cognition problems in schizophrenia. *Expert Rev Neurother* (2012) 12(1):71– 81. doi: 10.1586/ern.11.183
- Kapur S. Psychosis as a state of aberrant salience: a framework linking biology, phenomenology, and pharmacology in schizophrenia. *Am J Psychiatry* (2003) 160(1):13–23. doi: 10.1176/appi.ajp.160.1.13
- van der Gaag M, van den Berg D, Ising H. CBT in the prevention of psychosis and other severe mental disorders in patients with an at risk mental state: a review and proposed next steps. *Schizophr Res* (2019) 203:88–93. doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2017.08.018
- Guastella AJ, Einfeld SL, Gray KM, Rinehart NJ, Tonge BJ, Lambert TJ, et al. Intranasal oxytocin improves emotion recognition for youth with autism spectrum disorders. *Biol Psychiatry* (2010) 67(7):692–4. doi: 10.1016/j. biopsych.2009.09.020
- 63. Bukovskaya O, Shmukler A. Oxytocin and social cognitions in schizophrenia: a systematic review. *Psychiatr Q* (2016) 87(3):521–43. doi: 10.1007/ s11126-015-9407-x
- Davis MC, Horan WP, Nurmi EL, Rizzo S, Li W, Sugar CA, et al. Associations between oxytocin receptor genotypes and social cognitive performance in individuals with schizophrenia. *Schizophr Res* (2014) 159(2–3):353–7. doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2014.09.006
- Blair RJ, Morris JS, Frith CD, Perrett DI, Dolan RJ. Dissociable neural responses to facial expressions of sadness and anger. *Brain* (1999) 122(Pt 5): 883–93. doi: 10.1093/brain/122.5.883
- Scammell TE, Estabrooke IV, McCarthy MT, Chemelli RM, Yanagisawa M, Miller MS, et al. Hypothalamic arousal regions are activated during modafinil-induced wakefulness. *J Neurosci* (2000) 20(22):8620–8. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.20-22-08620.2000
- Ferraro L, Fuxe K, Tanganelli S, Tomasini MC, Rambert FA, Antonelli T. Differential enhancement of dialysate serotonin levels in distinct brain regions of the awake rat by modafinil: possible relevance for wakefulness and depression. *J Neurosci Res* (2002) 68(1):107–12. doi: 10.1002/jnr. 10196
- Brothers L. The social brain: a project for integrating primate behavior and neurophysiology in a new domain. *Concepts Neurosci* (1990) 1:27–51.
- Frith CD, Frith U. Social cognition in humans. *Curr Biol* (2007) 17(16):R724– 32. doi: 10.1016/j.cub.2007.05.068
- 70. Baron-Cohen S, Ring H, Moriarty J, Schmitz B, Costa D, Ell P. Recognition of mental state terms. Clinical findings in children with autism and a functional

neuroimaging study of normal adults. Br J Psychiatry (1994) 165(5):640-9. doi: 10.1192/bjp.165.5.640

- Brunet-Gouet E, Decety J. Social brain dysfunctions in schizophrenia: a review of neuroimaging studies. *Psychiatry Res* (2006) 148(2–3):75–92. doi: 10.1016/j.pscychresns.2006.05.001
- Kee KS, Green MF, Mintz J, Brekke JS. Is emotion processing a predictor of functional outcome in schizophrenia? *Schizophr Bull* (2003) 29(3):487–97. doi: 10.1093/oxfordjournals.schbul.a007021
- Javed A, Charles A. The importance of social cognition in improving functional outcomes in schizophrenia. *Front Psychiatry* (2018) 9:157. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2018.00157
- 74. Brown EC, Tas C, Can H, Esen-Danaci A, Brüne M. A closer look at the relationship between the subdomains of social functioning, social cognition and symptomatology in clinically stable patients with schizophrenia. *Compr Psychiatry* (2014) 55(1):25–32. doi: 10.1016/j.comppsych.2013.10.001
- Pinkham AE. Social cognition in schizophrenia. J Clin Psychiatry (2014) 75(Suppl 2):14–9. doi: 10.4088/JCP.13065su1.04
- Wölwer W, Lowe A, Brinkmeyer J, Streit M, Habakuck M, Agelink MW, et al. Repetitive transcranial magnetic stimulation (rTMS) improves facial affect recognition in schizophrenia. *Brain Stimul* (2014) 7(4):559–63. doi: 10.1016/j.brs.2014.04.011
- Narita Z, Inagawa T, Sueyoshi K, Lin C, Sumiyoshi T. Possible facilitative effects of repeated anodal transcranial direct current stimulation on functional outcome 1 month later in schizophrenia: an open trial. *Front Psychiatry* (2017) 8:184. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2017.00184
- Narita Z, Noda T, Setoyama S, Sueyoshi K, Inagawa T, Sumiyoshi T. The effect of transcranial direct current stimulation on psychotic symptoms of schizophrenia is associated with oxy-hemoglobin concentrations in the brain as measured by near-infrared spectroscopy: a pilot study. *J Psychiatr Res* (2018) 103:5–9. doi: 10.1016/j.jpsychires.2018.05.004

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declared that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2019 Yamada, Inagawa, Sueyoshi, Sugawara, Ueda, Omachi, Hirabayashi, Matsumoto, and Sumiyoshi. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CCBY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Negative Life Events and Problematic Internet Use as Factors Associated With Psychotic-Like Experiences in Adolescents

Ju-Yeon Lee^{1,2}, Dahye Ban², Seon-Young Kim¹, Jae-Min Kim¹, II-Seon Shin¹, Jin-Sang Yoon¹ and Sung-Wan Kim^{1,2*}

¹ Chonnam National University Medical School, Gwangju, South Korea, ² Gwangju Bukgu Community Mental Health Center, Gwangju, South Korea

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Lex Wunderink, GGZ Friesland, Netherlands

Reviewed by:

Michael W. Best, Queen's University, Canada Stefanie Julia Schmidt, Universität Bern, Switzerland

> *Correspondence: Sung-Wan Kim swkim@chonnam.ac.kr

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Schizoprenia, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychiatry

Received: 11 January 2019 **Accepted:** 13 May 2019 **Published:** 29 May 2019

Citation:

Lee JY, Ban D, Kim SY, Kim JM, Shin I-S, Yoon JS and Kim SW (2019) Negative Life Events and Problematic Internet Use as Factors Associated With Psychotic-Like Experiences in Adolescents. Front. Psychiatry 10:369. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2019.00369 **Objectives:** Psychotic-like experiences (PLEs) and problematic internet use (PIU) are common in adolescents. However, little is known about the association between PLEs and PIU among adolescents. The present study examined the associations between PLEs and PIU and negative life events among adolescents.

Methods: In total, 1,678 adolescents attending high school were recruited for a cross-sectional survey. They completed self-reported assessments of PLEs using the Prodromal Questionnaire-16 (PQ-16) and measures of depression, anxiety, self-esteem, internet use, and negative life events using the Center for Epidemiological Studies Depression Scale (CES-D), the State-Trait Anxiety Inventory (STAI), the Rosenberg Self-Esteem Scale (RSES), the Korean Scale for Internet Addiction (K-scale), and the Lifetime Incidence of Traumatic Events for Children (LITE-C), including cybersexual harassment and school violence.

Results: A total of 1,239 subjects (73.8%) scored at least 1 on the PQ-16. The mean total and distress PQ-16 scores were significantly higher in students who used mental health services. The total and distress prodromal questionnaire-16 (PQ-16) scores were positively correlated with the CES-D, STAI-S, STAI-T, LITE-C, and K-scale scores but negatively correlated with the RSES score. Hierarchical linear regression analysis revealed that PLEs were significantly associated with a high K-scale score and the incidence of negative life events, such as LITE-C, cybersexual harassment, and bully–victims.

Conclusion: Our results demonstrate that PIU and negative life experiences were significantly associated with PLEs in adolescents. Assessment and therapeutic intervention with regard to internet use as a coping strategy for stress are needed to prevent the development of clinical psychotic symptoms.

Keywords: psychotic-like experience, internet use, stress, coping, anxiety, depression

76

INTRODUCTION

Psychotic-like experiences (PLEs) are subclinical hallucinations and delusions that are common among adolescents (1) and are a manifestation of at-risk mental states (ARMS) for psychosis (2, 3). The presence of PLEs does not necessarily predict future conversion to psychosis (4), but it is important to address such experiences as they cause distress and functional impairment similar to individuals who transition to psychosis (5). Several psychosocial factors, such as depression, anxiety, poor selfesteem, and negative life experiences, have been reported to be risks for PLEs (6-9). In the context of negative life experiences, PLEs are associated with childhood trauma and recent life events (10, 11). Because adolescence is a distinct life stage with specific developmental tasks, adolescents must cope with various psychological events and bodily changes (12). In particular, school bullying creates substantial stress, especially during adolescence, when peer relationships become important. Cyberbullying (including sexual harassment) has become common, especially among teenagers who use the internet extensively (13). Research has revealed several serious mental health problems caused by the cyberbullying of adolescents (14).

The literature indicates that coping with the stress associated with PLEs may be important in terms of determining psychiatric outcomes (15, 16). Maladaptive coping is associated with the strong relationship between psychopathology and poor functioning in those with psychotic disorders (17, 18). Recent studies in adolescents have indicated that individuals who report subclinical psychotic experiences also commonly use poor coping styles (19). Addictive behaviors, including internet addiction, are known to be negative coping strategies with stressful events and deteriorate the individual functioning (20–22). Problematic internet use (PIU), conceptualized as "internet addiction," is characterized by persistent compulsive use of the internet that interferes with daily life, leading to significant clinical impairment (23).

PIU is a serious public mental health problem worldwide, especially in adolescents (24). In addition, adolescents who consult for PIU have comorbid mental health problems (25). From a clinical perspective, it is important to explore mental health problems in adolescents with PIU and vice versa. A recent study showed that nonclinical PLE is positively associated with PIU in young adults (26). In our previous study, PIU in patients with a schizophrenia spectrum disorder was significantly associated with dysfunctional coping with stressful events. However, few studies have investigated the association between PLEs and PIU among adolescents. In particular, as South Korea has high-speed internet and a high rate of excessive smartphone use among teenagers (95.9%) (27), PIU is becoming a serious social problem, particularly among adolescents.

This study investigated the associations among PLEs, negative life events, and PIU in Korean community high school students. In particular, we assessed negative life events among adolescents due to not only childhood trauma but also recent stressful events including cybersexual harassment and bullying at school. This study will further facilitate our understanding of these issues in the community setting, including intervention and prevention for adolescents with PLE symptoms.

METHODS

Study Design and Participants

This study was a community-based cross-sectional survey undertaken between July and September 2016 in Gwangju, Korea. In total, 2,013 first- and second-grade students from five high schools participated in the survey. Of the 2,013 students, 1,678 (83.4%) were included in the analyses after excluding incomplete or inappropriate responses on the scales. This survey was approved by the principal of each school, and the sample comprised students who voluntarily agreed to complete the questionnaires with informed consent. All measures, including data on sociodemographic characteristics, were selfadministered. The Institutional Review Board of Chonnam National University Hospital approved the study. All participants gave written informed consent prior to participation in the study.

Measures

Sociodemographic characteristics. Gender, age, religion, and academic achievement information were obtained from the students. The students were asked about their experience using mental health services offered by a psychiatric clinic, a community center, a counseling center, and a Wee Center (the name given by the Education Office of Korea); the Wee Center offers programs and counseling to city-based students with mental health problems.

Psychotic-like experiences. The Prodromal Questionnaire-16 (PQ-16) is a brief self-report screening questionnaire that assesses the presence of positive and negative symptoms on a two-point scale (true/false) (28). The total score on the PQ-16 was calculated by adding up the agreed items. For each endorsed item, distress was rated on a four-point scale (ranging from no distress to high distress). The distress scale ranged from 0 to 96. The validity of the Korean version of the PQ-16 has been well established (29).

Depression and anxiety. Depression was measured using the Center for Epidemiological Studies Depression Scale (CES-D) (30). The CES-D contains 20 items regarding depressive symptoms experienced in the past week that are rated on a Likert-type scale ["less than 1 day" to "most or all (5–7) days"]. Possible total scores range from 0 to 60, and a higher score reflects greater depression. The reliability and validity of the Korean version of the CES-D have been well established (31). Anxiety was measured using the State-Trait Anxiety Inventory for Children (STAIC) (32). The STAIC consists of two independent domains with 20 items that measure state (STAI-S) and trait (STAI-T) anxiety levels on a three-point Likert scale. Total scores range from 20 to 60 on each domain, with higher scores indicating a higher level of anxiety. The reliability and validity of the Korean version of the STAIC have been well established (33).

Self-esteem. To measure self-esteem, we used the Rosenberg's Self-Esteem Scale (RSES), which contains 10 items on a four-point Likert scale. A higher score indicates more positive self-esteem (34).

Internet use. PIU was assessed by the short-form Korean Scale for Internet Addiction (K-scale) for adolescents, which was developed by the Korea National Information Society Agency and has been validated in a Korean population (35). The scale

consists of 15 items measuring daily life disturbances, virtual interpersonal relationships, deviant behaviors, withdrawal, and tolerance; items are rated on a four-point Likert-type scale.

Negative life events. Lifetime Incidence of Traumatic Events– Child (LITE-C) is a self-checklist that assesses loss and traumatic experiences in children and adolescents (36). The score is calculated by adding the number of "yes (presence)" responses to 16 types of trauma in the LITE-C. In addition to the LITE-C, we added some negative life events, such as cyber harassment and bullying; we included victims, witnesses, and bully–victims.

Statistical Analyses

We calculated PQ-16 numbers and percentages. The mean score differences between various categorical sociodemographic factors were analyzed using the *t*-test and analysis of variance (ANOVA). Descriptive statistics were employed to estimate the means and standard deviations of continuous variables. Pearson's correlation coefficient analysis was performed to evaluate the relationships between clinical variables and PO-16 scores. We used hierarchical linear regression to examine the effects of clinical status, negative life events, and PIU, which were related to PQ-16 score in univariate analyses on PQ-16 score. In step 1, participants' clinical information (depression, anxiety, and selfesteem), which were significantly correlated with dependents, were entered. In step 2, negative life experiences including LITE-C, which were significantly differences in PQ-16 score tested by t-test or Pearson's correlation, were entered. Final step, K-scale indicating PIU that was significantly correlated with dependents, was entered. Output results including R², R²-changes, F value, and standardization regression coefficient (β) were provided in the regression models. Statistical Package for the Social Sciences (SPSS) for Windows software (ver. 21.0; SPSS Inc., Chicago, IL, USA) was used to perform the statistical tests. All statistical tests were two-tailed, and *p*-values <0.05 were considered significant.

RESULTS

Of the 1,678 students, 1,078 were boys (64.2%) and 600 were girls. The mean age was 18.6 ± 0.5 years. The mean total and distress scores on the PQ-16 were 2.3 ± 2.6 and 38.0 ± 3.0 , respectively. The distribution of PO-16 total scores is shown in Figure 1. A total of 1,239 subjects (73.8%) scored at least 1 on the PQ-16; 11.9% scored 6 or more, indicating the clinical significance of ARMS. Table 1 shows the mean differences in PQ-16 scores by demographic factors. We found no significant difference in PQ-16 scores by gender, religion, or academic achievement. The mean total and distress PQ-16 scores were significantly higher in students who used mental health services. The Wee Center was the most frequently visited institution (n = 87), followed by the community center (n = 46), the counseling center (n = 34), and the psychiatric clinic (n = 29). In terms of negative life events, students who experienced cybersexual harassment scored significantly higher in total and distress PQ-16 scores. Both mean scores were significantly higher for students who experienced school violence as victims, witnesses, and bully-victims.

Correlational analyses revealed that both the total and distress PG-16 scores were positively correlated with the CES-D, STAI-S, STAI-T, LITE-C, and K-scale scores and negatively with the RSES score (Table 2). The results of the hierarchical multiple regression analyses for PQ-16 score are shown in Table 3. The hierarchical multiple regression for PQ-16 total score revealed that at step 1, clinical information (depression, anxiety, and self-esteem) contributed significantly to the regression model, F(4,15) = 147.72, p < 0.001, and accounted for 28.1% of the variation in PQ-16 total score. Adding negative life events to the regression model explained an additional 8.5% of the variation in PQ-16 total score, and this change in \mathbb{R}^2 was significant, F(5,15) = 40.58, p < 0.001. Finally, the addition of K-scale to the regression model explained an additional 1.0% of the variation in PQ-16 total score, and this change in R² was also significant, F(1,15) = 25.07, p < 0.001. The independent variables accounted for 37.7% of variance in PQ-16 total score. The hierarchical multiple regression for PQ-16 distress score revealed that at



			PQ-16 total score			6 distress score	
		Mean (SD)	Statistics	р	Mean (SD)	Statistics	р
Gender	N (%)						
Male	1,078 (64.2)	2.3 (2.5)	-0.367	0.714	3.0 (3.8)	-0.581	0.561
Female	600 (35.8)	2.4 (2.6)			3.1 (4.0)		
Religion							
Yes	655 (39.0)	2.5 (2.7)	1.640	0.101	3.2 (4.1)	1.571	0.116
No	1,023 (61.0)	2.3 (2.4)			2.9 (3.7)		
Academic achievement							
Good	590 (35.4)	2.5 (2.6)	4.518	0.104	3.2 (3.8)	5.445	0.066
Average	527 (31.4)	2.2 (2.5)			2.8 (3.8)		
Poor	550 (32.8)	2.3 (2.6)			2.9 (4.0)		
Use for mental health							
service							
(-)	1,523 (90.8)	2.2 (2.4)	-5.768	< 0.001	2.8 (3.5)	-5.876	<0.001
(+)	155 (9.2)	3.5 (3.4)			4.7 (6.3)		
Negative life events							
Cybersexual							
harassment							
(-)	1,505 (89.7)	2.2 (2.4)	-7.201	< 0.001	2.8 (3.7)	-6.044	<0.001
(+)	172 (10.3)	3.7 (3.0)			4.7 (4.7)		
Bullying, victims							
(-)	1,503 (89.6)	2.1 (2.3)	-10.327	< 0.001	2.7 (3.4)	-11.114	<0.001
(+)	174 (10.4)	4.2 (3.4)			6.0 (5.9)		
Bullying, witness							
(-)	1,327 (79.2)	2.0 (2.2)	-12.129	< 0.001	2.4 (3.1)	-12.117	<0.001
(+)	349 (20.8)	3.8 (3.1)			5.2 (5.4)		
Bullying, bully-victims		, , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , ,			. ,		
(-)	1,577 (94.0)	2.2 (2.4)	-11.867	< 0.001	2.7 (3.4)	-12.893	<0.001
(+)	101 (6.0)	5.1 (3.5)			7.6 (6.4)		

TABLE 1 | Sociodemographic factors that influence PQ-16 score.

PQ-16, Prodromal Questionnaire-16.

 TABLE 2 | Clinical measures and their Pearson's correlation coefficients with PQ-16 score.

Scales (mean ± SD)	PQ-16 total score	PQ-16 distress score
CES-D (12.2 ± 9.3)	0.435**	0.449**
STAI-S (39.1 ± 8.9)	0.184**	0.184**
STAI-T (31.2 ± 7.8)	0.514**	0.515**
RSES (26.9 ± 5.5)	-0.185**	-0.190**
LITE-C (2.6 ± 2.1)	0.404**	0.388**
K-scale (25.3 ± 7.1)	0.314**	0.309**

CES-D, Center for Epidemiological Studies Depression Scale; STAI, State-Trait Anxiety Inventory; RSES, Rosenberg Self-Esteem Scale; LITE-C, Lifetime Incidence of Traumatic Events-Child; K-scale, Korean Scale for Internet Addiction. **p < 0.001.

step 1, clinical information contributed significantly to the regression model, *F* (4,15) = 147.68, *p* < 0.001, and accounted for 28.0% of the variation in PQ-16 distress score. Adding negative life events to the regression model explained an additional 7.8% of the variation in PQ-16 distress score, and this change in R² was significant, *F* (5,15) = 37.10, *p* < 0.001. Finally, the addition of K-scale to the regression model explained an additional 0.9% of the variation in PQ-16 distress score, and this change in R² was also significant, *F* (1,15) = 22.68, *p* < 0.001. The independent variables accounted for 36.8% of variance in PQ-16 distress score. Ultimately, high scores on the CES-D, STAI-T, K-scale, and LITE-C scale; low scores on the RSES scale; and status as a bully–victim were strongly associated with both the total and

distress PQ-16 scores. Cybersexual harassment predicted the total PQ-16 score but not the distress score.

DISCUSSION

The fact that a high percentage of participants scored at least 1 on a PQ-16 item (73.8%) is consistent with previous research in young community samples (37). Also, the percentage of students who scored at least 6 on positive PQ-16 items (indicative of clinical significance) was 11.9%, thus higher than the prevalence rate of 5-8% in the general population (38, 39). This result is in line with the prevalence of PLEs in adolescents (about 10%; thus generally higher than in adults) (40, 41).

In this study, students who used a mental health service had higher mean PQ-16 total and distress scores. It is possible that students with a variety of mental health problems, such as emotional and behavioral difficulties, use mental health services. PLEs are more frequent in help-seeking subjects (42, 43). In particular, PLEassociated distress may encourage help-seeking behavior (44). Our findings suggest that students with mental health problems and PLEs tend to have help-seeking behavior. Furthermore, individuals seeking help to deal with their PLEs could be viewed as being in the prodromal phase of various disorders. However, our results show that approximately half of students who used mental health services were referred to the Wee Center, which offers counseling services

	PQ-16 total score			PQ-1	6 distress score	
	Step 1(β)	Step 2(β)	Step 3(β)	Step 1(β)	Step 2(β)	Step 3(β)
Independent variables						
CES-D	0.173***	0.144***	0.140***	0.189***	0.159***	0.156***
STAI-S	0.011	0.021	0.019	-0.003	0.007	0.004
STAI-T	0.425***	0.355***	0.325***	0.413***	0.346***	0.317***
RSES	0.090**	0.073*	0.073*	0.083*	0.067*	0.068*
LITE-C		0.256***	0.245***		0.237***	0.227***
Cybersexual harassment		0.057*	0.053*		0.036	0.032
Bullying, victims		-0.041	-0.045		-0.056	-0.060
Bullying, witness		0.001	-0.006		-0.004	-0.010
Bullying, bully–victims		0.083*	0.091**		0.128***	0.136***
K-scale			0.110***			0.105***
R ²	0.281	0.366	0.377	0.280	0.358	0.368
ΔR^2	0.281	0.085	0.010	0.280	0.078	0.009

TABLE 3 | Hierarchical linear regression analyses predicting PQ-16 score.

p < 0.05, p < 0.01, p < 0.01, p < 0.001.

to students. Our recent study showed that school counselors are unfamiliar with the concept of high risk for psychosis and lack of confidence in treating those who have had PLEs (45). Early detection and timely delivery of psychiatric services for those who have PLEs is important to prevent a delay in the implementation of an early intervention. In this regard, teachers and school counselors should be provided with proper education regarding students with PLEs.

The severity levels of PLEs and distress as measured by the PO-16 were associated with psychological difficulties, such as depression, anxiety, and low self-esteem. These results are in line with those of previous studies showing that PLEs were associated with various psychopathologies (46-49). Depression increased the risk of transition to a full-blown psychotic disorder in the ARMS study (50). One previous work suggested that the association between PLEs and poor functioning might be explained by the extent of depression (42). We found that low self-esteem was significantly associated with both total and distress PQ-16 scores. One cognitive model of psychosis suggests that a low self-concept is related to the development and maintenance of PLEs (51). A recent study indicated that those experiencing more hallucinatorylike events exhibited lower levels of self-esteem (52). In our study, trait anxiety was significantly associated with PLEs according to the regression analysis. Trait anxiety serves as a proxy for proneness in those who experience maladaptive anxiety (53); those who score high in "trait anxiety" exhibit differential processing of threatening information. This tendency is termed "attentional threat bias"; one previous study reported that trait anxiety significantly influenced the relationship between cognitive bias and PLEs (54). Our results suggest that biased cognitive processes in adolescents exhibiting high levels of trait anxiety may independently affect PLEs.

Although most PLEs experienced during adolescence are transitional in nature, 20% of subjects experience persistent PLEs, and 7% develop psychotic disorders in adulthood (55). Psychopathologies, such as depression, anxiety, and poor self-esteem, should be routinely assessed and considered for treatment given that they may contribute to later psychosis.

In this study, students who had negative life events, including losses or trauma and recent stressful events, such as cybersexual

harassment and school violence, exhibited higher total and distress PQ-16 scores. A strong body of literature has addressed the role of childhood trauma as one of the risk factors for developing a psychotic illness in adolescence (46, 56). Furthermore, although many researchers investigating the relationship between trauma and psychosis have focused on the role of childhood adversity, there is growing evidence for a role of recent stressful life events in the development of psychosis (10, 57). Accordingly, in our study, cybersexual harassment and bullying were significantly associated with PLEs in adolescents. Cybersexual harassment is a type of internet abuse, which can take various forms, such as unsolicited posts and comments on social media sites. There is evidence that individuals with unwanted sexual experiences are at higher risk for developing PLEs (58). Public attention has focused on adolescent internet-mediated victimization, including unwanted exposure to online pornography and sexual messaging, which increase their vulnerability to sexual victimization (59). Our research suggests that cybersexual harassment may be a negative and threatening event that is predictive of PLEs in adolescents.

In particular, the regression analysis showed that the bullyvictim status after school violence was a predictor of PLEs. Our findings support previous studies indicating that the prevalence of PLEs is greater in adolescents who have been exposed to school violence, including both victims and perpetrators of bullying (46). This finding suggests that traumatic experiences related to school violence seem to have a salient impact on PLEs, particularly during adolescence when peer relationships become critical to consolidate personal identity (60, 61).

In our study, the PLE was significantly associated with PIU measured by the K-scale in the regression analysis. PIU can be recognized as a maladaptive way of coping with life's stressors (20, 21). Several studies have found that ARMS individuals tend to engage in more maladaptive coping than nonpsychiatric controls (62, 63). Furthermore, there is some evidence that individuals with schizophrenia experience a disruption in the biological system that responds to stress (64, 65). In a population of stabilized patients with schizophrenia, PIU was significantly associated with ineffective coping strategies to alleviate stress (66). Our findings suggest that

the development of PLEs is associated with maladaptive coping strategies during the process of responding to stressful events. This is the first study to determine the relationship between PLEs and PIU among adolescents. Specialized interventions, including problem solving and coping skills training, are needed to help adolescents who have more access to the internet to exploit the internet as a positive coping strategy.

Our study had several limitations. First, this study was cross-sectional; therefore, longitudinal studies are required to confirm the directionality of the relationships in the present analysis, particularly between PIU and PLEs. Additionally, as it is probable that PLEs could make adolescents more likely to be victimized, we may have underestimated the associations between PLEs and negative life events. Second, the generalizability of the results is limited given the targeting of recruited students from one community. Third, we relied on self-reported measures and did not conduct clinical interviews, limiting the clinical validity of the data.

In conclusion, PLEs among adolescents were likely to co-occur with emotional problems, particularly depression, trait anxiety, and low self-esteem. In addition, this study highlights the associations among PLEs, negative life events, and PIU in community adolescents. Our results suggest that a number of traumatic events, including cybersexual harassment and bullying, may increase the risk of PLEs among adolescents. PIU, a maladaptive strategy used to cope with negative life events, was associated with PLEs in adolescents. These have potentially important clinical implications

REFERENCES

- Rössler W, Riecher-Rössler A, Angst J, Murray R, Gamma A, Eich D, et al. Psychotic experiences in the general population: a twenty-year prospective community study. *Schizophr Res* (2007) 92:1–14. doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2007. 01.002
- Poulton R, Caspi A, Moffitt TE, Cannon M, Murray R, Harrington H. Children's self-reported psychotic symptoms and adult schizophreniform disorder: a 15-year longitudinal study. *Arch Gen Psychiatry* (2000) 57:1053– 8. doi: 10.1001/archpsyc.57.11.1053
- Welham J, Scott J, Williams G, Najman J, Bor W, O'Callaghan M, et al. Emotional and behavioural antecedents of young adults who screen positive for non-affective psychosis: a 21-year birth cohort study. *Psychol Med* (2009) 39:625–34. doi: 10.1017/S0033291708003760
- Yung AR, Yuen HP, Berger G, Francey S, Hung TC, Nelson B, et al. Declining transition rate in ultra high risk (prodromal) services: dilution or reduction of risk? *Schizophr Bull* (2007) 33:673–81. doi: 10.1093/schbul/sbm015
- Fusar-Poli P, Rocchetti M, Sardella A, Avila A, Brandizzi M, Caverzasi E, et al. Disorder, not just a state of risk: meta-analysis of functioning and quality of life in subjects at high clinical risk for psychosis. *Br J Psychiatry* (2015) 207:198–206. doi: 10.1192/bjp.bp.114.157115
- McGrath JJ, Saha S, Al-Hamzawi A, Andrade L, Benjet C, Bromet EJ, et al. The bidirectional associations between psychotic experiences and DSM-IV mental disorders. *Am J Psychiatry* (2016) 173:997–1006. doi: 10.1176/appi. ajp.2016.15101293
- van Os J, Kenis G, Rutten BP. The environment and schizophrenia. Nature (2010) 468:203–12. doi: 10.1038/nature09563
- Saha S, Scott J, Varghese D, McGrath J. Anxiety and depressive disorders are associated with delusional-like experiences: a replication study based on a National Survey of Mental Health and Wellbeing. *BMJ Open* (2012) 30:2. doi: 10.1136/bmjopen-2012-001001
- 9. Thewissen V, Myin-Germeys I, Bentall R, de Graaf R, Vollebergh W, van Os J. Instability in self-esteem and paranoia in a general population

to manage and help adolescents with traumatic events and PIU to prevent the development of more serious clinical psychosis.

ETHICS STATEMENT

This survey was approved by the principal of each school, and the sample comprised students who voluntarily agreed to complete the questionnaires with informed consent. All measures, including data on sociodemographic characteristics, were selfadministered.

The Institutional Review Board of Chonnam National University Hospital approved the study. All participants gave written informed consent prior to participation in the study.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

SWK and JYL were involved in the conception and design of the study. DB conducted the data collection. SWK and JYL were involved in the analysis and drafted the manuscript. JMK, SYK, ILS, and JSY revised the manuscript critically for important intellectual content. All authors contributed to and have approved the final manuscript.

FUNDING

This study was supported by a grant of the Korean Mental Health Technology R&D Project, Ministry of Health & Welfare, Republic of Korea (HM15C1140).

sample. Instability in self-esteem and paranoia in a general population sample. *Soc Psychiatry Psychiatr Epidemiol.* (2007) 42:1–5. doi: 10.1007/s00127-006-0136-1

- Kraan T, Velthorst E, Smit F, de Haan L, van der Gaag M. Trauma and recent life events in individuals at ultra high risk for psychosis: review and meta-analysis. *Schizophr Res* (2015) 161:143–9. doi: 10.1016/j. schres.2014.11.026
- Brown GW, Birley JL. Crises and life changes and the onset of schizophrenia. J Health Soc Behav (1968) 9:203–14. doi: 10.2307/2948405
- Turk J, Graham P, Verhulst F. Adolescence and psychiatric disorders often beginning in adolescence. In: *Child and adolescent psychiatry. A developmental approach*, 4th ed. New York: Oxford University Press (2007). p. 265–311. doi: 10.1093/med/9780199216697.003.0005
- Smith PK, Mahdavi J, Carvalho M, Fisher S, Russell S, Tippett N. Cyberbullying: its nature and impact in secondary school pupils. J Child Psychol Psychiatry (2008) 49:376–85. doi: 10.1111/j.1469-7610.2007.01846.x
- Suzuki K, Asaga R, Sourander A, Hoven CW, Mandell D. Cyberbullying and adolescent mental health. *Int J Adolesc Med Health* (2012) 24:27–35. doi: 10.1515/jjamh.2012.005
- Peters E, Day S, McKenna J, Orbach G. Delusional ideation in religious and psychotic populations. Br J Clin Psychol (1999) 38:83–96. doi: 10.1348/ 014466599162683
- Bak M, Myin-Germeys I, Hanssen M, Bijl R, Vollebergh W, Delespaul P, et al. When does experience of psychosis result in a need for care? A prospective general population study. *Schizophr Bull* (2003) 29:349–58. doi: 10.1093/ oxfordjournals.schbul.a007010
- Armando M, Sandini C, Chambaz M, Schaer M, Schneider M, Eliez S. Coping strategies mediate the effect of stressful life events on schizotypal traits and psychotic symptoms in 22q11.2 deletion syndrome. *Schizophr Bull* (2018) 15:S525–S535. doi: 10.1093/schbul/sby025
- Yanos PT, Moos RH. Determinants of functioning and well-being among individuals with schizophrenia: an integrated model. *Clin Psychol Rev* (2007) 27:58–77. doi: 10.1016/j.cpr.2005.12.008

- Lin A, Wigman JT, Nelson B, Vollebergh WA, van Os J, Baksheev G, et al. The relationship between coping and subclinical psychotic experiences in adolescents from the general population–a longitudinal study. *Psychol Med* (2011) 41:2535–46. doi: 10.1017/S0033291711000560
- Valentino RJ, Lucki I, Van Bockstaele E. Corticotropin-releasing factor in the dorsal raphe nucleus: linking stress coping and addiction. *Brain Res* (2010) 16:29–37. doi: 10.1016/j.brainres.2009.09.100
- McNicol ML, Thorsteinsson EB. Internet addiction, psychological distress, and coping responses among adolescents and adults. *Cyberpsychol Behav Soc Netw* (2017) 20:296–304. doi: 10.1089/cyber.2016.0669
- Tang J, Yu Y, Du Y, Ma Y, Zhang D, Wang J. Prevalence of internet addiction and its association with stressful life events and psychological symptoms among adolescent internet users. *Addict Behav* (2014) 39:744–7. doi: 10.1016/j.addbeh.2013.12.010
- 23. Aboujaoude E. Problematic Internet use: an overview. *World Psychiatry* (2010) 9:85–90. doi: 10.1002/j.2051-5545.2010.tb00278.x
- 24. Christakis DA. Internet addiction: a 21st century epidemic? *BMC Med* (2010) 18:61. doi: 10.1186/1741-7015-8-61
- Ko CH, Yen JY, Yen CF, Chen CS, Chen CC. The association between Internet addiction and psychiatric disorder: a review of the literature. *Eur Psychiatry* (2012) 27:1–8. doi: 10.1016/j.eurpsy.2010.04.011
- Mittal VA, Dean DJ, Pelletier A. Internet addiction, reality substitution and longitudinal changes in psychotic-like experiences in young adults. *Early Interv Psychiatry* (2013) 7:261–9. doi: 10.1111/j.1751-7893.2012.00390.x
- 27. Korea Internet and Security Agency. 2016 Survey on Internet Usage. Seoul: Korea Internet and Security Agency (2017).
- 28. Ising HK, Veling W, Loewy RL, Rietveld MW, Rietdijk J, Dragt S, et al. The validity of the 16-item version of the Prodromal Questionnaire (PQ-16) to screen for ultra high risk of developing psychosis in the general help-seeking population. *Schizophr Bull* (2012) 38:1288–96. doi: 10.1093/schbul/sbs068
- Kim SW, Chung YC, Kang YS, Kim JK, Jang JE, Jhon M, et al. Validation of the Korean version of the 16-item prodromal questionnaire in a nonhelp-seeking college population. *Psychiatry Investig* (2018) 15:111–7. doi: 10.30773/pi.2017.04.24
- Orme JG, Reis J, Herz EJ. Factorial and discriminant validity of the Center for Epidemiological studies Depression (CESD) scale. *J Clin Psychol* (1986) 42:28–33. doi: 10.1002/1097-4679(198601)42:1<28::AID-JCLP2270420104> 3.0.CO;2-T
- Cho MJ, Kim KH. Diagnostic validity of the CES-D (Korean version) in the assessment of DSM-III-R major depression. J Korean Neuropsychiatr Assoc (1993) 32:381–99.
- Spielberger CD. Manual for state-trait anxiety inventory for children. Palo Alto, CA: Consulting Psychologists Press (1973). doi: 10.1037/t06497-000
- Cho SC, Choi JS. Development of Korean version of state-trait anxiety inventory for children. *Seoul J Psychiatry* (1989) 14:150–7.
- Rosenberg M. Society and the adolescent self-image. Princeton, NJ: Princeton University Press (1965). doi: 10.1515/9781400876136
- 35. National Information Society Agency. *Third standardization of Korean internet addiction proneness scale*. Seoul, Korea: NIA Research Report (2011).
- Greenwald R, Rubin A. Assessment of posttraumatic symptoms in children: development and preliminary validation of parent and child scales. *Res Soc Work Pract* (1999) 9:61–75. doi: 10.1177/104973159900900105
- Brandizzi M, Schultze-Lutter F, Masillo A, Lanna A, Curto M, Lindau JF, et al. Self-reported attenuated psychotic-like experiences in help-seeking adolescents and their association with age, functioning and psychopathology. *Schizophr Res* (2014) 160:110–7. doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2014.10.005
- Shevlin M, Murphy J, Dorahy MJ, Adamson G. The distribution of positive psychosis-like symptoms in the population: a latent class analysis of the National Comorbidity Survey. *Schizophr Res* (2007) 89:101–9. doi: 10.1016/j. schres.2006.09.014
- van Os J, Linscott RJ, Myin-Germeys I, Delespaul P, Krabbendam L. A systematic review and meta-analysis of the psychosis continuum: evidence for a psychosis proneness-persistence-impairment model of psychotic disorder. *Psychol Med* (2009) 39:179–95. doi: 10.1017/S0033291708003814
- Dolphin L, Dooley B, Fitzgerald A. Prevalence and correlates of psychotic like experiences in a nationally representative community sample of adolescents in Ireland. *Schizophr Res* (2015) 169:241–7. doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2015.09.005

- Calkins ME, Moore TM, Merikangas KR, Burstein M, Satterthwaite TD, Bilker WB, et al. The psychosis spectrum in a young U.S. community sample: findings from the Philadelphia Neurodevelopmental Cohort. World Psychiatry (2014) 13:296–305. doi: 10.1002/wps.20152
- Yung AR, Buckby JA, Cotton SM, Cosgrave EM, Killackey EJ, Stanford C, et al. Psychotic-like experiences in nonpsychotic help-seekers: associations with distress, depression, and disability. *Schizophr Bull* (2006) 32:352–9. doi: 10.1093/schbul/sbj018
- Schultze-Lutter F, Michel C, Ruhrmann S, Schimmelmann BG. Prevalence and clinical significance of DSM-5-attenuated psychosis syndrome in adolescents and young adults in the general population: the Bern Epidemiological At-Risk (BEAR) study. *Schizophr. Bull.* (2013) 40:1499–508. doi: 10.1093/schbul/ sbt171
- Lewis S, Morrison AP, Barkus E, Bentall R, Stirling J, Hopkins R, et al. Levels of distress in samples at risk of psychosis. *Schizophr Bull* (2005) 31:228.
- Lee JY, Chung YC, Kim JM, Shin IS, Yoon JS, Kim SW. School counselors' recognition of the ultra-high risk for psychosis. *Psychiatry Investig* (2018) 15:320–4. doi: 10.30773/pi.2017.06.19
- Kelleher I, Harley M, Lynch F, Arseneault L, Fitzpatrick C, Cannon M. Associations between childhood trauma, bullying and psychotic symptoms among a school-based adolescent sample. *Br J Psychiatry* (2008) 193:378–82. doi: 10.1192/bjp.bp.108.049536
- Karatzias T, Gumley A, Power K, O'Grady M. Illness appraisals and self-esteem as correlates of anxiety and affective comorbid disorders in schizophrenia. *Compr Psychiatry* (2007) 48:371–5. doi: 10.1016/j.comppsych.2007.02.005
- Romm KL, Rossberg JI, Hansen CF, Haug E, Andreassen OA, Melle I. Selfesteem is associated with premorbid adjustment and positive psychotic symptoms in early psychosis. *BMC Psychiatry* (2011) 11:136. doi: 10.1186/ 1471-244X-11-136
- Jang JH, Lee YJ, Cho SJ, Cho IH, Shin NY, Kim SJ. Psychotic-like experiences and their relationship to suicidal ideation in adolescents. *Psychiatry Res* (2014) 215:641–5. doi: 10.1016/j.psychres.2013.12.046
- Yung AR, Phillips LJ, Yuen HP, Francey SM, McFarlane CA, Hallgren M, et al. Psychosis prediction:12-month follow-up of a high-risk ("prodromal") group. Schizophr Res (2003) 60:21–32. doi: 10.1016/S0920-9964(02)00167-6
- Garety PA, Kuipers E, Fowler D, Freeman D, Bebbington PE. A cognitive model of the positive symptoms of psychosis. *Psychol Med* (2001) 31:189–95. doi: 10.1017/S0033291701003312
- 52. Gaweda Ł, Holas P, Kokoszka A. Dysfunctional meta-cognitive beliefs and anxiety, depression and self-esteem among healthy subjects with hallucinatory-like experiences. *Psychiatr Pol* (2012) 46:933–49.
- Chambers JA, Power KG, Durham RC. The relationship between trait vulnerability and anxiety and depressive diagnoses at long-term follow-up of Generalized Anxiety Disorder. J Anxiety Disord (2004) 18:587–607. doi: 10.1016/j.janxdis.2003.09.001
- Prochwicz K, Kłosowska J. The interplay between trait anxiety, cognitive biases and attentional control in healthy individuals with psychotic-like experiences. *Psychiatry Res* (2018) 259:44–50. doi: 10.1016/j.psychres.2017. 09.085
- 55. Kaymaz N, Drukker M, Lieb R, Wittchen HU, Werbeloff N, Weiser M, et al. Do subthreshold psychotic experiences predict clinical outcomes in unselected non-help-seeking population-based samples? A systematic review and meta-analysis, enriched with new results. *Psychol Med* (2012) 42:2239–53. doi: 10.1017/S0033291711002911
- De Loore E, Drukker M, Gunther N, Feron F, Deboutte D, Sabbe B, et al. Childhood negative experiences and subclinical psychosis in adolescence: a longitudinal general population study. *Early Interv Psychiatry* (2007) 1:201– 7. doi: 10.1111/j.1751-7893.2007.00027.x
- Mayo D, Corey S, Kelly LH, Yohannes S, Youngquist AL, Stuart BK. The role of trauma and stressful life events among individuals at clinical high risk for psychosis: a review. *Front Psychiatry* (2017) 8:55. doi: 10.3389/ fpsyt.2017.00055
- Lataster T, van Os J, Drukker M, Henquet C, Feron F, Gunther N, et al. Childhood victimisation and developmental expression of non-clinical delusional ideation and hallucinatory experiences: victimisation and nonclinical psychotic experiences. *Soc Psychiatry Psychiatr Epidemiol.* (2006) 41:423–8. doi: 10.1007/s00127-006-0060-4

- Wolak J, Ybarra ML, Mitchell K, Finkelhor D. Current research knowledge about adolescent victimization via the Internet. Adolesc Med State Art Rev (2007) 18:325–41.
- Tarrant M, North AC, Edridge MD, Kirk LE, Smith EA, Turner RE. Social identity in adolescence. J Adolesc (2001) 24:597–609. doi: 10.1006/ jado.2000.0392
- Tanti C, Stukas AA, Halloran MJ, Foddy M. Social identity change: shifts in social identity during adolescence. J Adolesc (2011) 34:555–67. doi: 10.1016/ j.adolescence.2010.05.012
- Jalbrzikowski M, Sugar CA, Zinberg J, Bachman P, Cannon TD, Bearden CE. Coping styles of individuals at clinical high risk for developing psychosis. *Early Interv Psychiatry* (2014) 8:68–76. doi: 10.1111/eip.12005
- 63. Kim KR, Song YY, Park JY, Lee EH, Lee M, Lee SY, et al. The relationship between psychosocial functioning and resilience and negative symptoms in individuals at ultra-high risk for psychosis. *Aust N Z J Psychiatry* (2013) 47:762–71. doi: 10.1177/0004867413488218
- Horan WP, Blanchard JJ. Emotional responses to psychosocial stress in schizophrenia: the role of individual differences in affective traits and coping. *Schizophr Res* (2003) 60:271–83. doi: 10.1016/S0920-9964(02)00227-X

- Ritsner MS, Gibel A, Ponizovsky AM, Shinkarenko E, Ratner Y, Kurs R. Coping patterns as a valid presentation of the diversity of coping responses in schizophrenia patients. *Psychiatry Res* (2006) 144:139–52. doi: 10.1016/j.psychres.2005.09.017
- Lee JY, Chung YC, Song JH, Lee YH, Kim JM, Shin IS, et al. Contribution of stress and coping strategies to problematic Internet use in patients with schizophrenia spectrum disorders. *Compr Psychiatry* (2018) 87:89–94. doi: 10.1016/j.comppsych.2018.09.007

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2019 Lee, Ban, Kim, Kim, Shin, Yoon and Kim. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





City Avoidance in the Early Phase of Psychosis: A Neglected Domain of Assessment and a Potential Target for Recovery Strategies

Philippe Conus^{1*†}, Lilith Abrahamyan Empson^{1†}, Zoé Codeluppi², Philipp Sebastien Baumann¹, Ola Söderström², Dag Söderström³ and Philippe Golay¹

¹ Treatment and Early Intervention in Psychosis Program (TIPP), Service of General Psychiatry, Department of Psychiatry, Lausanne University Hospital (CHUV), Clinique de Cery, Prilly, Switzerland, ² Institute of Geography, University of Neuchâtel, Neuchâtel, Switzerland, ³ ISPS-suisse, Lausanne, Switzerland

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Young-Chul Chung, Chonbuk National University, South Korea

Reviewed by:

Wing Chung Chang, The University of Hong Kong, Hong Kong Lucia Valmaggia, King's College London, United Kingdom

*Correspondence:

Philippe Conus philippe.conus@chuv.ch

[†]These authors share first authorship.

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Schizophrenia, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychiatry

Received: 18 January 2019 Accepted: 30 April 2019 Published: 03 June 2019

Citation:

Conus P, Abrahamyan Empson L, Codeluppi Z, Baumann PS, Söderström O, Söderström D and Golay P (2019) City Avoidance in the Early Phase of Psychosis: A Neglected Domain of Assessment and a Potential Target for Recovery Strategies. Front. Psychiatry 10:342. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2019.00342 **Background:** A considerable amount of research has explored the link between living in an urban environment during childhood and the increased risk to develop psychosis. However, the urban milieu is more than a risk factor as it is also a place for socialization and enrichment. The aims of the current study were to explore, in a large sample of early psychosis (EP) patients, their pattern of use of the city, their perception when exposed to various critical stressors, and their sensitivity to diverse forms of stimuli.

Methods: We sent a questionnaire (based on previous work conducted in a group of patients, including video-recorded walk-along in the city and a literature review) to 305 EP patients and to 220 medical students.

Results: Response rate in patients was low (38%). City avoidance and negative perceptions towards the urban environment increased in patients after onset of psychosis. Patients' tendency to avoid city center correlates with both problematic social interactions and stimuli perceived as unpleasant. Patients seemed less likely to enjoy urban spaces considered as relaxing, suggesting a lower capacity to benefit from positive aspects of this environment.

Conclusions: The development of psychosis influences the way EP patients perceive the city and their capacity to feel at ease in the urban environment, leading to a high rate of city avoidance. Considering the possible influence of city avoidance on social relations and the recovery process, the development of strategies to help patients in this regard may have a significant effect on their recovery process.

Keywords: psychosis, urbanicity, city, stress, recovery, treatment

INTRODUCTION

An important body of literature suggests that growing up in an urban environment during childhood is a risk factor for the later development of psychosis (1-4). Although various authors have proposed hypotheses to explain this correlation, the mechanisms involved in this phenomenon are still unknown. This is a matter of concern, considering the very high

84

proportion of the world population living and growing in an urban environment, and this domain evidently deserves more research effort.

The urban environment is however more than a risk factor: it is also a place of enrichment, through interpersonal interactions, access to cultural events, and globally through socialization. Within the city and psychosis nexus, researchers in psychiatry have so far neglected to study the way patients experience the urban environment, how they use it, and to what degree they manage to gain access to it. This failure to address this aspect of the problem and the absence of studies doing so through the eyes of patients are limitations that need to be overcome. Indeed, the exploration of patients' experience of the city environment may contribute not only to generate hypotheses to explain why growing up in an environment is a risk factor for later development of psychosis; it could also increase our understanding of the phenomenon of social withdrawal often described in psychosis patients.

In recent publications (5, 6), we have reported on a study that we are currently conducting in the context of a collaboration between psychiatrists, psychologists, geographers, and linguists. Through a combination of approaches, mixing exploratory focus groups with case managers, psychiatrists, and psychologists, interviews with patients, video-recorded go-along with a sample of 10 early psychosis (EP) patients, and a semi-structured interview with 20 EP patients, we managed to proceed to a first exploration of this domain.

In a first paper (5), we studied the way EP patients experience being in the city, with the aim to identify places of stress. This "unpacking of the city" revealed three ways to relate to the city among patients. While a first group tended to avoid the city center altogether, a second group used the city exclusively at certain times of the day and a third group reported having no problem in relation to the urban environment. When exploring sources of stress, patients mentioned four elements: a) crowd density; b) excess of stimuli, mainly auditory (sensory overload); c) situations of unavoidable social interactions; and d) hindrance to mobility (either by physical obstacles or by traffic).

In a second paper (6), we identified some of the strategies EP patients adopt in order to face these stressful elements, such as establishing sensory bubbles (through headphones or being accompanied by a friend), creating niches and breaks in the city (developing trajectories including parks or churches for example), or carefully programming trajectories in the city.

Based on these elements and on data stemming from the literature, we developed a questionnaire exploring the way EP patients use the city and the nature of their experience while being in an urban milieu. The aims of the study were to explore, in a large sample of EP patients, their pattern of use of the city, their perception of the various critical stressors that we identified through the previous abovementioned studies, and their sensitivity to various forms of stimuli. In addition, we wanted to assess the impact of the emergence of psychosis on these elements and to compare patients with a control group regarding these issues.

METHODS

Patients and Control Groups

Patients included in this study stem from a clinical EP cohort receiving treatment in a specialized EP program (TIPP: Treatment and early Intervention in Psychosis Program) implemented in Lausanne, Switzerland, in 2004 (7). Based on a case management model, this program provides 3 years of treatment to patients aged 18 to 35 who have developed a psychotic disorder and have not had more than 6 months of treatment, with routine outcome assessments every 6 months. Since its implementation in our catchment area of 350,000 inhabitants, the program had provided treatment to more than 400 patients at the time of the study. Clinical case managers recruited the patients who were still involved in the program at the time of the study, and the research team contacted the rest of the cohort first by mail, followed by a phone call 2 weeks later. We recruited controls among students completing their third year of medical studies at Lausanne University, Switzerland. The local ethics committee approved the research protocol and all subjects provided informed consent to participate to the study.

Development of the Questionnaire

The development of the self-administered questionnaire followed a succession of stages. First, we conducted video-recorded go-along through the city of Lausanne, with a sample of 10 EP patients. Second, in order to explore their reactions to the immersion in the urban milieu, we visualized and analyzed the video of the go-along in their presence in a process of video elicitation during which we took note of elements of the urban milieu generating either a sense of stress or a sense of protection. After spontaneous evocation of relevant elements by the patient, we completed the exploration through a fine-grained analysis of the go-along video in their presence and through questions proposed by the researchers (at least one geographer and one psychiatrist). These video elicitation sessions were video-recorded and subsequently analyzed by the research team. Third, we constructed a list of items based on the main factors of stress or protection that stemmed from the abovementioned procedure. Fourth, we used this list to conduct semi-structured audio-recorded interviews with 20 EP patients, exploring the same issue of factors of stress and protection in the city, but without conducting walk-alongs. Fifth, the verbatim of the interviews underwent thematic analysis, and the extraction of the main themes as well as a comprehensive literature review (Abrahamyan Empson et al., in revision) guided the design of the questionnaire. Finally, we refined the content of the questionnaire in the interdisciplinary research team and benefited from critical comments from clinical case managers through the organization of focus groups.

The questionnaire (available in French upon request to the corresponding author) consists of three main parts. The first section gathers information on the sociodemographic characteristics (for example, place of birth, migrant status, residential mobility, level of education, and marital status) that seemed relevant, based on a systematic literature review conducted in the frame of the project (Abrahamyan Empson et al., in revision). The second section evaluates the rate of city attendance (frequency and duration) and their perception of various specific places of the city (rated from very unpleasant to very pleasant). The third part explores the sensory and interactional dimensions of city living (ranging from sensitivity to sensory stimulations, to reactions towards interactions with other persons through gaze for example). All items are rated according to five-point Likert scales, where a score of 1 would mean "very pleasant" while 5 would represent "very unpleasant." The questionnaire given to patients included additional questions regarding the impact of the development of psychosis on each particular dimension, rated from "much worse" to "no change" after the onset of psychosis.

Data Analysis

Comparisons between groups were performed with independent t tests for continuous variables and Mann–Whitney U tests for ordinal or highly skewed variables. For nominal variables, analyses were performed with Pearson's chi-square tests or Fisher exact tests when appropriate. Differences between perceptions before and after illness onset were tested with a one-sample sign test using the neutral value (no change) as the null hypothesis. Predictors of city avoidance were evaluated with two linear

stepwise regression models fitted separately in each group. Items related to relation with others, gaze, and unpleasant stimulus were entered as independent variables with city avoidance as the dependent variable. All statistical analyses were performed with IBM-SPSS 23. All statistical tests were two-tailed and significance was determined at the .05 level.

RESULTS

Although 400 patients were eligible at the time of the study, the questionnaire was sent to 305 of them. Ninety-five questionnaires were not sent because of the following reasons: patient moved out of Switzerland, diagnosis of organic psychosis, substance abuse as first-line diagnosis, patients whose address could not be found, and patients who had died. While 124 questionnaires were returned, 117 (38%) were usable and 7 were incomplete. Among the 220 students who attended third year of medical school at the time of the study, 205 (93%) returned their questionnaire. The characteristics of both groups are shown in Table 1. Comparison of both groups revealed significant differences, with patients being significantly older than controls, and more likely to be male, to be a migrant, and to live independently. In addition, patients had moved houses more frequently and were less likely to have a regular activity at the time of the study.

TABLE 1	Patients and	controls'	profile.

	Patients, N = 117	Controls, N = 205	Statistic	p value
Age, M (SD)	29.67 (5.85)	24.51 (6.65)	t(320) = 6.979	<.001
Gender, % male (n)	69.2 (81)	59.0 (121)	$\chi^2(1) = 3.319$.068
Migrant status, %, (n)	40.5 (47)	20.0 (41)	$\chi^2(1) = 15.672$	<.001
Activity, % (n)				<.001
Full or part time or studies	25.3 (21)	100.0 (205)	$\chi^2(2) = 195.142$	
Medical leave	31.3 (26)	0.0 (0)		
Unemployed, disability pension	43.4 (36)	0.0 (0)		
_iving status, % (n)			f	<.001
Independent household	29.9 (35)	13.7 (28)		
In couple	11.1 (13)	7.8 (16)		
In couple with children	8.5 (10)	3.9 (8)		
With family	21.4 (25)	49.3 (101)		
Shared flat	6.8 (8)	22.4 (46)		
Pension/care home	12.8 (15)	0.0 (0)		
Unsettled	1.7 (2)	0.5 (1)		
Other	7.7 (9)	2.4 (5)		
Number of moves, M (SD)	3.54 (2.22)	2.36 (2.20)	t(315) = 4.544	<.001
Time spent out of home, % (n)				
Almost never	7.9 (9)	1.0 (2)	<i>U</i> = 5534.0	<.001
Less than 1 h	20.2 (23)	2.0 (4)		
Between 1 and 4 h	31.6 (36)	4.9 (10)		
More than 4 h	40.4 (46)	92.1 (187)		
Diagnostic, % (n)		_	_	_
Schizophrenia	66.3 (55)			
Schizophreniform/brief	10.8 (9)			
Schizo-affective	8.4 (7)			
Major depression ^a	3.6 (3)			
Bipolar disorder	2.4 (2)			
Other	8.4 (7)			

f, Fisher exact test.

^awith psychotic features.

City Attendance and Perception of the Urban Milieu

Patients go significantly less to the city center than controls (U = 8702.500, p < .001) and report a significant decrease in their city attendance since the occurrence of the first psychotic episode (Z = -5.715, p < .001). In addition, patients perceive city center as significantly more unpleasant than controls (U = 9219.000, p < .001). Here, again, their perception of the city became significantly less favorable since illness onset (Z = -6.013, p < .001).

Sensory and Interactional Dimensions of City Attendance

Perception of the crowd is negative for the majority of patients, but this rate of negative perception does not differ from the perception by controls (U = 11,149.000, p = .320). Perception of the crowd is reported as worse in patients after illness onset than before (Z = -4.596, p < .001).

A smaller proportion of patients feel indifferent to (meaning undisturbed by) others than controls [$\chi^2(1) = 5.179$, p = .023] and a higher proportion of patients feel ill at ease with eye contact in the city than controls [$\chi^2(1) = 20.128$, p < .001] (see **Table 2**). In addition, openness to contact decreases significantly in patients after illness onset (Z = -3.283, p < .001).

Perception of various urban spaces: Patients dislike crowded places to a similar extent as controls, but enjoy relaxing places with less intensity than controls (cf. **Table 3**).

Sensitivity to external stimulations in the urban space: 26.8% of patients reported feeling "flooded" by stimuli (sensory overload) compared to only 10.2% for the controls [$\chi^2(1) = 14.681$,

p < .001]. This phenomenon worsened significantly in patients
after illness onset ($Z = -4.571$, $p < .001$).

Patients were more likely than controls to consider visual elements (their complexity and the excess of visual stimulation) as unpleasant [$\chi^2(1) = 9.549$, p = .002]. However, controls were more likely than patients to consider noise [$\chi^2(1) = 4.303$, p = .038] and smell [$\chi^2(1) = 40.697$, p < .001] as unpleasant. There was no difference in the perception of physical contact with others between patients and controls [$\chi^2(1) = 1.036$, p = .309].

Correlates of City Avoidance

The perception of certain distinct stimuli as unpleasant was significantly more likely to occur in patients who avoided specific places in the city. Sensitivity to physical contact was more likely to occur in patients who avoid going to the city center and to go in metro stations. Sensitivity to noise was more likely to occur in patients who avoid metro stations, downtown center, malls, and the old part of the city. In contrast, patients who do not report any stimuli as unpleasant are more likely to enjoy the city (see **Table 4**).

A higher degree of city avoidance was found in patients with absence of openness to contact (U = 1047.0, p = .002), who felt disturbance by proximity with others (U = 762.5, p = .025), and who reported uneasiness with eye contact (U = 825.0, p = .001).

Taken together, city avoidance within patients was predicted by uneasiness with physical contact (β = .255, *p* = .005) and absence of openness to contact (β = .217, *p* = .017). Overall, this model was able to explain 13.4% of the variance of city avoidance. Within controls, city avoidance was only predicted by uneasiness with physical contact (β = .158, *p* = .025), which explained only 2.5% of the variance.

	Patients, N = 117	Controls, N = 205	Statistic	p value
Eye contact is stressful, % (n)	17.1 (20)	3.4 (7)	$\chi^2(1) = 18.017$	<.001
The gaze of others is bothering, % (n)	18.8 (22)	11.3 (23)	$\chi^2(1) = 3.497$.061
I feel judged by others, % (n)	21.4 (25)	11.3 (23)	$\chi^2(1) = 5.956$.015
I feel observed by others, % (n)	17.1 (20)	12.7 (26)	$\chi^2(1) = 1.145$.284
I feel that the others analyze me, % (n)	18.8 (22)	9.8 (20)	$\chi^2(1) = 5.295$.021
I feel threatened, % (n)	6.0 (7)	0.5 (1)	$\chi^2(1) = 9.231$.002
I feel inferior, % (n)	14.5 (17)	2.0 (4)	$\chi^2(1) = 19.213$	<.001
l feel vulnerable, % (n)	14.5 (17)	4.4 (9)	$\chi^2(1) = 10.227$.001
I am indifferent to the gaze of others, % (n)	28.2 (33)	36.8 (75)	$\chi^2(1) = 2.440$.118

TABLE 3 | Negative perception of various urban spaces.

TABLE 2 | Perception of the gaze of others.

	Patients, $N = 117$	Controls, $N = 205$	Statistic	p value
Downtown center, Mdn (IQR)	3.0 (1.0)	2.0 (1)	U = 10608.0	.156
Mall, Mdn (IQR)	3.0 (2.0)	3.0 (1.0)	<i>U</i> = 10903.5	.368
Metro station, Mdn (IQR)	3.0 (1.0)	3.0 (1.0)	<i>U</i> = 10761.5	.238
Ouchy (lake shore), Mdn (IQR)	2.0 (2.0)	1.0 (1.0)	U = 7278.5	<.001
Parks, Mdn (IQR)	2.0 (2.0)	1.0 (1.0)	<i>U</i> = 7429.0	<.001
Old city, Mdn (IQR)	2.0 (1.0)	2.0 (1.0)	U = 7513.5	<.001ª

^aPatients > Controls.

TABLE 4 Correlation between stimuli perceived as unpleasant and likelihood to avoid certain urban places.

	Stimuli perceived as unpleasant (p value of difference <.05)					
	Noise	Contact	Smell	Visual	No stimuli perceived as unpleasant	
Avoid city center		.001				
Enjoy city center					.009	
Avoid metro	.007	.020		<.001		
Avoid downtown center	.030					
Avoid old town	.032					
Avoid mall	.046					
Avoid lake			.033			
Enjoy all places					.001	

DISCUSSION

There are three main findings in our study. First, the development of psychosis seems to influence city perception and the rate of avoidance of the city among patients. Second, patients' tendency to avoid city center correlates with both problematic social interactions and stimuli perceived as unpleasant. Third, comparison between patients and controls reveals similarities regarding the type of urban space characterized as unpleasant, but patients seemed less likely to enjoy urban spaces considered as relaxing, suggesting a lower capacity to benefit from positive aspects of this environment.

Patients globally report that the onset of the illness induces an increase in city avoidance, a greater feeling of uneasiness with the crowd and towards eye contact, as well as a global higher sensitivity to stimuli. In addition, onset of psychosis correlates with a marked decrease in time spent outside of home and regarding openness to others. The fact that patients report a similar degree of negative perception of the crowd to controls as well as the feeling that this perception has become much worse since illness onset suggests that they may overestimate their status before the first episode. Nevertheless, our data strongly suggest that living in a city has become much more difficult for patients after psychosis onset. This globally suggests that emergence of psychosis restricts capacities to use urban space and to access the options it offers, due to various changes in the perception of the urban milieu. In turn, this may partly explain the withdrawal observed in patients, and it could therefore be useful to focus on this aspect through specific interventions, considering the potential self-perpetuating nature of city avoidance.

City avoidance is associated with two domains of difficulties. First, it is apparently linked to problematic social interactions, such as a decrease in openness to contact with others occurring after illness onset, and uneasiness with eye contact and proximity. Globally, these elements are probably linked to a mechanism of self-stigma, which may also constitute a target for psychological treatments through psychoeducation and work on self-esteem. Second, city avoidance is also linked to stimuli perceived as unpleasant, principally noise and physical contact. This may be explained by the phenomenon of aberrant salience (8), where all stimuli gain similar importance and contribute to the feeling of flooding, which is reported by a third of patients. There, again, some strategies might be developed to help patients cope with stimuli in order to regain some freedom.

Finally, we were not astonished that the comparison between patients and controls revealed that the former are more avoidant of the city and more disturbed by eye contact than the latter. It was more revealing to observe that while patients and controls are similar in their dislike of crowded places, patients were less likely to enjoy relaxing places such as the lakeshore or parks. This suggests that patients strongly experience the negative aspects of the city, but that they fail to benefit from the positive aspects of relaxing environment, a phenomenon that may stem from anhedonia and/or self-stigmatization. It is important to explore this issue in more depth, considering that recent studies have shown that exposure to natural features within the built environment may have a positive impact on mental well-being in a normal population (9). Conducting similar smartphonebased studies in patient samples would clarify if such a beneficial effect is also present after illness onset. In addition, while controls were more likely to report some aspects of the city as unpleasant (for example, they were more likely to perceive noise and smell as unpleasant), city avoidance was much less prevalent among them than among patients, which illustrates their greater capacity to cope with these perceptions and to access the city.

There are obvious limitations to this paper. First, it stems from a relatively small sample of patients and a low percentage of responses. Indeed, only 38% of patients responded to the questionnaire, which induces an important risk of non-response bias. Although this response rate is in keeping with surveys in metal health research (10), our results need replication in larger groups of patients with a similar profile. Second, the assessment of the impact of illness onset on city perception and city avoidance in patients is retrospective, and as mentioned above, this could bias the results through an overestimation of the way they felt before illness onset. A prospective study conducted among At Risk Mental State (ARMS) (11) subjects may overcome this issue, although we know that ARMS subjects can already display important functional impairment (12). Third, the control group is composed of medical students exclusively, a group that may not be representative of the general population. However, although medical students may, at first sight, look like a "super-healthy group," various studies and review papers have recently shown that the prevalence of mental health issues among them is high and may even exceed the rate of the general population (13, 14), therefore limiting the impact of this potential bias. Fourth, while some patients who filled in the questionnaire were still in treatment and therefore would have been accessible for clinical assessment, a large number of subjects were not available for symptoms evaluation. Considering the potential impact of depressive, anxiety, as well as positive or negative symptoms on city avoidance, the absence of such assessment is a limitation of the study. However, in this paper, we explore city avoidance per se in a descriptive manner and the reasons subjects put forth to explain it but do not attempt to identify which illness dimensions may explain it, which may be the focus of later studies.

Despite these limitations, our study suggests that the development of psychosis has a great influence on the way EP patients perceive the city and on their capacity to feel at ease in the urban environment, leading to a high rate of city avoidance and decreased opportunity to interact with others. This aspect of the impact of the illness has not received the attention it deserves, although city avoidance can have a major influence on social relations and the recovery process. The development of strategies to help patients in this regard may have a significant effect on their recovery and therefore should be explored in more depth.

REFERENCES

- Vlahov D, Galea S. Urbanization, urbanicity, and health. J Urban Health: Bull N Y Acad Med (2002) 79(4 Suppl 1):S1–S12. doi: 10.1093/jurban/79. suppl_1.S1
- Van Os J. Does the urban environment cause psychosis? Br J Psychiatry (2004) 184(4):287–8. doi: 10.1192/bjp.184.4.287
- Zammit S, Lewis G, Rasbash J, Dalman C, Gustafsson J-E, Allebeck P. Individuals, schools, and neighborhood: a multilevel longitudinal study of variation in incidence of psychotic disorders. *Arch Gen Psychiatry* (2010) 67(9):914–22. doi: 10.1001/archgenpsychiatry.2010.101
- Krabbendam L, van Os J. Schizophrenia and urbanicity: a major environmental influence—conditional on genetic risk. *Schizophr Bull* (2005) 31(4):795–9. doi: 10.1093/schbul/sbi060
- Söderström O, Empson LA, Codeluppi Z, Söderström D, Baumann PS, Conus P. Unpacking "the City": an experience-based approach to the role of urban living in psychosis. *Health Place* (2016) 42:104–10. doi: 10.1016/j. healthplace.2016.09.002
- Söderström O, Söderström D, Codeluppi Z, Empson LA, Conus P. Emplacing recovery: how persons diagnosed with psychosis handle stress in cities. *Psychosis* (2017) 9(4):322–9. doi: 10.1080/17522439.2017.1344296
- Baumann PS, Crespi S, Marion-Veyron R, Solida A, Thonney J, Favrod J, et al. Treatment and Early Intervention in Psychosis Program (TIPP-Lausanne): implantation of an early intervention program for psychosis in Switzerland. *Early Intervention Psychiatry* (2013) 7(3):322–8. doi: 10.1111/ eip.12037
- Kapur S. Psychosis as a state of aberrant salience: a framework linking biology, phenomenology, and pharmacology in schizophrenia. *Am J Psychiatry* (2003) 160(1):13–23. doi: 10.1176/appi.ajp.160.1.13
- Bakolis I, Hammoud R, Smythe M, Gibbons J, Davidson N, Tognin S, et al. Urban mind: using smartphone technologies to investigate the impact of nature on mental well-being in real time. *Bioscience* (2018) 68(2):134–45. doi: 10.1093/biosci/bix149

ETHICS STATEMENT

The local ethics committee (Commission cantonale (VD) d'éthique de la recherche sur l'être humain) approved the research protocol and all subjects provided informed consent to participate to the study.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

PC, LA, ZC, PB, OS, DS, and PG have contributed to the design of the study, the grant application, the realization of the various stages of the research project, and the design of the questionnaire used in this part of the study. LA, ZC, and PB conducted the invoice of the questionnaire and the gathering of data. PG conducted the data analysis. PC and LA drafted the first version of the paper and all other co-authors contributed to the finalization of the paper.

FUNDING

This study was funded by the Swiss National Science Foundation (grant number CR13I1_153320).

- Stolzmann K, Meterko M, Miller CJ, Belanger L, Seibert MN, Bauer MS. Survey response rate and quality in a mental health clinic population: results from a randomized survey comparison. *J Behav Health Serv Res* (2018). doi: 10.1007/s11414-018-9617-8. [Epub ahead of print].
- Fusar-Poli P, Bonoldi I, Yung AR, Borgwardt S, Kempton MJ, Valmaggia L, et al. Predicting psychosis: meta-analysis of transition outcomes in individuals at high clinical risk. *Arch Gen Psychiatry* (2012) 69:220–9. doi: 10.1001/archgenpsychiatry.2011.1472
- Fusar-Poli P, Rocchetti M, Sardella A, Avila A, Brandizzi M, Caverzasi E, et al. Disorder, not just state of risk: meta-analysis of functioning and quality of life in people at high risk of psychosis. *Br J Psychiatry* (2015) 207:198–206. doi: 10.1192/bjp.bp.114.157115
- Rotenstein LS, Ramos MA, Torre M, Segal JB, Peluso MJ, Guille C, et al. Prevalence of depression, depressive symptoms, and suicidal ideation among medical students: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *JAMA* (2016) 316(21):2214–36 doi: 10.1001/jama.2016.17324
- 14. Fond G, Bourbon A, Lançon C, Boucekine M, Micoulaud-Franchi JA, Auquier P, et al. Psychiatric and psychological follow-up of undergraduate and postgraduate medical students: prevalence and associated factors. Results from the national BOURBON study. *Psychiatry Res* (2019) 272:425– 43. doi: 10.1016/j.psychres.2018.12.174

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2019 Conus, Abrahamyan Empson, Codeluppi, Baumann, Söderström, Söderström and Golay. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Relationship Between Polyunsaturated Fatty Acids and Psychopathology in the NEURAPRO Clinical Trial

Maximus Berger^{1,2*}, Barnaby Nelson^{1,2}, Connie Markulev^{1,2}, Hok Pan Yuen^{1,2}, Miriam R. Schäfer^{1,2}, Nilufar Mossaheb^{3,4}, Monika Schlögelhofer³, Stefan Smesny⁵, Ian B. Hickie⁶, Gregor E. Berger⁷, Eric Y. H. Chen⁸, Lieuwe de Haan⁹, Dorien H. Nieman⁹, Merete Nordentoft¹⁰, Anita Riecher-Rössler¹¹, Swapna Verma¹², Todd W. Mitchell ^{13,14}, Barbara J. Meyer^{13,14}, Andrew Thompson^{1,2}, Alison Ruth Yung^{1,2,15}, Patrick D. McGorry^{1,2} and G. Paul Amminger^{1,2}

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Claes Wahlestedt, Leonard M. Miller School of Medicine, United States

Reviewed by:

Kristin Suzanne Cadenhead, University of California, San Diego, United States Armando D'Agostino, University of Milan, Italy

*Correspondence:

Maximus Berger maximus.berger@orygen.org.au

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Schizophrenia, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychiatry

Received: 14 January 2019 **Accepted:** 17 May 2019 **Published:** 06 June 2019

Citation:

Berger M, Nelson B, Markulev C, Yuen HP, Schäfer MR, Mossaheb N, Schlögelhofer M, Smesny S, Hickie IB, Berger GE, Chen EYH, de Haan L, Nieman DH, Nordentoft M, Riecher-Rössler A, Verma S, Mitchell TW, Meyer BJ, Thompson A, Yung AR, McGorry PD and Amminger GP (2019) Relationship Between Polyunsaturated Fatty Acids and Psychopathology in the NEURAPRO Clinical Trial. Front. Psychiatry 10:393. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2019.00393 ¹ Orygen — The National Centre of Excellence in Youth Mental Health, Melbourne, VIC, Australia, ² Centre for Youth Mental Health, The University of Melbourne, Melbourne, VIC, Australia, ³ Department of Psychiatry and Psychotherapy, Clinical Division of Social Psychiatry, Medical University Vienna, Vienna, Austria, ⁴ Department of Child and Adolescent Psychiatry, Medical University Vienna, Vienna, Austria, ⁵ Department of Psychiatry, University Hospital Jena, Jena, Germany, ⁶ Brain and Mind Research Institute, University of Sydney, Sydney, NSW, Australia, ⁷ Department of Child and Adolescent Psychiatry and Psychotherapy, University Hospital of Psychiatry Zurich, University of Zurich, Zurich, Switzerland, ⁸ Department of Psychiatry, University of Hong Kong, Hong Kong, Hong Kong, ⁹ Department of Psychiatry, Academic Medical Center, Amsterdam, Netherlands, ¹⁰ Psychiatric Centre Bispebjerg, Copenhagen, Denmark, ¹¹ Psychiatric University Clinics Basel, Basel, Switzerland, ¹² Institute of Mental Health, Singapore, Singapore, ¹³ School of Medicine and Lipid Research Centre, University of Wollongong, Wollongong, NSW, Australia, ¹⁴ Illawarra Health and Medical Research Institute, University of Wollongong, NSW, Australia, ¹⁵ Institute of Brain, Behaviour, and Mental Health, University of Manchester, Manchester, United Kingdom

Background: Deficiencies in membrane polyunsaturated fatty acids (PUFA) such as omega-3 (n-3) fatty acids are thought to contribute to the pathophysiological processes underlying psychotic disorders. Emerging evidence suggests that the levels of PUFA are related to clinical symptoms but significant heterogeneity exists between studies. Here, we investigated associations of membrane PUFA with clinical symptoms and functioning in a large sample of individuals at ultra-high risk (UHR) for psychosis.

Methods: A total of 285 participants of the NEURAPRO clinical trial were investigated for erythrocyte PUFA levels, including the n-3 index, n-6/n-3 PUFA ratio, docosahexaenoic acid (DHA), and eicosapentaenoic acid (EPA). Severity of general psychopathology [Brief Psychiatric Rating Scale (BPRS)], psychotic symptoms (BPRS psychosis subscale), negative symptoms [Scale for the Assessment of Negative Symptoms (SANS)], manic symptoms [Young Mania Rating Scale (YMRS)], depressive symptoms [Montgomery Asberg Depression Rating Scale (MADRS)], and functioning [Social and Occupational Functioning Scale (SOFAS), Global Functioning Social (GF-S) and Role (GF-R) scales] were assessed concurrently. Partial correlation taking into account the effects of gender, age, and smoking was used to examine the relationship between PUFAs and symptoms severity.

Results: The n-3 index negatively correlated with the severity of general psychopathology, psychotic symptoms, depressive symptoms, and manic symptoms. The n-6/n-3 PUFA ratio positively correlated with severity of psychotic and depressive symptoms. The n-3

90

PUFA DHA negatively correlated with the severity of general psychopathology, positive, manic, and depressive symptoms. EPA negatively correlated with manic symptoms. Nervonic acid, an n-9 monounsaturated fatty acid, positively correlated with general psychopathology, positive and negative symptoms, depressive symptoms, and manic symptoms. The long-chain saturated fatty acid tetracosanoic acid positively correlated with general psychopathology, positive, manic, and depressive symptoms.

Conclusions: Partially consistent with a previous study, psychotic symptoms, depressive symptoms, and symptoms of mania were associated with several classes of FAs in the present study. These findings support the relevance of membrane fatty acids for the onset of psychotic symptoms and indicate that FAs should be further evaluated as biomarkers in the UHR for psychosis group.

Clinical Trial Registration: ANZCTR, identifier: 12608000475347

Keywords: ultra-high risk, omega-3 fatty acids, psychosis, psychopathology, outcomes

INTRODUCTION

Young people at ultra-high risk (UHR) for psychosis have an elevated risk of developing psychosis of about 20% within 2 years and a significant risk for non-psychotic disorders (1, 2). The biological correlates underlying this risk state remain poorly understood but emerging evidence suggests the involvement of brain structural and functional alterations as well as peripheral pathology including immune activation, oxidative stress, endocrine abnormalities and deregulation of membrane lipid metabolism (3, 4). Given that it is currently unclear how to determine the biological risk for psychosis transition and other clinically relevant outcomes and how to develop treatments that target specific pathophysiological processes, it is important to elucidate the biological processes accompanying the UHR state. Moreover, declining transition rates in individuals who are clinically identified as being at UHR for psychosis (5) as well as uncertainty about the efficacy of specific interventions (6, 7) further add to the need to refine and improve risk prediction and consequently the identification of predictive biomarkers.

Deficits in long-chain omega-3 (n-3) polyunsaturated fatty acids (PUFAs) are one mechanism thought to contribute to psychosis risk (8, 9). In fact, n-3 PUFAs are integral components of the lipid bilayer forming the cell membrane and are found in high abundance in the human brain (10). There, they modulate the rigid formation of tightly packed saturated fatty acids through their structural characteristics, thereby also contributing to the biophysical properties of the neuronal membrane (11, 12). These in turn affect the function of ion channels and neurotransmitter receptors. Importantly, n-3 PUFA are essential fatty acids, meaning that their abundance in cell membranes is determined by intake from food and metabolic conversion. The lipid derivates of n-3 PUFA include anti-inflammatory eicosanoids such as resins and resolvins, which mediate the effects of n-3 PUFA on immune function (13, 14). Molecules derived from n-6 PUFA in contrast are known to have pro-inflammatory properties. First postulated by Horrobin et al. (15), the phospholipid structure of the cell membrane may be altered in schizophrenia and such alterations may contribute to various aspects of the pathophysiology observed in psychotic disorders, including neurotransmission, immune activation, and antioxidative defense. This is supported by studies showing n-3 PUFA deficiency in patients with schizophrenia compared to controls (16). Much less is known about the UHR for psychosis state, but evidence suggests lower levels of several n-3 and n-6 PUFA (17). Additionally, the balance between n-3 and n-6 PUFA, which is often seen as an indicator of immune activation, seems to be associated with depression in young people at UHR for psychosis (18).

More recently, clinical trials have tested the efficacy of n-3 PUFA for the prevention of psychosis transition in UHR individuals (19-21). While the first single-center trial showed significant benefits of n-3 PUFA over placebo in terms of the transition to psychosis risk (19), a multicenter replication study failed to show significant effects of n-3 PUFA supplementation on the transition rate (21). Possible reasons for the failure to replicate a reduction of transitions include true inefficacy of n-3 PUFA in this particular outcome measure, the background intervention of high-quality psychosocial care in both groups that may have created a ceiling effect, the use of antidepressants, or the high rate of non-adherence (57%) (22). Importantly, investigating the relationship between pre-treatment PUFA levels and symptom measures can provide further insight into potential mechanisms underlying lipid biology in regard to psychosis risk. A secondary analysis of the original single-center trial revealed associations of several classes of fatty acids with clinical symptoms and psychosocial functioning (23). In light of these observations, it seems important to replicate the findings of the original trial in the larger sample of the NEURAPRO clinical trial.

The aim of the present analysis was to examine associations of the cell membrane levels of fatty acids with clinical symptoms and functioning at baseline (i.e., prior to the intervention) in the NEURAPRO RCT. Specifically, we hypothesized that the n-3 index would be associated with less severe symptoms and better functioning. Given the limited evidence for fatty acid variations in the UHR stage, we did not formulate specific hypotheses for other fatty acid classes.

METHODS

Participants

The study cohort consisted of 285 of 304 (94%) participants in the NEURAPRO study who provided consent for additional biomarker analysis. NEURAPRO was a double-blind placebocontrolled randomized clinical trial of fish oil (1.4 g fish oil/ day) in people at UHR for psychosis (21) (ANZCTR identifier: 12608000475347) with 10 study sites (Amsterdam, Basel, Copenhagen, Jena, Hong Kong, Melbourne, Singapore, Sydney, Vienna, and Zurich). The intervention was administered in addition to cognitive behavioral case management (CBCM) for 6 months followed by a 6-month follow-up period. Helpseeking individuals attending UHR services in the trial centers were eligible if they were aged 13-40 years and met UHR criteria (24, 25). Exclusion criteria were a previous psychotic episode, acute intoxication, organic brain disease, serious developmental disorder, abnormal coagulation profile or thyroid function, physical illness with a psychotropic effect, current treatment with mood stabilizers, past neuroleptic exposure to a total lifetime haloperidol equivalent dose of more than 50 mg, IQ of less than 70, dangerous behavior, aggression or suicidality, pregnancy, or current supplementation with n-3 PUFA (25). All participants provided written informed consent (parent/guardian consent for participants aged <17 years). The NEURAPRO study was approved by the local human research ethics committees of the study centers.

Data Collection

Psychiatric symptoms at baseline were assessed with the Brief Psychiatric Rating Scale (BPRS), the Scale for the Assessment of Negative Symptoms (SANS), the Montgomery Asberg Depression Rating Scale (MADRS) for depressive symptoms, the Young Mania Rating Scale (YMRS) for manic symptoms, the Social and Occupational Functioning Scale (SOFAS), and the Global Functioning Social (GF-S) and Role (GF-R) scales.

Fatty Acid Analysis

Total fatty acid levels were quantified from erythrocyte samples collected at baseline. Erythrocytes were separated from plasma and extracted using an automated extraction method described previously by (26). Fatty acid levels were measured using mass spectrometry utilizing a hybrid triple quadrupole linear ion trap mass spectrometer (QTRAP 5500 AB Sciex, MA, USA) with an automated chip-based nanoelectrospray source (Triversa NanoMate, Advion Biosciences, New York, USA). Ionized lipids identified with a minimum signal-to-noise ratio of 10 were included in the analysis. Identification and quantification was accomplished using LipidView (v1.2, Sciex, MA, USA). Quantification was performed using LipidView software by comparing the spectral peak area of individual lipids to their class specific internal standards following isotope correction. Mass spectrometry is unable to identify fatty acid double bond isomers which limited our ability to distinguish between 18:1n-7/9, 20:3n-3/6/9 and 22:5n-3/6, respectively.

Statistical Analysis

The n-3 index was calculated as the proportion of eicosapentaenoic acid (EPA) and docosahexaenoic acid (DHA) expressed as percent of total fatty acids. The n-6/n-3 PUFA ratio was calculated as arachidonic acid (AA) divided by the sum of EPA and DHA. To examine the relationship between PUFA and psychopathology, partial correlation coefficients (adj. R) were calculated adjusting for age, gender, and smoking, as these covariates have been found to influence both fatty acid levels and psychopathology. Given the explorative nature of the study and the fact that variations in PUFA concentrations in the UHR stage is still in a hypothesis-generating phase, we did not to correct for multiple testing. The significance for all tests was set at $\alpha < 0.05$. Stata 13.1 (StataCorp, College Station, TX, USA) for Mac OS was used for all analyses.

RESULTS

Relevant demographic and psychological variables are presented **Table 1**. The sample comprised 285 participants (mean age 19.0 years \pm 4.5; 45.26% male).

Partial correlations between fatty acids and related indices and psychological variables, adjusted for age, gender and smoking, are reported in **Table 2**. BPRS scores were positively correlated with 24:0 (p < 0.001), 24:1n-9 (p < 0.001) and the n-6/3 PUFA ratio (p=0.01), and negatively correlated with the n-3 index (p=0.003), **20:3** (p=0.010), 22:6n-3 (p < 0.001), 20:4n-6 (p=0.037) and 18:2n-6 (p < 0.001). The BPRS psychotic symptoms sub-scale was positively correlated with 24:1n-9 (p=0.009) and with the n-6/3 PUFA ratio (p=0.01), and negatively correlated with 18:2n-6 (p=0.04) and the n-3 index (p=0.008). Negative symptoms (SANS) were positively correlated with 24:0 (p < 0.001) and 24:1n-9 (p < 0.001) and negatively correlated with 16:0 (p < 0.001), 20:3 (p < 0.001), 18:2n-6 (p < 0.001) and 18:1 (p=0.004).

YMRS scores were positively correlated with 24:0 (p < 0.0001) and 24:1n-9 (p < 0.0001) and negatively correlated with 20:3 (p=0.002),20:5n-3 (p=0.03), 22:6n-3 (p < 0.0001), 18:2n-6 (p < 0.0011), 20:4n-6 (p < 0.0001) and the n-3-index (p < 0.0001). MADRS scores were positively correlated with 24:0 (p < 0.0001),

 TABLE 1 | Demographic and clinical characteristics and inflammatory markers

 of 285 NEURAPRO study participants.

Age, mean (SD)	18.97 (4.49)
Sex	
Female, n (%)	156 (54.74)
Male, n (%)	129 (45.26)
Smoking, n (%)	110 (38.6)
BPRS, mean (SD)	41.02 (9.72)
SANS, mean (SD)	17.79 (12.81)
MADRS, mean (SD)	19.27 (8.97)
SOFAS, mean (SD)	53.30 (12.44)
GF-S, mean (SD)	6.51 (1.22)
GF-R, mean (SD)	5.95 (1.54)

BPRS, Brief Psychiatric Rating Scale; MADRS, Montgomery-Asberg Depression Rating Scale; SANS, Scale for the Assessment of Negative Symptoms; SOFAS, Social and Occupational Functioning Scale.

		BPRS	BPRS	S psy	SA	SANS	MA	MADRS	ΜY	YMRS	SO	SOFAS	ΠB	GF-S	GF-R	ц.
	adj. R	<i>p</i> -value	adj. R	<i>p</i> -value	adj. R	p-value	adj. R	p-value	adj. R	<i>p</i> -value						
16:0	-0.111	0.06	-0.011	0.86	-0.210	<0.001	-0.082	0.16	0.009	0.86	0.104	0.08	0.105	0.08	0.072	0.23
17:0	-0.015	0.79	0.029	0.63	-0.084	0.16	-0.011	0.85	-0.006	0.91	0.034	0.57	0.085	0.16	0.136	0.02
18:0	-0.029	0.62	-0.019	0.76	0.053	0.37	0.039	0.50	-0.055	0.35	-0.129	0.03	-0.113	0.06	-0.112	0.06
18:1*	-0.119	0.04	-0.008	0.90	-0.191	0.001	-0.123	0.03	-0.140	0.02	0.109	0.06	0.065	0.28	0.121	0.04
18:2n-6	-0.344	<0.0001	-0.119	0.04	-0.328	<0.0001	-0.264	<0.0001	-0.324	<0.0001	0.033	0.57	0.146	0.01	0.047	0.44
20:3#	-0.175	0.003	-0.105	0.08	-0.202	<0.001	-0.192	0.001	-0.184	0.002	0.102	0.08	0.153	0.01	0.150	0.01
20:4n-6	-0.162	0.006	-0.075	0.21	0.016	0.78	-0.122	0.03	-0.280	<0.0001	-0.016	0.78	0.016	0.79	-0.044	0.47
20:5n-3	0.005	0.92	-0.069	0.25	0.099	0.09	-0.039	0.50	-0.128	0.03	0.048	0.42	0.027	0.65	0.022	0.72
22:4n-6	-0.017	0.77	-0.065	0.28	0.109	0.07	-0.053	0.36	-0.080	0.18	-0.047	0.43	-0.071	0.24	-0.129	0.03
22:5^	0.015	0.80	0.040	0.50	0.113	0.06	0.082	0.16	0.144	0.02	-0.002	0.97	-0.067	0.27	-0.116	0.05
22:6n-3	-0.198	<0.001	-0.166	0.006	-0.081	0.17	-0.191	0.001	-0.234	<0.0001	0.026	0.65	-0.007	0.90	-0.053	0.38
24:0	0.389	<0.001	0.099	0.09	0.289	<0.0001	0.307	<0.0001	0.375	<0.0001	-0.074	0.21	-0.098	0.10	-0.005	0.93
24:1n-9	0.365	<0.001	0.157	0.009	0.293	<0.0001	0.307	<0.0001	0.377	<0.0001	-0.074	0.21	-0.115	0.05	-0.047	0.44
n-3 index [†]	-0.176	0.003	-0.160	0.008	-0.057	0.34	-0.177	0.002	-0.230	<0.0001	0.031	0.59	-0.002	0.97	-0.044	0.47
n-6/3 ratio ^{&}	0.153	0.01	0.147	0.01	0.093	0.12	0.169	0.005	0.118	0.05	-0.083	0.16	-0.021	0.73	0.035	0.56

24:1n-9 (p < 0.0001) and the n-6/3 PUFA ratio (p=0.005), and negatively correlated with the n-3-index (p=0.002), 20:3 (p=0.001), 22:6n-3 (p=0.001), 18:2n-6 (p < 0.0001), 20:4n-6 (p=0.03) and 18:1 (p=0.03). SOFAS scores were negatively correlated with 18:0 (p=0.031). GF-S scores were positively correlated with 18:2n-6 (p 0.01) and 20:3 (p=0.01). Finally, GF-R scores were positively correlated with 17:0 (p=0.02), 18:1 (p=0.04), 22:4n-6 (p=0.03) and 20:3 (p=0.01).

DISCUSSION

The aim of this study was to investigate associations of cell membrane fatty acids with clinical characteristics in a large multicentre RCT of fish oil supplementation in individuals at UHR for psychosis. After taking into account the effects of age, gender and smoking, we found several PUFAs related to psychopathology, including general psychopathology (BPRS), psychotic symptoms (BPRS), negative symptoms (SANS), manic symptoms (YMRS) and depressive symptoms (MADRS). The n-3 index, DHA, AA, 20:3, and 18:2n6 were negatively correlated with BPRS, MADRS and YMRS scores, while the n-6/3 PUFA ratio was positively correlated with general psychopathology (BPRS), psychotic symptoms (BPRS) and depressive symptoms (MADRS). 24:0 and 24:1n-9 in turn were significantly positively correlated with BPRS, SANS, MADRS and YMRS scores. Collectively, these findings support the notion that several classes of fatty acids are associated with symptom severity in this group.

Our analysis contributes important insights into the relationship between PUFA and psychopathology by replicating findings of our previous smaller study in UHR (23) in a large (n=285) and well-characterised sample. Overall, our results confirm that higher levels of n-3 PUFA (n-3 index) correspond to fewer symptoms in this population. The n-3 index, calculated as the sum of EPA and DHA as percent of total fatty acids, was significantly associated with lower general psychopathology (BPRS) scores, which is broadly consistent with a previous study (27), as well as with lower manic (YMRS) and depressive (MADRS) symptoms. The n-6/n-3 PUFA ratio, reflective of the balance between n-3 and n-6 PUFA, was positively correlated with psychotic symptoms (BPRS) and MADRS scores, suggesting that a higher relative proportion of n-6 PUFA compared to n-3 PUFA correlates with more severe symptoms. Consistent with the present findings, Kim et al. (23) found that the n-6/n-3 PUFA ratio was associated with psychotic symptoms, and the sum of n-3 PUFA negatively with negative symptoms. This suggests that the n-3 index is relevant to a range of symptoms in the UHR state. Consistent with this, DHA was also associated with lower BPRS scores in our study. DHA is the most abundant n-3 PUFA in the human brain and integral to the neuronal membrane. Importantly, erythrocyte DHA correlates with grey matter DHA (28) and may be particularly relevant during adolescence, where increases in the level of DHA may be critical for the development of the prefrontal cortex and cortical maturation more generally (29-31). Given that the UHR state and the onset of psychotic disorders fall within this developmental period in many cases,

TABLE 2 | Partial correlations of fatty acids with symptom and functioning scores in 285 participants of the Neurapro-E study.

The n-3 index is calculated as the amount of EPA and DHA expressed as the percent of total fatty acids.

22:5 could be 22:5n-3 or 22:5n-6, or a combination of both

calculated as AA/(EPA + DHA)

significance

statistical

30ld numbers indicate .

The n-6/3 ratio is

Fatty Acids and Psychopathology

n-3 PUFA including DHA may play a particularly important role in this phase.

Our results also support an association of the n-3 index and the n-6/n-3 PUFA ratio with depressive symptoms in this UHR cohort. Considering that young people at UHR for psychosis have a high risk for depression of up to 42% (1), these findings are highly relevant to the UHR group. There is ample evidence to support n-3 PUFA deficiency in patients with major depressive disorders (32) and for the efficacy of n-3 PUFA as a potential treatment of depressive symptoms [see meta-analyses in Refs. (33-35)]. Moreover, we recently reported that in individuals at UHR for psychosis, a high n-6/n-3 PUFA ratio is predictive of depression within a 7-year follow-up (18). Our present findings support an association of the n-3 index as well as of DHA levels with depressive symptoms, thereby confirming previous results. However, EPA, the n-3 PUFA found to be most effective for the treatment of depression (34), was not related to depressive symptoms in this study.

In addition to n-3 PUFA, linoleic acid (18:2), an n-6 PUFA and precursor to arachidonic acid, EPA and DHA, was inversely associated with symptoms severity and positively associated with functioning. Previous studies examining the relationship between linoleic acid and psychopathology have yielded mixed results. For example, in a recent study of 154 patients with major depressive disorder, linoleic acid was found to be reduced compared to controls and inversely correlated with depressive symptoms severity (36). Similarly, in a population-based study of otherwise healthy adults, low levels of linoleic acid were associated with depressive symptoms (37). However, other studies found no association of linoleic acid with depression (38, 39). While our results suggest that linoleic acid is associated with fewer symptoms and better functioning, these observations warrant further confirmation.

An interesting observation in our study was that tetracosanoic acid (lignoceric acid; 24:0), a very long chain saturated fatty acid mainly found in peanut and canola oil (40), was strongly positively correlated with all symptom scores. Few studies to date have investigated saturated fatty acids in the UHR group. Of note, Hamazaki et al. (41) found elevated levels of these fatty acids in post-mortem brain tissue of patients with schizophrenia compared to controls.

The mechanisms linking deficits in n-3 PUFA with psychopathology in the UHR group are only partially understood but likely include effects on serotonergic and dopaminergic neurotransmission through the modulation of membrane fluidity and ion channel function (42), PUFA effects on HPA axis regulation and the regulation of antioxidative defense (43), as well as the production of pro- and anti-inflammatory derivatives of PUFA (14, 44, 45). EPA rapidly beta-oxidized once in the brain (46, 47), and oxidation products are not specific for EPA. Therefore, EPA effects in depression cannot be explained by effects in the brain; rather, peripheral anti-inflammatory effects may be relevant. EPA's oxidation products are anti-inflammatory eicosanoids, and oxidative stress as seen in psychiatric disorders would only increase these. This is supported by Rapaport et al. (48), who showed that high inflammation is a predictor of response to n-3 PUFA supplementation.

Other fatty acids related to psychopathology in our study include NA. NA, an n-9 monounsaturated fatty acid, is abundant in the white matter of the central nervous system and important for the biosynthesis and maintenance of the myelin sheath. For example, the levels of NA (but also AA and DHA) were found to be related to decreased white matter integrity in the corpus callosum, parietal, occipital, temporal, and frontal lobes (49). Impaired myelin pathways and impairments in white matter integrity in the medial frontal lobe and other brain areas relevant to psychosis have been observed in individuals who later transitioned to psychosis (50). Decreased levels of NA have previously been observed in association with more severe psychotic symptoms and with higher transition risk (23, 51). The present findings seem difficult to reconcile as they suggest the opposite relationship. However, differences in the methodology between the present study and previous studies may explain these discrepancies (52). While Amminger et al. (51) measured NA from the phosphatidylethanolamine fraction of erythrocytes using gas chromatographic analysis, NA was quantified in this study from whole erythrocyte membranes using mass spectrometry. In patients with major depressive disorder, where white matter dysfunction is similarly hypothesized, both increases and decreases in NA have been observed (52, 53).

An important question not answered by our study is whether young individuals at UHR for psychosis show deficits in those n-3 PUFAs associated with more severe symptoms compared to healthy (non-UHR) individuals. To date, only one study of our group addressed this question and reported deficits in two n-3 PUFAs and several n-6 PUFAs (17). We are currently investigating this question in the NEURAPRO trial and a matched control group. Studies in patients with chronic schizophrenia provided heterogeneous findings and showed decreases in AA, DPA, and DHA (54). However, several studies in schizophrenia patients including a more recent study showed increases in these fatty acids in patients compared to controls as well as in unaffected siblings compared to controls (55-57). Findings in youth at UHR for bipolar disorder showed deficits in the n-3-index compared to healthy controls (58, 59). It therefore seems important to clarify if low n-3 PUFA levels precede the onset of psychosis.

A strength of our study is the sample size, making this the largest examination of membrane PUFA in UHR to date. A second strength is the well-characterized sample and the availability of a variety of clinical measures. Limitations include the cross-sectional nature of this analysis, which precludes causal inferences. The effects sizes of several correlations reported here-while statistically significant-are small (adj. R < 0.2). Also, the selection of fatty acids measured is not fully consistent with a previous study (23) due to the choice of methods used for the analysis. The present study used mass spectrometry, a novel method recently published (26), while previous studies used mostly gas chromatography. While dietary habits were not considered here, we argue that membrane PUFA status is a valid biological measure of lipid biology irrespective of source. Finally, we did not correct for multiple comparisons in the present study due to its exploratory nature.

Future studies should further confirm if the UHR for psychosis group has deficits in PUFA compared to healthy individuals

as well as other high-risk groups; clarify causality by testing whether the relationship with clinical symptoms persists at follow-up and is predictive of treatment response and long-term remission; if supplementation with fish oil can reverse potential deficits and associations with psychopathology; and whether the relationship between lipid biology and symptoms is attributable to inflammation or other biological mechanisms that may serve as potential treatment targets.

In conclusion, our study confirms that membrane PUFAs are associated with the severity of clinical symptoms in individuals at UHR for psychosis. In particular, we found that the n-3 index was negatively correlated with multiple measures, including total BPRS scores, MADRS, and YMRS scores. These results suggest that n-3 PUFA are important in the pathophysiology of the UHR state and may indicate risk for poor mental health outcomes. Given that recent RCTs of n-3 PUFA in the UHR were unable to demonstrate superiority of n-3 PUFA over placebo for transition to psychosis, biomarker studies are warranted to clarify if low n-3 PUFA levels predispose for adverse outcomes and are indicative of treatment response with n-3 PUFA.

ETHICS STATEMENT

This study was approved by the local human ethics review board of each site (Melbourne, Australia: Melbourne Health Research Ethics Committee; Sydney, Australia: Sydney South West Area Health Service Ethics Review Committee; Basel, Switzerland: Ethics Commission for Basel; Zurich, Switzerland: Cantonal Ethics Commission Zurich; Jena, Germany: University Clinic Jena Ethics Commission; Copenhagen, Denmark: Capital Region Research Ethics Committee; Hong Kong: Institutional Review Board of the University of Hong Kong/Hospital Authority Hong Kong West Cluster; Vienna, Austria: Medical University of Vienna Ethics Commission; Singapore: National Healthcare

REFERENCES

- Lin A, Wood SJ, Nelson B, Beavan A, Mcgorry P, Yung AR. Outcomes of nontransitioned cases in a sample at ultra-high risk for psychosis. Am J Psychiatry (2015) 172:249–58. doi: 10.1176/appi.ajp.2014.13030418
- Fusar-Poli P, Cappucciati M, Borgwardt S, Woods SW, Addington J, Nelson B, et al. Heterogeneity of psychosis risk within individuals at clinical high risk: a meta-analytical stratification. *JAMA Psychiatry* (2016) 73:113–20. doi: 10.1001/jamapsychiatry.2015.2324
- Davis J, Moylan S, Harvey BH, Maes M, Berk M. Neuroprogression in schizophrenia: pathways underpinning clinical staging and therapeutic corollaries. *Aust N Z J Psychiatry* (2014) 48:512–29. doi: 10.1177/0004867414 533012
- McGorry P, Keshavan M, Goldstone S, Amminger P, Allott K, Berk M, et al. Biomarkers and clinical staging in psychiatry. *World Psychiatry* (2014) 13:211–23. doi: 10.1002/wps.20144
- Fusar-Poli P, Bonoldi I, Yung AR, Borgwardt S, Kempton MJ, Valmaggia L, et al. Predicting psychosis: meta-analysis of transition outcomes in individuals at high clinical risk. *Arch Gen Psychiatry* (2012) 69:220–9. doi: 10.1001/archgenpsychiatry.2011.1472
- 6. Davies C, Cipriani A, Ioannidis JPA, Radua J, Stahl D, Provenzani U, et al. Lack of evidence to favor specific preventive interventions in psychosis: a

Group Domain Specific Review Board; and Amsterdam, the Netherlands: Academic Medical Centre Medical Ethics Committee). This study was carried out in accordance with the Declaration of Helsinki and The National Health and Medical Research Council of Australia National Statement on Human Research with written informed consent from all subjects. All subjects gave written informed consent in accordance with the Declaration of Helsinki.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

MB and GA designed the study. MB analyzed the data and wrote the manuscript. BN, CM, HY, MRS, NM, MS, SS, IH, GB, EC, LH, DN, MN, AR-R, SV, AY, PM, and GA contributed to the primary study that provided data for this analysis, including acquisition of funding, recruitment of participants, and/or collection of data. TM and BM analyzed erythrocyte fatty acids. All authors contributed to the interpretation of results and to the manuscript.

FUNDING

The NEURAPRO clinical trial was supported by grant 07TGF-1102 from the Stanley Medical Research Institute, grant 566529 from the NHMRC Australia, and a grant from the Colonial Foundation. The analysis of fatty acids was supported by grant 1128631 from the NHMRC Australia. MB is supported by a MACH Translational Research Fellowship. GB is supported by the Swiss National Science Foundation (SNF 33IC30_166826).

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We would like to thank the participants and their families.

network meta-analysis. World Psychiatry (2018a) 17:196–209. doi: 10.1002/wps.20526

- Davies C, Radua J, Cipriani A, Stahl D, Provenzani U, Mcguire P, et al. Efficacy and acceptability of interventions for attenuated positive psychotic symptoms in individuals at clinical high risk of psychosis: a network metaanalysis. *Front Psychiatry* (2018b) 9:187. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2018.00187
- Amminger GP, Mcgorry PD. Update on omega-3 polyunsaturated fatty acids in early-stage psychotic disorders. *Neuropsychopharmacology* (2012) 37:309– 10. doi: 10.1038/npp.2011.187
- Amminger GP, Berger M, Rice SM, Davey CG, Schafer MR, Mcgorry PD. Novel biotherapies are needed in youth mental health. *Australas Psychiatry* (2017) 25:117–20. doi: 10.1177/1039856217698237
- Dyall SC. Long-chain omega-3 fatty acids and the brain: a review of the independent and shared effects of EPA, DPA and DHA. *Front Aging Neurosci* (2015) 7:52. doi: 10.3389/fnagi.2015.00052
- Van Meer G, Voelker DR, Feigenson GW. Membrane lipids: where they are and how they behave. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol (2008) 9:112–24. doi: 10.1038/ nrm2330
- Gorjão R, Azevedo-Martins AK, Rodrigues HG, Abdulkader F, Arcisio-Miranda M, Procopio J, et al. Comparative effects of DHA and EPA on cell function. *Pharmacol Ther* (2009) 122:56–64. doi: 10.1016/j.pharmthera.2009. 01.004

- Weylandt KH, Chiu CY, Gomolka B, Waechter SF, Wiedenmann B. Omega-3 fatty acids and their lipid mediators: towards an understanding of resolvin and protectin formation. *Prostaglandins Other Lipid Mediat* (2012) 97:73–82. doi: 10.1016/j.prostaglandins.2012.01.005
- Calder PC. Marine omega-3 fatty acids and inflammatory processes: effects, mechanisms and clinical relevance. *Biochim Biophys Acta* (2015) 1851:469– 84. doi: 10.1016/j.bbalip.2014.08.010
- Horrobin DF, Glen AI, Vaddadi K. The membrane hypothesis of schizophrenia. Schizophr Res (1994) 13:195–207. doi: 10.1016/0920-9964(94)90043-4
- Van Der Kemp WJ, Klomp DW, Kahn RS, Luijten PR, Hulshoff Pol HE. A meta-analysis of the polyunsaturated fatty acid composition of erythrocyte membranes in schizophrenia. *Schizophr Res* (2012) 141:153–61. doi: 10.1016/ j.schres.2012.08.014
- Rice SM, Schafer MR, Klier C, Mossaheb N, Vijayakumar N, Amminger GP. Erythrocyte polyunsaturated fatty acid levels in young people at ultra-high risk for psychotic disorder and healthy adolescent controls. *Psychiatry Res* (2015) 228:174–6. doi: 10.1016/j.psychres.2015.04.036
- Berger ME, Smesny S, Kim SW, Davey CG, Rice S, Sarnyai Z, et al. Omega-6 to omega-3 polyunsaturated fatty acid ratio and subsequent mood disorders in young people with at-risk mental states: a 7-year longitudinal study. *Transl Psychiatry* (2017) 7:e1220. doi: 10.1038/tp.2017.190
- Amminger GP, Schafer MR, Papageorgiou K, Klier CM, Cotton SM, Harrigan SM, et al. Long-chain omega-3 fatty acids for indicated prevention of psychotic disorders: a randomized, placebo-controlled trial. *Arch Gen Psychiatry* (2010) 67:146–54. doi: 10.1001/archgenpsychiatry.2009.192
- Cadenhead K, Addington J, Cannon T, Cornblatt B, Mathalon D, Mcglashan T, et al. 23. omega-3 fatty acid versus placebo in a clinical high-risk sample from the North American Prodrome Longitudinal Studies (NAPLS) Consortium. *Schizophr Bull* (2017) 43:S16–S16. doi: 10.1093/schbul/sbx021.042
- McGorry PD, Nelson B, Markulev C, Yuen HP, Schafer MR, Mossaheb N, et al. Effect of omega-3 polyunsaturated fatty acids in young people at ultrahigh risk for psychotic disorders: the neurapro randomized clinical trial. *JAMA Psychiatry* (2017) 74(1):19–27. doi: 10.1001/jamapsychiatry.2016.2902
- Kane JM, Correll CU. Ω-3 polyunsaturated fatty acids to prevent psychosis: the importance of replication studies. JAMA Psychiatry (2017) 74:11–2. doi: 10.1001/jamapsychiatry.2016.2945
- Kim SW, Jhon M, Kim JM, Smesny S, Rice S, Berk M, et al. Relationship between erythrocyte fatty acid composition and psychopathology in the vienna omega-3 study. *PLoS One* (2016) 11:e0151417. doi: 10.1371/journal. pone.0151417
- Yung AR, Phillips LJ, Mcgorry PD, Mcfarlane CA, Francey S, Harrigan S, et al. Prediction of psychosis. A step towards indicated prevention of schizophrenia. *Br J Psychiatry Suppl* (1998) 172:14–20. doi: 10.1192/S000712 5000297602
- Markulev C, Mcgorry PD, Nelson B, Yuen HP, Schaefer M, Yung AR, et al. NEURAPRO-E study protocol: a multicentre randomized controlled trial of omega-3 fatty acids and cognitive-behavioural case management for patients at ultra high risk of schizophrenia and other psychotic disorders. *Early Interv Psychiatry* (2015) 11(5):418–28. doi: 10.1111/eip.12260
- Alqarni A, Mcintyre KJ, Brown SHJ, Meyer BJ, Mitchell TW. A highthroughput method for the analysis of erythrocyte fatty acids and the omega-3 index. *Lipids* (2018) 53:1005–15. doi: 10.1002/lipd.12108
- 27. Cadenhead KS, Minichino A, Kelsven S, Addington J, Bearden C, Cannon TD, et al. Metabolic abnormalities and low dietary Omega 3 are associated with symptom severity and worse functioning prior to the onset of psychosis: findings from the North American Prodrome Longitudinal Studies Consortium. *Schizophr Res* (2018) 209:96–103. doi: 10.1016/j. schres.2018.09.022
- Carver JD, Benford VJ, Han B, Cantor AB. The relationship between age and the fatty acid composition of cerebral cortex and erythrocytes in human subjects. *Brain Res Bull* (2001) 56:79–85. doi: 10.1016/S0361-9230(01)00551-2
- Conklin SM, Gianaros PJ, Brown SM, Yao JK, Hariri AR, Manuck SB, et al. Long-chain omega-3 fatty acid intake is associated positively with corticolimbic gray matter volume in healthy adults. *Neurosci Lett* (2007) 421: 209–12. doi: 10.1016/j.neulet.2007.04.086
- Mcnamara RK, Able J, Jandacek R, Rider T, Tso P, Eliassen JC, et al. Docosahexaenoic acid supplementation increases prefrontal cortex activation during sustained attention in healthy boys: a placebo-controlled,

dose-ranging, functional magnetic resonance imaging study. Am J Clin Nutr (2010a) 91:1060–7. doi: 10.3945/ajcn.2009.28549

- Mcnamara RK, Vannest JJ, Valentine CJ. Role of perinatal long-chain omega-3 fatty acids in cortical circuit maturation: mechanisms and implications for psychopathology. *World J Psychiatry* (2015) 5:15–34. doi: 10.5498/wjp.v5. i1.15
- Lin PY, Huang SY, Su KP. A meta-analytic review of polyunsaturated fatty acid compositions in patients with depression. *Biol Psychiatry* (2010) 68: 140–7. doi: 10.1016/j.biopsych.2010.03.018
- Bloch MH, Hannestad J. Omega-3 fatty acids for the treatment of depression: systematic review and meta-analysis. *Mol Psychiatry* (2012) 17:1272–82. doi: 10.1038/mp.2011.100
- 34. Martins JG, Bentsen H, Puri BK. Eicosapentaenoic acid appears to be the key omega-3 fatty acid component associated with efficacy in major depressive disorder: a critique of Bloch and Hannestad and updated meta-analysis. *Mol Psychiatry* (2012) 17:1144–9. doi: 10.1038/mp.2012.25
- Mocking RJ, Harmsen I, Assies J, Koeter MW, Ruhe HG, Schene AH. Meta-analysis and meta-regression of omega-3 polyunsaturated fatty acid supplementation for major depressive disorder. *Transl Psychiatry* (2016) 6:e756. doi: 10.1038/tp.2016.29
- Cribb L, Murphy J, Froud A, Oliver G, Bousman CA, Ng CH, et al. Erythrocyte polyunsaturated fatty acid composition is associated with depression and FADS genotype in Caucasians. *Nutr Neurosci* (2018) 21:589–601. doi: 10. 1080/1028415X.2017.1327685
- Kurotani K, Sato M, Ejima Y, Kashima K, Nanri A, Pham NM, et al. Serum alpha-linolenic and linoleic acids are inversely associated with depressive symptoms in adults. *e-SPEN Journal* (2014) 9:e7–e12. doi: 10.1016/j.clnme. 2013.12.003
- Arnold LE, Young AS, Belury MA, Cole RM, Gracious B, Seidenfeld AM, et al. Omega-3 fatty acid plasma levels before and after supplementation: correlations with mood and clinical outcomes in the omega-3 and therapy studies. J Child Adolesc Psychopharmacol (2017) 27:223–33. doi: 10.1089/ cap.2016.0123
- Pinto TJ, Vilela AA, Farias DR, Lepsch J, Cunha GM, Vaz JS, et al. Serum n-3 polyunsaturated fatty acids are inversely associated with longitudinal changes in depressive symptoms during pregnancy. *Epidemiol Psychiatr Sci* (2017) 26:157–68. doi: 10.1017/S204579601500116X
- 40. US Department of Agriculture, A.R.S., Nutrient Data Laboratory. (2018). USDA National Nutrient Database for Standard Reference, Legacy. [Online]. Available: https://www.ars.usda.gov/northeast-area/beltsville-md-bhnrc/ beltsville-human-nutrition-research-center/nutrient-data-laboratory/ docs/usda-national-nutrient-database-for-standard-reference/ [Accessed April 2018].
- 41. Hamazaki K, Maekawa M, Toyota T, Iwayama Y, Dean B, Hamazaki T, et al. Fatty acid composition and fatty acid binding protein expression in the postmortem frontal cortex of patients with schizophrenia: a case-control study. *Schizophr Res* (2016) 171:225–32. doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2016.01.014
- Mocking RJT, Assies J, Ruhe HG, Schene AH. Focus on fatty acids in the neurometabolic pathophysiology of psychiatric disorders. J Inherit Metab Dis (2018) 41:597–611. doi: 10.1007/s10545-018-0158-3
- Kiecolt-Glaser JK, Epel ES, Belury MA, Andridge R, Lin J, Glaser R, et al. Omega-3 fatty acids, oxidative stress, and leukocyte telomere length: a randomized controlled trial. *Brain Behav Immun* (2013) 28:16–24. doi: 10. 1016/j.bbi.2012.09.004
- Kiecolt-Glaser JK, Belury MA, Porter K, Beversdorf DQ, Lemeshow S, Glaser R. Depressive symptoms, omega-6:omega-3 fatty acids, and inflammation in older adults. *Psychosom Med* (2007) 69:217–24. doi: 10. 1097/PSY.0b013e3180313a45
- Svahn SL, Varemo L, Gabrielsson BG, Peris E, Nookaew I, Grahnemo L, et al. Six tissue transcriptomics reveals specific immune suppression in spleen by dietary polyunsaturated fatty acids. *PLoS One* (2016) 11:e0155099. doi: 10. 1371/journal.pone.0155099
- Bazinet RP, Laye S. Polyunsaturated fatty acids and their metabolites in brain function and disease. *Nat Rev Neurosci* (2014) 15:771–85. doi: 10.1038/nrn 3820
- Chen CT, Bazinet RP. Beta-oxidation and rapid metabolism, but not uptake regulate brain eicosapentaenoic acid levels. *Prostaglandins Leukot Essent Fatty Acids* (2015) 92:33–40. doi: 10.1016/j.plefa.2014.05.007

- Rapaport MH, Nierenberg AA, Schettler PJ, Kinkead B, Cardoos A, Walker R, et al. Inflammation as a predictive biomarker for response to omega-3 fatty acids in major depressive disorder: a proof-of-concept study. *Mol Psychiatry* (2016) 21:71–9. doi: 10.1038/mp.2015.22
- Peters BD, Machielsen MW, Hoen WP, Caan MW, Malhotra AK, Szeszko PR, et al. Polyunsaturated fatty acid concentration predicts myelin integrity in early-phase psychosis. *Schizophr Bull* (2013) 39:830–8. doi: 10.1093/schbul/ sbs089
- Bloemen OJ, De Koning MB, Schmitz N, Nieman DH, Becker HE, De Haan L, et al. White-matter markers for psychosis in a prospective ultra-high-risk cohort. *Psychol Med* (2010) 40:1297–304. doi: 10.1017/S0033291709991711
- Amminger GP, Schafer MR, Klier CM, Slavik JM, Holzer I, Holub M, et al. Decreased nervonic acid levels in erythrocyte membranes predict psychosis in help-seeking ultra-high-risk individuals. *Mol Psychiatry* (2012) 17:1150–2. doi: 10.1038/mp.2011.167
- Kageyama Y, Kasahara T, Nakamura T, Hattori K, Deguchi Y, Tani M, et al. Plasma nervonic acid is a potential biomarker for major depressive disorder: a pilot study. *Int J Neuropsychopharmacol* (2018) 21:207–15. doi: 10.1093/ijnp/pyx089
- Assies J, Pouwer F, Lok A, Mocking RJ, Bockting CL, Visser I, et al. Plasma and erythrocyte fatty acid patterns in patients with recurrent depression: a matched case-control study. *PLoS One* (2010) 5:e10635. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0010635
- Hoen WP, Lijmer JG, Duran M, Wanders RJ, Van Beveren NJ, De Haan L. Red blood cell polyunsaturated fatty acids measured in red blood cells and schizophrenia: a meta-analysis. *Psychiatry Res* (2013) 207:1–12. doi: 10.1016/ j.psychres.2012.09.041
- 55. Arvindakshan M, Ghate M, Ranjekar PK, Evans DR, Mahadik SP. Supplementation with a combination of omega-3 fatty acids and antioxidants (vitamins E and C) improves the outcome of schizophrenia. *Schizophr Res* (2003) 62:195–204. doi: 10.1016/S0920-9964(02)00284-0

- Peet M. Nutrition and schizophrenia: beyond omega-3 fatty acids. Prostaglandins Leukot Essent Fatty Acids (2004) 70:417–22. doi: 10.1016/j. plefa.2003.12.019
- Medema S, Mocking RJ, Koeter MW, Vaz FM, Meijer C, De Haan L, et al. Levels of red blood cell fatty acids in patients with psychosis, their unaffected siblings, and healthy controls. *Schizophr Bull* (2016) 42:358–68. doi: 10.1093/ schbul/sbv133
- McNamara RK, Jandacek R, Rider T, Tso P, Dwivedi Y, Pandey GN. Selective deficits in erythrocyte docosahexaenoic acid composition in adult patients with bipolar disorder and major depressive disorder. J Affect Disord (2010b) 126:303–11. doi: 10.1016/j.jad.2010.03.015
- 59. McNamara RK, Jandacek R, Tso P, Blom TJ, Welge JA, Strawn JR, et al. Adolescents with or at ultra-high risk for bipolar disorder exhibit erythrocyte docosahexaenoic acid and eicosapentaenoic acid deficits: a candidate prodromal risk biomarker. *Early Interv Psychiatry* (2016) 10:203–11. doi: 10. 1111/eip.12282

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2019 Berger, Nelson, Markulev, Yuen, Schäfer, Mossaheb, Schlögelhofer, Smesny, Hickie, Berger, Chen, de Haan, Nieman, Nordentoft, Riecher-Rössler, Verma, Mitchell, Meyer, Thompson, Yung, McGorry and Amminger. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Factors Associated With Psychosocial Functioning and Outcome of Individuals With Recent-Onset Schizophrenia and at Ultra-High Risk for Psychosis

Hyun Kyu Kim^{1,2}, Hye Yoon Park^{1,2}, Eunchong Seo^{1,2}, Minji Bang³, Yun Young Song², Su Young Lee^{2,4}, Kyung Ran Kim^{1,2}, Jin Young Park^{2,5}, Jee In Kang^{1,2}, Eun Lee^{1,2} and Suk Kyoon An^{1,2,6*}

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Young-Chul Chung, Chonbuk National University, South Korea

Reviewed by:

Yen Kuang Yang, National Cheng Kung University Hospital, Taiwan Shi Hyun Kang, National Center for Mental Health, South Korea Yin Cui, Shanghai Mental Health Center (SMHC), China

> *Correspondence: Suk Kyoon An ansk@vuhs.ac

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Schizophrenia, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychiatry

Received: 13 January 2019 Accepted: 11 June 2019 Published: 26 June 2019

Citation:

Kim HK, Park HY, Seo E, Bang M, Song YY, Lee SY, Kim KR, Park JY, Kang JI, Lee E and An SK (2019) Factors Associated With Psychosocial Functioning and Outcome of Individuals With Recent-Onset Schizophrenia and at Ultra-High Risk for Psychosis. Front. Psychiatry 10:459. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2019.00459 ¹ Department of Psychiatry, Yonsei University College of Medicine, Severance Hospital, Seoul, South Korea, ² Section of Self, Affect and Neuroscience, Institute of Behavioral Science in Medicine, Yonsei University College of Medicine, Seoul, South Korea, ³ Department of Psychiatry, CHA Bundang Medical Center, CHA University, Seongnam, South Korea, ⁴ Department of Psychiatry, Myongji Hospital, Hanyang University College of Medicine, Goyang, South Korea, ⁵ Department of Psychiatry, Yonsei University College of Medicine, Gangnam Severance Hospital, Seoul, South Korea, ⁶ Graduate Program in Cognitive Science, Yonsei University, Seoul, South Korea

Background: Patients with schizophrenia have impairments in social functioning and are readmitted to healthcare institutions frequently. Individuals at ultra-high risk (UHR) for psychosis already present poor social functioning; among those individuals, the conversion rate from the putative prodromal phase to overt psychosis is 20%–30% within 1–2 years. Here, we analyzed the factor structure of self-related variables and neuroand socio-cognitive function, and investigated whether these factors were associated with psychosocial function and prognostic outcome in individuals with recent-onset schizophrenia (ROSPR) or at UHR for psychosis.

Methods: We evaluated 60 individuals at UHR for psychosis, 47 individuals with ROSPR, and 71 healthy controls using a comprehensive neurocognitive test battery and self-reported attribution scales, self-esteem, resilience, aberrant subjective experiences of schizotypy (physical anhedonia, social anhedonia, magical ideation, and perceptual aberration), and basic symptoms. We assessed psychosocial function with the Quality of Life Scale (QLS).

Results: Factor analysis of all subjects revealed a four-factor structure comprising socialcognitive bias, reflective self, neurocognition, and pre-reflective self factors. Multiple regression analysis at baseline revealed that the factor structure predicted QLS. In the UHR group, social-cognitive bias, reflective self, neurocognition, and negative symptoms were significant determinants, explaining 38.0% of total QLS score variance. In the ROSPR group, reflective self and negative symptoms were significant determinants, explaining 54.4% of total QLS score variance. During follow-up, 13 individuals at UHR for psychosis developed psychosis (cumulative prevalence: $31.2\% \pm 7.6\%$ at 6 years), with neurocognition score at baseline remaining a significant predictor of conversion [$\chi^2(1) = 4.009$, p = 0.045; hazard ratio 0.56, 95% confidence interval 0.31–0.99, p = 0.048]. Five patients with schizophrenia were (re)admitted during follow-up (cumulative prevalence: 16.1% ± 7.1% at 6 years); no factor was found to predict (re)admission.

Conclusion: Factor analysis revealed an intrinsic four-factor structure of social-cognitive bias, reflective self, neurocognition, and pre-reflective self. The four factors were associated with social functioning at baseline and prodrome-to-psychosis conversion during follow-up, indicating the clinical significance of the four-factor structure. These findings provide a framework for understanding schizophrenia.

Keywords: conversion, readmission, psychosocial function, schizophrenia, ultra-high risk for psychosis

INTRODUCTION

Patients with schizophrenia have impairments in social functioning and are readmitted to healthcare institutions frequently. Declining social functioning, a hallmark of schizophrenia, occurs throughout the course of the disorder and may begin even prior to overt psychotic symptoms (1). Frequent readmission to healthcare institutions affects not only social functioning but also the quality of life of patients with schizophrenia. Understanding the factors associated with impaired social functioning and readmission to a healthcare institution may be crucial to help patients with schizophrenia achieve better quality of life.

Vulnerability factors of patients with schizophrenia include impaired neurocognition and social cognition. Neurocognitive impairment is related to a decline in social functioning, and verbal memory (2), spatial organization (3), visual memory, and intelligence quotient (4) have been suggested to correlate with social and vocational outcome in patients with schizophrenia (5). Poor performance on the Wisconsin card sorting test has been suggested as a predictor of rehospitalization in patients with schizophrenia, even after controlling for adherence to medication (5, 6). Social cognition impairment has also been suggested to be associated with social functioning. Impaired facial affect recognition is correlated with social functioning in patients with first- or multi-episode schizophrenia (7). There is also a correlation between impaired social perception and role functioning in patients with schizophrenia (8), and attribution bias has been found to have an effect on social functioning impairment in patients with bipolar disorder and schizophrenia (9). A recent meta-analysis showed that while overall impairments in social cognition are more strongly correlated with community functioning than impaired neurocognition is, cognitive functioning only explains 25% of outcome variance in patients with schizophrenia (10). Besides the abovementioned objective cognitive deficits, patients with schizophrenia experience subjective symptoms, including basic symptoms (11) and schizotypy (12), both of which are suggested to result from deficits in information processing (13). Previous longitudinal studies suggested that basic symptoms have a negative relationship with social functioning and quality of life in patients with schizophrenia (14) and that schizotypy predicts social functional impairment (15). One review article suggested

that basic symptoms are associated not only with disease itself but also with relapse of schizophrenic episodes; since basic symptoms occur prior to relapse, they are considered an early sign of relapse (16). Schizotypy is associated with dopamine changes (17). It occurs in patients genetically prone to psychotic episodes (18). Therefore, schizotypy may affect schizophrenia relapses (19) and be associated with rehospitalization.

Regarding the protective factors, resilience has been associated with social functioning in patients with schizophrenia (20, 21). Self-esteem has also been reported to correlate with social functioning in psychiatric outpatients, including those with schizophrenia (22). Patients with schizophrenia who are less resilient have more frequent and more severe episodes, including rehospitalization (23). Low self-esteem of patients with schizophrenia is associated with stigma (24) and higher rehospitalization rates (25).

Ultra-high risk (UHR) for psychosis is a putative prodromal phase when poor social functioning is already present. The conversion rate to overt psychosis is around 30% during the follow-up period (26). It is important to find the factors associated with social functioning and conversion to overt psychosis in individuals at UHR for psychosis. Declining neurocognitive function has been reported to be associated with social functioning impairment (27, 28) and psychotic conversion (29-33) in individuals at UHR for psychosis. Neurocognitive functions, such as verbal learning, memory, processing speed, attention, and verbal fluency, predict social functioning outcome in UHR for psychosis (34). Spatial memory is one of the factors that significantly predict conversion (29, 30). Working memory and verbal ability deficits are possible predictors of psychotic conversion in initial prodromal states (32). In line with these observations, working memory, visual memory, and executive function have been included in the psychotic conversion model of individuals at UHR for psychosis (31). Social cognition, including the theory of mind, is impaired in individuals at UHR for psychosis (35, 36); it plays an important role in social functioning impairment (37) and predicts psychotic conversion (31). Resilience is also an important influencing factor of social functioning in individuals at UHR for psychosis. Individuals with higher resilience present better psychosocial functioning (38). Conversely, the conversion rate is higher in lowresilience patients (38). Basic symptoms and schizotypy of physical anhedonia are other predicting factors of conversion in individuals at UHR for psychosis (39).

As mentioned above, psychosocial functioning and readmission of patients with schizophrenia or psychotic conversion in individuals at UHR for psychosis are associated with loss of the ability to form complex and integrated ideas and experiences of the self and others. This ability may include verbal memory, spatial memory, facial affect recognition, theory of mind, attribution style, resilience, basic symptoms, and schizotypy as mentioned previously. In our previous study, we concluded these factors can be categorized as cognitive and selfrelated factors (40). Cognitive factors include neurocognitive factors (spatial memory, verbal memory, intelligence quotient, etc). and social cognitive functions (facial affect recognition, theory of mind, attribution style, etc). Self-related factors include resilience, self-esteem, basic symptoms, and schizotypy; they can be subcategorized as two levels of self: pre-reflective and reflective levels (40). These two levels of concept of self were firstly introduced as phenomenological theory for understanding selfexperience. Furthermore, the underlying neural underpinnings of these two levels of self were found to be dissociated from each other. For example, Esslen et al. (41) revealed biological evidence that ventral parts of medial prefrontal cortex were related to prereflective self and dorsal parts of medial prefrontal cortex were related to reflective self. The pre-reflective self is a first-person perspective and minimal level of self; it is also called basic self, minimal self, or ipseity (41). This aspect is a result of direct and non-reflective experiencing of self. Basic symptoms and schizotypy, such as perceptual aberrations and magical ideation, are measures of the pre-reflective level of self. In contrast, the reflective level of the self is a result of self-introspection and explicit awareness of the self; it is also regarded as the narrative self (42). Since the reflective self includes all aspects of an individual's personality (42), self-esteem and resilience can reflect this level of self. Previous studies provided disseminated information of relationships among these aspects with social functioning/readmission of patients with schizophrenia and social functioning/conversion of individuals at UHR for psychosis, but there was no study that integrates and categorizes the cognitive and self-related factors associated with functioning and prognostic outcome. Thus, we wanted to find and construct a proper factor structure of cognitive and self-related factors that is associated with social functioning/readmission of patients with schizophrenia and social functioning/conversion of individuals at UHR for psychosis. This factor structure provides an integrated perspective to understand social functioning/readmission of patients with schizophrenia and social functioning/conversion of individuals at UHR for psychosis.

The aims of this study were to analyze the factor structure of self-related psychosocial variables and cognitive function and investigate whether these factors were associated with social function and prognostic outcome in individuals with recent-onset schizophrenia (ROSPR) or at UHR for psychosis. We hypothesized that i) cognitive function and self-related variables can be categorized into representable factors in all subjects, and these factors contain the characteristics of neurocognitive function, social-cognitive bias, reflective self, and pre-reflective self; ii) these factors are significantly different among the UHR, ROSPR, and control groups; and iii) these factors are associated with psychosocial function at baseline in the UHR and ROSPR groups, with the psychotic conversion rate, and with the (re)admission rate during follow-up in the UHR and ROSPR group, respectively.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Subjects

We included 60 individuals at UHR for psychosis, 47 individuals with ROSPR, and 71 healthy controls (HCs) in this study. The HC group was recruited through online advertising between July 2007 and September 2016; subjects with any past or current psychiatric or neurological illness were excluded. The UHR and ROSPR groups comprised help-seeking individuals recruited at the early psychosis clinic (Clinic FORYOU) at Severance Hospital of Yonsei University Health System in the Seoul metropolitan area during the same period. In all subjects, axis I psychiatric disorders were assessed by a trained psychiatrist (K.K.R.) using the Structured Clinical Interview for DSM-IV (SCID-IV) (43, 44). Individuals at UHR for psychosis were diagnosed according to the criteria of the Structured Interview for Prodromal Syndromes (SIPS) (45). To be diagnosed with UHR for psychosis, individuals had to satisfy one or more of the following prodromal syndromes outlined in the SIPS: 1) brief intermittent psychotic syndrome (BIPS), which has emerging psychotic symptoms with spontaneous remission in less than 1 week; 2) attenuated positive prodromal syndrome (APS), which has attenuated subthreshold positive psychotic symptoms; and/or 3) genetic risk and deterioration syndrome (GRDS), which is a combination of genetic risk for schizophrenia and recent functional decline. After inclusion in the study, individuals in the UHR group were re-assessed every month for 24 months and at regular outpatient follow-up intervals after 24 months by the psychiatrist-in-chief (A.S.K.) to determine whether the conversion to overt psychosis had occurred. Conversion to overt psychosis was defined when the patient met the DSM-IV criteria for psychotic disorders, including schizophrenia, schizoaffective disorder, psychotic disorder not otherwise specified, and mood disorders with psychotic features. ROSPR was diagnosed according to the criteria of the DSM-IV using the SCID-IV. At baseline, patients with ROSPR were limited to those who had experienced their first (n = 42) or second (n = 5) psychotic episode within less than 36 months from the first frank psychotic episode. Of the 47 patients with ROSPR, 17 were inpatients, 9 were outpatients with a history of one psychiatric hospitalization, and 21 were outpatients without a history of hospitalization. After inclusion in the study, individuals in the ROSPR group were re-assessed every month for 24 months and at regular outpatient follow-up intervals after 24 months by the psychiatrist-in-chief (A.S.K.) to determine whether psychiatric (re)admission had occurred due to relapse of psychotic episodes.

This study was carried out in accordance with the Declaration of Helsinki. The Institutional Review boards at Severance Hospital reviewed and approved this study. All subjects, or the parents of subjects who were under 18 years old, gave written informed consent to participate in the study.

Measures Cognitive Variables

We assessed the neurocognitive function of the subjects using a comprehensive neurocognitive test battery, as described in our previous study (28). The battery comprises the Rey Complex Figure Test (46), California Verbal Learning Test (47), 3-7 Continuous Performance Test (48), Controlled Oral Word Association Test (49), Figure Fluency Test (50), Trail Making Test Part A and B (51), Verbal and Spatial 2-back Test (52), Stroop Test (53), and Wisconsin Card Sorting Test (54). The z scores were converted from each neurocognitive test score based on the performance of the HC group (n = 94) (29). These scores were categorized into five dimensions representing the factor structure determined previously (28): verbal memory, spatial memory, psychomotor speed, attention/working memory, and executive function. Summary scores for each dimension were calculated as the mean of the test scores in that same category. The internal consistencies of these five dimensions of neurocognitive function were good (for verbal memory, Cronbach's alpha = 0.891; for spatial memory, Cronbach's alpha = 0.975; for attention/working memory, Cronbach's alpha = 0.807) in the entire groups of subjects, except psychomotor speed (Cronbach's alpha = 0.635) and executive function (Cronbach's alpha = 0.594).

We assessed social-cognitive bias using the Ambiguous Intentions Hostility Questionnaire (AIHQ) (55, 56). The AIHQ is a self-report checklist of 15 hypothetical negative situations. The situations vary in intentionality: five are accidental, five are ambiguous, and five are intentional situations. The AIHQ yields scores of hostility, aggression bias, and composite blame bias. The hostility and aggression biases are rated by the rater based on the participant's written response according to the sample scores for each item, provided in the AIHQ scoring form. The composite blame score is the mean of intent, anger, and blame scores. In this study, we only used the hostility and composite blame scores for each hypothetical situation. The validity of each score was good in blame intentional (Cronbach's alpha = 0.840) and blame accidental (Cronbach's alpha = 0.820). Acceptable internal consistencies were found in blame ambiguous (Cronbach's alpha = 0.770), hostility ambiguous (Cronbach's alpha = 0.745), and hostility accidental (Cronbach's alpha = 0.777), except for hostility intentional (Cronbach's alpha = 0.641).

Self-Related Variables

Self-related measures comprised self-esteem [Rosenberg's Selfesteem Scale (57)], resilience [Connor–Davidson Resilience Scale (58)], features of schizotypy [Chapman's true-false self-report questionnaires for social anhedonia (59), physical anhedonia (60), perceptual aberration (61), and magical ideation (62)], and basic symptoms [Frankfurt Complaint Questionnaire (63)]. The internal consistencies of these self-related variables were good (for self-esteem, Cronbach's alpha = 0.898; for resilience, Cronbach's alpha = 0.937; for social anhedonia, Cronbach's alpha = 0.926; for physical anhedonia, Cronbach's alpha = 0.926; for perceptual aberration, Cronbach's alpha = 0.896; for magical ideation, Cronbach's alpha = 0.835; for basic symptom, Cronbach's alpha = 0.976).

Psychopathology

We assessed symptom severity using the Scale for the Assessment of Positive Symptoms (SAPS) (64) and the Scale for the Assessment of Negative Symptoms (SANS) (65).

Psychosocial Function

We assessed psychosocial function using the Heinrichs– Carpenter Quality of Life Scale (QLS) (66). The QLS is a rateradministered scale with 21 items, each scoring 0–6 points. The result of the QLS reveals the total score and the scores of its four subscales: interpersonal relations, instrumental role, intrapsychic foundation, and common objects and activities (38). The Korean version of the scale has been widely used in studies of social functioning in schizophrenia (67).

Statistical Analysis

We used univariate analysis of variance (ANOVA) and χ^2 tests to compare the differences in demographic and clinical characteristics among the three groups. In addition, we performed exploratory factor analysis to categorize the measures to establish the factor structure. We applied exploratory factor analysis, not confirmative analysis, due to the absence of factor structure information from previous studies. A scree plot and factors with eigenvalues >1 were used to determine the number of factors. After varimax rotation, items with factor loading ≥ 0.4 were considered to be significant. Factor scores were derived by weighted sum of each variable score with factor loadings for use in multiple regression analysis. Items with two significant factor loadings were assigned to the factor with higher loading. We compared the factor scores among the three groups using ANOVA and analysis of covariance (ANCOVA) with age and education years as covariates, followed by post hoc analysis with Bonferroni correction. Statistical significance was set at p < 0.05.

We used Kaplan–Meier survival analysis to determine the cumulative rate of conversion from UHR for psychosis to overt psychosis and the (re)admission rate of patients with ROSPR. We used Cox regression analysis to estimate possible predictors for conversion in the UHR group and (re)admission in the ROSPR group.

RESULTS

Subject Characteristics

The demographic and clinical characteristics of each group are presented in **Table 1**. The average duration of illness in the ROSPR group was 11.4 months.

Factor Analysis of Cognitive and Self-Related Variables

Table 2 presents the results of exploratory factor analysis with varimax rotation. Eighteen variables were reduced to four factors with eigenvalues of 5.89, 2.55, 1.70, and 1.42, respectively. A Kaiser–Meyer–Olkin (KMO) value of 0.79 confirmed sampling adequacy, and Bartlett's test of sphericity was statistically

TABLE 1 | Baseline demographic and clinical characteristics of the study groups.

		, , ,					
	HC (<i>n</i> = 71)	UHR (<i>n</i> = 60)	ROSPR (<i>n</i> = 47)		Statistical a	inalysis	
				Value	р	Post hoc	<i>p</i> *
Age (years)							
Mean (SD)	22.0 (3.4)	20.3 (3.5)	23.0 (4.1)	F = 6.6	0.002	H vs. U	0.038
						H vs. S	0.59
						U vs. S	0.002
Range [†]	15–28	16–28	15–35				
Gender (male/female)	34/37	34/26	21/26	$\chi^2 = 1.725$	0.422		
Education							
Years (SD)	13.9 (1.8)	13.0 (1.9)	13.6 (2.0)	F = 3.85	0.023	H vs. U	0.02
						H vs. S	1.0
						U vs. S	0.26
SAPS (summary score)	0.014 (0.12)	3.62 (2.39)	6.17 (2.90)	F = 135.93	< 0.001	H vs. U	< 0.001
						H vs. S	< 0.001
						U vs. S	< 0.001
SANS (summary score)	0.54 (1.26)	8.32 (4.11)	8.89 (5.27)	F = 99.96	<0.001	H vs. U	< 0.001
						H vs. S	< 0.001
						U vs. S	< 0.001
Number of episodes							
1st episode			42				
2nd episode			5				
Types of UHR							
APSS only		43					
BIPS only		1					
GRDS only		0					
APSS + BIPS		5					
APSS + GRDS		11					
Duration of illness (months)			11.4 (11.4)				
Antipsychotic medication status							
Medicated/unmedicated		18/42	45/2	$\chi^2 = 47.05$	< 0.001		
Chlorpromazine equivalent (mg/day) [‡]		114.0 (95.2)	433.42 (323.09)		< 0.001		

HC, healthy control; UHR, ultra-high risk for psychosis; ROSPR, recent-onset schizophrenia; SAPS, Scale for the Assessment of Positive Symptoms; SANS, Scale for the Assessment of Negative Symptoms; APSS, attenuated positive symptoms syndrome; BIPS, brief intermittent psychotic syndrome; GRDS, genetic risk and deterioration syndrome. *Corrected p values are derived from post hoc comparisons with Bonferroni correction.

⁺Ranges presented in this table were 5–95 percentile age of each group.

[‡]All medicated ROSCR and UHR participants were taking atypical antipsychotic medications (68).

TABLE 2 | Loadings on factors derived by exploratory factor analysis with varimax rotation.

	Factor 1:	Factor 2:	Factor 3:	Factor 4:
	Social-cognitive bias	Reflective self	Neurocognition	Pre-reflective sel
Blame ambiguous	0.766*	0.284	0.027	0.231
Hostility accidental	0.765*	0.1	-0.199	-0.009
Blame accidental	0.763*	0.027	-0.133	0.237
Blame intentional	0.709*	0.1	0.178	0.020
Hostility intentional	0.689*	0.237	0.062	-0.014
Hostility ambiguous	0.588*	0.433*	-0.033	0.171
Self-esteem	-0.232	-0.819*	0.052	-0.192
Resilience	-0.250	-0.809*	0.136	-0.100
Physical anhedonia	0.097	0.790*	-0.060	0.145
Social anhedonia	0.272	0.772*	-0.084	0.260
Magical ideation	0.151	0.140	-0.080	0.871*
Perceptual aberration	0.078	0.170	-0.109	0.837*
Basic symptoms	0.164	0.460*	-0.119	0.759*
Verbal memory	-0.074	-0.024	0.774*	-0.111
Attention/working memory	0.017	-0.179	0.738*	-0.131
Psychomotor speed	0.035	-0.361	0.674*	0.035
Executive function	-0.062	0.063	0.629*	-0.145
Spatial memory	0.037	0.015	0.603*	0.052

All loadings are represented such that positive scores indicate higher scores on the item. *Loadings > 0.40.

significant (p < 0.001). High loadings on factor 1 were mainly from AIHQ scores. High loadings on factor 2 were mainly from high physical/social anhedonia and less self-esteem and resilience. High loadings on factor 3 were from all the neurocognitive tests. High loadings on factor 4 were from high magical ideation, perceptual aberration, and basic symptom scores. Considering the high loadings on each of the factors 1–4, they were named social-cognitive bias, reflective self, neurocognition, and prereflective self, respectively.

Comparison of Baseline Social Cognitive Bias, Reflective Self, Neurocognition, and Pre-Reflective Self Factors among the UHR, ROSPR, and HC Groups

There were significant differences among the three groups in reflective self, neurocognition, and pre-reflective self factors, but not in the social cognitive bias factor (Table 3). Post hoc analysis with Bonferroni correction revealed that the UHR group had the highest reflective self factor score, followed by the ROSPR and HC groups. The neurocognition factor score of the ROSPR group was significantly poorer than that of the UHR (p < 0.001) and HC (p < 0.001) groups, and there was no significant difference between the UHR and HC groups (p = 0.096). The pre-reflective self factor score of the HC group was significantly lower than that of the UHR (p = 0.004) and ROSPR (p = 0.03) groups, and there was no significant difference between the UHR and ROSPR groups (p > 0.999). Results from ANCOVA with age and education year as covariates revealed a significant interaction between education year and the neurocognition factor (p =0.014); no other significant interactions were found.

Associations Between Baseline Factor Structure and QIs in the Uhr Group

In the UHR group, SANS score and social-cognitive bias, reflective self, and neurocognition factors were significant determinants

explaining 38.0% of the total QLS score variance (**Table 4**). SANS score and reflective self and neurocognition factors accounted for 27.2% of variance in the regression model of interpersonal relations, with statistical significance. Social-cognitive bias and neurocognition factors were significant determinants in the regression model of instrumental role, with an explanatory power of 22.6%. For the intrapsychic foundation, SANS score and social-cognitive bias, reflective self, and neurocognition factors were significant determinants accounting for 46.0% of variance. Common objects and activities of QLS had no significant predictors in the regression analysis. When initial antipsychotics dose was treated as a covariate, the results did not change.

Associations Between Baseline Factor Structure and QLS in the ROSPR Group

In the ROSPR group, SANS score and the reflective self factor were significant determinants explaining 54.4% of the total QLS score, 46.3% of the interpersonal relations score, and 49.9% of the intrapsychic foundations score (**Table 4**). Regression analysis revealed no significant predictors of common objects, activities and instrumental role in the ROSPR group. Treating initial antipsychotics dose as a covariate did not change the results.

Conversion From UHR for Psychosis to Overt Psychosis During Follow-Up and Its Predictive Factors

During follow-up, 13 cases of UHR for psychosis converted to overt psychosis. The cumulative prevalence rate and standard error from Kaplan–Meier estimates was $9.4\% \pm 4\%$ at 1 year, $18.3\% \pm 5.6\%$ at 2 years, and $31.2\% \pm 7.6\%$ at 6 years. The Kaplan–Meier curve is shown in **Figure 1**. Cox regression analysis to evaluate the hazard ratio of each of the four factors revealed that only neurocognition factor score remained significant as a predictor for conversion [$\chi^2(1) = 4.009$, p = 0.045; hazard ratio, 0.56; 95% confidence interval, 0.31–0.99; p = 0.048].

	HC (<i>n</i> = 71)	UHR (<i>n</i> = 60)	ROSPR (<i>n</i> = 47)		Statistical	analysis	
				Value	p	Post hoc	Corrected p values*
Factor 1: Social-cognitive bias	-0.096 (0.59)	0.16 (1.17)	-0.063 (1.24)	<i>F</i> = 1.04	0.378	H vs. U H vs. S U vs. S	0.588 1.0 1
Factor 2: Reflective self	-0.68 (0.66)	0.71 (0.95)	0.12 (0.80)	F = 33.9	<0.001	H vs. U H vs. S U vs. S	<0.001 <0.001 0.004
Factor 3: Neurocognition	0.47 (0.50)	0.11 (0.84)	-0.85 (1.20)	F = 23.9	<0.001	H vs. U H vs. S U vs. S	0.096 <0.001 <0.001
Factor 4: Pre-reflective self	-0.32 (0.71)	0.28 (1.10)	0.13 (1.13)	F = 5.15	0.002	H vs. U H vs. S U vs. S	0.004 0.028 1.0

HC, healthy control; UHR, ultra-high risk for psychosis; ROSPR, recent-onset schizophrenia. *Corrected p values are derived from post hoc comparisons with Bonferroni correction.

	Dependent variable	Independent variables	В	SE	β	t	Р	Model's properties
UHR	Total score of QLS	(Constant)	70.100	5.355		13.091	<0.001	$R^2 = 0.443$, adj. $R^2 = 0.380$,
(n = 60)								F = 7.027, p < 0.001
		SANS	-1.585	0.560	-0.323	-2.830	0.007	
		Social-cognitive bias	-4.079	1.839	-0.236	-2.287	0.026	
		Reflective self	-5.852	2.559	-0.275	-2.287	0.026	
		Neurocognition	9.295	2.857	0.388	3.253	0.002	
	Interpersonal relations of QLS	(Constant)	23.973	2.657		9.024	<0.001	$R^2 = 0.346$, adj. $R^2 = 0.272$, F = 4.677, $p = 0.001$
		SANS	-0.728	0.278	-0.324	-2.619	0.011	Γ = 4.011, p = 0.001
		Reflective self	-2.845	1.270	-0.292	-2.241	0.029	
		Neurocognition	3.851	1.417	0.351	2.717	0.009	
	Instrumental role of QLS	(Constant)	2.410	0.436	0.001	5.522	< 0.003	R ² = 0.303, adj. R ² = 0.226,
		х <i>ў</i>	2.410	0.400			<0.001	F = 3.867, p = 0.003
		Social-cognitive bias	-0.415	0.150	-0.329	-2.770	0.008	
		Neurocognition	0.706	0.233	0.405	3.032	0.004	
	Intrapsychic foundation of QLS	(Constant)	26.074	1.706		15.285	<0.001	$R^2 = 0.515$, adj. $R^2 = 0.460$, F = 9.389, $p < 0.001$
		SANS	-0.471	0.178	-0.281	-2.641	0.011	
		Social-cognitive bias	-1.651	0.586	-0.280	-2.818	0.007	
		Reflective self	-2.897	0.815	-0.398	-3.553	0.001	
		Neurocognition	3.447	0.910	0.422	3.787	< 0.001	
	Common objects and activities of QLS	(Constant)	8.233	0.727		11.318	<0.001	R ² = 0.146, adj. R ² = 0.050, F = 1.514, p = 0.192
ROSPR $(n = 47)$	Total score of QLS	(Constant)	83.543	6.142		13.602	<0.001	$R^2 = 0.603$, adj. $R^2 = 0.544$, F = 10.135, $p < 0.001$
(, .,)		SANS	-3.008	0.464	-0.718	-6.488	< 0.001	
		Reflective self	-6.981	2.949	-0.254	-2.367	0.023	
	Interpersonal relations of QLS	(Constant)	31.487	3.033	0.201	10.383	<0.001	<i>R</i> ² = 0.533, adj. <i>R</i> ² = 0.463, <i>F</i> = 7.605, <i>p</i> < 0.001
		SANS	-1.252	0.229	-0.656	-5.467	< 0.001	
		Reflective self	-3.355	1.456	-0.268	-2.304	0.027	
	Instrumental role of QLS	(Constant)	3.065	0.523		5.856	<0.001	<i>R</i> ² = 0.203, adj. <i>R</i> ² = 0.083, <i>F</i> = 1.696, <i>p</i> = 0.147
	Intrapsychic foundation of QLS	(Constant)	32.506	2.571		12.643	<0.001	$R^2 = 0.564$, adj. $R^2 = 0.499$, F = 8.624, $p < 0.001$
		SANS	-1.067	0.194	-0.637	-5.495	<0.001	
		Reflective self	-3.370	1.235	-0.307	-2.730	0.009	
	Common objects and activities of QLS	(Constant)	7.920	0.878		9.023	<0.001	R ² = 0.180, adj. R ² = 0.057, F = 1.459, p = 0.217

HC, healthy control; UHR, ultra-high risk for psychosis; ROSPR, recent-onset schizophrenia; SAPS, Scale for the Assessment of Positive Symptoms; SANS, Scale for the Assessment of Negative Symptoms.

(Re)admission of Patients With ROSPR During Follow-Up and Its Predictive Factors

During follow-up, five patients with ROSPR were (re)admitted to the hospital. The Kaplan–Meier curve is shown in **Figure 2**. The cumulative prevalence rate and standard error from Kaplan–Meier estimates were $2.5\% \pm 2.5\%$ at 1 year, $10.5\% \pm 5.0\%$ at 2 years, and $16.1\% \pm 7.1\%$ at 6 years. Cox regression analysis revealed no significant factor affecting the (re)admission rate [$\chi^2(1) = 2.630$, p = 0.105].

DISCUSSION

In the present study, we identified a four-factor structure of social cognitive bias, reflective self, neurocognition, and prereflective self in UHR, ROSPR, and HC individuals. There were overall group differences in these four factors between the UHR, ROSPR, and HC groups. Importantly, these factors were found to be associated with baseline psychosocial function in the UHR and ROSPR groups as well as with conversion rate in the UHR group during follow-up.

The four-factor structure contained several self-related and cognitive variables. Scores from AIHQ subsets were categorized as one factor named social cognitive bias, which is one of the components of social cognition and a measure of social cognition in previous studies (69, 70). Among the self-related factors, two distinct factors were found: selfesteem, resilience, physical anhedonia, and social anhedonia contributed to one factor, which we named the reflective self; magical ideation, perceptual aberration, and basic symptoms comprised the pre-reflective self factor. These two distinct factors were compatible with the previous idea of two aspects of the self and the characteristics of each level (41). Although basic symptoms were categorized as pre-reflective self due to the high loading on the factor (0.759), it also had meaningful



FIGURE 1 | Kaplan–Meier curve for the conversion to psychosis in ultra-high risk participants (n = 60).



loading on reflective self (0.460). This result showed that prereflective sense of self is an important foundation for reflective self, as indicated in a previous study (71). Four components of schizotypy were split into two factors: physical and social anhedonia in the reflective self factor; and perceptual aberration and magical ideation in the pre-reflective self factor. This finding may be explained by the characteristics of the questionnaires for physical and social anhedonia. Since the questionnaires required the subjects to describe how they feel in the face of hypothetical situations, intrinsic reflective selfhood might be reflected in the result of social anhedonia and physical anhedonia self-reports (72). The last factor was neurocognition; it included verbal memory, attention/working memory, psychomotor speed, executive function, and spatial memory. These domains constituted five important factors of neurocognition, with differences between the UHR group and the normal control in a previous study (29).

Factor scores differed among the three groups in this study. The social-cognitive bias score was higher in the UHR group than in the other two groups, yet not significantly so. This finding is not compatible with previous findings of bias in UHR (40, 73) and first-episode groups (73). However, it may be derived from the differences of hostility perception and blaming bias scoring; the AIHQ scoring in the previous study was related to the ambiguous situations, and not to the intentional and accidental ones. On the contrary, in this study, the AIHQ scoring was related to all three types of situations. The reflective self factor score was significantly different among the three groups. Since higher reflective self factor score implies lower self-esteem and resilience and higher anhedonia, the score of the HC group was the lowest of the three groups, as expected. This finding was compatible with previous reports of lower resilience and self-esteem in patient groups (38, 73). The UHR group showed higher reflective self score than the ROSPR group. This might suggest that individuals at UHR for psychosis experience more negative self-representation, and incomplete compensation occurs after progression toward overt psychosis. The neurocognition factor score was also significantly different among the three groups: the HC group had the highest score, followed by the UHR group and the ROSPR group. This result is in agreement with previous studies showing that patients with schizophrenia present lower neurocognitive function (3, 74, 75) and that individuals at UHR for psychosis already have neurocognitive impairments (29). The pre-reflective self factor score was significantly lower in the HC group than in the other two groups. Considering the high loadings of magical ideation, perceptual aberration, and basic symptoms of the pre-reflective self factor, the higher scores in the clinical groups were reasonable and compatible with previous studies showing higher basic symptoms and schizotypy scores in individuals at UHR for psychosis (39). Higher factor scores in the UHR and ROSPR groups are consistent with the concept that the basic symptoms of schizophrenia allow the identification of the earliest-experienced subjective symptoms (76).

Regarding the psychosocial function at baseline, multiple regression analysis of the four factors and QLS scores revealed the associated and predictive factors of psychosocial functioning. In individuals at UHR for psychosis, the total QLS score was negatively associated with SANS, socialcognitive bias, reflective self, and neurocognition factors. This finding was compatible with previous studies showing that lower social cognition and higher resilience are associated with better psychosocial functioning (37, 38) and that better neurocognitive performance is associated with higher total QLS scores (34). SANS, but not SAPS, was identified as an important factor affecting psychosocial function in the regression model. Negative symptoms are known to be associated with social functioning of individuals at UHR for psychosis and patients with schizophrenia (77). QLS subscores revealed correlations between each factor and social functioning, which was compatible with the results of the total QLS score. In the

ROSPR group, the total QLS score was negatively associated with negative symptoms and the reflective self factor. This finding was compatible with a previous study showing that high resilience and self-esteem are correlated with better social functioning (20-22). Social cognitive bias, neurocognition, and pre-reflective factors were not predictive of psychosocial function in the ROSPR group. However, previous studies had suggested that social cognition (7-9) and neurocognition (2-4)were associated with social functioning. Neurocognition lost power for explaining QLS in the ROSPR group, probably due to its relationship with other highly affecting factors. Previous studies suggested that neurocognition in schizophrenia was related with the symptom domain, especially negative symptoms (78). Negative symptoms are a key factor affecting social functioning in schizophrenia (77, 79, 80). Considering previous studies and our results, negative symptoms could play a mediating role between social functioning and neurocognition in schizophrenia. SANS and the reflective self factor accounted for substantial variance of the QLS score; hence, other factors had probably lost their predictive power. Considering the results in the UHR and ROSPR groups, reflective self factor and SANS scores were associated with total, interpersonal relations, and intrapsychic foundation scores of QLS in the same pattern. These results may suggest that the reflective self factor is highly related with psychosocial function throughout the clinical course of schizophrenia. The finding that the pre-reflective factor was not associated with QLS probably indicates that the pre-reflective level of self was less associated with social functioning than the reflective level of self, yet there was not enough previous study about the association between social functioning and the pre-reflective aspect of self.

During follow-up, the neurocognition factor in the UHR group significantly predicted the conversion to overt psychosis in the Cox regression analysis. This finding was compatible with previous studies showing that low neurocognitive performance predicts higher conversion rate in the UHR group (29). In contrast to previous studies (31, 39), other factors failed to predict conversion. Among the social cognitive measures, we used AIHQ to measure social cognitive bias; however, previous studies suggested that the theory of mind, among social cognition, was related to conversion in the high-risk group (31). Including other domains in social cognition would increase the power of predicting the conversion of the UHR group. Therefore, further study is needed. Basic symptoms and schizotypy predicted conversion of UHR to overt psychosis in a previous study; however, in the present study, the pre-reflective and reflective self factors were not significant factors in the regression model. Considering the components of each factor, schizotypy was divided into two levels of self aspect, which can reduce the predicting power of each factor. One study suggested the predictive value of schizotypy; however, among the subscores, only physical anhedonia predicted conversion in the high-risk group (81). Another study failed to demonstrate basic symptoms and schizotypy as predicting factors for conversion when using combined variables (39). Further research is needed to determine the different effects of each

component for predicting conversion. In the ROSPR group, meanwhile, the four factors failed to establish a statistically significant model to predict (re)admission. In a previous study on rehospitalization of patients with schizophrenia, 19 subjects were rehospitalized; this number was substantially higher than ours (n = 5) (5). Further studies with a larger sample could improve our knowledge about the predictive factors for (re)admission in patients with schizophrenia.

This study had several limitations. First, we could not establish any causal relationships of psychosocial function due to the cross-sectional design of the study and small sample size. A long-term study with a larger sample size could provide more information about this four-factor structure and its possible causal relationships with psychosocial function of individuals with ROSPR or at UHR for psychosis. Second, patients with ROSPR were mostly clinically stable and cooperated with the evaluation at baseline. Therefore, psychosocial functioning and other measures might have been underestimated at the moment of assessment. Subsequent regular follow-up could eliminate underestimation of the measures and increase the explanatory power of the results.

In conclusion, factor analysis revealed an intrinsic four-factor structure of social-cognitive bias, reflective self, neurocognition, and pre-reflective self. The four factors were associated with social functioning in the UHR and ROSPR groups at baseline and prodrome-to-psychosis conversion during follow-up in the UHR group. However, no factor was found to predict (re)admission in the ROSPR group. These findings indicate the clinical significance of the four-factor structure for patients with schizophrenia spectrum disorders, and provide a framework for understanding schizophrenia.

ETHICS STATEMENT

This study was carried out in accordance with the Declaration of Helsinki. The Institutional Review boards at Severance Hospital reviewed and approved this study. All subjects, or the parents of subjects who were under 18 years old, gave written informed consent to participate in the study.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

SA designed the study. SA, EL, JK, JP, and KK recruited subjects. HK undertook the statistical analysis and wrote the first draft of the manuscript. HK, HP, ES, MB, YS, SL, and KK interviewed patients and collected data. All authors contributed to revising the manuscript.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

This work was supported by the Basic Science Research Program through the National Research Foundation of Korea (NRF) funded by the Ministry of Science, ICT & Future Planning, Republic of Korea (grant number: 2017R1A2B3008214).

REFERENCES

- Addington J, Girard TA, Christensen BK, Addington D. Social cognition mediates illness-related and cognitive influences on social function in patients with schizophrenia-spectrum disorders. *J Psychiatry Neurosci* (2010) 35(1):49–54. doi: 10.1503/jpn.080039
- Green MF. What are the functional consequences of neurocognitive deficits in schizophrenia? *Am J Psychiatry* (1996) 153(3):321–30. doi: 10.1176/ ajp.153.3.321
- Dickerson F, Boronow JJ, Ringel N, Parente F. Neurocognitive deficits and social functioning in outpatients with schizophrenia. *Schizophr Res* (1996) 21(2):75–83. doi: 10.1016/0920-9964(96)00040-0
- Bellack AS, Gold JM, Buchanan RW. Cognitive rehabilitation for schizophrenia: problems, prospects, and strategies. *Schizophr Bull* (1999) 25(2):257–74. doi: 10.1093/oxfordjournals.schbul.a033377
- Lysaker PH, Bell MD, Bioty S, Zito WS. Performance on the Wisconsin Card Sorting Test as a predictor of rehospitalization in schizophrenia. J Nerv Ment Dis (1996) 184(5):319–21. doi: 10.1097/00005053-199605000-00010
- Chen EY, Hui CL, Dunn EL, Miao MY, Yeung WS, Wong CK, et al. A prospective 3-year longitudinal study of cognitive predictors of relapse in first-episode schizophrenic patients. *Schizophr Res* (2005) 77(1):99–104. doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2005.02.020
- Addington J, Saeedi H, Addington D. Facial affect recognition: a mediator between cognitive and social functioning in psychosis? *Schizophr Res* (2006) 85(1):142–50. doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2006.03.028
- Sergi MJ, Rassovsky Y, Nuechterlein KH, Green MF. Social perception as a mediator of the influence of early visual processing on functional status in schizophrenia. *Am J Psychiatry* (2006) 163(3):448–54. doi: 10.1176/appi. ajp.163.3.448
- Lahera G, Herrera S, Reinares M, Benito A, Rullas M, Gonzalez-Cases J, et al. Hostile attributions in bipolar disorder and schizophrenia contribute to poor social functioning. *Acta Psychiatr Scand* (2015) 131(6):472–82. doi: 10.1111/ acps.12399
- Fett AK, Viechtbauer W, Dominguez MD, Penn DL, van Os J, Krabbendam L. The relationship between neurocognition and social cognition with functional outcomes in schizophrenia: a meta-analysis. *Neurosci Biobehav Rev* (2011) 35(3):573–88. doi: 10.1016/j.neubiorev.2010.07.001
- Schultze-Lutter F. Subjective symptoms of schizophrenia in research and the clinic: the basic symptom concept. *Schizophr Bull* (2009) 35(1):5–8. doi: 10.1093/schbul/sbn139
- Raballo A, Parnas J. The silent side of the spectrum: schizotypy and the schizotaxic self. Schizophr Bull (2011) 37(5):1017–26. doi: 10.1093/schbul/ sbq008
- Nelson B, Whitford TJ, Lavoie S, Sass LA. What are the neurocognitive correlates of basic self-disturbance in schizophrenia?: integrating phenomenology and neurocognition. Part 1 (source monitoring deficits). *Schizophr Res* (2014) 152(1):12–9. doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2013.06.022
- Rocca P, Pulvirenti L, Montemagni C, Rasetti R, Rocca G, Bogetto F. Basic symptoms in stable schizophrenia: relations with functioning and quality of life. *Clin Nueropsychiatr J Treat Eval* (2010) 7(3):100–10.
- Kwapil TR, Gross GM, Silvia PJ, Barrantes-Vidal N. Prediction of psychopathology and functional impairment by positive and negative schizotypy in the Chapmans' ten-year longitudinal study. *J Abnorm Psychol* (2013) 122(3):807–15. doi: 10.1037/a0033759
- Eisner E, Drake R, Barrowclough C. Assessing early signs of relapse in psychosis: review and future directions. *Clin Psychol Rev* (2013) 33(5):637– 53. doi: 10.1016/j.cpr.2013.04.001
- 17. Mohr C, Ettinger U. An overview of the association between schizotypy and dopamine. *Front Psychiatry* (2014) 5:184. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2014.00184
- Ettinger U, Meyhofer I, Steffens M, Wagner M, Koutsouleris N. Genetics, cognition, and neurobiology of schizotypal personality: a review of the overlap with schizophrenia. *Front Psychiatry* (2014) 5:18. doi: 10.3389/ fpsyt.2014.00018
- Davidson M, Keefe RS, Mohs RC, Siever LJ, Losonczy MF, Horvath TB, et al. L-dopa challenge and relapse in schizophrenia. *Am J Psychiatry* (1987) 144(7):934–8. doi: 10.1176/ajp.144.7.934
- 20. Poloni N, Zizolfi D, Ielmini M, Pagani R, Caselli I, Diurni M, et al. A naturalistic study on the relationship among resilient factors, psychiatric symptoms, and

psychosocial functioning in a sample of residential patients with psychosis. *Psychol Res Behav Manag* (2018) 11:123–31. doi: 10.2147/PRBM.S159571

- 21. Rossi A, Galderisi S, Rocca P, Bertolino A, Mucci A, Rucci P, et al. The relationships of personal resources with symptom severity and psychosocial functioning in persons with schizophrenia: results from the italian network for research on psychoses study. *Eur Arch Psychiatry Clin Neurosci* (2017) 267(4):285–94. doi: 10.1007/s00406-016-0710-9
- 22. Picco L, Pang S, Lau YW, Jeyagurunathan A, Satghare P, Abdin E, et al. Internalized stigma among psychiatric outpatients: associations with quality of life, functioning, hope and self-esteem. *Psychiatry Res* (2016) 246:500–6. doi: 10.1016/j.psychres.2016.10.041
- Harrow M, Grossman LS, Jobe TH, Herbener ES. Do patients with schizophrenia ever show periods of recovery? A 15-year multi-follow-up study. *Schizophr Bull* (2005) 31(3):723–34. doi: 10.1093/schbul/sbi026
- 24. Link BG, Struening EL, Neese-Todd S, Asmussen S, Phelan JC. Stigma as a barrier to recovery: the consequences of stigma for the self-esteem of people with mental illnesses. *Psychiatr Serv* (2001) 52(12):1621–6. doi: 10.1176/ appi.ps.52.12.1621
- Loch AA. Stigma and higher rates of psychiatric re-hospitalization: sao Paulo public mental health system. *Braz J Psychiatry* (2012) 34(2):185–92. doi: 10.1590/S1516-44462012000200011
- Fusar-Poli P, Bonoldi I, Yung AR, Borgwardt S, Kempton MJ, Valmaggia L, et al. Predicting psychosis: meta-analysis of transition outcomes in individuals at high clinical risk. *Arch Gen Psychiatry* (2012) 69(3):220–9. doi: 10.1001/archgenpsychiatry.2011.1472
- Brewer WJ, Wood SJ, Phillips LJ, Francey SM, Pantelis C, Yung AR, et al. Generalized and specific cognitive performance in clinical high-risk cohorts: a review highlighting potential vulnerability markers for psychosis. *Schizophr Bull* (2006) 32(3):538–55. doi: 10.1093/schbul/sbj077
- Kim KR, Park JY, Song DH, Koo HK, An SK. Neurocognitive performance in subjects at ultrahigh risk for schizophrenia: a comparison with firstepisode schizophrenia. *Compr Psychiatry* (2011) 52(1):33–40. doi: 10.1016/j. comppsych.2010.04.010
- Bang M, Kim KR, Song YY, Baek S, Lee E, An SK. Neurocognitive impairments in individuals at ultra-high risk for psychosis: who will really convert? *Aust N Z J Psychiatry* (2015) 49(5):462–70. doi: 10.1177/0004867414561527
- Francesconi M, Minichino A, Carrion RE, Delle Chiaie R, Bevilacqua A, Parisi M, et al. Psychosis prediction in secondary mental health services. A broad, comprehensive approach to the "at risk mental state" syndrome. *Eur Psychiatry* (2017) 40:96–104. doi: 10.1016/j.eurpsy.2016.09.002
- Kim HS, Shin NY, Jang JH, Kim E, Shim G, Park HY, et al. Social cognition and neurocognition as predictors of conversion to psychosis in individuals at ultra-high risk. *Schizophr Res* (2011) 130(1):170–5. doi: 10.1016/j. schres.2011.04.023
- 32. Pukrop R, Ruhrmann S, Schultze-Lutter F, Bechdolf A, Brockhaus-Dumke A, Klosterkotter J. Neurocognitive indicators for a conversion to psychosis: comparison of patients in a potentially initial prodromal state who did or did not convert to a psychosis. *Schizophr Res* (2007) 92(1–3):116–25. doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2007.01.020
- 33. De Herdt A, Wampers M, Vancampfort D, De Hert M, Vanhees L, Demunter H, et al. Neurocognition in clinical high risk young adults who did or did not convert to a first schizophrenic psychosis: a meta-analysis. *Schizophr Res* (2013) 149(1–3):48–55. doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2013.06.017
- 34. Lin A, Wood SJ, Nelson B, Brewer WJ, Spiliotacopoulos D, Bruxner A, et al. Neurocognitive predictors of functional outcome two to 13 years after identification as ultra-high risk for psychosis. *Schizophr Res* (2011) 132(1):1–7. doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2011.06.014
- Stanford AD, Messinger J, Malaspina D, Corcoran CM. Theory of Mind in patients at clinical high risk for psychosis. *Schizophr Res* (2011) 131(1):11–7. doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2011.06.005
- Chung YS, Kang D-H, Shin NY, Young YS, Kwon JS. Deficit of theory of mind in individuals at ultra-high-risk for schizophrenia. *Schizophr Res* (2008) 99(1):111–8. doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2007.11.012
- Thompson AD, Bartholomeusz C, Yung AR. Social cognition deficits and the 'ultra high risk' for psychosis population: a review of literature. *Early Interv. Pschiatry* (2011) 5: (3):192–202. doi: 10.1111/j.1751-7893.2011.00275.x
- 38. Kim KR, Song YY, Park JY, Lee EH, Lee M, Lee SY, et al. The relationship between psychosocial functioning and resilience and negative symptoms

in individuals at ultra-high risk for psychosis. Aust $N\ Z\ J\ Psychiatry$ (2013) 47(8):762–71. doi: 10.1177/0004867413488218

- Bang M, Park JY, Kim KR, Lee SY, Song YY, Kang JI, et al. Psychotic conversion of individuals at ultra-high risk for psychosis: the potential roles of schizotypy and basic symptoms. *Early Interv Psychiatry* (2019) 13(3):546–54. doi: 10.1111/ eip.12518
- Park HY, Bang M, Kim KR, Lee E, An SK. Fragile self and malevolent others: biased attribution styles in individuals at ultra-high risk for psychosis. *Psychiatry Investig* (2018) 15(8):796–804. doi: 10.30773/pi.2018.05.08
- Esslen M, Metzler S, Pascual-Marqui R, Jancke L. Pre-reflective and reflective self-reference: a spatiotemporal EEG analysis. *Neuroimage* (2008) 42(1):437– 49. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroimage.2008.01.060
- Gallagher II. Philosophical conceptions of the self: implications for cognitive science. Trends Cogn Sci (2000) 4(1):14–21. doi: 10.1016/S1364-6613(99)01417-5
- First MB, Spitzer RL, Gibbon M, Williams JB. Structured clinical interview for DSM-IV axis I disorders: Non-Patients Edition (SCID-I/PS), Version 2. New York: New York State Psychiatric Institute Biometric Research (1996a). doi: 10.1037/t07827-000
- 44. First MB, Spitzer RL, Gibbon M, Williams JB. Structured clinical interview for DSM-IV axis I disorders: Patients Edition (SCID-I/P), Version 2. New York: New York State Psychiatric Institute Biometric Research (1996b). doi: 10.1037/t07827-000
- McGlashan T, Miller T, Woods S, Rosen J, Hoffman R, Davidson L. Structured interview for prodromal syndromes (SIPS). Version 4.0. New Heaven: Yale University (2003).
- 46. AR. L'examen clinique en psychologie. Paris: Paris Universitaires de France (1964).
- Delis D, Kramer J, Kaplan E, Ober B. California Verbal Learning Test: Adult Version Manual. San Antonio: The Psychological Corporation (1987). doi: 10.1037/t15072-000
- Nuechterlein KH, Edell WS, Norris M, Dawson ME. Attentional vulnerability indicators, thought disorder, and negative symptoms. *Schizophr Bull* (1986) 12(3):408–26. doi: 10.1093/schbul/12.3.408
- Spreen O, Benton A. Neurosensory Center Comprehensive Examination for Aphasia (NCCEA). Victoria, British Columbia: Neuropsychology Laboratory, University of Victoria (1969).
- Ruff RM, Light RH, Evans RW. The ruff figural fluency test: a normative study with adults. J Dev Neuropsychol (1987) 3(1):37–51. doi: 10.1080/87565648709540362
- Reitan RM. Manual for administration of neuropsychological test batteries for adults and children. Tucson: Reitan Neuropsychology Laboratories, Inc (1979).
- 52. Jeon IH, Park JS, Park JY, Cho HH, Koo SJ, Lee E, et al. Working memory deficits in ultra-high risk for psychosis and schizophrenia. *Korean J Schizophr Res* (2012) 15(2):66–72. doi: 10.16946/kjsr.2012.15.2.66
- 53. Golden CJ. Stroop color and word test: A manual for clinical and experimental uses. Chicago, IL: Wood Dale (1978).
- Heaton RK, Chelune GJ, Talley JL, Kay GG, Curtiss G. Wisconsin Card Sorting Test (WCST): Manual: Revised and Expanded. Odessa, FL: Psychological Assessment Resources (PAR) (1993).
- Chang H, Lee S-K, Kim KR, Lee SY, Park JY, Kim EJ, et al. Development of Korean Version of the Ambiguous Intentions Hostility Questionnaire (K-AIHQ). J Korean Neuropsychiatr Assoc (2009) 48:29–35.
- Combs DR, Penn DL, Wicher M, Waldheter E. The Ambiguous Intentions Hostility Questionnaire (AIHQ): a new measure for evaluating hostile socialcognitive biases in paranoia. *Cogn Neuropsychiatry* (2007) 12(2):128–43. doi: 10.1080/13546800600787854
- 57. Rosenberg M. Society and the Adolescent Self-Image, Revised Edition. Middletown, CT, USA: Wesleyan University Press (1989).
- Connor KM, Davidson JR. Development of a new resilience scale: the Connor-Davidson Resilience Scale (CD-RISC). *Depress Anxiety* (2003) 18(2):76–82. doi: 10.1002/da.10113
- 59. Eckblad M, Chapman L, Chapman J, Mishlove M. *The Revised Social Anhedonia Scale*. Madison: University of Wisconsin (1982).
- 60. Chapman L, Chapman J. Revised physical anhedonia scale. Madison: University of Wisconsin (1978).
- 61. Chapman LJ, Chapman JP, Raulin ML. Body-image aberration in schizophrenia. J Abnorm Psychol (1978) 87(4):399–407. doi: 10.1037//0021-843X.87.4.399
- Eckblad M, Chapman LJ. Magical ideation as an indicator of schizotypy. J Consult Clin Psychol (1983) 51(2):215–25. doi: 10.1037//0022-006X.51.2.215

- 63. Süllwold L. Frankfurter Beschwerde-Fragebogen. Germany: Springer-Verlag Berlin Heidelberg (1986). doi: 10.1007/978-3-642-61647-1
- 64. Andreasen. Scale for the Assessment of Positive Symptoms (SAPS). Iowa City: University of Iowa (1983) p. 799-812.
- 65. Andreasen N. Scale for the assessment of negative symptoms (SANS). Iowa City: University of Iowa (1983).
- Heinrichs DW, Hanlon TE, Carpenter JWT. The quality of life scale: an instrument for rating the schizophrenic deficit syndrome. *Schizophr Bull* (1984) 10(3):388–98. doi: 10.1093/schbul/10.3.388
- 67. Song YY, Kim KR, Park JY, Lee SY, Kang JI, Lee E, et al. Associated factors of quality of life in first-episode schizophrenia patients. *Psychiatry Investig* (2011) 8(3):201–6. doi: 10.4306/pi.2011.8.3.201
- Kroken RA, Johnsen E, Ruud T, Wentzel-Larsen T, Jørgensen HAJBP. Treatment of schizophrenia with antipsychotics in Norwegian emergency wards, a cross-sectional national study. *BMC Psychiatry* (2009) 9: (1):24. doi: 10.1186/1471-244X-9-24
- 69. Buck BE, Pinkham AE, Harvey PD, Penn DL. Revisiting the validity of measures of social cognitive bias in schizophrenia: additional results from the Social Cognition Psychometric Evaluation (SCOPE) study. Br J Clin Psychol (2016) 55(4):441–54. doi: 10.1111/bjc.12113
- Depp CA, Villa J, Schembari BC, Harvey PD, Pinkham A. Social cognition and short-term prediction of suicidal ideation in schizophrenia. *Psychiatry Res* (2018) 270:13–9. doi: 10.1016/j.psychres.2018.09.005
- Henriksen MG, Nordgaard J. Self-disorders in schizophrenia. In: An experiential approach to psychopathology. What is it like to suffer from mental disorders. New York: Springer (2016). p. 265–80. doi: 10.1007/978-3-319-29945-7_14
- 72. Strauss GP, Gold JM. A new perspective on anhedonia in schizophrenia. *Am J Psychiatry* (2012) 169(4):364–73. doi: 10.1176/appi.ajp.2011.11030447
- Deng M, Pan Y, Zhou L, Chen X, Liu C, Huang X, et al..Resilience and cognitive function in patients with schizophrenia and bipolar disorder, and healthy controls. *Front Psychiatry* (2018) 9(279). doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2018.00279
- Torio I. Neurocognition, social cognition and functional outcome in schizophrenia. Eur J Psychiatry (2014) 28(4):201–11. doi: 10.4321/ S0213-61632014000400001
- Green MF, Kern RS, Braff DL, Mintz J. Neurocognitive deficits and functional outcome in schizophrenia: are we measuring the "right stuff"? Schizophr Bull (2000) 26(1):119–36. doi: 10.1093/oxfordjournals.schbul.a033430
- Huber G, Gross G. The concept of basic symptoms in schizophrenic and schizoaffective psychoses. *Recenti Prog Med* (1989) 80(12):646–52.
- Lee SJ, Kim KR, Lee SY, An SK. Impaired social and role function in ultra-high risk for psychosis and first-episode schizophrenia: its relations with negative symptoms. *Psychiatry Investig* (2017) 14(5):539–45. doi: 10.4306/pi.2017.14.5.539
- Nieuwenstein MR, Aleman A, de Haan EHF. Relationship between symptom dimensions and neurocognitive functioning in schizophrenia: a metaanalysis of WCST and CPT studies. J Psychiatr Res (2001) 35(2):119–25. doi: 10.1016/S0022-3956(01)00014-0
- Milev P, Ho BC, Arndt S, Andreasen NC. Predictive values of neurocognition and negative symptoms on functional outcome in schizophrenia: a longitudinal first-episode study with 7-year follow-up. *Am J Psychiatry* (2005) 162(3):495–506. doi: 10.1176/appi.ajp.162.3.495
- Schlosser DA, Campellone TR, Biagianti B, Delucchi KL, Gard DE, Fulford D, et al. Modeling the role of negative symptoms in determining social functioning in individuals at clinical high risk of psychosis. *Schizophr Res* (2015) 169(1–3):204–8. doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2015.10.036
- 81. Fluckiger R, Ruhrmann S, Debbane M, Michel C, Hubl D, Schimmelmann BG, et al. Psychosis-predictive value of self-reported schizotypy in a clinical high-risk sample. *J Abnorm Psychol* (2016) 125(7):923–32. doi: 10.1037/abn0000192

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2019 Kim, Park, Seo, Bang, Song, Lee, Kim, Park, Kang, Lee and An. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





The Provision of Education and Employment Support At the Outreach and Support in South London (OASIS) Service for People at Clinical High Risk for Psychosis

Stefania Tognin^{1,2*}, Lara Grady¹, Serena Ventura¹, Lucia Valmaggia³, Victoria Sear², Philip McGuire¹, Paolo Fusar-Poli^{2,4,5,6} and Tom J. Spencer^{1,2}

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Yen Kuang Yang, National Cheng Kung University Hospital, Taiwan

Reviewed by:

Chen-Chung Liu, National Taiwan University Hospital, Taiwan Yanling He, Shanghai Mental Health Center (SMHC), China Su-Ting Hsu, Kaohsiung Municipal Kai-Syuan Psychiatric Hospital, Taiwan

> *Correspondence: Stefania Tognin Stefania.tognin@kcl.ac.uk

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Schizophrenia, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychiatry

Received: 24 January 2019 Accepted: 07 October 2019 Published: 08 November 2019

Citation:

Tognin S, Grady L, Ventura S, Valmaggia L, Sear V, McGuire P, Fusar-Poli P and Spencer TJ (2019) The Provision of Education and Employment Support At the Outreach and Support in South London (OASIS) Service for People at Clinical High Risk for Psychosis. Front. Psychiatry 10:799. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2019.00799 ¹ Department of Psychosis Studies, Institute of Psychiatry, Psychology and Neuroscience, King's College London, London, United Kingdom, ² Outreach and Support in South London (OASIS) Service, South London and Maudsley NHS Foundation Trust, London, United Kingdom, ³ Department of Psychological Medicine, Institute of Psychiatry, Psychology and Neuroscience, King's College London, London, United Kingdom, ⁴ Early Psychosis: Interventions and Clinical-detection (EPIC) Lab, Department of Psychosis Studies, Institute of Psychiatry, Psychology and Neuroscience, King's College London, London, United Kingdom, ⁵ Department of Brain and Behavioral Sciences, University of Pavia, Pavia, Italy, ⁶ Maudsley Biomedical Research Centre, National Institute for Health Research, South London and Maudsley NHS Foundation Trust, London, United Kingdom

Clinical services for the early detection of individuals at clinical high risk of psychosis, such as Outreach and Support in South-London (OASIS), have been successful in providing psychological intervention and psychosocial support to young people experiencing emerging signs of serious mental disorders. Despite this, several studies have repeatedly shown that vocational and functional recovery in the clinical high risk for psychosis population is still low. This study aimed at evaluating the presence and nature of educational and employment focused interventions within the OASIS service, in order to inform research and clinical interventions aimed at supporting young people with early signs of psychosis on their path to vocational recovery. The specific objectives were to compare current practice i) to standards defined by the National Institute of Care Excellence guidelines; and ii) to principles defined by Individual Placement and Support (IPS). Nine standards of practice were derived. The OASIS caseload electronic records entered between January 2015 and January 2017 were manually screened. Data collected include sociodemographic, assessment of employment and educational status and support needs, interventions received, contacts with schools, employers and external vocational providers, employment, and educational status. Standards were considered as "met" if they were met for at least 90% of clients. Results suggest that, two out of nine standards were met while the remaining standards were only partially met. In particular, support provided was always focused on competitive employment and mainstream education and support was always based on people's interest. Implications for clinical and research practice are discussed.

Keywords: education, employment, vocational support, clinical high risk for psychosis, early detection in psychosis

INTRODUCTION

The first symptoms of psychosis typically emerge around late adolescence and early adulthood (1), a time during which a young person is devoting full-time to complete compulsory education or is about to enter the job market. At their first contact with early detection for psychosis services (EDP), many young people who meet criteria for being at ultra high risk of psychosis [UHR (2)], more broadly termed as clinical high risk for psychosis [CHR-P, hereafter (3)] are already falling out of education or are experiencing difficulties in finding or keeping an employment (4). In fact, they display functional impairments of a level that is comparable to that of other established mental disorders (5). Decline in social and occupational functioning often continues despite the regular contact with clinical services (4, 6, 7) and is a core predictive factors of poor clinical outcomes (8). As a result of this, CHR-P individuals often either do not complete their studies or they do so without reaching their full potential (9) with consequent future difficulties in securing competitive employment (4).

The rates of unemployment in CHR-P individuals at the time in which they first access EDP services are high. About one third of CHR-P individuals are unemployed or are not in education, and this figure is similar across different clinical services (4, 6-8). When looking at the short to medium-term outcome, despite some differences across countries, rates of unemployment excluding students—range between 25 and 40% (4, 6, 7, 10). This indicates that despite specialized treatment being offered early, the type of interventions currently available might not be effective in preventing or improving social and occupational functioning decline and it is in line with persistent symptoms and disability in a substantial proportion of these clients (11).

To date, the evidence base for psychosocial interventions for CHR-P individuals mainly involves cognitive behavioral approaches or family intervention that aim at targeting symptoms reduction as opposed to overall social and occupational functioning (12). In line with this, several studies have repeatedly shown that vocational and functional recovery in CHR-P samples is still dramatically low (6, 8, 13, 14) and when low functioning is present at intake this is often predictive of worse long-term outcome (8, 10, 13, 15). Thus, there is an urgent need for improving social and occupational functioning recovery in this population.

For young people with emerging psychosis employment and education are highly desired outcomes and are often prioritized over relationship, housing, and symptom reduction (16). Despite this, young people with emerging psychosis are often at a disadvantage with regards to participating in education or employment which, amongst other factors, is also due to low expectations and fears of health care professionals (17, 18).

The recent National Audit for Schizophrenia (19) highlighted substantial variations in service delivery of vocational support with over half of service users not having their vocational needs met. The "Early Intervention in Psychosis Access and Waiting Time Standards" (20) state that mental health services should assist CHR-P individuals to engage with employment, education or training. However, to date, there is no indication about which intervention should routinely be employed. To add further complexity to the picture, young CHR-P individuals are a clinically heterogeneous group and are therefore more likely to require individualized treatment (21, 22).

IPS is the most successful evidence-based intervention developed to support individuals with severe mental illness gaining competitive employment (23-25). This intervention has been tested with people with a first episode psychosis (26-28) and has recently been expanded to also target educational outcomes in the same population (27, 29). However, to date, there are no randomized controlled trials investigating the benefits of vocational interventions within EDP services. Individualized interventions targeting education and/or employment, such as IPS, could significantly improve functioning, an area which has not been the primary focus of current CHR-P treatments (30). Young people accessing EDP services could be the ideal target group for this intervention for at least three reasons: i) CHR-P individuals are young and likely to be in education or to be in the process of securing their first paid job; ii) compared to patients who have experienced a first episode of psychosis, CHR-P individuals are experiencing less severe cognitive and clinical symptoms (31), iii) IPS can address key risk factors, such as unemployment and low educational level, that impact their clinical outcomes (15). In addition, some of the IPS principles, such as focusing on competitive as opposed to supported employment; attention to client preferences; benefit counseling (32) would likely already be in use in the EDP teams.

The aim of this study was therefore to evaluate the presence and quality of educational and employment focused interventions in Outreach and Support In South London (OASIS), a clinical service for CHR-P individuals within the South London and Maudsley (SLaM) NHS Foundation Trust (33) to inform clinical practice and future research in this area. The specific objectives were to compare current practice around the provision of education and employment support to i) standards defined by the National Institute of Care Excellence guidelines (34, 35); and ii) principles defined by IPS (24).

METHODS

OASIS services are part of SLAM and currently cover four boroughs: Lambeth, Southwark, Croydon, and Lewisham. OASIS was established in 2001 and receive on average about 300 referrals each year, one third of each will eventually meet criteria for a CHR for psychosis state (33). Data presented in this work were collected as part of a clinical audit which received approval from the Psychosis Clinical Academic Group in February 2018. Clinical electronic records for all clients who were accepted into the OASIS service between January 2015 and January 2017 were screened between March and November 2018. All clients meet criteria for an at risk mental state for psychosis as defined by the Comprehensive Assessment of an At Risk Mental State (2). As NICE standards partially overlap with IPS principles, nine standards based on the NICE guidelines for adults (33) and children and young people (34) with psychosis and schizophrenia and on IPS principles were developed (see Table 1

TABLE 1 | Standards.

Standard 1	Quality of vocational assessmenta.
	a. Assessment of current vocational engagement
	b. Assessment of vocational goals
	c. Assessment of vocational support needs
	d. Assessment of vocational history
Standard 2	Vocational activities feature in care plan
	Expected: all clients
Standard 3	Clients have access to a vocational support program
	Expected: all clients (when appropriate)
Standard 4	Early psychosis services liaise with educational and employment
	providers
	Expected: all clients (when appropriate)
Standard 5	Early psychosis services liaise with local stakeholders
	Expected: all clients (when appropriate)
Standard 6	Support is focused around competitive employment/mainstream
	education
	Expected: all clients (when appropriate)
Standard 7	Support is provided based on people's interest
	Expected: all clients (when support is provided)
Standard 8	Support is time unlimited ¹
	Expected: all clients (when support is provided)
Standard 9	Benefits counseling is provided
	Expected: all clients (when appropriate)

¹Support is provided for as long as the client is under the care of the team and as long as support is wanted.

and below). NICE guidelines are widely recognized for their high standard and the wide body of evidence they draw upon and they form the basis for many clinical audits (36). Employment and education status at intake were collected by reviewing intake forms or/and care plans. At follow-up, these were collected by reviewing notes or/and discharge letters. In order to assess adherence to the nine standards, clinicians' notes, care plans, and outcome measurements were comprehensively screened by two experienced clinical researchers supervised by two senior clinicians. Clear evidence in clinical notes, correspondence, or care plan was necessary in order to code information, unclear evidence was conservatively considered as "not available information". Data were included if an individual had been under the care of OASIS for at least 6 months. Based on previous studies, a minimum of 6 months was deemed sufficient to allow vocational assessment and intervention (28, 29). Anonymized data was analyzed using IBM SPSS version 24. Demographic data was analyzed using means and standard deviations for continuous data and frequencies for categorical data. As OASIS teams in Croydon and Lewisham were set up in 2014-2015 while those in Southwark and Lambeth were established in 2001, we also compared how the standards were met across all four OASIS SLaM boroughs (Lewisham, Croydon, Lambeth and Southwark) using $\chi 2$.

Definition of Standards

Standard 1: Quality of Vocational Assessment

Standard 1 relates to quality of vocational assessment and is divided into (1.a) assessment of current vocational engagement; (1.b) assessment of vocational goals; (1.c) assessment of support needs; and (1.d) assessment of vocational history. Standard (1.a) is based on the NICE guidelines (35) for adults with psychosis and

schizophrenia, section 1.3.3.1 and on the NICE (34) guidelines for children and young people with psychosis and schizophrenia, section 1.3.4. The guidelines do not specifically state to additionally assess vocational goals (1.b), support needs (1.c), and history (1.d) however NICE guidelines state that services should provide vocational interventions (34: section 1.5.8.1; 33: section 1.1.5 and section 1.3.9) and one of the foundational principles of supporting people with vocational engagement and goals is the detailed assessment of their previous experiences, their wishes, and their support needs (37).

Standard 2: Vocational Activities Feature in Care Plan

Standard 2 relates to the formal recording of vocational activities within the care plan and was based on a key recommendation within the NICE guidelines for adults (35) as stated in section 1.5.8.3 and within the NICE guidelines for children and adolescents (34) as stated in section 1.3.6. According to SLaM Care Programme Approach Policy, the care plan needs to be developed in collaboration with the service user. Therefore, the formal recording of vocational activities is a further indicator that these have been assessed and discussed with the client.

Standard 3: Clients Have Access to a Vocational Support Program

Standard 3 is based on the NICE guidelines (35), section 1.5.8.1, which recommend supported employment program, including support around educational activities. The NICE guidelines for children and adolescents (34) recommend support for young people to continue their education in section 1.3.4 or facilitate alternative input for people who are currently unable to attend mainstream schooling, as stated in section 1.3.9. As there was no vocational specialist within the OASIS teams during the period the audit took place, clients were not specifically referred to a vocational program within the team. Instead, support was often provided during discussions with psychologists and care coordinators or via referral to external program. For the purpose of the audit the definition of vocational support was kept broad and included any form of intervention aimed at supporting clients with their vocational goals and needs. Examples of support are writing supporting letters to educational institutions, longerterm psychological support aimed at managing, for example, anxiety in the work place.

Standard 4: Early Psychosis Services Liaise With Educational and Employment Providers

Standard 4 is based on the NICE guidelines (34) on psychosis and schizophrenia in children and young people, which recommend for early psychosis services to liaise with educational providers (section 1.1.5). It is also influenced by one of the IPS principles which requires the clinical team to liaise and build relationships with employers (32).

Standard 5: Early Psychosis Services Liaise With Local Stakeholders

Standard 5 is based on section 1.5.8.2 of the NICE guidelines (35) and section 1.8.14 of the NICE (34) which highlight the value of

including a local and diverse range of stakeholders in the process of supporting people with their vocational needs. Additionally, the NICE guidelines (34) recommend to jointly work with people's parents or careers (sections 1.3.6 and 1.8.12).

Standard 6: Support Is Focused Around Competitive Employment or Mainstream Education

Standard 6 is not specifically drawn from early psychosis guidelines although the NICE guidelines (34) on psychosis and schizophrenia in children and young people mention educational support aimed at mainstream education. This standard is a key principle of IPS (32) which recommends supporting people into mainstream employment and education as opposed to special program or voluntary work.

Standard 7: Support Is Provided Based on People's Interest

Standard 7 is not stated in the NICE guidelines (2014, 2013) but was included as it is a key principle within the IPS model (32) which recommends that services are based on clients' preferences and choices rather than providers' judgment.

Standard 8: Support Is Time Unlimited

Standard 8 is not stated in the NICE guidelines (34, 35) but was included as it is a key principle within the IPS model (32) which recommends that support is provided for as long as the client wants and needs the support.

Standard 9: Benefits Counseling Is Provided

Standard 9 was included as it is a key principle within IPS (32). In the UK, this would translate, for example, into giving advice on permitted work hours when in receipt of state benefits such as the Employment and Support Allowance, changes to housing benefits, if applicable, and accessing student loans and grants as well as grants for business start-ups.

Coding of Standards

Standards 1a, 1b, 1c, 1d, and 3 were coded as follows: "no," "at initial assessment" (standard 1 only); "within 3 months"; "within 6 months"; "within 12 months"; "after 12 months." Standard 2 was coded as follows: "yes"; "no"; "no care plan." Standard 4 was coded as follows: "yes"; "no"; "not employed/not in education"; "employer/school/university already aware"; "client liaised with employer/school/university." Standard 5 was coded as follows: "parents/relatives"; "external stakeholders"; "job centre"; "recovery college"; "other clinicians"; "multiple stakeholders"; "others"; "no stakeholders involved." Standards 6, 7, and 9 were coded as follows: "yes"; "no"; "not applicable." Standard 8 was coded as follows: "ongoing"; "none provided"; "termination of psychology sessions"; "discharge." In order to classify a standard as "met," this had to be met for at least 90% of the clients.

RESULTS

Socio-Demographic Characteristics of the Sample

Data on 109 CHR-P individuals were retrieved, 39 were excluded because discharge happened within the first 6 months. This resulted in a total of 70 individuals eligible to be included in this study. Sociodemographic characteristics are presented in **Table 2**. The mean age of the sample was 22.93 years (SD = 5.552, range 14–36), 30 individuals were females and 40 males. There were no significant differences in terms of age, gender, ethnicity across the four SLaM boroughs (see **Table 2**). Individuals were followed up for an average of 18.41 months (range 6–29). Employment and education status at baseline and at the last available follow-up are reported in **Tables 3** and 4. Data on standards are reported below and summarized in **Table 5**.

Adherence to Standards

Standard 1: Quality of Vocational Assessment

Current vocational engagement (1.a.) was assessed at initial assessment for most clients (75%). All clients were assessed within the first 12 months. There were no significant differences across boroughs $[\chi 2 (6, N=70) = 3.241 \text{ p} = .778]$. Vocational goals were assessed (1.b) at initial assessment for 34.8% of CHR-P clients, and within 6 months for another 44.9% of clients. According to the records, vocational goals do not appear to have been assessed in 10% of cases. There were no significant differences across boroughs [$\chi 2$ (15, N = 69) = 20.849 p = .142]. With regards to assessment of support needs (1.c), these were assessed at initial assessment for 36.2% of clients, and within 6 months for another 34.8% of clients. According to the records, support needs do not appear to have been assessed for 18.8% of clients. There were no significant differences across boroughs (χ^2 [15, N = 69) = 13.449 p = .568]. According to the records, vocational history (1.d) was recorded for 50% of included clients. There were no significant differences across boroughs [$\chi 2$ (3, N = 70) = 7.043 p = .071]. For standard 1, having at least 3/4 sub-standards met,

	Total	SouthwarkN = 17	LambethN = 27	CroydonN = 12	LewishamN = 14	Statistics
Age	22.93SD 5.55	20.41SD 3.20	23.37SD 5.86	23.75SD 5.64	24.43SD 6.65	F = 1.70p = 0.17
Gender (F/M)	30/40	9/8	13/14	5/7	3/11	χ^2 (3, N = 70) = 3.64p = 0.30
Ethnicity						
White	31 (44.3%)	7	11	5	8	χ2 (9, N = 70) = 15.93
Black	20 (28%)	3	11	2	4	p = 0.068
Asian	7 (10%)	0	3	2	2	
Other	12 (17.1%)	7	2	3	0	

Education and Employment Support in EDP

TABLE 3 | Employment status baseline-follow-up.

Employment status baseline	Employment status follow-up	
		Change status = 27
Full-time	Unemployed	2
Full-time	Part-time	1
Part-time	Sick leave	1
Part-time	Internship/volunteer	1
Student	Unemployed	4
Sick leave	Unemployed	1
Unemployed	Full-time	1
Unemployed	Part-time	1
Unemployed	Internship/volunteer	2
Sick leave	Full-time	1
Sick leave	Part-time	2
Student	Full-time	5
Student	Part-time	1
Student	Internship/volunteer	3
Unknown	Part-time	1
		Same status = 40
Full-time		10
Part-time		3
Student		11
Unemployed		16
		Maternity = 2
Part-time	Maternity	1
Unemployed	Maternity	1
		Missing = 1

TABLE 4 | Education status baseline-follow-up.

Education status baseline	e Education status follow-up	
		Progressed = 17
None	GCSE	5
GCSE	A levels	6
A levels	Started undergraduate degree	2
Started undergraduate degree	Completed undergraduate degree	4
		Same level = 45
None		5
GCSE		12
A levels		12
Started undergraduate degree		10
Completed undergraduate		5
degree		
Completed postgraduate		1
degree		
		Missing = 8

GCSE, General Certificate of Secondary Education.

was considered as overall "met". For 56/70 clients (80%) standard 1 was met, therefore standard 1 was considered overall "not met" at the service level.

Standard 2: Vocational Activities Feature in Care Plan The care plan was not retrievable through the electronic recording system for 42.9% of the included CHR-P clients (= 30). Out of

Standards met	Number of clients	%
0	3	4,3
1	6	8,5
2	2	2,8
4	3	4,2
5	6	8,6
6	17	24,2
7	16	22,8
8	11	16
9	6	8,6
	70	100

all retrievable care plans (= 40), 75% had vocational activities recorded. There were no significant differences across boroughs [$\chi 2$ (6, N = 70) = 9.564 p = .144]. Standard 2 was met for 42.9% of clients (= 30), therefore standard 2 was overall "not met" at the service level.

Standard 3: Clients Have Access to a Vocational Support Program

Retrievable data suggests that only 20% (= 14) of included CHR-P individuals did not receive a specific intervention aimed at supporting employment or educational needs. Of the remaining (= 56), 62.9% of clients received support within the first 3 months, 22.2% within the first 6 months, and 17.3 within 12 months or shortly after. There were no significant differences across boroughs [χ 2 (12, N = 68) = 10.331 p = .587]. Standard 3 was considered as "met" if clients received support within the first 12 months. 51/70 clients (72%) received support within the first 12 months, therefore standard 3 was considered "not met" at the service level.

Standard 4: Early Psychosis Services Liaise With Educational and Employment Providers

In 36% (= 25) of cases OASIS services liaised with vocational providers while in 37% (= 26) they did not. The remaining percentages are explained by clients not being employed or in education (21.4%), the vocational provider already being aware of clients' difficulties (2.9%) or clients choosing to liaise with their employer/educational provider themselves (2.9%). There were no significant differences across boroughs [$\chi 2$ (12, N = 69) = 16.800 p = .157]. Standard 4 was considered as met if there was evidence that i) the service liaised with employer/education provider, ii) the employer/school/university was already aware," or iii) the "client liaised with employer/school/university". Standard 4 was met for 29/70 clients (42%), therefore this standard was overall "not met" at the service level.

Standard 5: Early Psychosis Services Liaise With Local Stakeholders

Stakeholders involved to support clients with their vocational needs varied greatly. They included parents or relatives, employment or support programs, educational institutions, and job centers. Borough-specific external support services were involved in 27.1% of cases, job centers were involved in 2.9% of

cases, recovery colleges in 2.9% of cases, multiple stakeholders including parents and relatives—in 11.4% of cases. For 41.4% (= 29) of clients there was no involvement of local or external stakeholders. The remaining was either referred to other clinicians or, in one case, to a solicitor. There were no significant differences across boroughs [$\chi 2$ (18, N = 70) = 18.982 p = .393]. Standard 5 was met for 41/70 clients (41.4%); therefore, it was considered as "not met" at the service level.

Standard 6: Support Is Focused Around Competitive Employment or Mainstream Education

Standard 6 is not specifically drawn from early psychosis guidelines although the NICE guidelines (34) on psychosis and schizophrenia in children and young people mention educational support aimed at mainstream education. This standard is a key principle of IPS (32) which recommends supporting people into mainstream employment and education as opposed to special programs or voluntary work. Out of all clients who did receive vocational support (56/70; 80%), this was always aimed at mainstream education and competitive employment. Standard 6 was met for all clients who received vocational support (100%), therefore it was considered as "met" at the service level.

Standard 7: Support Is Provided Based on People's Interest

Out of all clients who did receive vocational support (56/70; 80%), this was always in line with their individual interests. Standard 7 was met for all clients who received vocational support (100%), therefore it was considered "met" at the service level.

Standard 8: Support Is Time Unlimited

Out of the clients who did receive vocational support (80%), in 62% of cases vocational support was terminated due to discharge, in 15% of cases vocational support was still ongoing at the time of data collection, and in 22.6% of cases vocational support ended with the termination of psychology sessions. There were no significant differences across borough [χ 2 (9, N = 69) = 5.051 p = .830]. Standard 8 was considered as met if there was evidence that i) support was ongoing, or ii) support ended when the client was discharged from the service. Standard 8 was met for 42/70 clients (60%), therefore it was considered as "not met" at service level.

Standard 9: Benefits Counseling Is Provided

For 43% of included clients (= 30) this standard did not apply as clients were either financially supported by their parents, in full-time employment or not legally allowed to work and access benefits in the UK. Of the remaining, 50% (= 20) received benefits counseling and/or support in accessing financial means to support their return to education. There were no significant differences across borough [χ 2 (9, N = 69) = 2.782 p = .972]. Standard 9 was considered as met if there was evidence that i) benefit counseling was provided or that ii) it was not applicable. Standard 9 was therefore met for 51/70 (72.8%) of clients, therefore it was considered as "not met" at the service level.

DISCUSSION

We sought to evaluate the provision of vocational interventions offered by OASIS, one of the oldest and largest EDP services in Europe and worldwide. We defined a set of nine standards based on the NICE guidelines and IPS principles and assessed whether current clinical practice in OASIS met these standards. Results showed that 80% of clients (56/70) met at least five out of nine standards (**Table 3**).

The results suggest that overall NICE standards of practice and the IPS principles were only partially met. In particular, standards 6 and 7 were met: results confirmed that the focus of the support provided is on helping clients to re-engage or remain in competitive employment or mainstream education and that this support is based on clients' interests rather than providers' judgment (32). This is particularly important as these standards were both based on IPS principles rather than on the NICE guidelines, suggesting that the OASIS team might already score highly on some of the IPS fidelity scale items (32).

Standards 1, 2, 3, 4, 5, 8, 9 were only partially met. OASIS appears to be doing particularly well with regards to assessing clients' current vocational engagement (standard 1.a), vocational goals (standard 1.b), and support needs (standard 1.c). On the contrary, vocational history (standard 1.d) was formally assessed in only 50% of cases. This could be at least in part explained by the fact that 23.3% of clients were in mainstream education and 28% were working part or full-time, therefore assessing vocational history might not have appeared relevant at the time.

The assessment of standard 2, "vocational activities feature in care plan", revealed that, among the retrievable care plans, vocational activities were recorded for the majority of clients (75%). Unfortunately, an electronic care plan was not retriable for 42% of cases, therefore it was difficult to assess adherence to this standard. It is possible that the care plans could have been saved in a paper format rather than electronically. In some cases, the care plan was identifiable within the clinical notes, it was however not included as part of this analysis as a formal care plan developed in collaboration with the client was not found.

Assessment of standard 3, revealed that clients had access to vocational support in 80% of cases. This is relatively high considering that OASIS does not yet have a dedicated vocational specialist. It is also encouraging that for the majority of clients (85%), when vocational support was offered, it was offered early on, within 6 months. On the other hand, the relatively high percentage of people who had access to vocational support could also be the result of the use of a broad definition which might not apply to specific vocational support program.

Standard 5 assessed whether OASIS was liaising with local or external stakeholders when providing vocational support. While there was variety in the type of stakeholders involved, for 41.4% of clients these were not involved at all. The external stakeholders included borough-specific external agencies (e.g. https://www. princes-trust.org.uk) or teams (such as recovery colleges, or vocational services) aimed at supporting young people or people with mental health issues in gaining employment. This is a valuable resource which however might not be equally present across all catchment areas within or outside the UK. However, it is important to remember that south London is one of the most deprived regions in the UK (38). Therefore, mental health services in south London are likely to experience increased difficulties in identifying suitable employment opportunities and people living in this area might experience greater difficulties in finding or keeping a job.

Standard 8, "support is time unlimited", was also based on one of the IPS principles. When a client is taken on by the OASIS service, support and management is provided for up to 2 years, after which the person is discharged to a general practitioner or referred to another service, if appropriate. For 15% of the clients, support was still ongoing at the time of the audit. For 62% of clients, vocational support was terminated due to discharge suggesting that support was provided for as long as possible within the current structure of the team. For another 22.6% support ended with the termination of psychology sessions. Currently, OASIS offers up to 24 psychology sessions, which can be increased if needed. This is more than what is currently suggested as part of the manualized CBT treatment for those at risk of a first episode of psychosis (39) and indicates that although support ended with the psychology sessions, this has been provided over the course of several weeks. While the role of psychology is primarily to address psychological distress, within the current structure, psychology sessions also provided extensive vocational support. Vocational support provided might have not been delivered in a standardized way and might have been limited to discussion within the psychology sessions. A dedicated IPS worker would ensure the presence of dedicated time to work on vocational issues and engage in a more flexible way with external stakeholders (e.g. schools, employers).

Standard 9, "benefit counseling is provided" is one of the IPS principles (32). 43.5% of clients were employed, in education, supported by their parents or not legally allowed to access benefits in the UK, therefore this standard did not apply. Of the remaining, only 50% received advice on accessing benefits.

NICE guidelines recommend providing support with education and employment needs and goals; however, there is no specific recommendation as to which framework or theoretical model to use and how to integrate this within the current structure of the early detection and intervention teams (34, 35). In this context, IPS provides a clear framework in which different health care professionals can work conjunctly to help young individuals to complete their educational course successfully, to move toward employment and improve their mental wellbeing (23, 24, 27, 40, 41).

In the short-term, improving educational and employment support within the existing structure of the teams might require some adjustments. For example, the implementation of more standardized vocational assessments and recording of goals and needs. The fact that this was not done for all included clients might reflect the fact that in mental health services the main focus is on clinical symptoms, therefore, the support offered often takes the form of psychological intervention around clinical symptoms rather than vocational support. Nevertheless, this is an area that should be assessed routinely. In order to address this, we propose two changes. Firstly, the care coordinator could dedicate a specific session early in the care pathway to complete a more comprehensive and structured vocational assessment including vocational history. Secondly, automated prompts on the electronic care plan could be implemented to remind the care coordinator to include vocational goals and the support offered to work toward them.

In the long-term, EDP services like OASIS are likely to benefit from having an IPS worker whose task is solely to provide support with education and employment needs. This is particularly important given the current high rates of unemployment in this (i.e. 37% at the last available follow-up) and similar samples (4, 6, 8). The expectation is that having a dedicated IPS trained worker based in the team will improve performance on all standards and generally address the low social and occupational functioning (12). As the clients in EDP teams are relatively young (i.e. 14–35), they are likely to benefit from IPS with focus on both employment (26–28) and education (27, 29).

The results also showed that there are no significant differences in the nine standards across boroughs despite the fact that two of the four OASIS teams (i.e. Croydon and Lewisham) were set up only recently (i.e. 2014–2015). While this is reassuring samples were relatively small, therefore further analyses with larger samples are needed to confirm that there are no significant differences in the delivery of education and employment support across boroughs.

This study has a number of strengths. Firstly, OASIS is a wellestablished EDP service operating since 2001. The setting is therefore ideal to evaluate if NICE standards are met. Secondly, the case-load of the service made it possible to look at the different aspects of vocational interventions in a modest sample. This study has also a number of limitations. Firstly, results are limited to wellestablished and specialized team within SLaM NHS Foundation Trust. While this is one of the most deprived areas in the UK (38), we do not know to what extent these results can be generalizable to other areas in or outside the UK where employment, education, and training opportunities might differ. Thirdly, data was collected retrospectively, through the screening of electronic clinical records. This can be a limiting factor for at least two reasons. Data which is marked as missing, might have been present but not recorded electronically thus providing only a partial picture. Furthermore, data was initially recorded as part of routine clinical work, therefore, there was no formal quality check on how data was collected and entered. Despite this, we are confident the quality of the data is of satisfactory standard as periodic checks are carried out to ensure outcome measures are recorded consistently. Fourthly, data available did not allow to determine whether, to what degree and which element of vocational support influences health and vocational outcome. To address these limitations future studies should test feasibility, challenges, and benefits of implementing vocational interventions, such as IPS, in EDP teams in the UK. As prior studies indicated that difficulties during education or during employment contribute to increase distress (15, 42), future studies should also investigate the effect of implementing interventions that are specifically focused on improving coping strategies in this context (42, 43).

Much has been done to date to provide treatment as early as possible to young people who present with symptoms that suggest they might be at high risk of developing psychosis in the near future. However, this work suggests that there are areas that have not been addressed sufficiently and one of these is vocational recovery. Therefore, the focus of the intervention provided by EDP teams should go beyond management of symptoms and be broadened to include interventions that selectively target vocational recovery. In this context, IPS offers an implementable framework which is expected to enhance the work of EDP teams and help young people with their vocational goals.

ETHICS STATEMENT

This study was carried out as part of a clinical audit in accordance with the recommendations of South London and Maudsley Psychosis Clinical Academic Group.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

ST designed the evaluation, prepared the first draft of the manuscript, and assisted with data extraction and data analysis.

REFERENCES

- Kirkbride JB, Fearon P, Morgan C, Dazzan P, Morgan K, Tarrant J, et al. 'Heterogeneity in incidence rates of schizophrenia and other psychotic syndromes: findings from the 3-center AeSOP study'. Arch Gen Psychiatry (2006) 63:250–8. doi: 10.1001/archpsyc.63.3.250
- Yung AR, Yuen HP, McGorry PD, Phillips LJ, Kelly D, Dell'Olio M, et al. Mapping the onset of psychosis: the Comprehensive Assessment of At-Risk Mental States. *Aust N Z J Psychiatry* (2005) 39:964–71. doi: 10.1080/j.1440-1614.2005.01714.x
- Fusar-Poli P. 'The Clinical High-Risk State for Psychosis (CHR-P), Version II'. Schizophr Bull (2017) 43:44–7. doi: 10.1093/schbul/sbw158
- Cotter J, Lin A, Drake RJ, Thompson A, Nelson B, McGorry P, et al. Longterm employment among people at ultra-high risk for psychosis. *Schizophr Res.* (2017) 184:26–31. doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2016.11.033
- Fusar-Poli P, Rocchetti M, Sardella A, Avila A, Brandizzi M, Caverzasi E, et al. 'Disorder, not just state of risk: meta-analysis of functioning and quality of life in people at high risk of psychosis'. *Br J Psychiatry* (2015) 207:198–206. doi: 10.1192/bjp.bp.114.157115
- Brandizzi M, Valmaggia L, Byrne M, Jones C, Iwegbu N, Badger S, et al. 'Predictors of functional outcome in individuals at high clinical risk for psychosis at six years follow-up'. J Psychiatr Res (2015) 65:115–23. doi: 10.1016/j.jpsychires.2015.03.005
- Salokangas RK, Nieman DH, Heinimaa M, Svirskis T, Luutonen S, From T, et al. 'Psychosocial outcome in patients at clinical high risk of psychosis: a prospective follow-up?. Soc Psychiatry Psychiatr Epidemiol (2013) 48:303–11. doi: 10.1007/s00127-012-0545-2
- Fusar-Poli P, Byrne M, Valmaggia L, Day F, Tabraham P, Johns L, et al. 'Social dysfunction predicts two years clinical outcome in people at ultra high risk for psychosis' *J Psychiatr Res* (2010) 44:294–301. doi: 10.1016/j. jpsychires.2009.08.016
- Ennals P, Fossey EM, Harvey CA, Killackey E. 'Postsecondary education: kindling opportunities for people with mental illness'. *Asia Pac Psychiatry* (2014) 6:115–9. doi: 10.1111/appy.12091
- Salokangas RK, Heinimaa M, From T, Loyttyniemi E, Ilonen T, Luutonen S, et al. 'Short-term functional outcome and premorbid adjustment in clinical high-risk patients. Results of the EPOS project'. *Eur Psychiatry* (2014) 29:371– 80. doi: 10.1016/j.eurpsy.2013.10.003
- 11. Rutigliano G, Valmaggia L, Landi P, Frascarelli M, Cappucciati M, Sear V, et al. 'Persistence or recurrence of non-psychotic comorbid mental disorders

LG assisted with the design of the evaluation, contributed to prepare the first draft of the manuscript, and performed the data extraction. SV performed the data extraction and data analysis. TS designed the evaluation and assisted with data extraction and data analysis. All co-authors contributed to the critical revision of the manuscript.

FUNDING

ST is supported by a Brain and Behavior Young Investigator award (NARSAD YI, 24786) and by a Maudsley Charity Grant (1510).

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We would like to thank all the young people who are or have been under the care of the OASIS service. We would also like to thank Dr Andrea de Micheli and Stephen O'Sullivan for their assistance in the process of retrieving the data.

associated with 6-year poor functional outcomes in patients at ultra high risk for psychosis'. J Affect Disord (2016) 203:101-10. doi: 10.1016/j.jad.2016.05.053

- van der Gaag M, van den Berg D, Ising H. CBT in the prevention of psychosis and other severe mental disorders in patients with an at risk mental state: A review and proposed next steps. *Schizophr Res.* (2019) 203:88–93. doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2017.08.018
- Addington J, Stowkowy J, Liu L, Cadenhead KS, Cannon TD, Cornblatt BA, et al. 'Clinical and functional characteristics of youth at clinical high-risk for psychosis who do not transition to psychosis'. *Psychol Med* (2019), 49(10):1670–1677. doi: 10.1017/S0033291718002258
- Schmidt SJ, Schultze-Lutter F, Schimmelmann BG, Maric NP, Salokangas RK, Riecher-Rossler A, et al. 'EPA guidance on the early intervention in clinical high risk states of psychoses'. *Eur Psychiatry* (2015) 30:388–404. doi: 10.1016/j.eurpsy.2015.01.013
- Fusar-Poli P, Tantardini M, De Simone S, Ramella-Cravaro V, Oliver D, Kingdon J, et al. 'Deconstructing vulnerability for psychosis: Meta-analysis of environmental risk factors for psychosis in subjects at ultra high-risk'. *Eur Psychiatry* (2017) 40:65–75. doi: 10.1016/j.eurpsy.2016.09.003
- Ramsay C, Broussard B, Goulding S, Cristofaro S, Hall D, Kaslow N. et al. Life and treatment goals of individuals hospitalized for first-episode nonaffective psychosis. *J Psychiatr Res* (2011) 189(3):344–348. doi: 10.1016/j. psychres.2011.05.039
- Rinaldi M, Killackey E, Smith J, Shepherd G, Singh SP, Craig T. 'First episode psychosis and employment: a review'. *Int Rev Psychiatry* (2010) 22(2):148–62. doi: 10.3109/09540261003661825
- Rinaldi M, Perkins R, McNeil K, Hickman N, Singh SP. 'The Individual Placement and Support approach to vocational rehabilitation for young people with first episode psychosis in the UK'. *J Ment Health* (2010) 19:483– 91. doi: 10.3109/09638230903531100
- 19. RCP, Royal College of Psychiatrists Healthcare Quality Improvement Partnership (2014).
- NHS-England, The National Collaborating Centre for Mental Health and the National Institute for Health and Care Excellence;. Implementing the Early Intervention in Psychosis Access and Waiting TimeStandard: Guidance. (2016). https://www.england.nhs.uk/mentalhealth/wp-content/uploads/sites/ 29/2016/04/eip-guidance.pdf.
- Thompson E, Millman ZB, Okuzawa N, Mittal V, DeVylder J, Skadberg T, et al. 'Evidence-based early interventions for individuals at clinical high risk for psychosis: a review of treatment components'. J Nerv Ment Dis (2015) 203:342–51. doi: 10.1097/NMD.00000000000287

- Fusar-Poli P, Cappucciati M, Borgwardt S, Woods SW, Addington J, Nelson B, et al. 'Heterogeneity of psychosis risk within individuals at clinical high risk: A meta-analytical stratification'. *JAMA Psychiatry* (2016) 73:113–20. doi: 10.1001/jamapsychiatry.2015.2324
- 23. Bond GR, Drake RE, Becker DR. 'Generalizability of the Individual Placement and Support (IPS) model of supported employment outside the US'. *World Psychiatry* (2012) 11:32–9.
- Bond GR, Drake RE, Campbell K. 'Effectiveness of individual placement and support supported employment for young adults'. *Early Interv Psychiatry* (2016) 10: (4)300–7. doi: 10.1111/eip.12175
- Khalifa N, Talbot E, Schneider J, Walker DM, Bates P, Bird Y, et al. 'Individual placement and support (IPS) for patients with offending histories: the IPSOH feasibility cluster randomised trial protocol'. *BMJ Open* (2016) 6:e012710. doi: 10.1136/bmjopen-2016-012710
- Killackey E, Cotton S. 'Employment and education outcomes from a RCT of individual placement and support for young people with first-episode psychosis'. Schizophr Bull (2017) 43(Suppl 1):S50–51. doi: 10.1093/schbul/ sbx021.132
- Nuechterlein KH, Subotnik KL, Ventura J, Turner LR, Gitlin, MJ, Gretchen-Doorly, D, et al. 'Enhancing return to work or school after a first episode of schizophrenia: the UCLA RCT of Individual Placement and Support and Workplace Fundamentals Module training' *Psychol Med* (2019) 1–9. doi: 10.1017/S0033291718003860
- Killackey E, Jackson HJ, McGorry PD. 'Vocational intervention in firstepisode psychosis: individual placement and support v. treatment as usual'. *Br J Psychiatry* (2008) 193:114–20. doi: 10.1192/bjp.bp.107.043109
- Killackey E, Allott K, Woodhead G, Connor S, Dragon S, Ring J. Individual placement and support, supported education in young people with mental illness: an exploratory feasibility study. *Early Interv Psychiatry* (2017). 11(6):526–531. doi: 10.1111/eip.12344
- Davies C, Cipriani A, Ioannidis JPA, Radua J, Stahl D, Provenzani U, et al. 'Lack of evidence to favor specific preventive interventions in psychosis: a network meta-analysis'. *World Psychiatry* (2018) 17:196–209. doi: 10.1002/ wps.20526
- Fusar-Poli P, Deste G, Smieskova R, Barlati S, Yung AR, Howes O, et al. 'Cognitive functioning in prodromal psychosis: a meta-analysis'. Arch Gen Psychiatry (2012) 69:562–71.
- Drake RE, Bond GR, Becker DR. Individual Placement and Support: An Evidence-Based Approach to Supported Employment (Evidence-Based Practices). Oxford University Press (2012).
- Fusar-Poli P, Byrne M, Badger S, Valmaggia LR, McGuire PK. 'Outreach and support in south London (OASIS), 2001-2011: ten years of early diagnosis

and treatment for young individuals at high clinical risk for psychosis'. *Eur Psychiatry* (2013) 28:315–26. doi: 10.1016/j.eurpsy.2012.08.002

- NICE, National Institute of Care Excellence Guidelines. Psychosis and schizophrenia in children and young people: recognition and management. (2013). https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/cg155.
- NICE, National Institute of Care Excellence Guidelines. Psychosis and schizophrenia in adults: prevention and management. (2014). https://www. nice.org.uk/guidance/cg178.
- Burgess, R. New Principles of Best Practice in Clinical Audit. London: Radcliffe Publishing Ltd (2011).
- Kielhofner, G. Model of human occupation. Baltimore: Lippincott William & Wilkins (2008).
- DOH. Department of Health. Compendium of Clinical and Social Indicators. London: Department of Health (2001).
- van der Gaag M, Nieman D, van den Berg D. CBT for Those at Risk of a First Episode Psychosis: Evidence-base psychotherapy for people with an "At Risk Mental State. East Sussex: Routledge (2013).
- Bond GR, Drake RE, Luciano A. 'Employment and educational outcomes in early intervention programmes for early psychosis: a systematic review'. *Epidemiol Psychiatr Sci* (2015) 24:446–57.
- Ellison ML, Klodnick VV, Bond GR, Krzos IM, Kaiser SM, Fagan MA, et al. 'Adapting supported employment for emerging adults with serious mental health conditions'. J Behav Health Serv Res (2015) 42:206–22. doi: 10.1007/ s11414-014-9445-4
- Papmeyer M, Wursch I, Studerus E, Stieglitz RD, Riecher-Rossler A. 'The role of vulnerability factors in individuals with an at-risk mental state of psychosis'. *Neuropsychiatr* (2016) 30:18–26.
- Mian L, Lattanzi GM, Tognin S. 'Coping strategies in individuals at ultrahigh risk of psychosis: a systematic review'. *Early Interv Psychiatry* (2018) 12:525–34.

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2019 Tognin, Grady, Ventura, Valmaggia, Sear, McGuire, Fusar-Poli and Spencer. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

